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Date

v

Institutional Characteristics Form

This form is to be completed and placed at the beginning of the self-study report:

November 20, 2017

Corporate name of institution: Kennebec Valley Community College

Date institution was chartered or authorized: 1969
Date institution enrolled first students in degree programs: 1970

Date institution awarded first degrees: December 1983 (the institution awarded diplomas only until

1983)
Type of control:
Public Private
X] State [] Independent, not-for-profit
] city [] Religious Group
[ ] Other (Name of Church)
(Specity) [] Proprietary
[] Other: (Specify)

By what agency is the institution legally authorized to provide a program of education beyond

high school, and what degrees is it authorized to grant? The authority to grant the Associate Degree is

defined in Maine law. The Maine Community College System Board of Trustees approves individual

programs awarding this credential.

Level of postsecondary offering (check all that apply)

] Less than one year of work First professional degree

]
X At least one but less than two years [] Master’s and/or work beyond the first

professional degree

= Diploma or certificate programs of [l Work beyond the master’s level
at least two but less than four years but not at the doctoral level
(e.g., Specialist in Education)

Associate degree granting program [ ] A doctor of philosophy or
of at least two years equivalent degree
] Four- or five-year baccalaureate [] Other doctoral programs

degree granting program
[] Other (Specify)



10.

11.

Type of undergraduate programs (check all that apply)

X Occupational training at the X] Liberal arts and general
crafts/clerical level (certificate
or diploma)

X Occupational training at the technical [] Teacher preparatory
or semi-professional level
(degree)
= Two-year programs designed for [] Professional
full transfer to a baccalaureate
degree [] Other

The calendar system at the institution is:

X Semester [ ] Quarter [] Trimester [ ] Other

What constitutes the credit hour load for a full-time equivalent (FTE) student each semester?

a) Undergraduate 12 credit hours
b) Graduate __N/A credit hours
c) Professional N/A  credit hours
Student population:

a)  Degree-seeking students:

Undergraduate Graduate Total
Full-time student headcount >61 >61
Part-time student headcount 1038 1038
FTE 1012.8 1012.8

b)  Number of students (headcount) in non-credit, short-term courses:
2016-2017: Workshop, Seminars and Courses Headcount =322 Registrations = 359
2016-2017: Contract Training Headcount =249 Registrations =415



12.

13.

List all programs accredited by a nationally recognized, specialized accrediting agency.

KVCC Accrediting Body Last Length of Next
Program Accreditation | Accreditation | Accreditation
Occupational Accreditation Council for
Therapy Occupational Therapy April 2016 10 years April 2026
Assistant Education (ACOTE)
Medical Commission on
Assisting Accreditation of Allied .
Health Education Programs April 2015 1 years Fall 2023
(CAAHEP)
Health Commission on
Information Accreditation for Health
Management Informatics and 2010 8 years 2018
Information Management
Education (CAHIM)
Nursing Accreditation Commission September
for Education in Nursing 2009 8 years October 2017
Radiological | Joint Review Committee on
Technology Education in Radiologic April 2015 8 years Spring 2023
Technology (JRCERT)
Physical Commission on Pending
Therapist Accreditation in Physical . Approval — Pending
Assistant Therapy Education (CAPTE) April 2017 Last cycle was Approval
10 years
Paramedic Commission on .
Accreditation of Allied October 2013 5 vears Pending Self
Health Programs (CAAHEP) Study
Business Association of Collegiate
Business Schools March 2013 10 years Spring 2023

Off-campus Locations. List all instructional locations other than the main campus. For each site, indicate
whether the location offers full-degree programs or 50% or more of one or more degree programs.
Record the full-time equivalent enrollment (FTE) for the most recent year.
Add more rows as needed.

Full degree

50%-99%

FTE

A. In-state Locations

Not Applicable

B. Out-of-state Locations

Not Applicable




14. International Locations: For each overseas instructional location, indicate the name of the program, the

15.

location, and the headcount of students enrolled for the most recent year. An overseas instructional
location is defined as “any overseas location of an institution, other than the main campus, at which the
institution matriculates students to whom it offers any portion of a degree program or offers on-site
instruction or instructional support for students enrolled in a predominantly or totally on-line program.”
Do not include study abroad locations.

Name of program(s) Location Headcount

Not Applicable

Degrees and certificates offered 50% or more electronically: For each degree or Title [V-eligible
certificate, indicate the level (certificate, Associate’s, baccalaureate, master’s, professional, doctoral), the
percentage of credits that may be completed on-line, and the FTE of matriculated students for the most
recent year. Enter more rows as needed.

Name of program Degree level % on-line FTE (Data is reported at
the course level for
students enrolled in the

program)
Business (Accounting, Marketing and | Associate * Online = 75.2
Computer Systems Integration (hybrid
courses offered))
Early Childhood Education Associate * Online = 26.9
Mental Health Certificate and | * Associate’s Degree
Associate online =41.1
Certificate
Online = 4.4
Hybrid = 0.1
General Studies Associate * Hybrid = 15.0
Online = 76.2
Liberal Studies Associate * Hybrid = 3.0
Online = 56.4

* KVCC offers Business Marketing, Business Accounting, Computer Systems Integration, Early
Childhood Education, Mental Health (Certificate and Associate), Liberal Studies and General Science
as an option for online enrollment. Each program of study offers 50% or greater of its courses online,
however, seated courses are also offered. Students have the option of completing the program by taking
online courses, seated courses on campus or by enrolling in a mix of online and seated.



16.

17.

18.

Instruction offered through contractual relationships: For each contractual relationship through which

instruction is offered for a Title IV-eligible degree or certificate, indicate the name of the contractor, the
location of instruction, the program name, and degree or certificate, and the number of credits that may
be completed through the contractual relationship. Enter more rows as needed.

Name of contractor

Location

Name of program

Degree or certificate

# of
credits

Not Applicable

List by name and title the chief administrative officers of the institution. (Use the table on the following

page.)

Supply a table of organization for the institution. While the organization of any institution will depend
on its purpose, size and scope of operation, institutional organization usually includes four areas.
Although every institution may not have a major administrative division for these areas, the following
outline may be helpful in charting and describing the overall administrative organization:

a) Organization of academic affairs, showing a line of responsibility to president for each department,
school division, library, admissions office, and other units assigned to this area;

b) Organization of student affairs, including health services, student government, intercollegiate
activities, and other units assigned to this area;

¢) Organization of finances and business management, including plant operations and maintenance,
non-academic personnel administration, IT, auxiliary enterprises, and other units assigned to this

area;

d) Organization of institutional advancement, including fund development, public relations, alumni

office and other units assigned to this area.

I<



19.

Record briefly the central elements in the history of the institution:

e 1969: 104" Legislature appropriated funds through the Maine Department of Education
to provide post-secondary vocational programs at Kennebec Valley Vocational Technical
Institute (KVVTI) on a three-year experimental basis utilizing the Waterville Regional
Vocational Center at Waterville High School.

e Fall 1970: First classes began with 35 full-time and 131 part-time students. Fred Whitney is
Director and Bernard A. King is the Assistant Director.

¢ Fall 1973: Bernard A. King became Director of KVVTI

¢ 1978: KVVTI leases the vacant Waterville Junior High School building on Gilman Street.

e 1979: KV VTl received initial accreditation from the New England Association of Schools and
Colleges, Inc.

e 1979: KVVTI acquired a 60-acre campus in Fairfield.

¢ 1984: Upon the death of Bernard A. King, Barbara W. Woodlee becomes Director

e 1989: Legislature approves name change and KVVTI becomes Kennebec Valley
Technical College (KVTC)

¢ 2003: KVTC changed its name to Kennebec Valley Community College (KVCC)

e 2012: Press conference at the Blaine House in Augusta on January 23, 2012 announced
the Maine Community College System acquisition of a new college campus in Hinckley,
setting the stage for a new chapter of growth at KVCC. The Alfond Foundation donates
$15.6 million to support renovations and new development to the new campus in Hinckley.

e 2013: Dr. Richard Hopper becomes the fourth President of the college upon
President Barbara Woodlee’s retirement

¢ 2013: KVCC broke ground on its new Alfond Campus in Hinckly, Maine to being largest
expansion in its 43-year history.



CHIEF INSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS

Function or Office Name Exact Title Year of Appointment

Chair Board of Trustees Jean Ginn Marvin Chair, MCCS Board of | 2012
Trustees

President/CEO Dr. Richard Hopper President 2013

Chief Academic Officer Kathryn Englehart Academic Dean 2016

Chief Financial Officer Anne Lagassey Dean of Finance and 2017
Administration

Chief Student Services Officer Karen Normandin Vice President of Student | 2015
Affairs/Public
Relations/Enrollment
Planning

Institutional Research Karen Glew Director of Institutional | 2012
Research

Development Michelle Robicheau Director of  Resource | 2011
Development

Library Stephen LaRochelle Director of  Library | 2004
Services

Chief Information Officer Kevin Casey Dean of Technology and | 2014
Chief Security Officer

Continuing Education Jeff Sneddon Dean of  Workforce | 2017
Training/Professional
Development

Admissions Crichton McKenna Assistant Dean of | 2015
Enrollment Management

Registrar Christen Hansen Director of  Student | 2017
Records and Registration

Financial Aid Dr. Karleen Howard Director of Financial Aid | 2017

KVCC Foundation Board of | Dwight Littlefield Chair, KVCC Foundation | 2017

Trustees

Board of Trustees

vii
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Table of CIHE Actions, Items of Special Attention, or Concerns

Date of CIHE | Summary of CIHE Detailed Actions, Items | CIHE Self-Study Page
Letter actions, Items of of Special, Attention, or | Standards Number
Special Attention, or Concern Cited in Letter
Concern
June 28, 2013 | Assuring the sufficiency | Improve internal Standard 3, Pg. 56,59, 63
of faculty and staff to program review process | Standard 5
support anticipated to include personnel
enrollment growth FTE with enrollment
trends to assess gaps in
personnel
June 28, 2013 | Implementing its plans | Maine Community Standard 2, Pg.5
to establish a central College System Standard 4
clearinghouse for data | deployed a system-wide
collection and analysis | datamartin 2015.
June 28, 2013 | Integrating the library In 2013, college moved | Standard 6, Pg. 42,71
and tutoring center from a library to Standard 7
into a learning Learning Commons
commons concept.
June 28, 2013 | Implementing its College defined Standard 4 Pg. 29, 76, 82,
assessment plans for Essential Learning 83
general education to Outcomes and have
foster curricular mapped ELO to general
improvements at the education courses.
course and department | Rubrics have been
level normed in select ELOs.
November Implementing plans to | Establishment of Standard 3 Intro/Overview,
16, 2015 hire a campus personnel including Pg. 63
administrator for the administrator at Alfond
Harold Alfond Campus | Campus.
November Achieving its With high school Standard 2 Pg. 67, 68, 69,
16, 2015 enrollment and enrollment decreasing, 73

revenue goals for the
campus

the college has
maintained a balance
budget through student
tuition, grants and
diversifying
opportunities to
generate revenue.

viii



Introduction

Kennebec Valley Community College (KVCC) has been accredited by the New England Association of
Schools and Colleges (NEASC) since 1979 by the Commission on Technical and Career Institutions. In
2003, the College shifted the accreditation to NEASC’s Commission on Institutions of Higher Education
(CIHE). The most recent 10-year accreditation visit by the CIHE was in the spring of 2008. Since that
time, the College submitted a 5-year interim report in 2012 and a substantive change request to
establish the Alfond Campus in 2014.

The College’s standing committees and the Institutional Accreditation and Effectiveness Steering
Committee (IAEC) were critical in the preparation of the 2018 self-study report. Each committee was
assigned NEASC standard(s) and tasked to review the requirements and to draft a report. The
committee memberships were representative of the campus community. Committee projections in the
self-study report are consistent with the respective committee charter and aligns closely to the
institution’s strategic plan, KVCC2020.

The College’s Executive Team evaluated each of the standards with technical data support from the
Office of Institutional Research (IR). Input was solicited from the campus community in November, and
again in December 2017. All campus constituents had the opportunity to provide input into the self-
study process through committee work or through electronic review.

The goals of this self-study are to continue to examine the College in the framework of the CIHE of the
accreditation standards, and to review the recommendations of the CIHE from both the 2012 5-year
interim report and 2015 substantive change visit findings. The key findings in this self-study process
focus on assessment, institutional planning, and evaluation.



Institutional Overview

Kennebec Valley Community College (KVCC), one of the seven colleges in the Maine Community College
System (MCCS), is a commuter college located on two campuses in mid-Maine: the original 70-acre main
campus located in Fairfield and the new 600-acre Harold Alfond Campus located seven miles north in
Hinckley, Maine. KVCC was organized in 1969 and first classes began in the fall of 1970, with 35 full-time
and 131 part-time students. Since then, KVCC has undergone many changes, including the expansion
from a technical college to a community college in 2005 and opening a second campus in 2014.
Enrollment has increased to 2,554 full and part-time students enrolled in credit courses for the 2017 fall
semester. The College offers 25 degree and certificate programs including allied health, business
administration, trades and technology, education, sustainable agriculture, and nursing. The College is
located in rural Somerset County. The population density of Somerset County is only 13.3 persons per
square mile, compared with 43.1 persons per square mile statewide. Nearly three-quarters of degree-
seeking students in fall 2017 were from Somerset County and neighboring Kennebec County. Somerset
County has one of the lowest per capita incomes in Maine (521,729 compared to $27,655 statewide)
and one of the lowest post-secondary degree attainment rates (23.9% - U.S. Census Bureau, 2009-13).
The demographics of students who attend KVCC reflect those of the primary service area.

Major Changes since 2008:

Retirements and Personnel Changes:

The College has experienced significant changes in personnel within the past five years due to
retirements, addition of grant positions, and reduction in work force. Long-time President Barbara
Woodlee retired in 2013 after serving the College for 29 years. Dr. Richard Hopper was appointed in
April 2013 as the fourth President in the Institutions’ history. In addition, eight faculty, two executive
team and three staff members have retired. Faculty retirements included four of seven Nursing faculty
including the Department Chair, two Respiratory Therapy faculty, one Business faculty, and one Health
Information Technology faculty member. Executive team retirements included two longtime college
employees, the Chief Financial Officer and the Academic Dean. Additional key staff retirements include
the Bursar, the Programmer and the Financial Aid Director. In AY14, the College experienced a
significant decrease in enrollment that precipitated lay-offs, including three faculty positions as well as
several support staff positions.

Various grants and reallocation of funds have provided opportunities to add personnel over the last five
years. U.S. Department of Labor grants supported the addition of two Student Navigators, one full-time
Culinary Arts faculty, one full-time Sustainable Agriculture faculty, a Farm Manager and an administrator
to manage the Sustainable Constructions Program. With the reorganization of the Library to a Learning
Commons, the College hired a Learning Commons Director in 2013. Title Ill grant funds supported the
addition of one full-time Science faculty, a Student Success c=Coordinator, a part-time Math Specialist
and a part-time Science Specialist to support students in the gateway courses: College Algebra and
Anatomy and Physiology I. This grant also supported the addition of an Institutional Researcher and
established the Office of IR. The College created and filled the Safety and Security Manager position in
2016.



Establishment of a second campus required reallocation of personnel in addition to faculty. To provide
administrative oversight on the Alfond campus, the College re-assigned an administrator to serve as the
fulltime Coordinator of Harold Alfond Campus in fall 2014. Three administrative specialists were
relocated to the campus to provide student services, financial aid services and faculty support.

Fairfield Campus:

The Fairfield Campus has experienced several major renovation projects since the 2008 report including
the redesigned Enrollment Services Center, a new Medical Office Simulation Laboratory, and the newly
renovated Café. The Enrollment Services Center provides convenient one-stop services for students by
housing the Admissions/Enrollment Office, Business Office, Academic Affairs, and Financial Aid in one
location. A U.S. Department of Labor grant funded the creation of the Medical Office Simulation
Laboratory. The Café on the main campus was renovated to update the facility and to support the farm-
to-table and healthy eating on campus.

Addition of the Alfond Campus:

KVCC experienced its largest expansion in its 43-year history in 2014. With a $10.85 million gift from the
Harold Alfond Foundation, KVCC acquired the central campus of the former Good Will-Hinckley (GWH)
School, which encompassed approximately 600 acres of land and more than a dozen facilities. Officially
announced at a press conference at the Blaine House in Augusta on January 23, 2012, the acquisition set
the stage for a new chapter of growth at KVCC. In May of 2012, the new campus was officially named
KVCC’s Harold Alfond Campus to acknowledge the generosity of the late philanthropist Harold Alfond
and the Foundation that bears his name.

The property includes a mix of fields, woods, and wetlands on the west side of U.S. Route 201 roughly
bounded to the south by Green Road and to the north by Martin Stream. The parcel also includes
frontage on the Kennebec River to the east of 201. Major structures acquired included the Alfond/Averill
School building, the Alfond Recreation Center, Moody Memorial Chapel, and numerous smaller
structures. KVCC also acquired the former Good Will-Hinckley farm - a 120-acre property which is central
to the College’s farm-to-table programs in sustainable agriculture, culinary arts, and food science.

In the fall of 2013, KVCC broke ground on a new, 16,500 square-foot classroom and laboratory building
completed for the start of the 2014 fall semester, when KVCC officially opened the Alfond Campus. The
building contains classrooms, faculty offices, laboratories, a computer lab, a 60-seat tiered auditorium, a
student lounge and informal learning space. A new farm education building was constructed in 2015,
providing a spacious wash/pack area, controlled environment crop storage, a spacious classroom, and
office space for the Farm Manager.

Several existing programs such as Mental Health, Liberal Studies, Early Childhood Education, and
Business moved from the Fairfield to the Alfond Campus in 2014. In fall 2017, the General Science
program moved from the Annex on the Fairfield Campus to the Alfond Campus. For the first time in fall
2017, the Alfond Campus enrollment exceeded the Fairfield Campus enrollment.

Xi



The Alfond Foundation’s gift positioned KVCC to expand the capacity of the College to offer academic
programs unique to Central Maine such as Associate Degrees of Applied Science in Sustainable
Agriculture and in Sustainable Construction. The acquisition has increased the College’s acreage tenfold.
Programs that would have been impossible at the current campus are suddenly feasible. The College is
proceeding carefully with planning, guided by the needs of its students and a desire to be a good
steward of the historic property.

In addition to the Alfond Foundation, KVCC has accessed a variety of funding sources such as the U.S.
Department of Labor’s Trade Act Adjustment Assistance Community College Career Training (TAAACCT)
grants, State of Maine Bond, the Elmina B. Sewell Foundation, and other major contributions to create
state of the art learning facilities on the Alfond Campus.

Summary of Self-Study Findings

The summary of findings of the College’s self-study process confirmed the institution’s commitment to
its mission while adapting to change.

In 2015, the College updated its strategic plan in a year-long, inclusive process. Both the Leadership
committee (governance) and committee structure work diligently to institute and measure activities
which underscore the achievement of four major goals in the strategic plan, KVCC2020. These goals
have aligned closely with the findings of the College’s self-study findings to strive for accessibility,
affordability, quality, and value in the KVCC's delivery of post-secondary education in the mid-Maine
region.
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STANDARD ONE
MISSION AND PURPOSES

The institution's mission and purposes are appropriate to higher education, consistent with its
charter or other operating authority, and implemented in a manner that complies with the
Standards of the Commission on Institutions of Higher Education. The institution's mission
gives direction to its activities and provides a basis for the assessment and enhancement of
the institution's effectiveness.

DESCRIPTION

Kennebec Valley Community College’s (KVCC) mission and purposes are consistent with the
objectives of the Maine Community College System (MCCS) and appropriate to the goals of
higher education. The College's mission and purposes are derived from Maine statutes (Public
Law, Chapter 431) which mandate that the colleges of the MCCS "provide associate degrees,
diploma, and certification programs directed at the educational, occupational, and technical
needs of the State's citizens and the workforces needs of the State's employers...[and] to create

an educated, skilled, and adaptable labor force which is responsive to the changing needs of the
economy of the State and to promote local, regional, and statewide economic development."

KVCC Mission Statement: KVCC prepares students to achieve their educational, professional, and
personal goals in a supportive environment through shared values of responsibility, integrity,
and respect.

KVCC Vision Statement: To be recognized as a leader in educational excellence and innovation in
Maine.

Vision for Our Graduates: To utilize their education and knowledge for productive and
responsible citizenship.

KVCC Values

e Integrity

e Excellence in teaching

e Emerging technology

e Astudent-centered environment

e Diversity

e Intellectual inquiry

e A culture of civility, cooperation and collegiality
e A welcoming atmosphere for all newcomers

e A strong work ethic

e Creation of opportunities for self-fulfillment and lifelong learning



e Personal wellness

KVCC faculty and staff are positioning the institution to be the first choice for higher education
in mid-Maine and beyond:

e Unique: KVCC offers 25 fields of study that include degree and certificate programs not
offered elsewhere in Maine.

e Supportive: KVCC retains small class sizes and a friendly atmosphere that promote student
success.

e Flexible: KVCC offers online, part-time, night, and off-campus education opportunities, and a
schedule to fit a student’s busy life.

e Affordable: KVCC boasts the lowest tuition rates in New England, and most students qualify
for comprehensive financial aid packages that often cover the full cost of tuition and fees.

e High Quality: KVCC graduates maintain impressive passing rates on professional licensure
exams, and employers rank KVCC graduates as the best additions to their workforce.

e Powerful: KVCC graduates enjoy the highest job placement rates.

e Transferable: KVCC credits transfer directly to four-year colleges and universities, with
special block transfer of all general studies credits to any UMaine campus.

APPRAISAL

KVCC's mission statement is implemented in a manner that complies with the Standards
expressed by the Commission on Higher Education. The mission establishes direction for the
College. The College continues to promote awareness of the mission statement among its
students, faculty, staff and administration. This awareness is the result of the College’s 2015
strategic planning process and the continual effort to prominently display the statement in
common areas, in publications, on the website, and in the College Catalog.

The College employs several assessment strategies to evaluate the institutional effectiveness of
the Mission Statement and Purpose. These strategies include the administration of the Personal
Assessment of the College Environment (PACE) survey to faculty and staff every five years and
the administration of the Noel Levitz Student Satisfaction Inventory (SSI) to all students every
two to three years. According to the 2013 PACE survey, the majority of the College’s
administration, faculty and staff believe that the institution upholds the Mission. Agreement
with “the extent to which the actions of this institution reflect its mission” was 3.7 out of 5. SSI
data indicated that KVCC’s mission is important to students (receiving a 6.33 in 2012 and a 6.49
in 2014). The SSI ratings use a 7-point Likert scale (7 = most important/satisfied and 1 = least
important/satisfied). In addition to being important to students, the majority of students
responding to the survey indicated that “KVCC’s mission is to prepare me to achieve my
educational, professional, and personal goals in a supportive environment by shared values of



responsibility, integrity and respect,” averaging a 6.4 satisfaction mean in both 2012 and 2014.
The next Noel-Levitz SSI administration is projected for spring 2018.

The college community reviews the mission, vision, and values statement every five years as
part of the strategic planning process. The KVCC2020 Strategic Planning Committee surveyed
the faculty, staff, administrators and external partners over the summer of 2015 to evaluate if
the College’s foundational mission, vision, and values reflected the collective beliefs of the KVCC

community. Respondents indicated that as an institution, the mission and vision continue to
hold true.

KVCC Mission Statement: KVCC prepares students to
achieve their educational, professional, and personal
goals in a supportive environment through shared
values of responsibility, integrity and respect (N =60)

6%

m Agree

m Disagree

93%

Vision Statement for Our Institution: To
be recognized as a leader in educational

excellence and innovation in Maine productive and responsible citizenship
(N =59) (N =60)
10% m Agree 8% = Agree

= Disagree ‘ m Disagree

90% 92%

Vision for Our Graduates: To utilize
their education and knowledge for




To determine if the values are a reflection of the collective beliefs of the KVCC community, the
survey asked faculty, staff, administration, and external partners, “To what extent do you agree
with the following values?” While the majority of values scored positively (60%+), results for the
values of diversity and intellectual inquiry indicated that just over 50% of participants responded
positively. This information will be reviewed by the Institutional Accreditation and Effectiveness
Committee (IAEC) in the fall of 2017 to determine if any action is necessary.

College Mission Statement Survey Summer 2015 (N =60)

Value Percent Positive

Integrity 73
Excellence in Teaching 87
Emerging Technology 72
A Student-Centered Environment 77
Diversity 55
Intellectual Inquiry 57
Culture of Civility, Cooperation and Collegiality 67
Welcoming Atmosphere for All Newcomers 75
Strong Work Ethic 62
Creation of Opportunities for Self-Fulfillment and Lifelong Learning 72

The College’s ideals were not reviewed during the 2015 Strategic Planning process. This gap will
be addressed by the Institutional Accreditation and Effectiveness Steering Committee in 2018.

PROJECTIONS

e Reevaluate the mission, vision, ideals and values every five years as part of the strategic
planning process.

e Review the results for the values of diversity and intellectual inquiry. The Institutional
Accreditation and Effectiveness Committee (IAEC) will review these results in the fall of
2017 to determine necessary actions.

e Assess the institutional ideals and revise to reflect campus input.



Standard 1: Mission and Purposes

Attach a copy of the current mission statement.

Date Approved by the
Document Website location Governing Board

http://www.kvcc.me.edu/Pages/Gen

Institutional Mission Statement eral/Mission

Mission Statement published | Website location Print Publication
http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSConte

Course Catalog nt/Documents/Catalogs/2014- Course Catalog

Related statements | Website location Print Publication
http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSConte
nt/Documents/Catalogs/2014-

Vision Statement 2016%20Catalog.pdf Course Catalog
http://www.kvcc.me.edu/Pages/Gen

Values eral/Mission Course Catalog

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Revised April 2016 1.1



STANDARD TWO
PLANNING AND EVALUATION

The institution undertakes planning to accomplish and improve the achievement of its mission and
purposes. It identifies planning and priorities and pursues them effectively. The institution
demonstrates its succession strategic, academic, financial and other resource planning and the
evaluation of its educational effectiveness.

The function of planning and evaluation primarily resides with the College’s Institutional Accreditation
and Evaluation Committee (IAEC). The Office of Institutional Research collects, analyzes, and distributes
the data necessary to support the College’s planning and evaluation efforts. In 2012, Kennebec Valley
Community College (KVCC) received a Department of Education Title Il grant to support the hiring of a
full-time Director of Institutional Research. In 2016, this position was transitioned from grant funds and
is currently sustained by the general fund. The Office of Institutional Research centralizes the College’s
data collection and reporting systems. The Director of Institutional Research reports directly to the
Office of the President and works closely with the Executive Team to provide data collection and
analytics used in planning activities. In addition, the position works closely with the Registrar to produce
admissions, enrollment, and student achievement reports.

In 2014, the Maine Community College System (MCCS) hired an Institutional Researcher to support the
planning, data collection, and reporting for MCCS. This position has been critical in deploying a system-
wide datamart. The datamart standardizes data across the MCCS system for an increased focus on
utilization and reporting of system-wide data.

PLANNING — DESCRIPTION

KVCC's five-year strategic plan, the KVCC2020 Report, and the annual budget planning process serve as
the primary framework to guide planning and evaluation activities at the college.

Strategic Planning

The MCCS requires its seven colleges to engage in a strategic planning process every five years. In 2015,
KVCC launched KVCC2020 to create the College’s five-year strategic plan. The process was a college-
wide and community effort that was marked by inclusivity, engagement, transparency, and
commitment. The strategic planning process involved four phases of planning;

1. Review and Assessment provided information and data to build the infrastructure of the four
strategic goals. The purpose of this phase was to gain common understanding of the current
landscape of the College, internally and externally. This phase included the following activities:
Mission Review, SWOT Analysis, and Environmental Scan

2. Visioning offered the opportunity to imagine the College’s ideal state and encourage blue-sky
thinking. Given KVCC’s mission and values, its strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats,
and external influences, the College was able to envision four core areas that would help it



sustain its mission, vision, and values as an institution and community: academic programming,
campus life, human resources, and business and industry. These core areas led to four strategic
goals.

3. Implementation and Action Plans allowed the College to develop action plans to support each
of the four strategic goals. Action plans were developed in collaboration with students,
employees, and external partners and will be the catalyst in achieving goals.

4. Implement, Status Report and Celebration of Accomplishment provides a framework for the
strategic plan to be continually monitored, questioned, and adjusted for change. KVCC now has
a strategic road map to follow, but as time goes by the college community will regularly evaluate
the relevance of the plan to the current conditions. If conditions change (as they are likely to),
the College will position itself to change with them, and the plan will be updated to reflect a
new direction.

The year-long process resulted in the KVCC2020 Strategic Plan Report and is organized around four
strategic goals which continue to guide the College:
e Goal 1: KVCC enrollment is expanded by academic year 2020-2021.
e Goal 2: KVCCis recognized regionally for quality in post-secondary education and professional
training.
e Goal 3: KVCC institutional operations are effective and efficient.
e Goal 4: KVCC contributes to the economic and social development of the surrounding
community, local businesses, and employers in the mid-Maine region.

Details on the process and activities can be found in the workroom and online at
http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSContent/Departments/Institutional Assessment/KV2020-Final-Report.pdf

In addition to the KVCC2020 Strategic Plan Report, the MCCS developed a system-wide strategic plan
with its seven community colleges for years 2015-2020. The MCCS goals are as follows:
e Goal 1: Achieve student success through improved persistence, transfer, graduation, and
employment performance.
e Goal 2: Support economic and workforce development.
e Goal 3: Invest in college classroom equipment, facilities, and programs.
e Goal 4: Maintain a high standard of accountability in all programs and services offered
throughout the MCCS.

Both the KVCC2020 Strategic Plan and the MCCS Strategic Plan align and overlap in key areas to provide
accessibility, affordability, quality, and value in our delivery of post-secondary education in the mid-
Maine region. Both the MCCS plan and the KVCC2020 plan complement one another in their vision,
projections, and measures over the next few years.

In January 2017 the College revised its committee structure to increase communication, encourage
data-driven decision-making, and implement a formal continuous quality improvement process. The
IAEC was established to initiate, cultivate, and facilitate all facets of institutional assessment, planning,
and effectiveness. The IAEC membership reflects the campus community. The IAEC collaboratively works



with five new committees and its campus partners to establish vision and processes to strengthen
ongoing, data-based planning and evaluation efforts, and to demonstrate how the College achieves its
mission and goals. The IAEC collaborates with administrators, faculty, staff, students, and external
partners serving on one or more institutional committees to build and sustain locally defined, efficient
systems to:

¢ Enhance student learning and enrich student experiences

e Address institutional accreditation quality standards

e Use assessment to advance teaching effectiveness, curricular and co-curricular innovation, and
programmatic and administrative efficacy

e Support program review

e Encourage data information-sharing to establish benchmarks and improved activities

e Promote goal-setting and strategic planning activities

The IAEC recommendations are directed to the Executive Team, Leadership Team, or KVCC Trustees
depending on the need for support at the fiscal and governance level of the institution.

PLANNING - APPRAISAL

In 2013, the College participated in the Personal Assessment of the College Environment (PACE) survey.
Overall, the results were positive and indicated a healthy campus climate, with the student focus
category receiving the highest mean score. The institutional structure category received the lowest
mean score, 2.99, on a scale from a low of “1” to a high of “5.” The item “the extent to which
information is shared within the institution” received the lowest mean of 2.44. During a professional
development day in spring 2014, faculty, staff and administration had the opportunity to discuss the
PACE results and to suggest strategies to improve communication. In 2015, additional data collected
during the strategic planning process identified “internal engagement” as a weakness. This data paired
with the 2013 PACE data indicated that the institution’s internal engagement continues to be a concern
and should be addressed as a system change.

To improve the College’s communication, transparency, and organization of information, KVCC
implemented a revised committee structure in the January of 2017. An ad hoc group conducted a gaps
and strengths analysis on NEASC standards to gauge an understanding of the current system of data
collection, utilization, and reporting. Using this information, the ad hoc group developed a new
committee structure and drafted committee charters.

The new committee structure links committee work to accreditation standards, widens membership,
and promotes communication and transparency of institutional activities and data. This revised
structure included the creation of the IAEC (oversight and advising role to the committees) and five
standing committees (Student, Academic, Educational Effectiveness, Institutional Resources, and
Teaching, Learning & Scholarship). Committees were formally launched in spring 2017 and tasked to
draft a component of the accreditation self-assessment report. The committees will reconvened in fall of
2017 to being work listed in the committee charter. An example is the Teaching, Learning and



Scholarship committee began work to define “scholarship” and the Educational Effectiveness
Committee is continuing the work on the testing of select rubrics and planning for the formal
implementation for data collection of student level outcomes.

The President of the College has fiscal responsibility and final authority on the institution’s budget. The
institutional budget includes personnel, academic program, support services, operational expenses, and
facilities planning. Prior to 2014, the Chief Financial Officer created all departmental budgets with input
from stakeholders. In 2014, the College implemented annual budget hearings. Budget hearings are held
in the spring and are scheduled for each department and academic program at the institution. The goal
of budget hearings is to educate the campus community about the institutional budget and potential
changes in budgeting from year to year. The budget process welcomes input from all employees at the
institution. It is a transparent process which promotes inclusivity from all organizational components of
the College. Each budget hearing reviews past budget expenditures and promotes a collaborative
dialogue process to identify annual goals and activities of the program and personnel needs. This
dialogue results in annual projections for the program budget. The President works with the Executive
Team to finalize the budget proposal for submission to MCCS in June. Dissemination of draft department
and program budgets occurs after the June submission. Institutional budgets are finalized by the MCCS
by October.

Enrollment is a primary source of revenue for the College. From 2011 through 2014, KVCC experienced
declining enrollment. During 2013, weekly enrollment reports and the establishment of annual program
caps and targets were implemented. These initial activities have influenced enrollment management,
and FTEs increased in 2015 (1048.9) and remained stable in 2016 (1049.4).

Degree-Seeking Fall Term Enrollment: 2008-2016
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Degree-Seeking 1495 1654 1833 1742 1772 1627 1580 1610 | 1613
Head Count
Degree-Seeking
FTE 960.6 1073.6 1193.0 | 11689 | 1162.7 | 1066.6 | 1019.3 | 1048.9 | 1049.4

During the College’s 2015 Strategic Planning process, Dr. Charles Colgan, Director of Research and Editor
in Chief, Middlebury Institute of International Studies at Monterey, presented demographic trends and
projections related to the Maine economy. Based on this information KVCC is likely to face the following
enrollment challenges:

e Competition from other post-secondary institutions

e Changing demographics in the state (aging population and declining enrollment in high school
student population)

e Financial uncertainty (tuition, endowment, philanthropic support, and government funding)

e Negative economic trends (loss of manufacturing jobs, service industry low wages)

e Emerging technologies requiring different skillsets than the current workforce



Because KVCC is a commuter college, the College is dependent on enrollment from primarily three
counties (Kennebec, Somerset, and Waldo). A potential solution to the enrollment challenges facing the
College is to add a residential facility to attract students from outside of the commuting region. In 2013,
the President’s Office conducted a preliminary analysis to explore the impact of a residential facility on
the campus. The findings are summarized below:

e With the addition of a residence hall, the College could expect to increase enrollment by 75 FTEs in
the first year of operation, and increase enrollment by 25 FTEs per year until the residence hall is at
capacity in 2020.

e Aresidence hall would allow the College to attract non-resident students at a higher tuition rate,
thus raising FTE.

e Aresidence hall would allow the College to attract more students for summer study, thereby raising
FTE. Such a facility would allow for summer camps and professional development programs that
would generate additional revenue but are not calculated in degree-seeking FTE.

e The institutional FTE needed to balance the operational costs of a residence hall while remaining
fiscally sustainable is 1350 degree-seeking FTE.

e With no residence hall and assuming 1.5% annual growth, the College will continue to see modest
budgets that have the potential to impact the quality of delivery.

Based on data presented in the 2015 Strategic Planning process, the College revisited the preliminary
analysis and identified the need to formally assess the possibility of residential life at KVCC. In 2017, the
College contracted the services of a consulting firm to conduct a formal economic impact and feasibility
study to determine the need for residential services and the projected impact on enrollment. Results of
this study will be available in spring 2018.

EVALUATION - DESCRIPTION

Since the last accreditation site visit, KVCC has added an Office of Institutional Research (IR) with one
full-time position dedicated to overseeing the College’s system of evaluation. IR provides a central role
for the institution’s data collection and reporting systems. Quantitative and qualitative data is collected
by IR for purposes of evaluating the institution’s academic quality, student accessibility and experience,
financial sustainability, and operations supporting all institutional functions. (See appendix for a matrix
of all institutional data collection). The Office of IR also publishes an annual Fact Book which includes
data from all levels of the College and aligns the data to accreditation and strategic plan measures. The
Director of IR works with Academic Affairs, Student Affairs, Finance Office, Office of Workforce
Development and Professional Development, and Information Technology to provide analytical capacity
and assure that contribution of assessment and evaluation occurs inclusively across the institution.

The Director of IR and the Academic Dean co-chair the IAEC. The Director assists the IAEC by
coordinating and centralizing institutional data collection, and tracking activities related to the College’s
committee work. The centralization of this information is critical to institutional effectiveness.



In addition, the Director of IR now works with faculty and staff to increase analytical capacity. An
example of IR working with academic programs is the analysis of admission test (Test of Essential
Academic Skills (TEAS)) data in the Medical Assisting program to determine if this test correlated with
student success in the Medical Assisting program. Findings suggested that the admission test was not an
indicator of student success in the program. Based on the analysis, the Medical Assisting Program
eliminated this admission test.

In addition to IR, other departments within the College evaluate activities to assess attainment of their
goals and objectives and to inform future planning. Student Services, the Learning Commons, the
Admissions Office, IT, and the Financial Aid Office utilize data collection, including surveys, to assess
their services. Currently the data is housed within individual departments.

EVALUATION - APPRAISAL

The College gathers a range of data from students, faculty, staff, and campus partners, including
program advisory committee and KVCC Foundation members. Data is both quantitative and qualitative.
Data reporting supports the primary functions of the College and guides academics, student support,
finance, and administration to determine departmental and institutional effectiveness.

KVCC strives to demonstrate continuous quality improvement of all aspects associated with fulfilling the
College’s mission and goals. The redesigned committee structure was established to improve the
College’s capacity for measuring effectiveness and to create a culture of continuous quality
improvement. Prior to the committee restructure, the College measured student success using key
measures such as retention, transfer, and completion. Analytics were linear and included breakouts by
student profile or characteristics. The addition of the Director of Institutional Research has increased the
institution’s capacity for data collection and analysis. Additionally, this increased capacity allows the
College to review and track data for purposes of planning and evaluation of programs, activities, and
services.

With the prospective pool of potential students shrinking, retention for purposes of fiscal sustainability
becomes more important. Although the College is above the National Benchmark in retention for full
and part-time students, and on average KVCC has the highest retention rate for first-time full-time
students (67%) compared to the national average (63%), retention rates drop for part-time students
(45% in 2015, which was a decline from 52% in 2014). On average, 60% of the KVCC students are part-
time status, highlighting the need to identify and deliver practices that will increase the retention for
part-time students. (Source: National Student Clearinghouse Research Center).

Given these factors, evaluating enrollment and retention data and trends have become critical to
measuring academic quality and student engagement, and to establishing and sustaining fiscal stability
over the next five years. The College has identified a need to improve upon the following evaluation
activities:

1) Prepare and review weekly enrollment reports and compare reports to the prior academic year.
These reports, established in 2013, have become the primary mechanism for updating the College
on enrollment status from term to term. Reports are currently generated by the Office of IR and are
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2)

3)

primarily reviewed by the Executive Team or Leadership Team and the Admission Team to
determine actions such as scheduling of marketing ads, admission activities and/or orientations. To
date these reports are a manual function. Primary users are dependent on the Office of IR to pull
the data and create weekly enroliment reports. The College will work to automate these reports so
that data can be obtained directly by the admissions and enrollment team.

Establish caps and targets for all KVCC credit bearing programs. Caps and targets are now reviewed
annually and are updated collaboratively between the College’s admission’s office and program
faculty. Data illustrating the trend of enrollment headcount, FTEs, and retention over the past five
years are reviewed and conclude with an agreeable target for enrollment during the next fiscal year.
These targets are reflected in the College’s annual budget process as anticipated program revenue.
Established caps and targets are noted on the College’s applicant report. However, no formal
trending reporting on achieving caps and targets currently exists to better understand how and
when programs achieve or fall short of the identified caps and targets.

The quality, integrity, and effectiveness of academic programming has a direct impact on
enrollment, retention, and completion data. Several of KVCC’s programs, including Nursing and
many of the Allied Health programs, are professionally accredited through a national accrediting
body. The College adheres to standards set by the independent accrediting bodies, recognizing that
achieving accreditation by adherence to the standards raises the level of academic standard to one
of academic excellence.
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KvCC Accrediting Body Last Length of Next
Program Accreditation Accreditation Accreditation
Occupational o ) )
Accreditation Council for Occupational Therapy ) .
Thgrapy Education (ACOTE) April 2016 10 years April 2026
Assistant
Medical Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health )
Assisting Education Programs (CAAHEP) April 2015 7years Fall 2023
Nursing Accreditation Comm|s§|on for Education in October 2017 8 years Pending
Nursing Approval
Health Commission on Accreditation for Health
Information Informatics and Information Management 2010 8 years 2018
Management Education (CAHIM)
Radiological Joint Review Committee on Education in ) .
April 2015 8 S 2023
Technology Radiologic Technology (JRCERT) pri years pring
. Pending
Physical - e . ]
. Commission on Accreditation in Physical Therapy ) Approval — Last Pending
Therapist ; April 2017
) Education (CAPTE) cycle was 10 Approval
Assistant
years
) Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Pending Self
Paramedic Programs (CAAHEP) October 2013 5 years Study
Business Association of Collegiate Business Schools March 2013 10 years Spring 2023

For programs which do not have a national accreditation, MCCS policy requires that a program review

be conducted every five years by the MCCS. Data such as enrollment, retention, transfer, and

completion and employment outcomes are provided by the Office of IR to the Academic Affairs Office
for review by MCCS.

As an institution, the College’s retention data and completion data is above the national average. For

three consecutive years, the College was nominated to Aspen’s Top 150 Community Colleges in the

nation. KVCC was the only community college in Maine recognized. The College is proud of these

achievements but also recognizes that further evaluation of data and activities at the program level is
needed to be able to speak to quality.

The Academic Affairs Office, in collaboration with the Academic Program Committee, has proposed to

enhance the MCCS internal review process to include a Program Profile component that will be used by
the College in its evaluation of quality.

In 2015 the College participated in Foundations of Excellence (FoE). Based on the work conducted, the
FoE workgroups identified the need to provide ongoing reports on successful completions at a course
level. The workgroup identified courses in both the general education and core areas that had a 40-50%
failure rate (c- or below). The workgroup summarized that programs needed an increased
understanding on modality of courses in conjunction with the sequence of coursing within a degree
area. In 2017, the College became a member of Achieve the Dream (ATD). The FoE workgroup
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transitioned to the ATD workgroup and transitioned this work into ATD and identified the need for
Program Profiles.

Program Profiles will provide enrollment, retention, completion, and transfer trends in addition to a list
of all courses required by the program and the success rates of each course broken out by modality. In
addition to student measures, the instructor to student ratio, as well as instructor to advising ratio will
be reviewed with the program budget to determine any critical gaps in program instructor FTE. The
intent is to provide a full picture of program data to establish a profile that is student focused, but
identifies the institutional resources needed to assess the overall quality of the program. The Program
Profile will be piloted with uncapped programs in fall 2017 and will be reported out by the Office of IR to
Academic Affairs for program review.

As the Program Profile is piloted, additional areas will be assessed by the ATD workgroup for inclusion in

the Profile:

e Student Financial Aid Data: Tuition at KVCC has increased minimally during the past 10 years.
However, the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) reports that the College’s data
indicates that the net price has increased more for low income students than for students with
higher incomes. Using the College’s IPEDS data, the NCES College Navigator website shows that
KVCC student household income has increased since 2010, resulting in a reduced Pell award for
those students in the $0-$30,000 range. However, on average, Pell awards have increased for the
middle-income brackets, and have had a larger percentage of change for degree-seeking students.
The number of recipients of financial aid has dropped since 2010 (1703 recipients in AY2010
compared to 1501 in AY2015), however, the average amount of assistance has increased from
$7,000 to nearly $8,000 in AY2015. Financial aid data is critical to enrollment. On average, 70% of
KVCC students receive some form of financial assistance. Understanding changes in financial
demographics of potential and current students is critical in maintaining enrollment for retention
purpose and for recruitment of new students.

e Employment Data: Employment data is collected by the Office of IR within six months of the
student’s completion of his/her program using a Graduate Survey. In addition, when available, MCCS
provides Maine Department of Labor (MDOL) earnings data for students. This data has been
infrequent and for smaller programs may not be provided at all. Therefore, the institution depends
on the Graduate Survey to determine post-completion outcomes. The table below notes the
average earnings reported by students completing their respective program. However, in 2015, the
Energy Services Technology program response rate was too small to report.
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Program 2009 2012 2014 2015

Allied Health & Nursing

Nursing $47, 893 $52,499 $54,665 | $56,139
Radiologic Technology $40,131 $47,112 $48,156 | $41,579
Trades & Technology
Electrical Technology $26,297 $31,200 $41,440 | $41,579
Electrical Lineworker Technology $37,216 $44,741 $40,320 | $56,139

Energy Services Technology n/a n/a $40,320 ok ok

Currently, response rates from the graduate survey range annually from 25% to 30%. However, the
response rate varies from program to program and may be as low as 11%. Graduate data is a key
variable in determining student outcomes. Lack of employment may be a statement of program quality
or alignment of program curriculum to industry standards. In some cases, low employment rates may
speak to the lack of industry need. In further building out the program profile, the College will need to
build a component of post-completion outcomes and will need to explore options to strengthen the
collection of graduate data, either a self-report administration (similar to the graduate survey) or from
wage data, or perhaps a supplementing of the two data sources. The Office of IR will work with the ATD
workgroup and representatives from the Student and Academic Program committees to explore options
for collection and propose a plan to IAEC in fall 2018.

PLANNING & EVALUATION - PROJECTIONS

Planning
e Economic Impact and Feasibility Study completed by January 2018.
e Administer the PACE in 2018 and use results to track improvements in institutional and internal
engagement.

Evaluation
e Formalize tracking of activities at the committee level to evaluate and assess continuous
improvement.
e Create automated enrollment and enrollment comparison reports that will be accessible to
institutional faculty, staff, and administrators.
e Create a formal trending report on weekly achievement of program caps and targets
e Implement a comprehensive internal evaluation of academic programs to include a program
profile
o Explore integration of financial aid data into the program profiles
o Explore methodology for collection employment information on graduating students
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Standard 2: Planning and Evaluation

Year
approved by
governing Effective
PLANNING board Dates Website location
Strategic Plans
www.kvce.me.edu/.../Departments/Institu
tional Assessment/kvcc strategic plan
Immediately prior Strategic Plan 2010 2010-2015final%20final.doc - 2015-05-19
Approved by http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSContent/De
Executive partments/Institutional Assessment/KV2
Current Strategic Plan Leadership 6/1 020-Final-Report.pdf
Next Strategic Plan 2020
Year Effective
completed Dates Website location

Other institution-wide plans*

Master plan

Academic plan

Financial plan

Technology plan

Enrollment plan

Development plan

Plans for major units (e.g., departments, library)*

EVALUATION Website location
Academic program review
Program review system (colleges and departments). System last updated: MCCS Policy Section 602 Date: 2009

Every 5 years for programs not having a
Program review schedule (e.g., every 5 years) national accreditation

Sample program review reports (name of unit or program)*

General Science http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSContent/De
Liberal Studies partments/Institutional Assessment/IntPr
Sustaianable Agriculture ogReview_ Eval.pdf

System to review other functions and units

Depends on requirements by external
Program review schedule (every X years or website location of schedule) excrediting body

Sample program review reports (name of unit or program)*

Radiological Technology Program http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSContent/De
Medical Assisting Program partments/Institutional Assessment/ExtP
Physical Therapist Program rogReview Eval.pdf

Revised April 2016 2.1




Other significant institutional studies (Name and web location)* Website Location

http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSContent/De
partments/Institutional Assessment/Fou
Foundations of Excellence - Date 2015 ndations Of Excellence.pdf

http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSContent/De
partments/Institutional Assessment/KV2
Stengths, Weakness, Opportunities, Threats Analysis 020-Final-Report.pdf ‘
http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSContent/De
partments/Institutional Assessment/KV2
Environmental Scan 020-Final-Report.pdf

*Insert additional rows, as appropriate.

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Revised April 2016 2.1



STANDARD THREE
ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNANCE

The institution has a system of governance that facilitates the accomplishment of its mission and
purposes and supports institutional effectiveness and integrity. Through its organizational design and
governance structure, the institution creates and sustains an environment that encourages teaching,
learning, service, scholarship, and where appropriate research and creative activity. It demonstrates
administrative capacity by assuring provision of support adequate for the appropriate functioning of
each organizational component. The institution has sufficient independence from any other entity to
be held accountable for meeting the Commission’s Standards for Accreditation.

ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNANCE - DESCRIPTION

Governing Board

The Maine Community College System (MCCS) oversees seven community colleges, including Kennebec
Valley Community College (KVCC). The mission of the MCCS is "to provide associate degree, diploma and
certificate programs directed at the educational, occupational and technical needs of the State's citizens
and the workforce needs of the State's employers...[and] to create an educated, skilled and adaptable
labor force, which is responsive to the changing needs of the economy of the State and to promote
local, regional and statewide economic development." (Public Law, Chapter 431)

The MCCS Board of Trustees is the policy-making authority for the community college system. The MCCS
Board is ultimately responsible for KVCC’s quality and integrity. No other board has authority over
institutional policy. Under Maine statute, the Board consists of 13 appointed voting members, one ex-
officio voting member, and one ex-officio non-voting member. The Governor of Maine appoints trustees
from different fields of expertise and with consideration to geographical representation and diversity.
These appointments are subject to review by the Joint Standing Committee of the Legislature and to
confirmation by the Legislature. The process of legislative review and confirmation works to assure that
the interest of the public is well served. Members are appointed to four-year terms with the exception
of the student representative, who serves a two-year term. The student member is a current student at
one of the community colleges at the time of appointment. The appointed members of the Board elect a
Chair and a Vice Chair to annual terms of office; the Chair appoints all committee assignments. The
President of the MCCS serves as the Secretary to the Board.

The responsibilities of the MCCS Board are published in the MCCS Policy and Procedures Manual. Each
newly elected member of the Board participates in an orientation program to understand the powers

and responsibilities of the trustees as a governing, policy-making body and to obtain knowledge of the
operation of the MCCS and the colleges. The Board ultimately approves the creation and deletion of all
academic programs as well as the respective college budgets. Furthermore, the Board approves
collective bargaining agreements, facilities construction, and tuition rates.
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The MCCS Board has a clear understanding of the distinctive mission and purposes of the MCCS.
Consequently, the Board has the following duties and powers in order to effectively implement the
System's mission and purposes:

e Offer courses of study and degrees

e Appoint or identify advisory committees to advise the Board of Trustees with respect to education

policies and programs

e Delegate duties and responsibilities

e Develop and adopt policies for the operation of the MCCS

e Oversee the administration of the MCCS

e Develop and adopt bylaws for the regulation of its affairs and the conduct of its business

e Prepare and adopt a biennial budget for operations and capital improvements for presentation to

the Governor and the Legislature

e Receive, expend, allocate, and transfer funds within the MCCS

e Receive and accept loans, aid, contributions, or other items of value

e Establish and collect room and board and tuition and to set policies relating to fees and charges

e Invest funds

e Enterinto any contracts, leases, and agreements

e Sue and be sued in its own name

e Develop and adopt personnel policies and procedures

e Appoint the President of the MCCS and the Presidents of the colleges;

e Purchase materials, supplies, and services

e Acquire property, lands, buildings, structures, facilities, or equipment

e Authorize facility construction and renovations

e Do any other acts necessary for the efficient operation of the MCCS

The Board of Trustees has the authority to establish the President’s Council, a non-voting advisory
council composed of the Presidents of the Colleges and the President of the MCCS. The Council makes
recommendations to the Board of Trustees on issues with respect to the administration of the colleges,
courses of study, educational programs, curricula, coordination of programs between the colleges,
coordination with other institutions of higher learning, and other matters as requested. The College
Presidents communicate relevant issues to their respective campus communities. The Board of Trustees
must approve all MCCS policies. Policy originating from the Board is forwarded to the President’s Council
for review.

The responsibilities of community college staff and faculty are outlined in the collective bargaining
agreements between the Maine State Employees Association and the MCCS Board of Trustees, 2015-
2017, and the MCCS Board of Trustees Agreement with the Maine Education Association, 2015-2017
respectively. These agreements not only reflect the duties and responsibilities of community college

employees but also delineate grievance policies and procedures, evaluation protocols, due process, and
other rights of the community college support staff and faculty.
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The division of responsibility and authority between the MCCS and the colleges is clearly delineated.
Policies and procedures are defined, published, and accessible. Policies and procedures are equitably
administered among the campuses. The MCCS has developed benchmarks as part of a strategic planning
process to evaluate effectiveness of resource allocation in light of System goals. The MCCS Board of
Trustees has adopted a funding formula to address the allocation of new resources coming to the
System.

Internal Governance
President

KVCC has a chief executive officer (President) whose primary responsibility is to the College. The

President of the College is nominated by the President of the MCCS and appointed by the MCCS Board

of Trustees. KVCC's President implements the policies of the MCCS Board of Trustees and is responsible

for the day-to-day operation of the College. The powers and duties of the President include:

e Administration of the College;

e Ensuring educational quality at the College to include program accreditation standards;

e Maintenance of the College;

e Appointment of College staff;

e Staff oversight;

e Preparation and administration of the College budget;

e Appointment of advisory committees to advise on the development and operation of the
educational programs at the College; and

e Other duties as delegated by the Board of Trustees.

The President serves on the executive committee of the KVCC Foundation. The KVCC Foundation is a
501(c) nonprofit organization established in 1991 with the goal of supporting both the College and its
students. The mission of the KVCC Foundation is to engage supporters to invest in students, faculty, and
programs to empower individuals and to build stronger communities. The KVCC Foundation Board of
Trustees achieves this goal by raising funds to promote and support all educational programs; to provide
state-of-the art equipment and facilities; and to ensure access through scholarship funds for needy
students. The Foundation has raised a portfolio of over $3.9 million to support student scholarships,
technology and equipment upgrades, and access to student support services. Since its inception, the
Foundation has awarded over $1.35 million in student scholarships, opening the doors to education for
more than 1,650 KVCC students.

The President has the absolute responsibility for the preparation and administration of the College
budget. This is accomplished through the Dean of Finance and Administration in collaboration with
respective constituents. The pragmatic management and allocation of finite institutional resources is
based upon the College's mission and purposes in accordance with established mechanisms and
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procedures. The College has modified the strategic planning process to include budget and institutional
goals. Annual benchmarks serve as evaluative tools.

The President is ultimately responsible for the formulation and implementation of campus policies that
are compatible with the MCCS and based upon the mission and purposes of KVCC.

Leadership Team

KVCC has a system of governance that facilitates the successful accomplishment of its mission and
purposes. This is achieved through a shared-governance design, as outlined in the College’s Governance
Document, in which the President has the ultimate responsibility for all College issues but is aided by the
expertise of the members of the Leadership Team. In addition to the College President, the members of
the College’s Leadership Team include the Vice President/ Dean of Student Affairs, Enrollment and
Marketing, Academic Dean, Dean of Finance and Administration, Dean of Technology and Chief Security
Officer, President of the Faculty Senate, and a Student Senate representative. In addition, a faculty
representative from the Maine Education Association (MEA), an administrative representative from
MEA, and a staff member from Maine State Employees Association (MSEA), serve on the leadership
team. Each representative is elected by their respective groups.

The Leadership Team meets bimonthly during the academic year to propose, develop, and review policy
drafts. The Leadership Team then circulates the proposed policy among the campus community for
review, input, and revision prior to final adoption. Leadership Team minutes are published via the

campus portal.

In addition to the Leadership Team, the College encourages the participation of all employees in the
institution's system of shared governance.

Faculty and Staff

The duties and responsibilities of College employees are detailed in the KVCC Policy and Procedures

Manual.

Faculty and staff are encouraged to participate on College committees which have a direct impact in
matters of educational programs, student support, and other aspects of College policy that relate to
academic integrity and delivery of services to students. These committees include, but are not limited
to, the Leadership Team, the Academic Program Committee, Student Committee, Teaching, Learning &
Scholarship Committee, Educational Effectiveness Committee, Institutional Resources Committee, and
the Institutional Accreditation and Effectiveness Steering Committee (IAEC).

Department Chairs meet with the members of their respective departments on a regular basis to discuss
academic and College issues that relate to their individual programs. The Academic Dean meets
regularly with the Department Chairs to discuss both College and departmental concerns affecting
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academic integrity. Individual departments set goals, develop budgets, and are involved in strategic
planning and new program development. The departments are also involved in program evaluation, and
where applicable, professional accreditation. Departments also meet regularly with their respective
program advisory committees to assist in the review, revision, and development of program policies and
procedures.

The Faculty Senate has a constitution and a set of bylaws, and holds regular monthly meetings to discuss
topics impacting academic affairs. The Faculty Senate may make recommendations to the Leadership
Team with regards to areas of concern in academic affairs, academic environment, and institutional
development (Faculty Senate Constitution and Bylaws). The administration welcomes faculty input into

campus issues. The President of Faculty Senate is a member of the College's Leadership Team and the
IAEC.

Faculty and Student Service Teams meet monthly during the academic year. Meetings for faculty (full
time, part time, and adjunct), and staff are held to exchange information and promote the participation
of employees in the operational processes of the campus.

The President hosts a President’s Dialogue each semester to encourage communication between the
President and the campus community. The President’s Dialogue provide opportunity for the exchange of
information and allows for discussion of issues relevant to the College community and its members.

Annual Budget Hearings are held in the spring and are scheduled for each department and academic
program at the institution. The budget process welcomes input from all employees at the institution. It
is a transparent process which promotes inclusivity from all organizational components of the College.
The goal of budget hearings is to educate the campus community on the institutional budget and
potential changes in budgeting from year to year.

The College administers the Personal Assessment of the College Environment (PACE) to report on
faculty, administrator, and staff perception of the college climate and to promote open and constructive
communication. The PACE Survey was last administered in 2013 and found that the area of
communication was indicated as a weakness. Findings from the report were presented to faculty and
staff during an internal professional development day for discussion.

Program Advisory Committees

Program Advisory Committees (PAC) collaborate with faculty on a regular basis and function to promote
excellence in their respective programs. Members of the Program Advisory Committee include faculty,
administration, industry representatives, alumni, students and community partners. Members of these
committees display genuine interest in program success and are dedicated to the development of
program policies that are relevant, equitable, and adequately prepare graduates for success in the
workplace. MCCS policy requires the minimum of an annual meeting for all degree-seeking programs.

19



Each year a program advisory survey is administered to 1/3 of the academic programs, creating a three-
year cycle to capture all programs. The survey assesses satisfaction and feedback on program
curriculum, knowledge of leading practices and merging trends being introduced and taught in the
program, preparation of the program graduates for work in the field and quality of the program. Since
many of the PAC representatives are also employers of KVCC graduates, faculty requested that
additional questions be added to the survey in 2017.

Student Engagement

KVCC makes provisions for the consideration of student views and judgments in those matters in which
students have a direct and reasonable interest. Students participate on College standing committees,
Student Senate, the Leadership Team, and the MCCS Board of Trustees. Students also serve on program
advisory committees, which ultimately influence the development of program policy. Students have the
opportunity to provide feedback and input on a regular basis through course, program, graduate, and
College-wide evaluations. Members of the student body, including Student Senate, Student Leadership
group, and Phi Theta Kappa National Honor Society participate in the governance of the College by
submitting to the Leadership Team issues of student concern, usually with recommendations for
consideration.

Every other year (on average), the College administers the Community College Survey of Student
Engagement (CCSSE) and the Noel-Levitz Student Satisfaction Inventory (SSI) to report on student
engagement and satisfaction. In the past, findings were presented to the Institutional Assessment
Committee to identify areas for improvement. However, with the change of the committee structure,
findings will now be presented to the Academic Program and Student Committee. The KVCC2020
Strategic Plan report uses the CCSSE as a measure to evaluate the effectiveness of institutional
operations (Measure 3.1a: Perform above the 50 mean on each of the CCSSE benchmarks (active and
collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interactions and support for
learners).

ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNANCE - APPRAISAL

KVCC has a system of governance that facilitates the successful accomplishment of its mission and
purposes. The organizational design and governance structure of the College creates and sustains an
environment that encourages and promotes excellence in teaching, lifelong learning, and scholarship.
This is exemplified by the many College programs which hold national accreditation, the success rates
on professional licensure examinations, and the commendable feedback from both graduates and
employers.

The President and the members of the Leadership Team are responsive to the concerns, needs, and
initiatives of faculty, students, staff, and administration. The College’s Governance Document outlines
the responsibilities of the Leadership Team. The College administration displays support for the
professional needs of College employees. All members of the Leadership Team welcome the input of
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faculty, staff, and students and promote an environment that encourages communication. The College
administration strives to create a supportive environment that encourages self-awareness, community
involvement, and lifelong learning which considers the safety of all.

In 2017, the College formalized a structure for communicating and reporting committee activities,
overseen by the IAEC. This IAEC tracks committee activities, actions, and outcomes in a continuous
quality improvement loop to track effectiveness. The committees were established in early 2017, and
became operationalized during the spring 2017 semester.

PROJECTION
e Establish a tracking system that will be reported to the Leadership Team on a semi-annual basis.

The report will include committee activities and assessment information to be used to evaluate
and improve the effectiveness of the organizational structure and governance system.
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Standard 3: Organization and Governance

(Board and Internal Governance)

Please attach to this form:

1) A copy of the institution's organization chart(s).

2) A copy of the by-laws, enabling legislation, and/or other appropriate documentation to establish the
legal authority of the institution to award degrees in accordance with applicable requirements.

If there is a "sponsoring entity," such as a church or religious congregation, a state system, or a corporation,
describe and document the relationship with the accredited institution.

Name of the sponsoring entity

Website location of documentation of relationship
Governing Board

By-laws

Board members' names and affiliations (MCCS )

Board committees *

Maine Community College System

http://www.mainelegislature.org/leqgis/statutes/20-
altitle20-Ach431sec0.html

Website location

https://www.mccs.me.edu/about-mccs/system-
office/board-of-trustees/

https://www.mccs.me.edu/about-mccs/system-
office/board-of-trustees/board-membership/

Website location or document name for meeting minutes

Maine Community College System Board of Trustees

https://www.mccs.me.edu/about-mccs/system-
office/board-of-trustees/

Major institutional faculty committees or

Website location or document name for meeting minutes

Faculty Senate

Leadership

http://www.kvcec.me.edu/pages/general/faculty-senate

http://www.kvcec.me.edu/Pages/General/Policies

Major institutional student committees or

Website location or document name for meeting minutes

Student Senate

http://www.kvcc.me.edu/pages/student-life-
development/student-clubs

Phi Theta Kappa

http://www.kvcc.me.edu/pages/student-life-
development/phi-theta-kappa-society

Revised April 2016
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Other major institutional committees or governance Website location or document name for meeting minutes

Academic Committee http://www.kvcc.me.edu/Pages/General/Policies ‘
Student Committee http://www.kvcc.me.edu/Pages/General/Policies ‘
Teaching, I.earning & Scholarship Committee http://www.kvcc.me.edu/Pages/General/Policies
Educational Effectiveness Committee http://www.kvcc.me.edu/Pages/General/Policies ‘
Institutional Resources Committee http://www.kvcc.me.edu/Pages/General/Policies

Institutional Accreditation and Effectiveness Committee |http://www.kvcc.me.edu/Pages/General/Policies ‘
http://www.kvce.me.edu/pages/general/program-

Program Advisory Committees advisory-committees
http://www.kvcc.me.edu/Pages/Foundation/Foundatio
KVCC Foundation n-Home

*Insert additional rows as appropriate.

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below
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Maine Revised Statutes

Title 20-A: EDUCATION
Chapter 431: MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM

§12703. MISSION AND GOALS

The basic mission of the Maine Community College System is to provide associate degree, diploma
and certificate programs directed at the educational, career and technical needs of the State's citizens and the
workforce needs of the State's employers. [2011, c. 679, §23 (AMD).]

The primary goals of postsecondary career and technical education and the Maine Community College
System are to create an educated, skilled and adaptable labor force that is responsive to the changing needs of
the economy of the State and to promote local, regional and statewide economic development. [2011, c.
679, §23 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
1985, c. 695, §11 (NEW). 1989, c. 443, §35 (AMD). 2003, c. 20, §O02
(AMD). 2003, c. 20, §004 (AFF). 2011, c. 679, §23 (AMD).

The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish this material, we require that you include the
following disclaimer in your publication:
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM

ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNANCE
Section 105

SUBJECT: BOARD OF TRUSTEES

PURPOSE: To define the role of the Board of Trustees of the Maine Community
College System

A. Responsibility of the Board

The Board of Trustees of the Maine Community College System shall be responsible, through
the exercise of the powers and performance of the duties set forth by law, for the establishment,
control, and administration of a statewide system of publicly supported community colleges,
which shall be known as the Maine Community College System. The main office of the Board
shall be in the City of Augusta, Maine.

B. Membership

The Board of Trustees shall consist of 13 appointed voting members and one ex-officio voting
and one ex-officio non-voting member as follows: 12 from the field of business and industry, the
field of labor, the field of education and the general public; the Commissioner of Education, or
his/her successor, who shall serve as an ex-officio voting member; the Commissioner of Labor,
or his/her successor, who shall serve as an ex-officio non-voting member; and one member who
is from the student body of one of the community colleges, enrolled for a minimum of 12 credit
hours per semester at the time of appointment and a permanent resident of the State. The student
member shall be a voting member of the Board.

C. Appointment and Terms

With the exception of the student member who is appointed to a two-year term of office,
members of the Board of Trustees shall be appointed by the governor to a four-year term of
office, subject to review by the joint standing committee of the legislature having jurisdiction
over education and to confirmation by the Maine Senate. No classified or unclassified employee
of the State, except for the ex-officio members or person who holds elected state office, may
serve on the Board of Trustees.

The student member shall be selected as follows. By January 1st of every second year, the
president of the System shall solicit a list of six eligible students from the student governments
from six of the colleges within the Community College System; the seventh college being
excluded as the student trustee may not come from the same college in any two consecutive
terms. In the event that the student trustee transfers from one college to another during the
student's term of appointment, the student's original college of enrollment is the college excluded
when the next student trustee is appointed. The governor will then nominate a student trustee
chosen from the list within 30 days of receiving the list of names. As with any nomination, the



nomination is subject to review by the joint standing committee of the legislature having
jurisdiction over education matters and to confirmation by the Maine Senate.

D. Removal of a Member

The Board of Trustees may petition to the governor for the removal of any member who has
been absent from three consecutive, regularly-scheduled meetings.

E. Vacancy

Vacancies on the Board of Trustees shall be filled for the unexpired term only. A member shall
serve until a successor has been appointed and qualified. The chair shall notify the governor
whenever a vacancy exists and shall recommend nominees to fill the vacancy.

F. Officers of the Board

The Board shall select a chair and a vice chair from the appointed members at the annual
meeting. In the event of a vacancy in either office, a special election may be held. The terms of
office of the officers shall commence at the beginning of the fiscal year following their election
to office and shall run for one year. Officers may be re-elected. The chair shall appoint all
committees unless the Board of Trustees directs that another appointment process be utilized for
a specific committee. The president of the System shall serve as Secretary of the Board of
Trustees.

G. Oath of Members

Before entering upon the discharge of his/her duties, each member of the Board shall take an
oath that the member will faithfully and honestly execute the duties of the member’s office
during the member’s continuance therein.

H. Meetings

The Board shall meet at least six times annually, and on call of the chair or at the request of a
majority of the members. At least one meeting shall be scheduled in each calendar quarter. The
last regular meeting scheduled in each fiscal year shall constitute the annual meeting, at which
time the officers of the Board of Trustees shall be elected and a schedule of regular meetings for
the ensuing fiscal year shall be established. Each year one meeting shall be held at each college,
if practicable. Notification of the cancellation of a regularly-scheduled meeting for reasons other
than lack of quorum shall be provided to the Board of Trustees and the public at least one week
in advance if practicable, or by the same means used to call an emergency meeting.



L Quorum

A quorum shall consist of a majority of the voting members of the Board of Trustees. No action
may be taken without the affirmative vote of a majority of the members present and voting.

J. Powers and Duties
The powers and duties of the Board of Trustees shall include the following:
1. General
a. Develop and adopt by-laws for the regulation of its affairs and the conduct
of its business and develop and adopt an official seal and alter it as
necessary or convenient;
b. Develop and adopt policies for the operation of the System, the Maine
Community College System Office and the colleges; establish the

Administrative and/or Presidents Council; and approve programs and
policies recommended by the president of the System and the Presidents

Council,
c. Oversee the administration of the System;
d. Delegate duties and responsibilities as necessary for the efficient operation

of this chapter; and

e. Do any other acts or things necessary or convenient to carry out the
powers expressly granted by, or reasonably implied from, law, including
any emergency power deemed reasonably necessary to ensure a safe and
secure operating environment.

2. Academic Programs

a. Establish qualifications for admission offer courses of study, confer
diplomas and certificates on completion of courses of study, and associate
degrees based on two years of instruction;

b. Offer short-term and on-site training or meet the needs of the private and
public sectors and economic development and employment training
programs; and

C. Offer adult education and continuing educational opportunities to meet the
needs of students who need training or retraining in response to changes in
technology or the needs of the economy.



Financial Management

a.

Prepare and adopt a biennial, line-category, operating budget for
presentation to the governor and legislature, incorporating all projected
expenditures and all resources expected or proposed to be made available
to fund the operations of the System. The budget is to be used in support
of any requests to the legislature for General Fund appropriations that the
Board of Trustees may deem appropriate and necessary to supplement
other resources available to the System and shall also serve as the
foundation for an annual fiscal management plan for the System;

Prepare and adopt a biennial capital improvements budget for presentation
to the governor and legislature, incorporating all projected expenditures
and all resources expected or proposed to be made available to fund
System public improvements as defined by law. If required by law, such a
budget must be developed with the advice and assistance of the Bureau of
Public Improvements and must represent the capital improvement
priorities within the System;

Receive, expend, allocate and transfer funds within the System, as
necessary to fulfill the System’s mission, in accordance with the biennial,
line-category, and operating budget;

Receive and accept, from any source, loans, aid or contributions of money,
property, labor or other things of value to be held, used or applied to carry
out the System’s mission, subject to the conditions upon which the loans,
grants and contributions may be made, including, but not limited to, loans,
grants or gifts from any federal agency or governmental subdivision or the
State and its agencies;

Establish tuition and set policies relating to room and board and other fees
that the colleges may need to charge in order to advance efficiently the
System’s mission as identified in these policies;

Except as otherwise provided by law, invest any funds not needed for
immediate use, including any funds held in reserve, in property and
securities in which fiduciaries in the State may legally invest funds; and

Borrow funds, issue bonds and negotiate notes and other evidence of
indebtedness or obligations of the system for renovation, public
improvements, land acquisition and construction purposes to pay for costs
as defined in and permitted by law. The Board of Trustees may issue
temporary notes and renewal notes to pay for those costs, and may fix the
date, maturities, denomination, interest rate, place of payment, form and
other details of the bonds or notes of the System. The Board of Trustees
may pledge or assign its revenues, including any funds that have been or



may be appropriated to the System, and the proceeds of those revenues
and its other property as security toward its bonds, notes, other evidences
of indebtedness or other obligations of the System. The Board of Trustees
may invest in accordance with law the proceeds of bonds, notes or other
evidences of indebtedness.

Contracts and Acquisitions

a.

Enter into any contracts, leases and agreements and any other instruments
and arrangements that are necessary, incidental or convenient to the
performance of its duties and the execution of its powers under law; and

Acquire consumable supplies, materials and incidental services, through
cash purchase, sole-source purchase orders, bids or contract, as necessary
or convenient.

Personnel Policies

Develop and adopt personnel policies and procedures for the System. The
Board of Trustees, subject to applicable collective bargaining agreements,
shall determine the qualifications, duties and compensation of its
employees and shall allocate and transfer personnel within the System as
necessary to fulfill its mission. The Board of Trustees shall appoint the
president of the System and the presidents of the colleges.

Real Property and Facilities

a.

Other

Acquire by purchase, gift, lease or rent any property, lands, buildings,
structures, facilities or equipment necessary to fulfill the System’s
mission. The Board of Trustees shall manage, rent, lease, sell and dispose
of property, including lands, buildings, structures, equipment and
facilities. Any revenues derived from these uses shall be credited to a
separate fund to be used for the purposes of the System; and

Authorize the construction, maintenance, renovation, reconstruction or
other necessary improvement of buildings, structures and facilities.

Appoint or identify advisory committees to advise the Board of Trustees
with respect to career, vocational and technical education and training
policies and programs; procedures for modifying the programs of the
colleges to meet the needs of the State's economy and the changing job
market; and the efficient operation of the colleges and the Maine
Community College System Office;



b. Sue and be sued in its own name. Services of process in any action shall
be made by service upon the president, either in hand or by leaving a copy
of the process at the Maine Community College System Office; and

c. Conduct a program of self-assessment of Board effectiveness necessary to
satisfy accreditation requirements.

K. Conflict of Interest

No member of the Board of Trustees shall vote or otherwise act on any question or other issue in
which he or she, or any member of his or her immediate family, has a direct or indirect financial
or employment interest. Each trustee shall complete annually an Interest Disclosure Form
developed by the MCCS president and approved by the Board chair, and shall promptly inform
the MCCS president and Board chair of any actual or apparent conflict of interest for the Trustee
that may arise. The Executive Committee of the Board, upon consultation with the MCCS
president and general counsel, shall determine whether such a conflict exists and, if so, what
action shall be taken.

L. Appearances before the Board of Trustees

The Board of Trustees recognizes a responsibility to hear the views of responsible citizens,
within and without the System, on any issue judged by the Board to be directly related to System
policy. The Board of Trustees shall set aside time for citizen input prior to the business agenda
at each meeting. The chair of the Board shall establish time limits and retain full authority to
determine the appropriateness and relevancy of the input.

Personnel decisions, collective bargaining issues, grievances, consultation with or advice from
legal counsel, litigation and other subjects covered by the executive session provisions of the
Freedom of Information Act shall not constitute appropriate matters for public citizen input.

In order to facilitate scheduling and maintaining an orderly procedure, any citizen desiring to be
heard at a meeting shall notify the Secretary of the Board, either in writing in advance of the
meeting or by signing an appearance sheet, prior to the commencement of the meeting. Such
notification shall include the citizen's name, town or city of residence, and the subject matter
about which the citizen desires to express views.

M. Trustee Orientation Program

The MCCS president shall develop a trustee orientation program. The purpose of this program is
to give newly-elected members of the Board of Trustees an understanding of the Board's role as
the governing, policy-making body of the Maine Community College System; knowledge of the
operation of each college and the System; and information about the trustees' powers and
responsibilities. From time to time, all trustees should participate regardless of length of service.
The orientation program is to be considered part of a comprehensive strategy of Board education
and development. The Executive Committee recognizes that, in addition to conducting a formal
orientation day or one or more orientation sessions, effective education of trustees is a



responsibility requiring continued attention by the Executive Committee throughout the year.
The Executive Committee, with the support of other members of the Board and the System
Office, will be responsible for planning and conducting the orientation.

N. Trustee Attendance

The Board performs its tasks and duties through regular and special Board meetings; work
sessions and committee and sub-committee meetings in preparation for the Board meetings; and
retreats. The Board rotates the location of these meetings among the seven community colleges
located in Wells, South Portland, Auburn, Fairfield, Bangor, Presque Isle and Calais. Together,
these meetings require that each trustee commit the equivalent of at least twelve (12) work days
per year to MCCS business.

Trustees are nominated by the governor and confirmed by the Maine Senate based upon, among
other factors, their demonstrated commitment to provide meaningful support and oversight to the
MCCS. Such support is not possible without consistent attendance and participation at all Board
meetings. The Maine legislature’s intent for regular and consistent participation and attendance
by trustees is reflected in Maine law: the Board is required to meet at least six (6) times each
year, and cannot take action without quorum.

A trustee will be asked to resign from the Board if the trustee fails to attend either three
consecutive or fifty percent of the scheduled Board meetings in an academic year. In the event
the trustee does not tender a resignation, the chair may, on behalf of the Board, petition the
governor to remove the trustee from the Board. The Executive Committee of the Board, upon
request from the affected trustee, may waive this policy if the majority of the Executive
Committee members find that the absences were due to extenuating circumstances.

This policy will be made available whenever possible to each nominee to the Board prior to
confirmation to ensure that the nominee fully understands the commitment required of Board
members.

0. Reimbursements

Trustees may, as allowed by law, be offered reimbursement for their reasonable and actual
expenses for fulfilling Board responsibilities.

P. Annual Assessments

The Board shall, consistent with best practices and accreditation expectations, annually conduct
a:

1. Board self-assessment survey, approved in form by the Board’s Executive
Committee, of the Board’s role and effectiveness; and

2. Performance and compensation appraisal of the System President consistent with
MCCS Policy.



REFERENCES: 20-A M.R.S.A. §12705 and §12706; P.L. 1985, ch. 695, §20(2);
3 M.R.S.A. §312-A (17) and §313-A; 17 M.R.S.A. §3104 (conflicts of interest)

DATE ADOPTED: June 24, 2009

DATE(S) AMENDED: May 3, 2013; January 25, 2017; April 26, 2017



KENNEBEC VALLEY
COMMUNITY COLLEGE

GOVERNANCE DOCUMENT



KENNEBEC VALLEY COMMUNITY COLLEGE
COLLEGE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

PREFACE

The Maine Community College System (MCCS) Board of Trustees is the governing body for all
colleges in the System including Kennebec Valley Community College (KVCC). The Trustees
determine overall policy for the System and Colleges. The System President serves as the
Trustees’ agent in the implementation of System-Wide policy.

At KVCC, the President is responsible for implementing policies of the Trustees. Within the
context of this structure, the President is responsible for college policy and administration. In
formulation of college policy, the President seeks participation of the various internal and
external constituencies.

The College Governance Structure is composed of personnel with complex and overlapping
responsibilities. The KVCC Governance Structure is designed to provide a process of
communication within the college among faculty, staff, student body and administration to foster
a system which assists the President in making informed decisions. The Governance Structure is
participatory in so far as it assists in formulating College policy related to academics, student
services, technology and facilities, and makes recommendations to the President for
consideration. The Governance Structure will not consider items that are the direct responsibility
of Trustees, statutory issues or contractual in nature.

The College bases its Governance Structure on the principle that all members of the College
community are treated with respect. All members are provided opportunities to express their
views.



Article 1
Name

The name given to the formal communication process of Kennebec Valley Community College
(KVCC) Governance System shall be the COLLEGE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE.

Article 11
Purpose

A. Philosophy: The College Governance Structure relies on the values of mutual respect,
effective communication, and honest collaboration and cooperation.

B. Purpose: The College Governance Structure is an established process of communication.
Faculty, staff, administration and students help shape the college’s programs and policies
through participation on a number of standing and ad hoc committees by attending
meetings as requested and through productive use of established channels of
communication. The primary purpose of this Governance Structure is to facilitate the
accomplishment of KVCC’s mission and to institutionalize effective and efficient
communications processes enabling KVCC to achieve excellence in its undertakings.

Article 111
Composition of the Leadership Team

A. Composition of the Executive Committee:

President

Vice President Student Affairs, Public Relations, & Enrollment Management
Academic Dean

Dean of Finance & Administration

Dean of Technology & Chief Security Officer

Dean of Workforce Training & Professional Development

S

B. Composition of the Leadership Team: Leadership team includes following designated
representatives:
President
Vice President Student Affairs, Public Relations, & Enrollment Management
Academic Dean
Dean of Finance & Administration
Dean of Technology & Chief Security Officer
Dean of Workforce Training & Professional Development
Faculty Senate Representative
Maine Education Association (MEA) Faculty Representative
Maine Education Association (MEA) Administrators Representative
. Maine State Employees Association (MSEA) Representative
. Student Senate Representative
Executive Assistant to the President

i~ A o e
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. Quorum: In order to conduct business at all meetings of the Leadership Team, a quorum
must be present. A quorum shall consist of a simple majority of the membership of the
Leadership Team.

Article IV
General Governance Structure

. Membership: Membership in the College Governance System shall consist of all current
employees and all students, herein after referred to as “Member(s)”.

. Organization: The decision making authority of the governance structure lies within its
central body, the Leadership Team. The Leadership Team shall meet bi-monthly during
the academic year. Members can address an issue through their designated representative.
The Leadership Team meeting is the forum for discussion on policies and/or resolutions.
A majority vote serves as a recommendation to the President for action.

. Timely Action: The College President, or his/her designee, shall communicate decisions
to Members in a timely manner.

. Operational Procedures: The Leadership Team and all its College Committees will
operate according to the principles of respect and efficiency. Robert’s Rules of Order are
available for use and are suggested for expediently carrying out duties.

Article V
Appointments and Elections of Leadership Team Representatives

A. Purpose: The appointment and election procedures described herein are designed to
assure fair representation of all groups.

B. Method:

1. Appointments are made by the College president.

2. FElected representatives are chosen biannually. They include:
Faculty Senate representative
MEA faculty representative
MEA administrative representative
MSEA representative
Student representative

C. Terms of Office: Vary according to representative group.



Article VI
College Standing Committees

A. Authority: All College Standing Committees report to the Leadership Team. All College
Standing Committees will be invited annually to provide a verbal summary of activities
to the Leadership Team. Recommended changes in College policy require the action of
the Leadership Team.

B. Participation: Participation is encouraged on College Standing Committees.

C. Standing College Committees:
1. Academic Programs Committee
Teaching, Learning and Scholarship Committee
Educational Effectiveness Committee
Institutional Resources Committee
Student Committee
Institutional Accreditation and Effectiveness Steering Committee

AN

Article VII
Special Committees

The Leadership Team, as the deliberative body representing the College community, and in
conjunction with the President, will have authority to appoint ad hoc committees to address
specific topics that fall either across or outside areas of responsibility identified for College
Standing Committees. College Standing Committees will have authority to appoint ad hoc sub-
committees to address specific topics that fall within the areas of responsibilities identified for
that College Standing Committee.

Article VIII
College Forum

The College Forum encourages two-way communication between the President and the
Members.

A. Purpose: The Forum shall provide opportunities for exchange of information. The agenda
provides for discussion of issues relevant to the College Community and its Members.

B. Operational Procedures:

1. The Forum will be held at least once a year or as needed.

2. The President will arrange, schedule and moderate each forum.

3. All employees are invited to request a forum or send agenda items to the President.

4. Minutes will be summary in nature and posted in a timely manner prior to the next
Forum.

5. The president, or designee, will communicate decisions to the Members in a timely
fashion.



Article IX
Governance Structure Review and Assessment

It is the responsibility of the Leadership Team to oversee the College Governance Structure. The
Leadership Team will periodically designate a special committee to review and assess the
effectiveness of this Structure. The special committee shall seek input from all Members prior to
making revisions and recommendations to the Leadership Team for review. The President will
distribute notification of changes to all Members.

Article X
Standing Rules for Leadership Team and College Standing Committees

A. Minutes: Minutes of the Leadership Team and all College Standing Committees shall be
summary in nature. Following acceptance, a copy of the minutes, as approved, shall be
posted on the MyKVCC Portal so that they may be accessible to all Members.

B. Compilation of Institutional Policies: The President shall enter all policies approved by
the Leadership Team in the Institution’s Policy Manual to be posted electronically on the
MyKVCC Portal.

Approved: October 26,2017
Amended: January 28,2016
Approved: October 25, 2012
Amended: September 27, 2012
Approved: September 2005
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STANDARD FOUR
THE ACADEMIC PROGRAM

The institution’s academic programs are consistent with and serve to fulfill its mission and purposes.
The institution works systematically and effectively to plan, provide, oversee, evaluate, improve, and
assure the academic quality and integrity of its academic programs and the credits and degrees
awarded. The institution sets a standard of student achievement appropriate to the degree awarded
and develops the systematic means to understand how and what students are learning and to use the
evidence obtained to improve the academic program.

DESCRIPTION

All programs at KVCC adhere to the College's mission to provide quality education and professional
training to the people of Maine. The Associate in Applied Science degrees lead to employment in a
variety of fields, as well as opportunities for transfer into baccalaureate programs. The one-year diploma
and certificate programs upgrade skills and provide job training to students. The College's Center for
Workforce Training and Professional Development provides opportunities for advanced education and
training, credit and non-credit, as well as lifelong learning. The Associate in Art in liberal studies and the
seven Associate in Science degrees prepare students for employment or for transfer to four-year
baccalaureate institutions.

Each program at KVCC has clearly articulated descriptions and graduate outcomes which are aligned
with the goals, structure, and course content of the respective program. The course of study, designed
progressively from entry-level to advanced skill, for each program is outlined in the College catalog.
General education courses and electives are scheduled throughout the course of study to support,
expand, and integrate knowledge in the student's core courses. Department meetings and advisory
groups review the program content regularly to assure that it is current and relevant.

The College publishes all program information including program/degree descriptions, requirements,
and learning goals/outcomes for the degree candidates primarily on its Website and in the current
Course Catalog. Course descriptions and objectives must be approved by the Curriculum Committee
prior to the course being offered. The course descriptions and information on prerequisites and credit
hours are also found in the catalog and on the website. Instructors provide course syllabi to the enrolled
students either electronically or in a paper format. Each course syllabus contains clear objectives and
outcomes, an outline of course content, and descriptions of the methods of instruction and inquiry
used. To insure consistency, all sections of a course use the same core syllabus which includes the same
course description, course objectives, and course outline. To insure academic freedom and variety,
individual faculty members may use different methods of instruction, vary assignments, and alter
grading and attendance policies to suit individual differences. All information is clearly stated on the
course syllabus and reviewed with students. In addition, some programs publish Student Program
Handbooks containing program outcomes, policies, goals and other program-specific information.
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ASSURING ACADEMIC QUALITY — DESCRIPTION

KVCC assures the quality of all academic programs through several processes. Every five years the MCCS
Education Committee reviews programs without a national accreditation. Seven programs are externally

accredited and conduct regular self-studies to ensure compliance. For these programs, the College
provides resources to support the required process.

KvCC Accrediting Bod Last Length of Next
Program & v Accreditation | Accreditation | Accreditation
Occupational o . .
Accreditation Council for Occupational . .
Th April 201 1 April 2026
grapy Therapy Education (ACOTE) pril 2016 Oyears pril 20
Assistant
Medical Commission on Accreditation of Allied
April 201 7 Fall 202
Assisting Health Education Programs (CAAHEP) pril 2015 years all 2023
. Accreditation Commission for Education in Pending
Nursing Nursing October 2017 8 years Approval
Health Commission on Accreditation for Health
Information Informatics and Information Management 2010 8 years 2018
Management Education (CAHIM)
Radiological Joint Review Committee on Education in . .
Technology Radiologic Technology (JRCERT) April 2015 8 years Spring 2023
. Pending
Phy5|c§l Commission on Accreditation in Physical . Approval - Pending
Therapist . April 2017
. Therapy Education (CAPTE) Last cycle was Approval
Assistant
10 years
. Commission on Accreditation of Allied Pending Self
Paramedic Health Programs (CAAHEP) October 2013 5 years Study
Business Association of Collegiate Business Schools March 2013 10 years Spring 2023

KVCC continues to utilize a Curriculum Committee as part of its effective system of academic oversight.
The Curriculum Committee reviews on average 20-30 new course syllabi and 35-40 revised syllabi during
the academic year. The Committee is also tasked with reviewing all new program curricula as well as
revised programs of study. All new program proposals must complete a process of approval by the
College’s Academic Committee and Executive Leadership, and the MCCS President, Board of Trustees
and Education Committee (MCCS Policy 303.1 New Instructional Program Proposal).

In 2007, KVCC established an off-campus site in Augusta, using space at the Buker Center. This site
served students in the southern Kennebec County area. The entire Mental Health program was moved
to the Buker Center along with a variety of general education offerings. Following approximately five
years of programming at the Center, the College determined that this off-site campus was not financially
sustainable. The College’s Buker Center course offerings were discontinued after conclusion of the fall
semester 2011. The Mental Health program was relocated to the Fairfield campus.




After completing the substantive change application process, the College was approved to establish the
Harold Alfond Campus in Hinckley, Maine in spring 2014. The establishment of a second campus
provided the opportunity to offer new programming, including two-year Sustainable Agriculture,
Sustainable Construction, and Culinary Arts programs. In addition, the College relocated several existing
programs from the Fairfield Campus to accommodate growth including Education, Business
Administration, Mental Health, and Electrical Lineworker Technology. The College’s annual budget
hearing process helps to assure that each campus receives adequate funds to operate effectively to
support student learning.

As part of academic planning and evaluation, the College may introduce new programming or eliminate
existing programming in response to various factors including available resources, industry needs,
changing technologies, and student interests. The process to establish a new academic program is
outlined in MCCS Policy (303.1). Since 2007, the College has added seven new degree programs
including Energy Services Technology, Culinary Arts, Sustainable Construction, General Studies, Autism
Spectrum Disorder Studies, Computer Systems Integration, and Sustainable Agriculture. The College
recently submitted a proposal for new Psychology program, with a plan to enroll students in the fall of
2018.

The process to eliminate an academic program is outlined in MCCS Policy (303.2). The College may opt
to suspend a program for up to two years or to discontinue a program. The College has eliminated five
degree programs and six certificates since the 2007 self-study. Two-year program discontinuances
include Medical Office Management, Pulp and Paper Technology, Speech Language Pathology,
Computer Science, and Respiratory Therapy.

KVCC graduates demonstrate collegiate-level skills in the English language. To support the development
of college-level writing skills, every degree program requires a minimum of three (3) credits in writing.
Included in the College’s expectation of students at graduation, is the ability to “communicate clearly,
effectively, and persuasively in both the written and spoken word.” The College’s Essential Learning
Outcomes (ELOs) include written communication, providing a mechanism to assess the skill level of the
graduates.

KVCC ensures that all students use information resources and technology as an integral part of their
education. Following admission, students participate in a mandatory orientation that includes an
introduction to KVCC on-line technology, such as use of the portal and registration for courses.
Additionally, the College’s Technology Department responds to help desk requests generated by both
students and faculty. In 2016/2017, the IT Help Desk received over 5000 requests, and to date has been
able to resolve and close out 99.9% of the requests.

The librarians in the Learning Commons design and deliver workshops, in-class sessions, printed guides,
and web-based tools to advance library research skills and information literacy. The Learning Common’s
library staff provided instruction to 1500 students in the academic year 2016-2017.

ASSURING ACADEMIC QUALITY — APPRAISAL

In 2008, the Institutional Assessment Committee proposed an internal review process to precede the
MCCS program review. Due to various factors, including changes in academic leadership, the review
process was not implemented. The mission of the institution’s newly formed Academic Program
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Committee (APC) includes development and oversight of an internal program review process. With the
APC membership consisting at least of six full-time faculty, the faculty will have a substantive voice in
the internal program review process.

With the implementation of the College’s new committee structure, the Curriculum Committee will
become a subcommittee reporting to the Academic Committee. The purpose of the subcommittee is to
evaluate proposed curricula and changes to existing curricula in order to assure the quality of
programming. Faculty are well-represented on the Committee and constitute the voting membership
(KVCC Policy Manual). The responsibilities of Curriculum Committee include:

1. Review and approve program curriculum for course content, credit hours, course
articulation issues, certificate/degree/diploma awarded, etc.

2. Review and approve proposals for changes in program content

3. Review and approve all new program curricula

4. Assure that accreditation standards have been met in regard to new and revised curricula

The College may opt to suspend a program for up to two years or to discontinue a program. The
discontinuance proposal requires a detailed plan for enrolled student notification and appropriate
arrangements for the affected students to complete their education within a reasonable timeframe.
According to MCCS policy 303.2, when an academic program is eliminated, the College must provide an
academic plan for students to complete their academic program. The College currently does not
consistently maintain adequate records of the academic plan and communication with affected
students.

To help students develop and enhance their written communication skills KVCC opened a Writing Center
in fall 2012. The mission of the Writing Center is to help students of all abilities grow into stronger, more
effective writers by providing individualized support at all stages of the writing process. The Writing
Center also aims to promote writing as a means of learning by supporting faculty and staff in their
writing across the curriculum efforts. In 2013, a Department of Labor grant funded a full-time English
faculty position to oversee the Writing Center through Spring 2017. The Director of the Learning
Commons is exploring ways to fill this void in the upcoming academic year.

Student technical support is limited to College operation hours, which is a barrier for students who rely
on weekends and evenings to do their coursework. During their coursework, students may utilize word
processing, Blackboard, and publisher software related to their program of study. The Technology
Department does not support publisher software or web-based programs that may be part of the
supplemental instruction that is packaged with a textbook. Student support for the learning
management system, Blackboard, is also limited. The College’s website introduces users to Blackboard
minimum hardware requirements, login-in instructions, FAQs, contact directions and remote assistance.

UNDERGRADUATE DEGREE PROGRAMS - DESCRIPTION

KVCC provides certificate, diploma, and associate degree programs. The Associate in Applied Science
credential is a program designed for employment in a specific occupation or to upgrade skills to improve
the opportunity for advancement within an existing position. The Associate in Science credential is a
program designed primarily to prepare students to transfer to an upper division baccalaureate program
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with an emphasis in math and/or science. The Associate in Arts credential is a program designed

primarily to prepare students to transfer to an baccalaureate program with a robust general education

framework.

Per MCCS Policy 302, all Associate Degree programs require both general education courses (arts and
humanities, science, mathematics, and social sciences) and technical knowledge courses. Course
distribution by subject in the three degree options can be found in the following table:

Table 1: Criteria for academic credentials (Course credit requirements)

Academic Credential Credit

Distribution by Subject Requirements

A.AS. AS. AA.
Writing/Communication 6 6 6
Quantitative Literacy/Natural Science 6-7 10-15 3-4
Diversity - 3 3
Ethical Reasoning - 3
Creative Arts 3 3
Humanities 6 3 6
Social Science 3 6
Any General Education 3 3 -
Program core (Major) Up to 46 Up to 46 Up to 29
Total Credits 60-68 60-68 60-64

The certificate programs consist of vocational and/or technical courses that lead to an occupational skill.
Certificate curricula consist of 16 to 36 credit hours of coursework, including general education courses
to demonstrate competence in mathematics and communication at a level consistent with the
requirements of the program.

The degree programs provide the students with in-depth mastery of at least one disciplinary (major)
area. Depending on the degree program, students enroll in up to 46 credits of discipline-specific courses,
comprising 50-67% of the program’s total credits. These discipline-specific courses represent a
continuum of difficulty from 100 level entry-level courses to advanced 200-level courses. Discipline-
specific curricula are reviewed by Program Advisory Committees (PAC) and by national accreditors when
appropriate to ensure that the coursework is appropriate and meets the discipline standards. In-depth
mastery is in part evidenced by the licensure and certification of the graduates. (Factbook)

The degree programs also provide a substantial and coherent introduction to the broad areas of human
knowledge, and their theories and methods of inquiry. This is accomplished with the distribution of
general education credit courses that comprise each program. Assessment of the essential learning
outcomes (ELO’s) provides evidence of student learning in these areas as they progress through their
academic program.

UNDERGRADUATE DEGREE PROGRAMS - DESCRIPTION

During AY 2015-2016, general education faculty worked to modify the Association of American Colleges
and University’s (AACU) VALUE (Valid Assessment of Learning in Undergraduate Education) Rubrics to
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evaluate the following ELO’s: Written Communication, Oral Communication. Teamwork, Quantitative
Literacy and Problem Solving. The groups reconvened at the conclusion of the Spring 2017 semester to
evaluate student work from 100-level introductory courses. Each group summarized its findings and
made recommendations to improve the process and to inform the college community of student
performance.

In 2016, the full-time English faculty developed a rubric to evaluate writing skills across the curriculum.
The written communication rubric was used to evaluate student artifacts from the first-year English
Composition course: an Argumentative Research paper. The artifacts were divided among the three full-
time English faculty who used a worksheet to assign scores based on the 0-4 Written Assessment rubric.
The English faculty agreed that most artifacts should fall within the 10-14 range in order to show that a
student is meeting overall proficiency standards in writing. The assessment results indicated that the
average score was 11.75 out of a possible 20 (n=30). This falls within the expected range, though slightly
below the anticipated average. A summary of the findings is available in the appendix.

In July 2017, four Communication faculty met to review and test the updated oral communication
rubric with the goal of furthering inter-rater consensus and finding possible student examples to
represent the various levels of student achievement. The first part of the session involved building a
foundational understanding of the function of the oral communication rubric for assessing ELO
compared to a grading tool / rubric for student speeches during the course. Two informational student
speech videos and one persuasive student speech video were assessed using the updated rubric. The
full-time instructor provided the context of the assignment before viewing. After watching a speech,
communication instructors shared their scoring for each of the categories (seven total) and processed
their reasoning for the score. A summary of the assessment activity findings included:
= The process aided in building greater understanding of the levels of performance, especially
between the advanced (4) and proficient (3) levels.
= Scoring work between proficiency levels (e.g 3.5 or 2.5 or 1.5) was effective in reaching
consensus on assessing student work.
=  Rubric categories and descriptors did not need edits
The Communication faculty expressed several concerns including the time necessary to view and score a
larger sample of speeches. Another round of training and scoring is scheduled will be concluded by the
end of the spring 2018 semester. Evaluation of a representative sample of speeches taken from all
sections of the course is scheduled at the conclusion of the spring 2018 semester.

Math faculty followed a similar process for evaluating problem solving in MAT117 — College Algebra. The
faculty participated in a norming session in the spring 2017 semester and then evaluated a small
selection of student work in summer 2017. The assessment problem, a linear function problem to
determine best cost between two printing companies, was used as the common assignment to assess
problem solving.

A summary of their findings included:

e Administering a common assessment to evaluate proficiency in problem solving was valuable.
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e The rubric is well-designed, but that the current assignment may not be robust enough to fully
measure the six categories included in the rubric.
This assessment process affords the opportunity for faculty to collaborate

e Artifacts with proficient scores of 16-18 on the artifact indicate that the course is meeting
overall proficiency standards in problem solving.

The Math faculty will assess all sections of College Algebra, including concurrent enroliment course
sections, at the conclusion of AY 2017/18.

GENERAL EDUCATION - DESCRIPTION

The general education requirement is coherent and substantive. The KVCC definition of an educated
person is reflected in all program curricula. KVCC offers a wide variety of courses to meet the general
education requirement. The humanities, social science, science and math courses represent a
continuum of difficulty from entry-level skill to advanced level knowledge. A student may not have the
freedom to choose the general education electives due to restrictions imposed by specific program
accreditation requirements.

All KVCC Associate degrees include a common core of general education classes designed to foster a
student's development of the skills and the attitudes of the KVCC definition of an educated person. In
order to ensure that all students receive a minimum of 21 hours of general education, the following
common core courses are required for each degree program:

100-level or higher math or science: 3 —4 credits
COM104 or COM105: 3 credits
ENG101 or ENG108: 3 credits
General Education: 6 credits
Humanities: 3 credits
Social Science: 3 credits

GENERAL EDUCATION - APPRAISAL

In 2015, a faculty steering committee convened to identify essential learning outcomes. The committee
work was guided by the AACU’s Liberal Education and America’s Promise (LEAP) initiative. The LEAP
initiative provides a framework to ensure that all students—regardless of the chosen field of study—
acquire the knowledge and skills to meet the changing demands of the workforce and citizenship. The
committee reviewed the LEAP essential learning outcomes and identified five Essential Learning
Outcomes (ELOs) that would be fostered and developed across a KVCC student's entire educational
experience. The ELOs are a comprehensive set of learning goals that reflect the broad knowledge,
critical thinking, creative problem solving, collaboration that a graduate will need to be successful in the
twenty-first century.
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Representing all departments, the faculty proposed the following ELOs to the Faculty Senate for
approval:

e (Critical Thinking - a habit of mind characterized by the comprehensive exploration of issues, ideas,
artifacts, and events before accepting or formulating an opinion or conclusion. (AACU)

e Problem Solving - the process of defining the problem, designing, evaluating and implementing a
strategy to answer a question, achieve a desired goal, or reach a solution.

e Effective Communication is the transactional process of sending and receiving verbal, nonverbal,
and visual symbols to create and share meanings based on form and purpose.

o  Written Communication - the development and expression of ideas and information in
writing. Written communication involves learning to work in many genres and styles.
Written communication abilities develop through iterative experiences across the
curriculum. (AACU modified)

o And students will demonstrate effective communication in one or more of the following
ways:

=  Oral Communication - a prepared and delivered purposeful presentation designed
to increase knowledge, to foster understanding, or to promote change in the
listeners' attitudes, emotions, values, beliefs, or behaviors. (AACU modified)

= [nterpersonal Communication - the process of message transaction between two or
more people for developing and maintaining professional and personal
relationships. (West & Turner; University Nebraska Lincoln)

= Teamwork - consists of the behaviors under the control of individual team members
(effort they put into team tasks, their manner of interacting with others on team,
and the quantity and quality of contributions they make to team process) to achieve
mutual goals. (AACU modified)

e Quantitative Reasoning / Literacy also known as Numeracy or Quantitative Literacy (QL) - a habit of
mind characterized as competency in working with numerical data. Individuals with QR skills possess
the ability to reason and solve quantitative problems from a wide array of contexts. They
understand and can create reasonable sophisticated arguments supported by quantitative evidence
and they can clearly communicate those arguments in a variety of formats (using words, tables,
graphs, mathematical equations, etc., as appropriate). (AACU modified)

THE MAJOR OR CONCENTRATION - DESCRIPTION

Programs of study are designed to offer coursework which is progressive in skill, including any lab,
experiential and/or clinical experiences. The program or discipline specific courses move the student
from the didactic information to the practical application in the skill area. Courses are reviewed by
accreditation bodies, the College Curriculum Committee, faculty and advisory groups regularly to assure
current needs for knowledge are included. As changes are deemed necessary, the course or program
requirements are brought to the Curriculum Committee for discussion and approval. Recognition of the
depth of knowledge possible to attain an associate's level is considered in the design of the degree
program, course sequencing, and individual courses.
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KVCC's experiential education courses and all clinical/practicum experiences are planned methods of
instruction which provide students with a goal-related, supervised, and evaluated academic experience
in a work environment applicable to their major and for which college credit can be earned. This
approach enables students to apply the theory and skills learned in the classroom to a work
environment. For example, in the Radiologic Technology program, the lecture course covers the theory
of exposure; in lab the student learns the basic skills for imaging and demonstrates competency; and,
the clinical experience allows the student to demonstrate effective practice in the field with patients.

GRADUATE DEGREE PROGRAMS — N/A
INTEGRITY IN THE AWARD OF ACADEMIC CREDIT — DESCRIPTION

KVCC awards certificates, diploma, and associate degrees as previously described in the Undergraduate
program section. The College Policy Manual details the requirements for all educational credentials.
(KVCC Policy 2.21 and MCCS Policy 305).

The College offers all required and elective courses with sufficient availability to provide students the
opportunity to graduate within the published program length. When necessary, the College offers a
directed study option to a student if a course required for graduation is not offered in the student’s final
semester of attendance.

A curriculum committee, consisting of faculty members, reviews and approves each course syllabus. The
course syllabus includes the course description, credit and contact hours, course content, and course
learning objectives. All offerings of a course, including concurrent enrollment, satellite, and online, must
adhere to the approved course syllabus to ensure that the course objectives and credit is consistent
among sections. Individual instructors may have the academic freedom to design learning activities to
offer students opportunities for mastery of the course material and successful completion of course
objectives.

The Academic Dean has responsibility for the selection, approval and evaluation of all faculty, including
adjunct and concurrent enrollment faculty. Department chairs submit an adjunct hiring
recommendation form to the Dean for consideration. High school and technical center administration
may request approval for instructors with appropriate credentials to teach a concurrent enroliment
course at their institution. Both adjunct and concurrent enroliment instructors complete an annual
evaluation and submit it to the Academic Dean.

Each student is evaluated by the faculty in each course. The particular evaluation methods are
determined by each faculty member. The elements /assignments used to evaluate the students are
enumerated on the course syllabus with the percentage of the total grade for each assignment listed.
This is reviewed with students at the beginning of the course. The evaluation methods relate to the
approved objectives for the course. When the course is completed the faculty grades all assigned
elements, and reports the final grade to the registrar for input into the student record. Credit is granted
for passed courses.
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In March 2017, the MCCS established system-wide Prior Learning Assessment Standards (Policy 307).
Students may receive PLA from transfer credit, national exam, credential review, military service,
challenge exam or portfolio review. Information concerning PLA is available in the course catalog and on
the College’s website. The award of prior learning credit in certificate programs of 30 or fewer credits is
limited to 25 percent. For Associate degree programs, credits earned by PLA are not included in the
residency requirement of 25% of the degree credits.

KVCC accepts undergraduate transfer credits for coursework completed at an accredited institution of
higher education if the coursework is comparable. Evaluation is based on the course description, course
objectives, credit hours and contact hours. In most instances, these credits must have been earned
within the last 10 years. Only courses with a grade of C or better will transfer. All policies and
procedures for transfer of credit and credit by examination are published in the College Catalog. The
College’s residency requirement specifies that a degree student must earn 25 percent of their program
credits at KVCC in order to graduate.

Program faculty are consulted before accepting transfer credit for program coursework to ensure that
the acceptance of the credit will not diminish the student’s coursework in the academic program. For
example, the Nursing Department Chair would meet with a student who has completed the first year of
nursing courses at another institution to discuss the coursework. Careful consideration is made to
ensure that the student has met the learning outcomes for a first-year KVCC Nursing student. Following
this meeting, the Chair will recommend the program-specific courses for transfer.

Academic policies pertaining to academic warnings, academic probation, academic dismissal, appeal
process and readmission process are located on the KVCC website and the KVCC Catalog. KVCC has a
written policy regarding cheating and plagiarism that is published in the student handbook. Individual
programs may have additional criteria for academic dismissal and readmission that are stated on the
program website and in the program’s student handbook. For example, the Nursing program requires
that a dismissed student must complete several 200-level math and science courses to qualify for
readmission to the program.

Graduation requirements are clearly stated in the College Catalog and on the website. The Director of
Student Records verifies a student has completed all requirements for the degree before it is conferred.
Student records are kept by the Academic Affairs Office.

In AY 2016-2017, the College offered 67 concurrent enrollment courses at 19 high schools and technical
centers with a total enrollment of 1265. In spring 2016, MCCS adopted policy that established criteria
for the awarding credit to high school students enrolled in dual or concurrent enrollment courses.
Instructors for the concurrent enrollment courses must submit an application, a current curriculum vitae
and college transcripts. The Academic Dean and the department chair review the packet and determine
if the instructor may teach the course. The department chair will provide the instructor with curriculum,
materials, assessments and guidance. If a common assessment is included in the course, the department
chair will share student performance information with the instructor. Concurrent enrollment students
have access to Blackboard (the College’s learning management system), the student portal, library and
tutoring services at the College.
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Students enrolled in online and hybrid courses have opportunities to interact with faculty regarding
course content and related academic matters. Online and hybrid faculty must respond to a student
communication within 24 hours. Faculty may use discussion boards, email or video conferencing to
interact with their students. KVCC currently identifies online students by issuing unique user names and
passwords.

An equivalent amount of work is required in courses and academic activities where class time is not the
primary mode of learning, such as online and hybrid courses. For online courses, students are expected
to be academically engaged with comparable learning outcomes of a standard lecture course with
alternate delivery methods. Instructors must document in the course schedule how a student meets the
minimum contact hour requirements for the credit awarded. Contact time may be satisfied by a variety
of methods including:

a) Instruction or interaction with a faculty member once a week for each week the course
runs;

b) Academic engagement (tutorials, moderated group discussions, virtual group projects, peer
review and computer tutorials graded and reviewed by faculty.

Courses offered in a blended format with both required face-to-face and online sessions are classified as
a hybrid course. Instructors may use a variety of methods to academically engage or instruct the
students in the online format to satisfy the contact hour requirement for credit.

Similarly, accelerated courses, such as the 3-week Jan Plan courses, offer the same semester credit
hours as traditional semester-length classes. Within the shortened time frame, these courses must meet
the minimum contact hour requirements of the lecture format or document in the course schedule how
students will meet the minimal contact hours using some of the strategies outlined above in the online
and hybrid course requirements

INTEGRITY IN THE AWARD OF ACADEMIC CREDIT — APPRAISAL

In an effort to reduce the number of credits required at the associate degree level, a September 2014
amendment to MCCS Policy 302 requires that all associate degree programs reduce the maximum
required credits from 68 to 64 by September 2019. The only exception to this requirement will be for
programs with external accreditation requirements that exceed the 64 credits. Currently, 15 of the 21
Associate degree programs comply with this mandate. Five of the programs that exceed the 64-credit
limit are in healthcare disciplines that have external accreditation standards: Nursing, Health
Information Management, Radiologic Technology, Occupational Therapy Assistant and Physical
Therapist Assistant. The sixth program, Energy Services Technology, will comply with the limit by the
September 2019 deadline.

Beginning in academic year 2017/2018, the College has published a year-long academic schedule to
assist students with academic planning.

To assist students with program completion, the College offers a Directed Study option. The Directed
Study offers an opportunity for students with unusual needs who are enrolled in a program at the
College to finish a course required for program completion outside the usual classroom format. This can
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occur when the required course is not offered during the day or evening and could significantly delay a
student's anticipated program completion date. The student must have a cumulative grade point
average of 2.00 or better at the time of the request and must have successfully completed at least 75%
of program requirements. During the last three academic years, the Academic Dean has approved a
total of 57 directed studies.

To ensure consistency in a course with multiple sections and/or different methods of delivery, including
concurrent enrollment, several departments have implemented common assessments.

Course Common Assessment

ENG 101 English Composition Writing Assignment

MAT 117 College Algebra Comprehensive Final Exam

BIO 213 Anatomy and Physiology | Comprehensive Final Exam

BIO 214 Anatomy and Physiology |l Comprehensive Final Exam, Formal Lab Report
PSY 101 Introduction to Psychology Assignment

The College is currently updating academic policy to reflect the MCCS PLA Standards, with
implementation planned for AY 2017/18. The table below summarizes the prior learning assessment
credit awarded by the College since July 1, 2014.

Type of PLA Credit Number of students | Total credits awarded | Average credit per student
Life Experience 106 593 5.50

Challenge Exams 9 25 2.77

Transfer Credit 1507 18,946 12.57

The College has established 21 articulation agreements for 17 academic programs. Currently, paper
copies of articulation agreements are maintained in Academic Affairs. The College lacks policy and
procedure to ensure that the agreements are current and available to affected students. To provide the
students with the best opportunity to continue their education, the College has an obligation to
maintain current agreements. The academic committee will develop policy and procedure to address
currency of the agreements. The agreements will be converted to digital format and made available to
the public by the fall 2018 semester.

Recent work on the block transfer agreement makes it possible for KVCC students in Associate in Arts
programs to transfer up to 35 credits of general education requirements to any one of the institutions
within the University of Maine systems. The block transfer focuses on completion of courses within eight
Learning Domains: Creative/Arts, Natural Science, Writing, Quantitative Literacy, Diversity/Cultural
Knowledge, Humanities, Social Sciences, and Ethical Reasoning.

To maintain a focus on student success, several academic policies including Academic Probation and
Academic Dismissal should be updated. For example, a student who has been dismissed may be re-
admitted to the College and placed on academic probation with the requirement to achieve a GPA of 2.0
or higher in the following semester. With the current policy, a student may achieve the minimum GPA in
the following semester, but will be dismissed a second time due to a low overall GPA, instead of allowing
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the student to continue with academic probation. At the same time, the financial aid office would send a
letter congratulating the student on their academic achievement. This lack of consistency between
Academic and Financial Aid policy leads to confusion and frustration for the student.

The College implemented an updated academic dismissal appeal process in spring 2017. Students who
wish to be re-admitted into the College must meet with an academic recovery counselor to develop an
academic recovery plan. This plan is then submitted to Academic Affairs for processing and approval.

Concurrent enrollment students may not be aware of the available services or be able to access the
services if they are only offered on campus. They tend to depend on services offered at the high school
or technical center for support.

The Instructional Technology Committee proposed minimum online course requirements to promote in
2013. The College lacks online standards to promote best practices in online courses and the capacity to
monitor the online courses for quality and consistency. The College does not have a course feedback
tool that addresses the student’s online course experience.

The College recognizes that the unique identifiers used to identify online students could be shared in an
online environment compromising the integrity of the course. The Dean of Technology is exploring
enhanced verification methods which may include the utilization of testing centers, web cams, or hybrid
course models.

THE ACADEMIC PROGRAM - PROJECTIONS

e Prior to the MCCS system review, the College will participate in an internal process to assess the
program’s contribution to fulfilling the College’s mission including the attainment of KVCC
objectives, student needs, faculty needs, program facilities/equipment, and resources.

e The College will develop policy and practice to comply with MCCS Policy 303.2 regarding a plan
for communicating with students about the elimination of academic programs. A new policy and
procedure will be introduced in AY 2017-2018. Communication concerning the plan should be
kept on file in Academic Affairs.

e The Academic Committee, with input from the Curriculum Committee, will identify the core
components of each course and establish a master syllabus. The master syllabus will include the
course description, course objectives, and course content and will be available on the College’s
website by December 2017.

e The Academic Dean will work with the faculty and academic support staff to update academic
policies, including Academic Probation and Academic Dismissal, in the AY2017.

e The College will introduce new policy to establish standards for the creation of new articulation
agreements, the periodic review and update of existing agreements, and the termination of
outdated agreements. The College will create a digital archive of all articulations agreements
and publish a calendar for periodic review. Articulation agreements will be available on the
College website.
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To facilitate the block transfer of credits and to inform students, new learning domain

designations will be included in the course descriptions of the general education courses in the
course catalog. The new designations will be assigned during the Fall 2017 semester.

o

The College will strengthen supports for concurrent enrollment students:

Establish common assessments for all concurrent enrolled courses to demonstrate
student learning.

Include the concurrent enrollment student work in the assessment of ELOs.

Hire an Associate Academic Dean whose responsibilities would include oversight of the
dual and concurrent enroliment.

Develop and administer a survey to the concurrent enrollment faculty to determine if
they experience sufficient support for instruction and class needs.

e The College will develop and implement online standards to promote best practices and monitor

courses for quality and consistency:

O

Establish online standards based on best practices to ensure that online students have
sufficient opportunities to interact with faculty

Modify the course feedback form to capture online student specific information
Determine if any of the online courses would benefit from an online proctoring service
and offer the service to the faculty.

Survey the online and hybrid faculty to gather information concerning their practices to
professional development opportunities.
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Standard 4: The Academic Program
(Headcount by UNDERGRADUATE Major)

Number | 3 Years 2 Years 1Year Current Next Year
of Prior Prior Prior Year Forward (goal)

For Fall Term, as of Census Date credits* [Fall 2014 (Fall 2015 )| (Fall 2016 )[Fall (2017 (Fall 2018 )

Certificate (add more rows as needed)
Advanced Emergency Care 12 10 9 11 - 11
Paramedic 28 5 14 16 16 16
Phlebotomy 21 16 16 16 17 17
Medical Coding 34 1 4 5 9 9
Sonography 54 23 8 = = =
Applied Electronics & Computer Tech 25 1 - 1 4 4
Electrical Lineworker Technology 34 27 33 28 29 29
Electrical Technology 34 3 11 11 23 23
Precision Machine Technology 32 3 2 2 1 1
Pulp & Paper Technology 33-34 2 3 - - -
Welding 33 - 10 16 21 21
Computer Information Systems 27 1 1 1 - -
Mental Health 31 - 1 10 7 7
Certificate Sub-Total 92 112 117 127 138
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Associate (add more rows as needed)

Revised April 2016

4.3

Advanced Emergecy Care 69 9 3 3 9 9
Health Information Technology 68 36 37 40 35 35
Medical Assisting 64 37 32 43 43 43
Nursing 69 94 82 74 77 77
Occupational Therapy Assistant 70 35 40 37 39 39
Physical Therapist Assistant 67 39 38 39 37 37
Radiological Technology 75 29 30 33 30 30
Respiratory Therapy 73 24 27 14 - -
Culianary Arts 62 22 44 35 34 34
Sustainable Agriculture 63 21 30 36 27 27
Applied Electronics & Computer Tech 62 29 31 34 35 35
Applied Electronics & Computer Tech-Engin 64 2 1 - - -
Appluied Engineering Technology 64 5 7 5 6 6
Career Studies 69 0 1 1 1 1
Electrical Technology 64 35 32 37 38 38
Energy Services and Technology 66 30 37 32 34 34
Sustainable Construction 62 0 4 9 15 15
Precision Machine Technology 61 28 37 30 29 29
Pulp & Paper Technology 63-64 35 13 5 - -
Business Administration - Accounting 69 56 44 58 64 64
Business Administration - Management 63 103 101 104 96 100
Computer Systems Integration 63 8 29 32 26 26
Liberal Studies 61-62 206 221 201 169 170
Biological Sciences 60-61 4 - - - -
Computer Aided Drafting and Design 61-62 7 - - -
Computer Information Systems 60-62 31 4 2 -
General Science- Biology 65-67 18 23 32 26 26
General Science-Health Occupations 60-63 356 354 372 385 390
General Science - PrePharmacy 62 5 1 4 2 2
General Studies 60 0 - - 33 33
Autism Studies 62 12 12 14 3 -
Early Childhood Education 63 76 76 81 80 85
Mental Health 62 91 98 87 97 97
Speech/Language 62 5 3 - - -
Undeclared and High School Students (non degree-seeking) 821 840 940 955 956
Associate and Undeclared Sub-Total 2,309 2,338 2,436 2,427 2,438
Total 2,401 2,450 2,553 2,554 2,576




Standard 4: The Academic Program
(Headcount by GRADUATE Major)

For Fall Term, as of Census Date
?

?

?

?

Number | 3 Years 2 Years 1Year Current Next Year
of Prior Prior Prior Year Forward (goal)
credits* | (Fall2 ) | (Fall2 ) | (Fall2 ) | (Fall2 ) (Fall2 )
Master's (add motre rows as needed)
Total 0 0 0 0
Doctorate (add more rows as needed)
Total 0 0 0 0
First Professional (add more rows as needed)
Total 0 0 0 0
Other; specify (add more rows as needed)
Total 0 0 0 0
Total Graduate 0 0 0 0

* Enter here the number of credits students must complete in order to earn the credential (e.g., 36 credits in an M.B.A.)

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below




Standard 4: The Academic Program

(Credit Hours Generated and Information Literacy)

Credit Hours Generated By Department or Comparable Academic Unit

? 3 Years 2 Years 1Year Current Next Year
? Prior Prior Prior Year Forward (goal)
AY2013 AY2014 AY2015 AY2016 AY2017
Undergraduate (add more rows as needed)
(| Business Depatrtment
Accounting 966 927 1,005 1,140 1,190
Business 1,104 1,413 1,503 1,416 1,345
Computer 1,589 1,333 1,204 855 870
Math and Science
Math 3,926 3,553 3,755 3,753 3,710
Science 5,245 5,116 5,289 5,827 5,460
Culinary Arts 0 382 849 634 816
Sustainable Agriculture 214 564 373 414 378
Mental Health 1,428 1,347 1,790 1,672 1,560
Sonography 609 553 104 0 0
Advanced Medical Services 977 1,091 1,297 1,387 960
Health Information Technology 360 423 507 615 816
Medical Assisting 741 852 817 903 852
Phlebotomy 60 120 108 78 156
Massage Therapy 99 0 0 0 0
Nursing 1,555 1,584 1,465 1,338 1,404
Occupational Therapy Assistant 623 714 829 791 811
Physical Therapist Assistant 699 767 720 746 777
Radiological Technology 571 590 600 658 585
Respiratory Therapy 558 530 560 325 0
Electrical Lineworker 858 726 627 605 812
Energy Services Technology
Plumbing 145 180 175 170 170
Heating/ AirCondintioning 319 277 425 343 343
Pulp and Paper Technology 441 702 135 60 15
Social Sciences
Psychology 2,526 2,406 2,502 2,601 2,910
Sociology 1,275 1,191 1,236 1,125 1,320
Education
Early Education 735 774 863 960 1,120
Speech/Autism 298 209 159 169 48
English and Humanities 9,290 8,061 8,897 8,922 8,938
Sustainable Construction 0 0 79 97 315
Welding 0 0 140 266 228
Electrical Technology 1,264 1,440 1,294 1,325 1,320
Trades and Technology Occupations 5 12 12 7 9
Precision Machine Technology 362 454 606 531 450
Applied Electronics and Computer Technol| 546 540 532 495 675
Total 39,388 38,831 40,457 40,228 40,363
4.5
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Information Literacy Sessions
Main campus
Sessions embedded in a class
Free-standing sessions
Branch/other locations
Sessions embedded in a class
Free-standing sessions

Online sessions

URL of Information Literacy Reports:

5 8 8 7 7
40 38 33 31 31
3 10 11 7 7
21 20 23 16 16
0 0 0 0 0

https://my.kvcc.me.edu/ICS/Employees/Employee Resources/Comm

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Revised April 2016

4.5




STANDARD FIVE
STUDENTS

Consistent with its mission, the institution sets and achieves realistic goals to enroll students who are
broadly representative of the population the institution wishes to serve. The institution addresses its
own goals for the achievement of diversity among its students and provides a safe environment that
fosters the intellectual and personal development of its students. It endeavors to ensure the success
of its students, offering the resources and services that provide them the opportunity to achieve the
goals of their educational program as specified in institutional publications. The institution’s
interactions with students and prospective students are characterized by integrity.

ADMISSIONS — DESCRIPTION

Kennebec Valley Community College (KVCC) is an equal opportunity/affirmative action institution and
employer. KVCC does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission to, access to, or
operation of its programs, services, or activities.

KVCC specifies and publishes in the College’s catalog and on its website the requirements for admission,
continuation in, termination from, or re-admission to an academic program which are compatible with
its mission. Graduation requirements are also clearly stated on the College's website and in the College
Catalog. These requirements are consistently applied in the degree certification process. Prior to
graduation, degree audits are completed by the Registrar for identification of graduation completion.

KVCC’s mission is to prepare students to achieve their educational, professional, and personal goals in a
supportive environment inspired by shared values of responsibility, integrity, and respect. The College
enrolls students with an orderly program of equal opportunity and ethical responsibility. All admission
policies are noted in the College’s catalog and are available on the website at
http://www.kvcc.me.edu/CMSContent/Documents/Catalogs/2014-2016%20Catalog.pdf.

KVCC does not have a targeted admission program specific to certain groups of prospective students.
However, the Carl T. Perkins Grant funds non-traditional by gender program activities at the College and
KVCC offers tuition waivers for Native Americans and senior citizens in an effort to attract students from
these groups.

In fall 2015, the College’s enrolled student body included 1065 continuing degree-seeking students, 545
new degree-seeking students, and 840 undeclared students. This included:

e 40.5% full-time

e 59.5% part-time

o 66% female

e 34% male

e Average age 28 years
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The College offers both online and seated courses to meet the needs of students. Since 2011, the
percentage of students taking online courses exclusively has stayed fairly consistent at 14%, however,
the percentage of students enrolled in a mix of seated and online courses has increased from 16% in fall
2011 to 23% in fall 2016.

The College traditionally enrolls, on average, 25% of students direct from high school. In fall 2015, 210 of
the College’s degree-seeking students were enrolled direct from high school. The table below lists the
high schools in the KVCC catchment area and graduation numbers for that respective secondary
institution during the last five years.

ME High School 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
1. Lawrence High School 153 172 178 148 156
2. Skowhegan Area High School 156 164 179 151 156
3. Messalonskee High School 191 194 171 182 169
4. Waterville Senior High School 110 111 118 127 113
5. Winslow High School 108 105 85 104 101
6. Erskine Academy 173 173 144 127 128
7. Cony High School 183 206 171 170 155
8. Carrabec High School 46 47 78 57 41
9. Mt. View High School 112 100 97 105 111
10. Madison High School 60 61 62 61 57

Seventy-one percent of the College’s undeclared student population are high school students. KVCC
offers two ways for high school students to take classes: Concurrent Enroliment includes college courses
offered at the high school by high school instructors who are considered adjuncts of the College.
Concurrent enrollment courses require the same level of commitment and academic rigor as classes
taught at KVCC. In AY15-16, 79% of concurrent enrollment students completed their classes successfully.
Dual Enrollment courses are available to high school juniors or seniors who have a B average or better.
Dual Enrollment courses are College courses offered on the KVCC campus or online. There are 1450
students registered in Concurrent and Dual Enrollment courses in FY15/16.

To inform recruitment, the Dean of Student Affairs and the Enrollment Team work with academic
programs to establish enrollment caps and targets. The data reviewed with program coordinators and
directors is compiled by the Office of IR and includes a five-year trend of enrollment by term (headcount
and FTE) with percent change, attrition by term, retention (fall to fall and fall to spring) and completion
rates at 100%, 150% and 200%. This collaborative process begins prior to the start of a new academic
year and sets the stage for enrollment for the following academic year.

The established caps and targets are integrated into an Applicant Report that highlights the number of
applications, as well as those who are accepted and registered for each program. This data, paired with
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weekly enrollment reports of current registrations, provides guidance on program recruitment and
enrollment strategies. The enrollment reports are manually generated at this time; however, the Office
of IR is working to automate the reports for ease of access for the College’s Executive Team, the
Enrollment Team, and other program stakeholders.

The policies and criteria for admission to the College fall under rolling admissions. General admission to
the College requires a high school diploma or equivalent, college transcripts from other colleges
attended, a completed application, and the Accuplacer for appropriate placement. SAT scores, AP
scores, and prior learning may also be submitted in lieu of the Accuplacer assessment. During the
summer of 2017, KVCC eliminated the application and the Accuplacer fees to reduce the financial barrier
for applicants. Currently, the Maine Community College System (MCCS) is working collaboratively to
introduce the Next Gen Accuplacer. The College uses an intentional, multi-layered process to ensure
that all students who are admitted have a reasonable chance for success.

Several academic programs have additional admission requirements: Nursing and select allied health
programs. These programs either have set numbers based on accreditation standards, clinical spaces
available, or actual classroom and lab space. In addition to capacity, the College’s Allied Health and
Nursing programs require multiple prerequisites and competitive testing as part of the admission
process. The College administers the TEAS for select Allied Health programs and the PAX-RN, for the
Nursing program. Upon completion of these items, students are admitted on a space available basis.

The Enrollment Team meets regularly to review applicant materials and provides placement
recommendations for applicants who score below predetermined scores. The College offers remedial
courses in math and writing that carry College credit for financial aid purposes. In all cases, applicants do
have the opportunity to re-test to meet the minimum criteria for admission. Applicants receiving scores
below the required level on the Accuplacer in two or more content areas are referred to the local Adult
Education College Transition program. An adult-ed special advisor guides the student for admission to
the College once the remedial work has been successfully completed.

To support qualified applicants who demonstrate a need based on an arithmetic or algebra Accuplacer
score below the required level, the College has implemented an accelerated math program called MaPP.
Math Accelerated Preparation Program combines developmental coursework in algebra and arithmetic
coupled with a first-year seminar that focuses on student success strategies, career exploration, and
financial literacy to help facilitate the transition to college-level work. The goal of this initiative is to
accelerate the amount of time required to complete the remedial course and move into the required
college-level math course. The small cohort experience helps students build the academic skills,
confidence, and social supports that will be the foundation of their academic success.

MaPP is a three-week intensive 4-credit class (3 credits for MAT 031-Introductory Algebra and 1 credit
for FYE 125- the first-year seminar). A student who successfully completes the program enrolls in
College Algebra (MAT 117), Elements of Math (MAT-113) or Technical Math (MAT-114) in the semester
immediately following. Students who qualify and are accepted receive a scholarship for the college-level
math course they will complete, their textbook, and a graphing calculator. There is no charge to the
applicant who participates. Currently, MaPP is offered three times in an academic year: at the beginning
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of each semester allowing students to complete the college-level course in the subsequent semester.
MaPP is also designed to allow students who may require additional time (after the three weeks) to
remain in the remedial course for a longer period of time if needed.

Upon acceptance, the Registrar assigns an academic advisor (primary faculty advisor) to each student.
This advisor is available for advisement regarding course registration, program progress, and additional
guidance throughout the student’s enrollment. In addition to this primary advisor, students in targeted
programs such as TRiO: Student Support Services, Early College for ME, and Jobs for Maine’s Graduates
are also assigned a secondary advisor from one of those programs. These programs offer student
navigation assistance in the form of advising, referral to campus services, and general support.

ADMISSIONS - APPRAISAL
Growing Enrollment in a Challenging Environment

As part of its operations, KVCC has the most control over revenue generation in student tuition and fees,
which accounted for just over one-third of the total revenues in FY17. The last five years have brought
about unique revenue-related challenges, most notably the types of improvement in the local labor
market that can lead to declines in enrollment. Community college enrollments tend to decline as
economic conditions improve and KVCC is not immune to this phenomenon. The College’s Strategic
Plan, KVCC2020 Report, established an enrollment goal of 1350 FTE by fall 2020 and spring 2021, and
300 FTE by summer 2021 as formal measures of growth. The road to 1350 FTE includes several
objectives such as increased conversion rates of concurrent and dual enrolled students and increase rate
in full-time students. However, the factor that will need to be achieved to meet the goal of 1350 FTE is
the construction of student residences.

In addition to changes in the economy, there are several other challenging factors in the environment

that the College is facing. KVCC is a commuter college in Mid-Maine and is dependent on enrollment

primarily from three counties (Kennebec, Somerset and Waldo). Most notable to the Enrollment Team

was the changing demographics in the state. An aging population within the State and a decline in high

school student population became a point of conversation during the College’s Strategic Planning

process in 2015 and the focal point of the environmental scan conducted during the Strategic Planning

process. This scan provided the College with economic, demographic, industry, and employment-related

trends of the past, present, and future that would influence planning for the College in the next five to

ten years. The environmental scan also demonstrated that like most colleges in Maine, KVCC faces many

challenges that could impact enrollment:

e Competition from other post-secondary institutions (University of Maine at Augusta, Kaplan
University, Thomas College)

e Changing demographics in the state (aging population and declining enrollment in high school
student population)

e Financial uncertainty (tuition, endowment, philanthropic support, and government funding)

e Negative economic trends (loss of manufacturing jobs, growth of service industry jobs with low
wages)

e Emerging technologies requiring different skillsets than the current workforce
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From 2011 through 2014, KVCC enrollment trends were on the decline with the number of headcount
and FTE leveling off in 2015 and 2016. Given current trends, meeting the College’s long-term enroliment
goals will require KVCC to develop and strengthen recruitment of students and enrollment management
strategies.

Degree-Seeking Fall Term Enrollment: 2008-2016
2008 2009 2010 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016

Degree-Seeking
Head Count
Degree-Seeking
FTE

1495 1654 1833 1742 1772 1627 1580 1610 1613

960.6 1073.6 | 1193.0 | 1168.9 | 1162.7 | 1066.6 | 1019.3 | 1048.9 | 1049.4

To combat the declining enrollment trend, the College focused on enrollment of NEW students. To
increase the percentage of new students to the college, KVCC implemented three initiatives to improve
recruitment of high school/first-time students. The purpose of these activities is to enhance
relationships with area sending schools, improve accessibility to guidance staff and students, and utilize
data to guide decisions regarding visits and activities during the recruitment period. These activities
include:
e Future Fridays, an event for high school students to visit the campus and participate in
demonstrations within several programs
e Admit in a Day on the KVCC campus and at the local high schools. This event guides
applicants through the KVCC application process, helps them complete the FAFSA, and
provides an opportunity for advisement
e Partners in Education Breakfast for the staff of local sending schools, CareerCenters, and
Adult Education programs to highlight KVCC programs and new initiatives

KVCC identifies each applicant as New (first time college student), Returning (KVCC student changing
their program), Prior (former KVCC student stopping out and returning to same or different program) or
Transfer (student new to KVCC but having prior credit at another post-secondary institution). Data on
applications for all applicants from fall 2014 to fall 2017, show a decrease of 1250 to 1049 - a change of -
16%. However, prospects identified as NEW - the student has never been enrolled as a matriculated
student at a post-secondary institution — showed an increase in applications. Applications for new
students had an increase of 375 to 394, a 5% change between years. In 2014, new students were 30% of
the total applications during that year compared to 38% in 2017.

Conversion of accepted to enrolled has averaged near 96% since 2014; 2017 had the highest conversion
at 98%. Conversion of new students increased from 89% in 2014 to 95% in 2017.

Percent enrolled of accepted has increased from 65% to 77% between 2014 and 2017. Fall 2016 had a

high of 79%. New students increased from 61% in 2014 to 78% in 2017. Students transferring to the
College also increased from 62% in 2014 to 76% in 2017, with a trend high of 83% in 2016.
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Overall, the admission funnel illustrates the decrease of applications, consistent with local population
changes, however, the conversion rates of those applications have increased over time.

In 2015 KVCC entered into a partnership with Collegis Education as an additional strategy to address
declining enrollment. The work with Collegis is an effort to refine and enhance enrollment and
marketing practices to include an admissions process that is more streamlined; a clear communication
plan between the College, applicants, and accepted students; enhanced customer services provided at
the Enrollment Services Center; improvements to materials sent to new students; and. enhancements to
the Admission and Financial Aid web pages. The goal of this work is to impact the student experience in
a positive and intentional manner.

Initial work with Collegis focused on the tracking of the conversion of accepted to enrolled students
which has resulted in the use of a weekly scrub reports. The Office of IR worked with the admissions
team to prepare a weekly scrub report to identify accepted students who have not registered. These
reports provide admission staff with the information necessary such as, name, address, email, and
phone, financial aid, and orientation information to outreach and assist applicants in a timely and
effective manner. The admission team meets weekly to review the report and develop a weekly action
plan for outreach to students. These practices have led to an increase of conversion from 65.1% in fall
2014 to 76.7% in fall 2017.

Currently, the College is working with Collegis to improve the conversion of application to enroliment.
Admission funnel data illustrates that the conversion of applications to enrolled has averaged 70% over
the past four years.

Fall 2014 Fall 2015 Fall 201 Fall 2017
Applicant to Enrolled 62% 67% 76% 73%

The College is focused on the need for a consistent and streamlined communication plan for prospective
students and applicants. Student applications may be received by the College a year in advance to the
desired enrollment date. However, little communication and outreach are made by the College to the
students. In addition, students may experience communication from the admissions team, financial aid
representative or program of study. Currently the admissions team is working with Collegis to
implement an automated Communication Plan that uses e-mail, standard mail, and texting in
conjunction with institutional activities, outside digital signage, and Facebook. This plan will identify
touch points in an attempt to keep students informed and connected and provide communication that is
packaged to streamline information from the College to its prospective students and applicants.
Information may include open houses, financial aid workshops, placement workshops and dates, and
student orientation.

KVCC has a robust enrollment of high school students. Dual and concurrent enrollment has increased
from 946 students in AY2011-2012 to 1352 students in AY2016-2017. However, data collection is limited
and cannot identify the conversion of students attending KVCC directly from high school. In addition to
limited data collection, similar to the applicant to enrollment conversion rate, communication with and
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recruitment of high school students attending a KVCC course is not consistent.
STUDENT SERVICES AND CO-CURRICULAR EXPERIENCES — DESCRIPTION

The College strives to provide integrated and coordinated services and activities to assist students
achieve their academic and personal goals. Many of the College’s student services are delivered by the
Student Affairs Division. This division includes the Office of Admissions, the Financial Aid Office, Student
Support Programs, Student Navigators, Advising and Enrollment, and Student Development. The Dean of
Student Affairs and lead managers in the division meet on a bi-weekly basis to review current issues,
assuring that activities are integrated and duplicated when appropriate across the College’s two
campuses. All services are noted and described in the Student Handbook, the College Catalog, on the
College’s website, and in the Resource Directory provided at student orientation. The Student Services
philosophy is available in the Student Handbook.

The student services that directly support academic achievement are administered through the Student
Affairs Division and include:

e The Learning Commons: In 2013 the College moved from a library to a Learning Commons
concept. The purpose of this transition was to provide access to Academic, Library, and
Technology resources and services in one location. Learning Commons are located in the Lunder
Building on the Fairfield Campus and in Averill Hall on the Alfond Campus. The mission of the
Learning Commons at KVCC is to provide an inviting and supportive environment that facilitates
student centered learning and creates community for all KVCC students. In addition to library
services, students may access free peer and professional tutoring, a computer lab, group study
space, disability services and a wide variety of assistive technologies. Students with disabilities
are provided services within ADA guidelines. Services may include, but are not limited to, access
to assistive technology, testing accommodations, note-takers, etc. The Director of the Learning
Commons has a BS in Zoology from Ohio State University, an MAT Teaching Science from
Minnesota State University, and an MA in Instructional Leadership from Northern Kentucky
University.

e TRiO: A federally-funded Student Support Services program, TRiO has had a home at KVCC since
1993. TRiO’s mission is to provide the comprehensive support necessary to increase degree
completion rates of low-income, first-generation college students and students with disabilities.
An annual performance report shows the effectiveness of the project: meeting objectives in
good academic standing annually, transfers to four-year colleges, graduation completion, and
graduation and transfer completion. The TRIO program serves more than 180 students each
year. The TRiO program is led by a full-time Director who has a BA in English and Women’s
Studies and an MA in English from the University of Maine. In addition, four staff provide
academic advising and daily support services for TRiO participants.
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o The Office of Student Life provides students with opportunities in campus activities, clubs and
organizations, student senate and leadership development. The College’s clubs and
organizations utilize on-campus recruitment campaigns in an attempt to include all students. All
student organizations, including social clubs, are guided by the College’s policies and procedures
as well as specific Student Activities policies. The Student Senate meets on a weekly basis and is
advised by the Director of Student Development. The Director of Student Development has a BA
in Psychology from the University of Maine.

Student Affairs personnel each have at least 10 years of experience in student support, and several have
over 15 years of experience. All Student Affairs personnel report to the Dean of Student Affairs who has
a Master’s degree in Psychology and 25 years of experience in higher education.

Each of the College’s institutional committees (Academic, Educational Effectiveness, Institutional
Resources, and Teaching, Learning and Scholarship) includes a Student Services representative as a co-
chair as well as additional representatives. The Institutional Accreditation and Effectiveness Steering
Committee and Leadership Team have a Student Services representative as well.

Student services are delivered with the spirit and intent of equal opportunity and increased diversity. To
ensure that services and facilities are available to all students in all programs, every attempt is made to
make services available on-line and during hours of college operations. For example, the IT Help Desk
can remotely assist students with BlackBoard navigation and other technology issues.

Financial Aid

Information regarding the availability of financial aid is published on the College’s website and in all
pertinent College publications. The Enrollment Team provides financial aid information to the public
during high school and adult education visits, college fairs, campus tours, and to recently enrolled
students during Student Orientation and Registration (SOAR).

The Financial Aid Director reports directly to the Dean of Student Affairs and is responsible for the
administration of the financial aid program. The Director is assisted by a full-time Assistant Financial Aid
Director and a full-time Financial Counselor. The Financial Aid Office provides assistance with
applications and information for available financial aid programs; processes, verifies and files electronic
corrections of student applications; calculates financial need; determines eligibility for assistance;
assigns and authorizes payment of awards; verifies recipient academic progress; completes required
reports; and participates in private, state, and federal audits and program reviews.

The Financial Aid department collaborates with the Dean of Finance and Administration and the
Business Office to disburse financial aid, complete required reports, and participate in financial audits
and program reviews. Financial aid student refund calculations, reconciliation of financial aid program
fund expenditures and balances, and coordination of outside aid (private scholarships, agency
assistance, tuition waivers, etc.) are shared responsibilities of Financial Aid, Business Office, and
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Academic Affairs. The Registrar reports course add/drop and student withdrawal information to the
Financial Aid and Business Offices for use in calculating financial aid refunds and adjusting student billing
and financial aid awards. The office of Academic Affairs provides student academic progress information
(academic dismissals, probations, special grade assignments of “incomplete”) to the Financial Aid Office
for review.

Student Records

The College adheres to clearly defined policies on student behavior that are enacted by the MCCS and
are included in the College Catalog and the Student Handbook. These policies include the detailed
Student Code of Conduct, including behaviors, possible sanctions, and student rights and responsibilities
under the Code. KVCC also has specific policies governing student rights, including grievance procedures,
non-discrimination, racism and acts of intolerance, disabilities, sexual misconduct, sexual assault,
intimate-partner violence, communicable diseases, information technology acceptable use policies,
weapons, confidentiality, Family Education Rights Privacy Act (FERPA), drugs/alcohol, smoking, and
crime reporting in compliance with the Clery Act and VAWA amendment.

The College follows all guidelines of FERPA in regard to the privacy, confidentiality, and release of
student records. Students are given the opportunity to invoke their right of non-disclosure information
on the application form for admissions. The Student Handbook and the College Catalog clearly outline
students’ rights and responsibilities.

The College is in the process of digitizing all student records. The College maintains records for all
degree-seeking students for five years. At the end of this period, records are purged and any
information and documents that are removed from the student’s file are shredded and properly
discarded. The College adheres to the recommendations of the American Association of Collegiate
Registrars and Admission Officers, which can be found in their publication, “Retention of Records: A
Guide to Retention and Disposal of Student Records,” as well as the MCCS Record Retention Policy.

Technology

The College’s Office of Information Technology oversees the provision of technical support to students
and faculty. A technology help desk is available to help students with issues including email access, lost
files, printing problems, and Internet use. The Office of Information Technology is responsible for

enforcing the College’s ethical computer use policies. Software is also available through this office, while
equipment may be borrowed through the Learning Commons.

Safety and Security

The Dean of Technology/Chief Security Officer oversees the safety and security measures on campus.

44



The Safety and Security Manager, in collaboration with local police and the Dean of Student Affairs,
completes the federally required Clery Crime Report each year. The annual report is shared with the
college community and is posted on the College’s website.

STUDENT SERVICES AND CO-CURRICULAR EXPERIENCES — APPRAISAL

The College has several opportunities for new students to become acquainted with the College
campuses, faculty, staff, and other students in their program. The Division of Student Affairs works
collaboratively with the Division of Academic Affairs to offer Student Orientation and Registration
(SOAR), Community Day, Accepted Student Night, and Welcome Week. Information collected from
students through surveys during SOAR and Community Day indicate that overall students are satisfied
with the activities. However, information on first year activities as a collective to assess if the activities
are promoting engagement of first year students is not collected. The College is currently working to
develop and collect data on a student onboarding process to assess the effectiveness of first year
activities with student completion.

e Student Orientation and Registration (SOAR) is a required event for all students new to KVCC or
who are returning after a year or more away from the College. This event provides an opportunity
for students to become familiar with College policies including the Student Code of Conduct and
review emergency response plans and safety and security measures taken by the College. Students
receive important financial aid information regarding loans, satisfactory academic progress, and
important dates, and conclude with a session covering advising information and registration of
courses for their first semester.

e Community Day occurs the week before classes begin in both the fall and spring semesters.
Students are encouraged, but not required, to attend. The purpose of Community Day is to provide
students with an opportunity to meet with their program faculty and classmates to begin cohort
building and participate in larger team building activities. Students also have the opportunity to take
care of last minute tasks in the Enrollment Center and at the College Store. In the academic year
2016-17, the event was held concurrently on both campuses and attendance totaled about 375
students. For 2017-2018, the College has moved the event back to the Fairfield Campus with the
hopes of enhancing the larger community experience. Welcome activities including a manned
welcome table will be hosted at the Alfond Campus during the first week of the semester.

o Accepted Student Night began in 2016-2017 when the Trades and Technology program hosted an
accepted night to bring students into the classroom and lab. Initial data indicated that 93% of
students that attended Accepted Student Night attended classes in their first semester. The College
is planning to host Accepted Student Night again during the 2017-18 academic year and expand the
event to include the Allied Health programs and open enrollment programs. This initiative provides
students one more opportunity to visit the campus, decreasing some of the first day anxiety that
occurs at the start of the semester.

o The first week of each semester is Welcome Week. Tables are located on both campuses and
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staffed by faculty and staff throughout the day and early evening. Students can find answers for
many questions, such as room locations, where to obtain their Student ID, and interpret their course
schedule. Resources such as the Student Handbook, campus maps, and a Resource Services
Directory are also available at the Welcome Table.

A contributing factor to student success and completion is the success of the College’s advising and the
Division of Student Affair’s collaborative work with the Division of Academic Affairs to engage students.
Effectiveness is considered when contact is made at the right moment that includes the needed
information to engage the student and assist the student to meet his/her academic goal. To provide
academic support to students, the College uses a student navigation model. The student navigation
model is an intrusive approach to assist and engage students with academic or service referrals such as
financial aid, transfer counseling, or peer tutoring. The navigators work hand-in-hand with academic
advisors to assure that the student maintains a successful academic track. Initiatives such as Jobs for
Maine Graduates (JMG), Early College for Me and Navigating Success are focused cohorts based on
particular characteristics such as program selection, or being selected as JMG or Early College for me
while the student was enrolled in high school. These students continue to receive services in College as
part of a support and retention effort. Two of the initiatives were implemented in 2016 and all three
have small number of students enrolled in the initiative so outcome data is either not yet available or
include a small sample.

The student navigator model closely replicates the TRiO model which the College has had in place since
1993. TRiO services target first-generation students and services approximately 180 students a year. In
2016-2017, 60% of degree-seeking students at KVCC were first-generation students. TRiO is only able to
serve a small percentage of KVCC students deemed at risk as first-generation students. TRiO navigators
monitor participants’ progress via structured check-ins throughout the academic year and implement
interventions as necessary. Care is taken to create multiple ways for participants to engage with the
College, which enables staff to identify trends impacting student success and develop meaningful
programming in response--for example TRiO has initiated a summer bridge training students on the
technology they will be required to use as a KVCC student, an extended orientation throughout
students’ first academic semester, and TRIO-sponsored classes and events that support students to
develop both classic and non-cognitive success strategies.

TRiO has experienced an increase in persistence between academic year 2011-2012 (82%) and 2015-
2016 (92%). Rates of completion have decreased in those years from 67% t0 53%, however the transfer
rate has increased from 10% to 22%. The College is using the navigator model from TRiO to expand
support to students through JMG, Early College for ME and Navigating Success. The combination of
these programs provide navigation supports to first-generation, low-income, and students enrolled in
uncapped and online courses. The College is currently tracking these students to assess the services
currently being offered by the College to determine those practices supporting student completion.
Both JMG and Navigating Success use automated enrollment and outcome reports to assess the impact
of services on student completion.
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The College administered the Community College Survey of Student Engagement (CCSSE) in 2009, 2011,
2013 and 2016. Institutionally, the College has experienced a decline in student engagement as
indicated by the CCSSE benchmarks.

CCSSE Benchmark Comparisons
2016 2013 2011 2009
Support For Learners 48.4 51.1 49.8 50.7
Active and Collaboration Learning 45.4 48.7 53.2 50.7
Student Effort 44.9 49.2 49.6 54.7
Student Faculty Interaction 46.2 51.7 53.4 52.4
Academic Challenge 47.5 50.3 52.0 50.6

To improve student engagement, the College has initiated two activities:

Early Warning System: KV OnCourse was recently implement in 2017 as a MCCS initiative. KV
OnCourse is an intervention model for students of concern. Accessed through the KV Portal, all
regular faculty, adjunct faculty and staff members are able to quickly draw attention to students
identified as facing academic, personal, or other challenges. As early alerts are submitted, a Student
Navigator will refer students to appropriate individuals for follow-up. This software also provides for
regular communication with students and provides a forum for faculty and staff to record
information that may be helpful in serving the student.

Academic Dismissal Recovery (ADR): As part of the Title lll Student Success Initiative, first semester
students who were academically dismissed were required to participate in an academic recovery
program and placed on probation. In 2017, the College offered the ADR services to any academically
dismissed students. The process includes meeting with a member of the Student Success team to
develop an academic plan that is submitted to Academic Affairs for approval prior to the student
being readmitted. This plan is maintained in the student record.

The role of student navigators and academic support has not been thoroughly defined when working

with students alongside academic advisors. The roll out of the Early Warning System and revised

Academic Dismissal Recovery requires the collaboration of both Student Services and Academic Affairs

in one voice approach that is most effective for students. It is anticipated that the KVCC’s work with

Achieving the Dream will assist the College in measuring a successful advising system that will result in

an increase in student engagement and completion rates.

PROJECTIONS

e Develop an enrollment strategy plan which includes:
o Use of automated reports, type of utilization, and findings.
o Use of the Institutional committee structure to embed admission and enrollment
findings into formal documents to establish a model of informed recruitment.
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Use of CCSSE and Noel-Levitz SSI data to align student needs with service delivery.
Establish annual targets to meet strategic plan measures in Goal 1: KVCC Enrollment is
Expanded by Academic Year 2020-2021.
o Amending KVCC2020 Strategic Plan as needed based on decision to construct residential
services and revised projections for the enrollment strategy plan.
Improve the reports used to track the funnel of applicant to accepted to registered to enrolled
student. Improvement of these reports will impact the strategies implemented to increase
conversion from stage to stage.
Implement a Communication Plan for use by admissions when communicating with prospective
applicants and applicants.
Implement a reporting cycle to assess student navigation services in JMG, Navigating Success
and Early College for Me to determine linkage between services and student completion.
Implement a reporting cycle to assess the impact of KV On Course and Academic Dismissal
Recovery on student engagement and completions using the Achieving the Dream framework.
Address the role of advisors, how to use the early alert system effectively and the ways of
reaching students throughout the semester to keep them connected and engaged. This will be a
collaborative effort between Student Affairs and Academic Affairs.

The Student Committee has identified Onboarding, in addition to the identified tasks in their
charter, as a focal point for data collection, assessment and improvement. The College hopes to
create a strong onboarding and first semester that will support students through to the next
semester.
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Complete this form for each distinct student body identified by the institution (see Standard 5.1)

Standard 5: Students
(Admissions, Fall Term)

Credit Secking Students Only - Including Continuing Education

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

3 Years 2 Years 1Year Current Goal
Prior Prior Prior Year (specify year)
(Fall 2014 (Fall 2015 )|(Fall 2016 )|(Fall 2017 ) (FY 2018 )
ALL - Undergraduate
Completed Applications 1,250 1,246 1,038 1,049 1,100
Applications Accepted 1,197 1,196 1,004 1,029 1,070
Applicants Enrolled 779 837 793 789 800
% Accepted of Applied 95.8% 96.0% 96.7% 98.1% 97.3%
% Enrolled of Accepted 65.1% 70.0% 79.0% 76.7% 74.8%
Percent Change Year over Year
Completed Applications na -0.3% -16.7% 1.1% 4.9%
Applications Accepted na -0.1% -16.1% 2.5% 4.0%
Applicants Enrolled na 7.4% -5.3% -0.5% 1.4%
Average of statistical indicator of
| aptitude of enrollees: (define below) | |
Transfers - Undergraduate
Completed Applications 258 249 201 221 240
Applications Accepted 256 245 201 220 240
Applications Enrolled 158 173 167 167 175
% Accepted of Applied 99.2% 98.4% 100.0% 99.5% 100.0%
% Enrolled of Accepted 61.7% 70.6% 83.1% 75.9% 72.9%
New - Undergradute
Completed Applications 375 465 402 394 425
Applications Accepted 334 425 371 375 400
Applications Enrolled 205 301 287 293 300
% Accepted of Applied 89.1% 91.4% 92.3% 95.2% 94.1%
% Enrolled of Accepted 61.4% 70.8% 77.4% 78.1% 75.0%
Return Undergraduate
Completed Applications 429 381 350 341 350
Applications Accepted 429 379 350 341 350
Applications Enrolled 279 258 281 250 275
% Accepted of Applied 100.0% 99.5% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
% Enrolled of Accepted 65.0% 68.1% 80.3% 73.3% 78.6%
Prior Undergraduate
Completed Applications 188 151 85 93 90
Applications Accepted 178 147 82 93 90
Applications Enrolled 137 105 58 79 70
% Accepted of Applied 94.7% 97.4% 96.5% 100.0% 100.0%
% Enrolled of Accepted 77.0% 71.4% 70.7% 84.9% 77.8%

Projections are based working to F15 enrollment. Overall, strategic plan includes of 1350 FTE.

Revised April 2016
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Standard 5: Students

(Enrollment, Fall Term)
Complete this form for each distinct student body identified by the institution (see Standard 5.1)

Credit-Seeking Students Only - Including Continuing Education

3 Years 2 Years 1 Year Current Goal
Prior Prior Prior Year (specify year)
(Fall2014 )| (Fall2015 )| (Fall2016 )| (Fall2017 )| (FY 2018 )
UNDERGRADUATE ?
First Year Full-Time Headcount ? 383 422 395 379 304
Part-Time Headcount ? 511 514 542 537 616
Total Headcount 894 936 937 916 920
Total FTE 600 625 632 606 610
Second Year  Full-Time Headcount 202 230 231 182 227
Part-Time Headcount 484 444 445 501 461
Total Headcount 686 674 676 683 688
Total FTE 419 424 420 407 410
Third Year Full-Time Headcount
Part-Time Headcount
Total Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
Total FTE
Fourth Year  Full-Time Headcount
Part-Time Headcount
Total Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
Total FTE
Unclassified Full-Time Headcount 5 2 4 4 4
Part-Time Headcount 816 838 934 952 950
Total Headcount 821 840 938 956 954
Total FTE 214] 226] 255] 257] 250]
Total Undergraduate Students
Full-Time Headcount 590 654 630 565 535
Part-Time Headcount 1,811 1,796 1,921 1,990 2,027
Total Headcount 2,401 2,450 2,551 2,555 2,562
Total FTE 1,233 1,275 1,307 1,270 1,270
% Change FTE Undergraduate na 3.4% 2.5% -2.8% 0.0%
GRADUATE ?
Full-Time Headcount ?
Part-Time Headcount ?
Total Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
Total FTE [ [ [ [ |
% Change FTE Graduate na - - - -
GRAND TOTAL
Grand Total Headcount 2,401 2,450 2,551 2,555 2,562
Grand Total FTE 1,233 1,275 1,307 1,270 1,270
% Change Grand Total FTE na 3.4% 2.5% -2.8% 0.0%
Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below
Revised April 2016 5.2
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Standard 5: Students
(Student Diversity)

Complete this form for each distinct student body identified by the institution (see Standard 5.1)

For each type of diversity important to your institution (e.g., gender, race/ethnicity, first generation status, Pell eligibility),

provide information on student admissions and enrollment below. Use current year data.

Undergraduate Admissions Completed | Applicants Applicants
information Applications | Accepted Enrolled
Category of Students (e.g., male/female); add more rows as needed
Full-Time (12 or more credits) 799 783 608
Part-Time (11 or less credits) 250 246 181
Male 410 401 289
Female 639 628 500
24 years or younger 613 598 473
25 years or older 436 431 316
Graduate Admissions information Completed | Applicants Applicants
Applications | Accepted Enrolled
Category of Students (e.g., male/female); add more rows as needed
Undergraduate Enrollment Full-time Part-time Total FTE Headcount
information Students Students Headcount Goal (2018)
Category of Students (e.g., male/female); add more rows as needed
Male 252 301 553 382.47 570
Female 309 737 1,046 630.53 1,077
25 years and older 216 587 803 475.20 827
24 years and younger 344 451 795 536.80 820
Pell 437 674 1,111 743.27 1,145
No Pell 124 364 488 269.53 502
First Generation 283 545 828 520.60 852
Not First Generation 251 428 679 437.70 795
Unknown 27 65 92 54.50 95
Online Only 56 225 281 139.60 290
Seated Only 258 535 793 500.87 817
Mix Enrollment Type 247 278 525 372.33 541
Graduate Enrollment information Full-time Part-time Total FTE Headcount
Students Students Headcount Goal ()
Category of Students (e.g., male/female); add more rows as needed
0
0

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Based on Fall 2017 Data. Projections based on based on a 3% increase in Total Headcount

Revised April 2016

5.4




STANDARD SIX
TEACHING, LEARNING AND SCHOLARSHIP

The institution supports teaching and learning through a well-qualified faculty and academic staff,
who, in structures and processes appropriate to the institution, collectively ensure the quality of
instruction and support for student learning. Scholarship, research, and creative activities receive
support appropriate to the institution’s mission. The institution’s faculty has primary responsibility for
advancing the institution’s academic purposes through teaching, learning and scholarship.

DESCRIPTION

Faculty and Academic Staff

The faculty and academic staff of Kennebec Valley Community College (KVCC) serve a vital role in
fulfilling the mission of the College through ongoing support of the vision, values, and ideals expressed
by the College community. The College defines faculty, including full-time, part-time and adjunct faculty,
as an individual who teaches one or more credit courses. Academic staff play a vital role in the academic
success of the student; examples of academic staff includes the librarians, the math specialist, the
Learning Commons director and the TRiO staff.

The value of each individual learner is central to the mission of the College, which states, “Kennebec
Valley Community College prepares students to achieve their educational, professional and personal
goals in a supportive environment through shared values of responsibility, integrity and respect.”
Faculty and academic staff seek to support the comprehensive education of every student, regardless of
age, gender, culture, or past experience. The KVCC faculty and academic staff are highly committed to
student success.

A new departmental structure was introduced at the College in fall 2017, increasing the number of
department chairs from 7 to 27 in the 2017-2018 academic year. Faculty members serving as program
coordinators in past years will now serve as Department Chairs with expanded responsibilities.
Department Chairs recruit, coordinate, and supervise departmental adjunct faculty and program
advisory board members; facilitate program advisory board meetings; and, oversee program curriculum
development, external program accreditation, course delivery, and learning outcomes assessment.
Department Chairs receive a stipend according to a local memorandum of agreement with labor
management representatives. All full-time and adjunct faculty are affiliated with a program to assure
institutional integration.

In academic year 2015-2016, the faculty roster totaled 41 full-time faculty, two part-time faculty, and
127 adjunct faculty. Full-time faculty are contracted, with benefits, to teach up to 16 credit hours or 26
contact hours per semester. Part-time faculty are contracted with prorated benefits that are determined
by the teaching assignment. Adjunct faculty are contracted on a per-course basis. The faculty,
characterized by a strong mix of academic and professional experiences, ensure that students receive
up-to-date professional education and skills presented through creative teaching strategies.
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The faculty, composed of full-time, part-time, and adjunct, possess sufficient qualifications, professional
skills, and valid teaching approaches to provide effective education. Faculty hold the necessary academic
credentials and maintain academic integrity through individual professional licensure/certification,
membership in professional organizations, and maintaining expertise in their fields. Some members
serve as community volunteers, present at and attend professional conferences, and serve as mentors
for other faculty and professional staff. The faculty possess a broad range of skills and experiences in
addition to their academic training that enhance their teaching performance. In accordance with
external accreditation within specific fields, the College employs faculty who are academically prepared
and experts in their areas and programs. Copies of faculty curriculum vitae and transcripts are
maintained in the Human Resources Office and in a shared folder on a secure network.

KVCC employs an open and orderly process for recruiting and appointing its faculty. A standardized
process for hiring at all levels of the institution was implemented during the 2016-2017 academic year.
The process requires a “Request to Hire” form be submitted to the Human Resources Office. The
requested faculty position is reviewed by the Academic Dean and Chief Financial Officer prior to
advertising for the position. KVCC adheres to State and Federal laws regarding equal employment
opportunity and affirmative action. The institution recruits first within the Maine Community College
System (MCCS), and then through other accepted advertising methods including professional
organizations. The President appoints a search committee which includes faculty members, an
Affirmative Action Committee member, and a representative from the office of Academic Affairs. The
search committee reviews applications and selects candidates to interview based on academic
credentials and professional experience. The search committee recommends up to three candidates to
the President who has the sole authority to make appointments of full-time and part-time faculty and
academic staff. The Academic Dean hires adjunct faculty. Conditions of hire and employment for full-
and part-time faculty are outlined in the MCCS/MEA Agreement as well as in the Faculty Handbook
(pages 1 and 2); Job Descriptions Policy 1.01.1, 1.04, 1.01.09 Academic staff and adjunct faculty
conditions for hire and employment are outlined in separate MCCS/MSEA (Maine State Employee

Association) agreements.

Each full-time faculty member is advised of his/her starting salary in the "Letter of Appointment." A
signature of acceptance is required. All necessary information regarding salary, level and step, rights,
and benefits is provided as part of the hiring process. Responsibilities of full-time faculty are outlined in
the generic Faculty Job Description. Some positions (ex. Department Chairs or Clinical Coordinators)
have supplemental job descriptions outlining specific duties and expectations. Rights and responsibilities
are further described in the MCCS Board of Trustees Agreement with the MEA Faculty Unit 2005-2007
(MCCS/MEA Faculty Agreement), Faculty Handbook, and KVCC Policy Manual.

Full-time faculty are paid according to salary scales and provided benefit packages that are negotiated
through the MCCS/MEA Faculty Agreement. The MCCS/MEA Faculty Agreement includes two pathways:
Pathway A for Trade faculty and Pathway B for all other faculty. There are inequities in the step level
advancement between the two pathways. The two-pathway approach may also create unnecessary
distinctions between faculty members in different pathways. Faculty cannot negotiate salaries directly
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with the State or the institution. Increases in salary are awarded in a level /step-by-step manner
according to the collective bargaining agreement within an individual's labor grade until the top step in
the labor grade is reached, assuming acceptable annual performance evaluations. Once the top step is
reached, no further salary increases are awarded unless across-the-board increases are established
through the MCCS/MEA Agreement. The MCCS salary increases are supported by legislative
appropriations. Each full-time faculty member is advised of their salary in the “Letter of Appointment”
on an annual basis. Department Chair stipends are negotiated by the College’s faculty labor
management committee and are included as an appendix to the MCCS/MEA Faculty Agreement.

The hiring process for part-time faculty is the same process as for the full-time faculty. Salary is prorated
based on the MCCS/MEA full-time salary scale.

To assure equitable workloads, the faculty teaching load is established in accordance with Article 2,
Appendix F of the MCCS/MEA Agreement. All faculty carry a workload that is defined as “not exceeding
32 credit hours annually or 25 contact hours in a semester or the equivalent...” The faculty teaching load
was approved in 1992 and is still in effect.

The MCCS/MEA Agreement does not provide collegiate-type tenure for faculty. However, after a three-
year probationary period from date of hire, an individual who has received a satisfactory performance
evaluation earns the job security provided through the MEA Faculty Unit Collective Bargaining
Agreement.

On average, adjunct faculty teach just over half of the courses during an academic year and are paid
according to salary scales and provided benefit packages that are negotiated through the MCCS/MSEA
Adjunct Faculty Agreement.

2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-2017
Faculty 47.1% 48.3% 46.3% 43.2% 45.4%
Adjunct Faculty 52.9% 51.7% 53.7% 56.8% 54.6%

The MCCS does not have a formal policy limiting the number of credit or contact hours taught by
adjunct faculty per semester. The utilization of adjunct faculty is based on the needs of particular
departments and the course offerings of a given semester. The ratio of full-time to adjunct faculty, day
and evening, fluctuates each semester according to the College’s instructional needs.

The Academic Dean is responsible for hiring adjunct faculty. The Department Chairs follow the hiring
process outlined previously. After the department interviews are concluded, the Chair will submit the
Recommendation to Hire Form to the Academic Dean for consideration. The adjunct faculty member
receives an instructional services contract specifying the course(s) and number of hours to be taught,
the weekly schedule for the course(s), contracted salary (Instructor 1 or 2 level), and professional
expectations. This contract is subject to renewal each semester.
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The MCCS/MEA and MCCS/MSEA contracts are available on the myMCCS website. The MCCS/MEA and
MSEA Agreement Grievance process is outlined in the respective agreement and the process assures fair
redress of grievances and assures the policy is consistently applied. The policy and process is reviewed
during negotiations between MCCS and the respective collective bargaining units.

Teaching assistants are not included in the contract bargaining agreement but do adhere to the same
hiring protocol as adjunct faculty. Teaching assistants receive an hourly wage for providing a
professional service and are supervised by the Department Chair.

All employees have been asked to read and sign the Employee’s Code of Conduct, which was approved
in 2006. Signatures indicating acceptance of the Code of Conduct are filed in the employee folder. In
addition, all employees are required to review films and online documents to support that they
understand the College’s Policy on Sexual Harassment, the Drug Free Workplace Policy, the Domestic
Violence in the Workplace Policy, and KVCC safety policies.

Integrity is included in the mission of the College and is identified as both a value and an ideal at KVCC.
All full-time and part-time faculty are required to work in compliance with the MCCS/MEA Agreement.
Faculty work to ensure an environment supportive of academic integrity through performing all duties
and responsibilities normally associated with teaching a course, such as course preparation, instruction,
maintaining student contact, and adhering to College/department standards. Faculty show their support
of academic integrity by adhering to policies and procedures. Further, faculty ensure academic integrity
by assessing students in a fair and equitable manner and by grading and reporting grades consistently.
Student academic performance and outcomes are methods used to measure academic integrity.

The College evaluates the effectiveness of full-time and part-time faculty in teaching and advising,
scholarship, and service according to the guidelines in the MCCS/MEA Agreement. Full-time and part-
time faculty are evaluated on an annual basis by the Academic Dean. Per contract, all new faculty are
considered probationary for the first three years of employment and are evaluated on a biannual basis.
The faculty evaluation tool was developed in collaboration with the local labor/management committee.
The faculty evaluation tool is derived from the current faculty job description and measures the
performance of the MEA faculty with reference to the role and responsibilities outlined in the contract
bargaining agreement. The Academic Dean meets individually with full-time and part-time faculty to
discuss their performance self-evaluation, including teaching performance. For all faculty, a copy of the
completed performance evaluation form is placed in the employee's official personnel file, which is
maintained by the Human Resources Office at KVCC. A copy is given to the faculty member for their
records, if requested.

Adjunct faculty have guidelines for evaluation as well through the MCCS/MSEA agreement. MCCS policy

states that the evaluation tool, which was developed in collaboration with the local MSEA-adjunct
faculty representatives, is to be used for adjunct and high school faculty teaching concurrent enrollment
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courses. Department Chairs are responsible for conducting annual adjunct and concurrent enrollment
faculty evaluations.

KVCC supports a "Shared Governance" model, although it is hierarchical in nature. All faculty have an
opportunity to participate in the governance of KVCC through institutional committee and Faculty
Senate membership, as outlined in the Governance Document. Institutional committee membership is
encouraged but is not mandatory. The Faculty Senate holds regular monthly meetings to discuss topics
impacting academic affairs. The Faculty Senate may make recommendations to the Leadership Team
with regards to areas of concern in academic affairs, academic environment, and institutional
development (Faculty Senate Constitution and Bylaws). The administration welcomes faculty input into

campus issues. The President of the Faculty Senate is a member of the College's Leadership Team and
Institutional Effectiveness and Assessment Committee (IEAC). To further comply with the standards set
forth in the Governance Document, the College’s President facilitates College Forums once per semester
to solicit faculty input into campus issues. The Academic Dean schedules mandatory faculty meetings six
times per academic year to provide a venue for faculty to discuss academic issues and gather faculty
input. As special issues arise, short-term “ad hoc” committees may be formed to advise the Executive
Leadership Team. All faculty are given the opportunity to provide input to all committees either in
person or electronically.

The MCCS/MEA Agreement endorses Academic Freedom. Based on this endorsement academic
freedom is guaranteed and is noted to be “essential to the fulfillment of the purposes of the institutional
system.” Faculty are able to express original ideas, imagination, and intellectual inventiveness in
teaching and learning. Faculty and students are accorded academic freedom in scholarly and creative
activities and pursuits such as student and faculty portfolios, projects and presentations. Faculty
encourage students to discover knowledge through creative activity. Lifestyle and personal beliefs do
not inhibit students or faculty from assuming and/or excelling in College activities/duties.

All faculty have the same instructional responsibilities with regard to presentation of course material
and associated academic duties, including curriculum development and student learning assessment.
The student to faculty ratio in the IPEDS Fall Enroliment 2016-2017 is 18:1. This ratio allows for effective
instruction that is student-centered. Faculty assist students in achieving overall academic success both in
and outside of the classroom environment. Students are encouraged to seek assistance during faculty
office hours or via email, voicemail, or other technological tools. Faculty are involved in curriculum
development through several processes. Department Chairs, faculty, and the Academic Committee
(whose membership includes faculty) are responsible for the development and evaluation of proposed
changes to curricula in conjunction with the Academic Dean.

Faculty attend department meetings and faculty meetings. The use of feedback from Program Advisory
Boards is critical to ensuring currency of content for programs. Some faculty publish in various trade
journals and textbooks. The faculty instructing in accredited programs assure compliance of the required
accreditation standards. There is also a participation in professional development activities provided by
KVCC and the implementation of new teaching methodologies such as distance learning, Blackboard™.
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In addition, faculty serve as members of various accrediting teams and participate in textbook and test
bank writing/reviewing for their disciplines. These activities help to reaffirm that KVCC faculty are
meeting or exceeding current practices and standards.

Teaching and Learning

Full-time faculty non-teaching duties include academic advising to students, program and institutional
assessment, departmental assignments/activities, professional development, creative activities, service
to the community, and student organizations. In addition, faculty participate in creative activities both
on and off campus such as orientation, open houses, Phi Theta Kappa induction, and student senate
events all of which contribute to setting a welcoming environment for all newcomers. The faculty utilize
service learning as a teaching methodology in keeping with the mission of the College.

Faculty accept the responsibility to ensure that content and methods of instruction meet accepted
academic and professional standards and expectations. Evidence of this includes: positive results from
KVCC annual graduate placements; KVCC new graduate employment performance surveys; program
specific survey tools; and, successful graduate performance on national and state certification (or
licensure) exams. Other methods include: faculty licensure and/or certification, presenting at and
attending professional conferences, and membership in professional organizations within their
disciplines. For programs not having a national accreditation, MCCS policy requires that a program
review be conducted every five years. Data such as enrollment, retention, transfer, and completion and
employment outcomes are reviewed.

The College instituted a reformed course feedback process in fall 2014. Students are offered an
opportunity to provide feedback on his/her course at the end of each semester using a standardized
form. The collected data is compiled by the Office of IR and the aggregated information is uploaded to
the portal. The KVCC Course Feedback Forms provide the instructor with the student’s perception of
whether course and learning goals were reached. Faculty utilize information from student course
feedback forms and self-reflection. The instructor, Chair, and Academic Dean may use the information
collected through Course Feedback Forms to improve the course and/or instruction of the course for
future students. The Course Feedback Form is administered in hard copy in seated and hybrid courses
and electronically in online courses.

Assessment of students is designed and completed as appropriate to each course/program. The overall
learning objectives are set forth in the syllabi and essential skills of students are noted in program
handbooks. Assessment of scholarly and creative achievement takes place in all courses through a
variety of approaches including: examinations, written assignments, presentations, service learning and
class participation. Students requiring developmental courses in math and English may enroll in local
adult education classes or the College’s credit bearing options.

A shared understanding of student learning in each program and considerations for program
improvement occur at regularly scheduled faculty meetings within each department. Program faculty
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maintain a close relationship with the Program Advisory Committees. Per MCCS Policy 304, Program
Advisory Committees meet annually at a minimum. Membership consists of program faculty, local
employers, program students and graduates, business and industry associations or organizations, and
representatives of higher educational institutions to which students may transfer. Multiple measures
are used to assess and improve instruction.

Faculty enhance their understanding of effective teaching/learning processes through professional
development, additional coursework (which may include work toward advanced degrees), practical
experience, and participation in professional organizations. In-house workshops and presentations at
professional development days provide opportunities for sharing information regarding student
learning.

In keeping with its mission, and the mission of the MCCS, to provide associate degree-level education,
the College provides opportunities for faculty to stay current in the teaching methods, theory,
knowledge, and skills of their discipline or profession (KVCC policy 3.06). Professional development

opportunities may be sponsored by MCCS or KVCC. Examples of this are the MCCS annual Mini-Jam and
Rubric Rumbles. Per contract, the College requires faculty participate in three on-campus professional
development days. Activities may include seminars to address best practices. For 2016-17 the focus will
be on developing effective student learning assessments using the Charrette model, a collaborative
interdisciplinary technique to provide feedback to the instructor.

Professional Development is defined and described in the MCCS/MEA Agreement. As long as funds are
available, each faculty member is eligible to receive professional development monies in the amount of
$1400 per academic year. Faculty are encouraged to undertake courses of study for self and
professional improvement which relate to their areas of instructional responsibility or educational field.
Faculty may take any course that is offered at the College with tuition and fees waived. Faculty who
have completed seven (7) continuous years of service are eligible to apply for a sabbatical leave.

The academic program outcomes and objectives of individual courses are clearly outlined in the
program handbook and in the course syllabus, respectively. The College Catalog also serves to inform
the community and students through course descriptions and identified program goals and expected
outcomes. Teaching methodologies are diverse and pertinent to the level of the learner and content
being taught. Service learning is supported by the Center for Civic Engagement. In the classroom, faculty
utilize such techniques as lecture, group discussions, individual and group presentations, and
technological tools (i.e. PowerPoint, Blackboard™ and Smartboard).

Instructional techniques and delivery systems, including technology, are compatible with and serve to
further the mission and purpose of the institution. Staying current with technology is a high priority at
KVCC. The Technology Department encourages faculty to use current technology in teaching endeavors,
providing technical support and instruction when requested. Classrooms and laboratories are
appropriately equipped with instructional technology. For example five classrooms are equiped with
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Smart Podiums® that allow math faculty to capture step-by-step process and post the notes for student
reference. The Allied Health and Nursing programs have access to two state-of-the-art simulation labs.

The College has a system in place for academic advising. The Advising Center mission states that
“academic advising is a collaborative relationship between a student and an academic advisor with the
intent of working together to develop meaningful educational goals.” This statement provides the
foundation for the College’s academic advising program. KVCC faculty are active in the student advising
process. The College may contract seasoned adjunct faculty to serve as academic advisers and use
academic staff, including librarians, tutors and student services staff (TRiO, Early College for Me) to
assure accomplishment of class and out-of-class responsibilities essential for the fulfillment of
institutional mission and purpose. Programs and departments use different approaches in advising
students such as: individual formal meetings, group meetings, and informal contacts. KVCC has
instituted an online option for registration for second year returning matriculated students; first-time
students must register with their faculty advisors.

KVCC has no requirement that faculty participate in scholarly research, yet scholarship and creative
activity are encouraged and supported in keeping with the mission of the College. Faculty understand,
integrate, and apply instructional methods that support scholarship in the classroom. The College has
not established policies and procedures related to scholarship and research. The Teaching, Learning, and
Scholarship committee will be responsible for developing a proposal to present to IAEC to address
student and faculty scholarship and research.

TEACHING, LEARNING, AND SCHOLARSHIP - APPRAISAL

In 2015-2016, the College employed 41 full-time faculty, two part-time faculty and 127 adjuncts. There
are departments and programes still in need of additional full-time faculty to meet the departmental and
programmatic needs. For example, both the Sustainable Construction and Advanced Emergency Care
program do not employ a full-time faculty member. The Math/Science, Nursing, and Business
departments each have two unfilled positions. Currently adjunct faculty provide support to these
programs and departments. The College is currently not able to hire for these positions due to budget
constraints. However, the English, Mental Health, and Medical Assisting faculty have each increased by
one full-time faculty member.

The College has had consistent completion and retention outcomes over the past five years. However,
evaluation needs to be conducted at the program level to determine if these unfilled faculty positions
are impacting quality of program instruction. The College intends to integrate personnel FTE into the
program internal evaluation process to better assess this impact. This information will provide guidance
for program planning and budgeting.

KVCC provides effective instruction through employment of faculty with preparation and qualifications
appropriate to the field and level of their assignments. Qualifications include advanced degrees,
professional credentials, licensures, relevant professional experiences, and teaching abilities.
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Scholarship and creative activities are also desirable. The KVCC faculty have the following academic
credentials and backgrounds:

Degree Full Time Part Time Adjunct
Medical Degree 0 0 2
Doctoral Degree 4 0 10
Doctoral Candidates 1 0 0
Master’s Degree 26 0 99
Masters Candidates 0 0 0
Bachelors 11 1 18
Bachelors Candidates 0

Associates Degree 0

Extensive Field only 0

Total 44 1 139

Faculty who have a two-year degree or extensive field experience with no degree possess unique areas
of expertise that strengthens their qualifications. For example, one of the Electrical Lineworker
Technology instructor has 40 years of lineman experience with Central Maine Power Company, working
as a lineman, line supervisor and field planner. Another example would be the Welding instructor who
has eight (8) years of industry experience and holds four (4) national certifications. And finally, the
Physical Therapist Assistant program’s clinical coordinator holds an associate’s degree. She worked in a
variety of physical therapy settings including sports therapy, a skilled nursing facility, and the Maine
Veteran’s home. She was hired with the condition that she pursue her four-year degree and is currently
enrolled in a program at the University of Maine Augusta.

KVCC has a professional development budget; however, individual departments and grants often
support professional development workshops which are outside of the College’s professional budget
line. The College approved professional development requests totaling over $100,000 for AY2016-17 for
workshops, conferences, and courses. State and grant monies funded 124 individual requests, including
438 faculty and academic staff. The total amount spent in the College’s professional development budget
line was $42,601 in AY2016-2017. This amount is only a fraction of the $100,000 spent across different
budget lines. Professional development spending in the professional development budget line has been
on the increase since 2014. For this reason, the College has budgeted over $150,000 in the next AY.

State Fiscal Year Total Dollars Number of Trainings Unduplicated Number of Employees
2013 $29,896 43 36
2014 $24,882 35 31
2015 $30,542 48 35
2016 $45,142 67 53
2017 $42,601 48 38
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Although the College has identified funds for professional development, there is no comprehensive
professional development plan at the institution. Per collective bargaining agreements, an individual can
pursue professional development funding as described by the agreements. Development of a
comprehensive professional development plan will provide an organized approach to support the
mission and values of the College and provide strategic on-campus opportunities. This will increase
professional development opportunities designed to meet the needs of the institution. The IAEC will
create a process to assess institutional professional development needs, design a workplan, and assign
activities to appropriate committee members. For example, in recent student surveys, satisfaction with
advising has declined. Through this IAEC process the College will identify professional development
opportunities to reinforce, implement, and measure best practices in student advising.

In spring 2017, to support the development of the institution’s plan, the Academic Dean requested that
the Faculty Senate conduct a survey. The survey identified professional development needed to support
teaching, learning, and scholarship. These results will be shared with the IAEC to inform the work plan as
it relates to faculty. Similar approaches will be used to assess the needs of staff and administration. The
professional development calendar will be published in the fall of 2017 for the academic year and
include a variety of professional development opportunities.

The College reorganized the department structure in 2017 and will be implementing the changes in
Academic year 2017-2018. The reorganization will appoint a department chair for each program,
increasing the number of chairs from seven to 27. The College has recently experienced retirements of
long-standing department chairs creating a need for experienced leadership to step into these roles.
With the seven-chair model, the College had limited opportunities for faculty to assume leadership
roles. By increasing the number of chairs, the College is increasing opportunities for leadership
development. Another advantage to this expanded model is improving communication by increasing the
representation of faculty at Department Chair meetings threefold. The structure reduces the layers of
communication and increases individual program input to the Academic Dean.

Adjunct faculty, who comprise three-quarters of the KVCC’s teaching faculty, serve as a valuable
resource for the College. KVCC has developed strategies to support adjunct faculty. At the beginning of
each academic year, the Office of Academic Affairs organizes an annual adjunct faculty meeting which
provides orientation to new adjunct faculty and professional development offerings to returning adjunct
faculty. Department chairs provide departmental and programmatic orientation to adjunct instructors.
Adjunct faculty are encouraged to attend department and program meetings and all in-house
professional development activities.

The College recognizes that there is no formal, institutionalized onboarding process for adjunct faculty.
In addition, there is no formal process for capturing adjunct satisfaction and experiences at KVCC. The
most recent adjunct survey was administered in 2012 and had 29 responses. Respondents indicated that
75% felt that KVCC demonstrated an effective system of academic oversight to assure the quality of the
academic program, 76% responded that expectations for adjunct faculty are clearly stated; and 50%
responded that KVCC has an informative and broad-based faculty evaluation process.
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Adjunct evaluation is included in the MSEA Adjunct collective bargaining agreement. Each adjunct is
evaluated annually by their respective department chair. KVCC utilizes a locally-negotiated adjunct
evaluation tool. In AY 2016-17, a separate evaluation process was implemented by Academic Affairs for
concurrent enrollment faculty in the high school. The concurrent enroliment faculty separate evaluation
process is not consistent with newly adopted MCCS system policy. The new policy states that the
concurrent enrollment faculty are considered adjunct and should be evaluated as college adjuncts. The
College will adjust the concurrent enrollment faculty evaluation in the AY 2017-18 to comply with MCCS

policy.

Full- and part-time faculty evaluation tools align with the faculty job description: teaching
responsibilities, clinical coordination, professional responsibilities, committee work, institutional
engagement, and ethical conduct. The current faculty evaluation tool does not address scholarship,
advanced study, creative activities, or teaching abilities. The Teaching, Learning, and Scholarship
committee will be responsible for defining the scholarship, advanced study, and creative activities to
share with the Labor/Management group for consideration.

The College has no consistent institutional teaching assistant evaluation process. Current evaluations are
conducted at the departmental level.

The College’s current salary scale/pathway is a factor in the attraction of qualified faculty for the skilled
professions to KVCC. For example, in 2017 the College posted three nursing positions and received only
seven qualified applicants. Feedback from nursing professionals is that the College’s salary is not
competitive with earnings in the healthcare setting. The College has faced similar challenges attracting
licensed, qualified professionals in Allied Health and Trades programs. Faculty accepting positions at
KVCC are attracted by factors in addition to salary such as life-style, rural living, and small population.
Faculty academic advising loads vary from department to department, but attempts are made to keep
the instructor/student ratios reasonable. The current range of faculty advisor to student ratio is from 1:
20 to 1: 186, depending on program. The average is 1:35. For the capped programs advising loads are
reasonable and the students have regular access to their academic advisors who also teach the program
classes. For uncapped programs faculty advisors may have up to 186 advisees. These faculty advisors do
not have the opportunity to establish the same level of contact that the capped programs experience
due to number of advisees and lack of contact with the student in the classroom. Some of these
programs, such as Liberal Studies, require extensive advising to help student transfer to four-year
institutions.
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TEACHING, LEARNING, AND SCHOLARHSIP — PROJECTIONS

Evaluations
e Implement a single system of evaluation for both adjunct and concurrent instructors.
o Implement an institutional practice to evaluate teaching assistants

Professional Development
e Create a process to assess institutional professional development needs, design a workplan, and
assign activities to appropriate committee members.
e Adopt an institutional definition of scholarship and research

Personnel
e Integrate personnel FTE into the program internal evaluation process to better assess this
impact.
e Develop and implement a consistent onboarding process for new adjunct faculty
e Institutionalize a process for collecting adjunct feedback by developing an in-house tool or
integrating adjuncts into existing institutional tools.
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Standard 6: Teaching, Learning, and Scholarship
(Faculty by Category and Rank; Academic Staff by Category, Fall Term)

3 Years
Prior

2 Years
Prior

1Year
Prior

Current Year

1314 AY

1415 AY

1516 AY

1617 AY

Number of Faculty by category

Full-time

Part-time

Adjunct

Clinical

Research

Visiting

Other; specify below:

42

45

45

44

131

140

140

140

Total

173

Percentage of Courses taught by full-time faculty

185

185

184

BBl Number of Faculty by rank, if applicable

Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
Other; specify below:

Total

Number of Academic Staff by category

Librarians
Advisors
Instructional Designers

Other; specify below:

0

0

Total

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

6

0

Revised April 2016
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Highest Degree Earned:

Highest Degree Earned:

Highest Degree Earned:

Highest Degree Earned:

Faculty

Academic Staff

Other; specify*

Faculty

Academic Staff

Other; specify*

Faculty

Academic Staff

Other; specify*

Faculty

Academic Staff

Other; specify*

* Please insert additional rows as needed

Revised April 2016

Standard 6: Teaching, Learning, and Scholarship

Doctorate
Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
Total

Libratrians
Advisors

Inst. Designers

(Highest Degrees, Fall Term)

3 Years
Prior

2 Years
Prior

1Year
Prior

Current Year

1314 AY

1415 AY

1516 AY

1617 AY

12

11

11

11

15

16

16

16

Master's
Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
Total

Librarians
Advisors

Inst. Designers

37

27

27

27

73

66

66

66

33

33

33

110

126

126

126

Bachelot's
Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
Total

Librarians
Advisors

Inst. Designers

10

10

11

26

14

14

14

33

29

29

30

Professional License

Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
Total

Librarians
Advisors

Inst. Designers

12

16
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Standard 6: Teaching, Learning, and Scholarship
(Appointments, Tenure, Departures, Retirements, Teaching Load Full Academic Year)

Number of Faculty Appointed
Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
Total

Number of Faculty in Tenured Positions

Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
Total
Number of Faculty Departing
Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
Total
Number of Faculty Retiring
Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
Total
Fall Teaching Load, in credit hours
Maximum
Median
Maximum
Median

Maximum

Professor

Associate

Assistant
Median
Instructor Maximum
Median
No rank Maximum
Median
Other Maximum

Median

3 Years
Prior

2 Years
Prior

1Year
Prior

Current Year

FY2 )

FY2 )

(FY2 )

(FY2 )

FT | PT

FT | PT

FT | PT

FT | PT

0

0

0

0

Explanation of teaching load if not measured in credit hours

Per collective bargaining agreement faculty load is 15 credits per semester.

Revised April 2016
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Standard 6: Teaching, Learning, and Scholarship
(Faculty and Academic Staff Diversity)

For each type of diversity important to your institution (e.g., gender, race/ethnicity, other), provide information on

faculty and academic staff below. Use current year data.

Faculty Full-time Part-time Total Headcount
Headcount Goal
(specify year)
Category of Faculty (e.g., male/female, ethnicity categories); add motre rows as needed
Female 25 84 109
Male 17 58 75
0
0
0
0
0
Academic Staff Full-time Part-time Total Headcount
Headcount Goal
(specify year)
Category of Academic Staff (e.g., male/female, ethnicity categories); add more rows as needed
Female 5
Male 2

(=2 k=1 =1 =1 =1 %] k5L

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Revised April 2016
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STANDARD SEVEN
INSTITUTIONAL RESOURCES

The institution has sufficient human, financial, information, physical, and technological resources and
capacity to support its mission. Through periodic evaluation, the institution demonstrates that its
resources are sufficient to sustain the quality of its educational program and to support institutional
improvement now and in the foreseeable future. The institution demonstrates, through verifiable
internal and external evidence, its financial capacity to graduate its entering class. The institution
administers its resources in an ethical manner and assures effective systems of enterprise risk
management, regulatory compliance, internal controls, and contingency management.

HUMAN RESOURCES - DESCRIPTION

KVCC employs 356 individuals in a range of administrative, instructional, maintenance, and student-
support positions.

356 Employees
e 100 full-time faculty, staff or administrators (28% of KVCC’s workforce)
e 122 adjunct faculty
e 134 contracted non-faculty or student workers

2016-2017: Employees by Bargaining Units

MSEA* Support
Executive, 3.6% Services, 10.4%

MSEA* Supervisory,
1.8%
MEA** Adminsitration

MSEA* Adjunct
Faculty, 55.0%

and Staff, 10.8%

MEA** Faculty, 18.5%
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Relative to its ethnic make-up, the KVCC employee community is reflective of this region of Maine.

KVCC Employees

Kennebec County*

Somerset County*

Waldo County*

State of Maine*

White

97%

96%

97%

97%

95%

All Other

3%

4%

3%

3%

5%

*U.S. Census Bureau: State and County Quick Facts: Last Revised Date: July 1, 2015
The College’s search process ensures a broad-based, inclusive approach to recruitment. As part of its
commitment to an equitable recruitment and hiring process, vacant full- and part-time positions at the
College are listed with various job search services, websites, and local and regional media outlets, as
appropriate. Additionally, open positions are advertised internally throughout the MCCS. Job
descriptions, advertisements, and other descriptive materials clearly indicate required educational, skill,
and experience levels.

Search committee members are appointed by the President. The search committee is provided with
ethical, practical, and legal guidelines designed to encourage a fair, timely selection process resulting in
a diverse pool of qualified applicants. Applicants are measured with the same objective set of criteria,
and are asked the same interview questions. Written artifacts of the process are retained by the
College’s Human Resources Office. The committee recommends one to three finalists for the President’s
consideration and final approval.

KVCC has five separate collective bargaining agreements which apply to all units except the confidential
unit. These agreements are negotiated by MCCS on behalf of all seven colleges. These agreements make
clear the conditions and expectations related to employment at the College within these units, and
provide a framework for determining salaries, conducting performance appraisals, as well as addressing
employee grievances and implementing disciplinary procedures. These agreements also specifically
indicate ways in which the College is expected to financially support the professional development of
employees in all units.

All policies impacting employees, including the College’s grievance policy, are located in a web-based
handbook, found within the MCCS employee portal on the MCCS website. All policies are created and
reviewed on a regular basis by the College’s Leadership Team, and are updated on an as-needed basis.
These policies are written in a clear, succinct fashion designed to make the documents easily read and
understood.

KVCC places a high priority on employee evaluations and developing processes for employee feedback.
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HUMAN RESOURCES - APPRAISAL

An analysis of employees by bargaining unit shows a decrease of employees in several of the bargaining
units from FY2015 to FY2017.

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
Executive 10 8 8
MSEA Support 26 25 23
MSEA Supervisory 3 3 4
MEA Administrators 26 26 24
MEA Faculty 47 43 41
MSEA Adjunct 108 127 122
Total 220 232 222

Decreases can be attributed to discontinuation of academic programs and general force reduction.
However, within this same time period, the College was able to hire new faculty positions through
federal grant monies to expand or create new programming. The College has demonstrated a
commitment to sustaining the grant positions beyond the life of the grant. For example, in 2017, the
Student Navigator from the TAACCCT 3 grant was moved to general fund and the position was
maintained in the admissions office. This has also been the case for an English instructor and computer
instructor initially funded by TAACCCT grants. A math specialist was also retained through the general
fund after the expiration of a Title lll grant in 2017.

Establishment of a second campus required reallocation of personnel in addition to faculty. To provide
administrative oversight on the Alfond campus, the College re-assigned an administrator to serve as the
full-time Coordinator of Harold Alfond Campus in fall 2014. Three administrative specialists were
relocated to the campus to provide student services, financial aid services and faculty support.

The KVCC2020 Strategic Plan goals strive for accessibility, affordability, quality, and value in the delivery
of post-secondary education. Monitoring of the activities related to these goals helps assure the
sufficiency of faculty and staff to deliver high quality education and support services while remaining
fiscally stable.

The collective bargaining units’ current salary scales/pathways can be a negative factor in the attraction
of qualified, skilled professionals to KVCC. To recruit and retain qualified employees, the College
commits over half of its operating funds to personnel salary and benefits. Between state fiscal year 2012
and state fiscal year 2017, the College had a 9% increase in salary and benefits.

Personnel Salary and Benefits: SFY2012 to SFY2017
SFY2012 SFY2013 SFY2014 SFY2015 SFY2016 SFY2017
$9,226,757 $9,582,549 $10,319,935 $10,421,170 $10,184,100 $10,076,975
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To assist in the retention of employees, Professional Development funds have increased to $150,000 in
state fiscal year 2018. The College has introduced a new process for accessing funds that is more
transparent, flexible, and equitable. For example, individual faculty can pool personally allocated funds
to support a group activity. This supports the ongoing enrichment of employees and encourages a high
degree of knowledge sharing within the organization.

Work is underway to improve the College’s onboarding process for new employees, and this is reflected
in the KVCC2020 Strategic Plan. The onboarding process will be reviewed by the Institutional Resources
committee annually to ensure that new employees are presented with clear expectations of their job,
given access to training and resources that prepare them to meet these expectations, and are welcomed
to the KVCC community. New employees will be surveyed at one year to determine the effectiveness of
the onboarding process and allow for recommendations and improvements in onboarding over time.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES - DESCRIPTION

As a state-funded entity, KVCC bears fiscal responsibility not only to its students to ensure that adequate
resources are allocated to the overall quality of the education the College provides, but also to the
taxpayers of Maine to ensure that resources are managed responsibly and in line with MCSS and State
of Maine policies and guidelines.

The President of the College has fiscal responsibility and final authority for the institution’s budget.
Budget hearings are held in the spring and are scheduled for each department and program at the
College. The budget process welcomes input from all employees at the institution. It is a transparent
process which promotes inclusivity from all organizational components of the College. A final proposed
budget is created and submitted in June to the MCCS for review and approval by the MCCS Board of
Trustees. The final budget is adjusted as necessary and approved for the fiscal year in October, once
tuition-based revenues are more clearly defined and projected.

The Dean of Finance and Administration oversees the Business Office which includes Human Resources,
Payroll, and the business functions for the College. The office is staffed by seven professionals. These
professionals have over 50 years of combined experience in finance within higher education and bring a
unique set of skills and perspective to the department. A responsibility of the Business Office is to
generate and distribute monthly budget variance reports to the Executive Leadership Team and each
budget holder, as well as to the MCCS system office.

Revenue is dependent on student tuition and fees and state appropriations. Since FY2012, revenues
generated from student tuition and fees have remained consistent. From FY2012 to FY2017, revenues
had a 3% change.

FY2012

FY2013

FY2014

FY2015

FY2016

FY2017

Student Tuition and Fees

$5,157,116

$5,135,571

$4,999,273

$4,897,926

$5,010,586

$5,298,713
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Revenues from state appropriations have shown an increase in total appropriations of 22.9% between
FY2012 and FY2017. The base appropriations had an increase of 20.9% from FY2012 to FY2017.

FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 FY2017
Appropriations - Base $5,523,088 $5,859,938 $5,938,833 $5,938,832 $6,243,811 $6,677,175
Appropriations — Maine $39,393 $66,643 $228,004 $378,763 $221,497 $160,764
Quality Grants, Legislative
Directive
Total Appropriations $5,562,481 $5,926,581 $6,166,838 $6,317,595 $6,465,308 $6,837,939

To expand and enhance academic programming and the delivery of services to students, the College

applies for grants and has been the recipient of state bond money in 2014.

FY2012

FY2013

FY2014

FY2015

FY2016

FY2017

Net Grant Funding After
Financial Aid Programs

$1,715,811

$2,313,545

$2,796,276

$3,253,270

$3,218,086

$1,899,971

To diversify the College’s revenues, KVCC has made changes in its bookstore and café operations and is

renewing a focus on workforce development activities:

e Until 2015, the College independently operated the bookstore on the Fairfield campus. In 2015,

KVCC partnered with Follett to operate the College’s bookstore, a partnership which has seen a

modest increase in bookstore revenues, expanded services to students, and an enhanced range of

available book titles and other goods. The MCCS followed suit in 2016 reviewing potential bookstore

partnerships for all seven colleges and ultimately signed a contract with Follett in 2017.

e The College subsidizes the cost of food supplies for its Cafe and Culinary program by providing KVCC

farm grown and raised vegetables and livestock.

e The College has introduced in-house catering services for events hosted at KVCC, as part of the

continuing effort to identify and capitalize on a diverse range of sustainable funding sources.

e To support Farm operations, the College has introduced a well-received CSA program for faculty,

staff, and students.

e Asthe College has sought to provide more opportunities to engage the local community, outside

interest in the use of space on both KVCC campuses has increased in recent years. In addition to

providing a unique opportunity to increase revenue, these events serve to market the College to

those who otherwise might not have had an opportunity to visit either campus.

e KVCC maintains strong and direct connections with business and industry in this region. Currently

the Director of Workforce Training and Professional Development serves on multiple boards such as
the Central Maine Growth Council and the Somerset Workforce Connect. KVCC and the MCCS are
planning to increase the level of investment in workforce training and professional development,

staffing, and related academic technology required to educate a skilled workforce. The College has

hired a Dean of Workforce Training and an administrative assistant to support this growth initiative.
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The Dean serves on the Executive Team and is tasked with developing a business plan for Workforce
Training to stabilize annual revenue.

Regarding expenses, Data First Form 7.3 illustrates the College’s academic focus, with 67% of last year’s
budget allocated toward direct instructional support and student services:

Instruction 44% of budget
Academic Support 14% of budget
Student Services 9% of budget
Institutional Support 12% of budget
Operation, maintenance of plant 9% of budget
Auxiliary enterprises 1% of budget
Depreciation 11% of budget

At the end of FY17, the College’s unrestricted net asset balance stood at $3,252,908. A significant
component of this balance is the reserve fund for plant renewals and replacements, which totaled
$1,776,690. This reserve has grown over the last five years (FY12 = $1,504,502) and is projected to
remain healthy and ready to contribute to the capital needs of the College should regular funding or
bond funding be unavailable. The remainder of unrestricted net assets is under the control of the MCCS
to utilize for contingencies to fund new initiatives or to expend at the discretion of the MCCS Trustees.

The total change in net assets over the past five years is show below.

Year Balance in Net Asset | Difference Percent Change
2013 $28,721,828
2014 $29,404,349 $682,521 2.4%
2015 $30,823,719 $1,419,370 4.8%
2016 $31,638,616 $814,897 2.6%
2017 $31,138,618 -$499,998 -1.6%

The decrease shown in 2017 is primarily due to asset write downs related to the decommissioned
Teague Annex building that is being readied for sale in 2018.

The MCCS secures the services of an auditing firm to conduct the College’s annual audit. This audit
varies from year to year regarding the depth to which procedures, controls, and general finances are
reviewed. A management letter and any findings are reviewed by the President and Executive Team, as
well as by the MCCS’s Chief Financial Officer, in order to generate an appropriate action plan.

College fiscal activities including spending practices, budgeting, competitive procurement, contract and
grant management, fundraising, and risk management are carried out in line with sound and ethical
financial norms and standards as well as within the context of the MCCS and State of Maine financial
policies and guidelines. For example, the College works closely with the State’s Risk Management
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division on insurance matters, as well as the Bureau of General Services on all capital improvement
projects. Fiscal policies are found on the KVCC internal, web-based portal, as well as the MCCS website,
and web pages that correspond to any relevant Maine State department.

Fundraising at the College is carried out primarily through the KVCC Foundation. The KVCC Foundation is
a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization established in 1991 with the goal of supporting both the College and
its students. Its mission is to engage supporters to invest in students, faculty, and programs to empower
individuals and to build stronger communities. The KVCC Foundation Board of Trustees achieves this
goal by raising funds to promote and support all educational programs; to provide state-of-the art
equipment and facilities; and to ensure access through scholarship funds for needy students. Most of
the monies raised by the Foundation are allocated for direct student scholarships, available to any KVCC
student via an application process. The Foundation has raised a portfolio of over $3.9 million to support
student scholarships, technology and equipment upgrades, and access to student support services. Since
its inception, the Foundation has awarded over $1.35 million in student scholarships, opening the doors
to education for more than 1,650 KVCC students.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES — APPRAISAL

As part of its operations, KVCC has the most control over revenue generation in student tuition and fees,
which accounted for just over one-third of the total revenues in SFY17. The last five years have brought
about unique revenue-related challenges, most notably the types of improvement in the local labor
market that can lead to declines in enrollment. Community college enrollments tend to decline as
economic conditions improve and KVCC is not immune to this phenomenon. Since 2012, Maine’s
unemployment rate has been nearly halved (from 7.7% to 3.8%), meaning more people are working and
fewer people are seeking credentials and degrees. This, coupled with a generally declining and aging
population, has led to the potential of weak enrollments and, by extension, revenue.

Meanwhile, a series of grants used to start, support, and revitalize academic programs have recently
ended, or are winding down. The monies from these grants, responsible for nearly a quarter of the
College’s annual revenue at their peak will need to be replaced through increased enrollment revenues
or other sources to maintain faculty and staffing levels that were increased through grant funding, as
well as to maintain these programs at their current levels of instructional and administrative quality.

With high school completions decreasing in the College’s catchment area and declining grant dollars, the
College is exploring residential services as an option for enrollment growth. An analysis completed by
the President’s Office projected that a 150-bed residence hall, with an overall enroliment FTE of 1350,
could fiscally sustain services needed to operate a residential facility. The College has contracted with a
firm to conduct a broader feasibility study during the fall of 2017. Results of this study are projected for
early 2018. Subsequent steps involve conveying the study results to the MCCS and advocating for such a
substantial change. In order to realize this part of KVCC’s Strategic Plan, the College must have the
MCCS’s support and collaborative planning for such a project.
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In addition to grant dollars, the College was the recipient of a $12 million gift in 2012 to support the
addition of the Alfond Campus. The gift was primarily used for capital expenditures and provided
resources needed to construct and improve the physical infrastructure on the campus. The gift was
completely expended by the end of SFY2016.

The graph below illustrates the drop in grant and gift funding from a high in 2012, to the projected total
for the current fiscal year:

]

Additionally, the College has sought to stabilize its finances while taking into account the increased
capital and operating costs required to establish and manage a second campus. The College’s state
appropriation was increased beginning in 2012 to accommodate the operations at the Alfond Campus.
With the acquisition of the Alfond Campus, the College’s overall acreage increased by a factor of ten
along with 123,244 building square footage. The initial $750,000 increase in state appropriation
designed to manage the second campus was reduced to $500,000 in 2013. The College has seen an
increase in appropriations overall in those intervening five years of 22% which has resulted in a decrease
of Alfond Campus-dedicated state funding from 8.5% in 2013 to 7.4% in 2018.

Through this period, the President and Executive Team established a new program of fiscal
transparency. This included the creation of a budget hearing process, wherein all budget holders were
asked to participate in budget planning meetings with the Executive Team, and share their budgetary
needs for the upcoming fiscal year. Additionally, all members of the KVCC community have been invited
to attend any of these budget hearings to create a culture of financial openness and accountability.

To date, the analysis of the budget has primarily been focused on the institutional budget and has been
limited to the analysis of each campus and its contributions and expenses individually to the overall
institutional budget. Very few operational costs and associated revenues are segregated by campus.
However, while the majority of campus-specific costs and revenues have not been analyzed, the College
recognizes the importance of a process to segregate and analyze this information.

A renewed focus on workforce training and professional development within the College and MCCS
system was identified in both the KV2020 and MCCS strategic plan. Since 2012, the College’s revenues
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from workforce training and professional development activities has fallen from $409,673 to $161,913.
During strategic planning, the College addressed the need to focus activities and increase revenue by
working with community members, local businesses, and employers in the mid-Maine region. In 2016,
the College created and filled a position for a Dean of Workforce Training and Professional
Development. In March 2017, when the TAACCCT 2 grant ended, the administrator position originally
funded by the grant was moved to general fund and added to the workforce development office.

KVCC, as evidenced by the previously discussed transparent budgeting process, is continually evaluating
academic and non-credit programs for future feasibility in light of changing economic times, student
interest, and employer needs. The College closely monitors and evaluates each grant-funded program
throughout the funding cycle to determine whether current and projected enrollments can sustain the
respective programs and the personnel involved. There is ongoing, active discussion around planning for
the completion of each grant and the solutions needed to keep a particular program healthy after the
loss of grant seed funds. If a program is determined to be non-sustainable, however, the College has the
information with which to justify discontinuation.

As certain grants have been in the process of winding down over the past several years, KVCC has taken
steps to secure increased revenues through various other funding sources. Local partnerships, new State
initiatives and the ongoing support of the foundations have the potential to fill in some of the gaps
created by decreased grant funding in future years.

The State has indicated that there are several opportunities for the College to gain increased funding in
certain areas such as Business and Industry programs, bond issues and Maine Quality Center projects.
The Legislature has committed to significant funding over the next several years directed towards
Business and Industry programs as well as improvements and enhancements for current Trades
programs. The State is currently gathering projects from the colleges to develop a package for a
potential 2018 bond issuance that could address capital projects, deferred maintenance, and
educational equipment. KVCC is also focused on seeking out local business partners with which to
develop projects for Maine Quality Center funding, designed to support current and future programs.

The MCCS Foundation and the KVCC Foundation are both active in identifying potential philanthropic
gifts as well as grant and scholarship opportunities to support the College’s ongoing mission. The
Foundations are continuously seeking funds to assist and improve the College, either by supporting
students’ costs of attendance or discovering and directing funding for capital projects and academic
improvements throughout the campuses. KVCC has been the beneficiary of many philanthropic gifts in
the past and looks forward to the continued contribution these programs make to the College’s financial
well-being.

As shown previously, enrollment for the past several years has trended slightly upwards. KVCC has
determined that a 3% enrollment growth projection by AY 2020 is a reasonable goal, based on this
recent data. This projection leads to modest tuition revenue increases and when combined with
potential increases in State aid (again, based on actual allocations over the past several years), creates a
projected financial picture that is continuously re-evaluated. This continuous administrative assessment,
as well as the realistic evaluation of grant-funded programs, ensures that the College always has the
ongoing sustainability of its programs at the forefront of planning for the future.
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INFORMATION, PHYSICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL RESOURCES- DESCRIPTION

As part of its mission, KVCC strives to provide a safe and secure environment. The College’s facilities are
constructed to meet all federal, state, and local requirements for access, safety, security, and
environmental considerations. The College’s physical plant is reviewed periodically by the Maine
Department of Labor (SafetyWorks), the Maine Municipal Association, and by the State’s Office of Risk
Management. The MCCS shares current information and solutions regarding safety issues, requires
internal reviews of all campuses, and also maintains benchmarks for safety. The College reports progress
on its safety projects and initiatives to the MCCS Board annually. The maintenance departments of each
campus maintain a calendar that details the type and schedule of internal and external environmental
and safety audits. Any audit findings are shared with the Executive Leadership to approve an action plan.

The Dean of Technology/Chief Security Officer oversees the safety and security measures on campus.
The Manager of Safety and Security, under the direction of the Dean, oversees 6-8 contracted
professional and student security officers. Each campus has dedicated office space for the Safety and
Security officers. The department provides patrol coverage on both campuses from 7:30am -10:30pm,
Monday through Friday, as well as coverage on overnights and weekends as needed. The department
works closely with the Fairfield Police Department, which regularly patrols both campuses during the
off-hours. Additionally, the campus grounds, parking lots, walkways and building entry points are
surveilled by over 90 CCTV cameras. Video data from these cameras is stored for a minimum of 30 days.

The College maintains an Emergency Response Team (ERT), comprised of eleven executive and
operations-level members. The ERT provides training for students, staff, and faculty in emergency
procedures, conducts lockdown/evacuation/shelter in place drills on both campuses each semester, and
provides guidance and oversight of security-related policies and procedures. The ERT and the
Department of Safety & Security routinely collaborate with local Emergency Responders, businesses and
organizations as well as local, state, and federal Emergency Management Agencies in training,
education, and resources to maintain the highest possible level of preparedness.

Since the College’s fifth-year interim NEASC report, KVCC acquired the Alfond Campus, located
approximately eight miles to the north of the Fairfield Campus. The 600-acre Alfond Campus includes
seven main buildings, river-front property, and a working farm. This campus was purchased by MCCS
with a gift from the Alfond Foundation. Several new buildings and capital improvement projects
required to make the campus a working, functional educational environment, were also completed with
this funding. Additional annual funds have been provided by the MCCS to support this second campus
on an ongoing basis (see “Financial Resources,” above).

The new construction at the Alfond Campus includes a presidential residence, a science-focused
academic building featuring a 70-seat auditorium space and state-of-the-art laboratories, and a new
farm education center. Renovations of the Nutter Fieldhouse and Averill Hall on the Alfond Campus
have been completed while improvements to the Lunder Learning Commons on the Fairfield Campus
continue. In addition to the substantial public works projects required to support roughly half of the
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College’s degree programs, students, and employees, (such as a rehabilitated well, septic system, and
electrical service), the entire campus has been wired with several miles of fiber optic and copper cabling.
Network, server, and telephony equipment were acquired to establish this second voice and data
network and to connect this new network to the Fairfield Campus in order to provide a single, seamless
technology environment for students, staff, and faculty.

Before the Alfond Campus was acquired, a combined office and laboratory building on land adjacent to
the Fairfield Campus was purchased by the MCCS in 2010. Over the last seven years, the Teague Annex
building housed the Business Office and Executive functions, as well as various science classrooms and
laboratories. However, as a cost-saving measure, this building has been decommissioned and the closing
of its sale to a private buyer is slated for January 2018. The resources and employees previously housed
in this space have been redistributed across existing facilities, primarily on the Alfond Campus.

The addition and renovation of academic buildings on the Alfond Campus drastically increased the
College’s total instructional capacity. With the addition of a second campus, the College added 30,403
square feet of instructional space (classrooms, labs, and lecture halls), with an additional 92,841 of
square footage not directly related to teaching and learning. This has allowed the College to provide the
necessary room for new academic programs such as Culinary Arts, Sustainable Agriculture, Sustainable
Construction, and to better manage and allocate space for all programs between its two campuses. As
an example, the Electrical Lineworker program is transitioning to the Alfond campus, opening up space
for new programming such as the proposed millwrighting program at the Fairfield Campus.

On the Fairfield Campus, the main academic building—King Hall—had its exterior remodeled in 2008. A
state-of-the-art simulation lab was added to the Fairfield Campus in 2013, to primarily benefit the
Nursing program and various Allied Health programs. A contiguous simulation space was added to the
simulation lab in 2016 to provide students with more simulation-based learning experiences in a clinical
setting. Grant and bond funding brought renovations, upgrades and new lab space to the Fairfield
Campus. Energy grants supported a new Energy Services lab and solar panels in the Frye building, state
bond funding upgraded the Precision Machining Technology lab in the Frye building, and U.S.
Department of Labor grants supported the Energy Services lab as well as the Medical Assisting lab in
King Hall.

In 2013 the College moved from a library to a Learning Commons concept. The purpose of this transition
to the Learning Commons model was to provide a "one-stop" location with Academic, Library, and
Technology services in a central location. Learning Commons are located in the Lunder Building on the
Fairfield Campus and in Averill Hall on the Alfond Campus. The mission of the Learning Commons at
KVCC is to provide an inviting and supportive environment that facilitates student centered learning and
creates community for all KVCC students. In addition to library services, students may access free peer
and professional tutoring, a computer lab, group study space, disability services, and a wide variety of
assistive technologies. A Director of the Learning Commons was hired in 2013 to lead this transition.
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The Learning Commons employs two Master’s-prepared librarians who provide information literacy,
research, and related services primarily for faculty and students. The Learning Commons library includes
a modern collection of current information resources that encompass a range of media, focusing on an
electronic journal catalog of over 22,000 titles, and an eBook selection of almost 167,000 titles.

In 2016, the Librarians engaged in a project to adhere more strictly to its accession/deaccession policy,
which resulted in the removal of over 65% of its book titles, donating books to charity that were older or
under-utilized. The library services funds are now directed toward electronic journals, books and related
resources. Books will remain a part of the holdings, but this reduced collection will be more vital, more
germane to teaching and learning and KVCC, and better utilized. Access to the library services electronic
resources is provided at both campuses and remotely via password access.

Across its two campuses, KVCC has twelve computer labs, the largest of which is set aside for general
student use. Several of these labs provide hardware and software options for specific programs (e.g.
Health Information Management Lab), but most labs are designed to benefit as many students as
possible. Beginning in 2012, a series of Federal TAACCCT grants infused new technology and resources
to improve the capacity of TAACCCT targeted programs. New technology resources include
approximately 200 iPads, an Apple lab consisting of 24 computers, and three mobile computer labs,
each with two dozen state-of-the-art laptops.

KVCC uses BlackBoard as its single, supported Learning Management System (LMS). Faculty utilize
BlackBoard to deliver online programs and courses. Faculty also use BlackBoard to supplement a wide
range of “bricks and mortar” courses for student engagement, assessment, and content warehousing
functions. The decision to use a single LMS was based on ease of student navigation, technical support
consistency, and program and departmental course control.

In 2010, all seven colleges within the MCCS migrated to a new Student Information System: Jenzabar EX.
EX provides a modern, SQL-based data environment, with a function-rich, web-based portal for student
and employee use. This student information system is updated regularly. KVCC requires all data users to
agree to a Network/Computer Access Policy. The College has the staff and technology capacity to
monitor activities and act upon any violations of this policy, any applicable federal or state law, or MCCS
policy. All mission critical data is backed up daily to an off-site location, and the College has a
relationship with several local data vendors that helps ensure a maximum degree of data uptime. Data
restoration testing occurs regularly.

INFORMATION, PHYSICAL, AND TECHNOLOGICAL RESOURCES - APPRAISAL

Since the opening of the second KVCC campus four years ago, the College has had to maintain both
campuses with only a modest increase in state subsidy for direct maintenance and staffing. Additionally,
the creation of new buildings at the Alfond Campus and renovations of existing spaces on both
campuses have stretched project management capacities to their limits.
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The College has a physical plant deferred maintenance plan, but does not currently have a facilities plan.
To better manage its physical resources on both campuses, the College’s Finance Office is currently
working with an engineering firm to develop a multi-year capital improvement facilities plan, identifying
issues and opportunities with the buildings, grounds and systems at the College. This plan will serve as
an inventory and road map to help prioritize, budget, and schedule a wide range of preventative
maintenance, plant adaptation, and capital renewal projects.

INSTITUTIONAL RESOURCES - PROJECTIONS

Human Resources

e |Implement an enhanced program review process to include student to faculty and student
support ratio to assess student outcomes and potential gaps in academic instruction, academic
support and student support.

e Implement an onboarding process.

Financial Resources
e Complete feasibility study to determine need for residential services.
e Develop process for identifying expenses and revenues by campus.
e Continue to diversify recent funding streams: e.g. expand the services and goods provided by

the Cafe and Agriculture program through a continuation of farm-to-table efforts; develop a
business plan for Workforce Training to stabilize annual revenues.

Information, Physical, and Technological Resources

e Create a formal, three-year capital assessment and improvement plan for both campuses to be
used in the annual budget process.

e Secure funding to transform the Lunder Learning Commons through grants.
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Standard 7: Institutional Resources

(Headcount of Employees by Occupational Category)

For each of the occupational categories below, enter the data reported on the IPEDS Human Resources Survey (Parts B and

D1) for each of the years listed.

If your institution does not submit IPEDS, visit this link for information about how to complete this form:
https://sutveys.nces.ed.gov/IPEDS /Downloads/Forms/package_1_43.pdf

3 Years 2 Years 1 Year
Prior Prior Prior Current Year
(IPEDS2014 ) (IPEDS2015 ) (IPEDS2016 ) -2017
FT PT | Total | FT PT | Total | FT PT | Total | FT PT | Total
Instructional Staff 45 206 251 46 79 125 44 79 123 44 89 133
Research Staff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Public Service Staff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Librarians 2 0 2 1 0 1 1 0 1 2 0 2
Library Technicians 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Archivists, Curators, Museum
staff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Student and Academic Affairs 2 2 4 11 1 12 8 1 9 6 4 10
Management Occupations 13 0 13 11 1 12 14 0 14 14 0 14
Business and Financial
Operations 7 1 8 6 2 8 8 0 8 9 0 9
Computer, Engineering and
Science 3 0 3 1 0 1 4 0 4 3 0 3
Community, Social Service,
Legal, Arts, Design,
Entertainment, Sports, and
Media 8 3 11 4 1 5 4 1 5 2 2 4
Healthcare Practitioners and
Technical 0 0 0 0 0 0
Service Occupations 6 7 7 0 7 8 0 8 8 0 8
Sales and Related
Occupations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Office and Administrative
Support 11 2 13 1 2 3 8 1 9 7 1 8
Natural Resources,
Construction, Maintenance 2 0 2 10 0 10 3 0 3 2 0 2
Production, Transportation,
Material Moving 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total oo 215|314 o8| so|] 184|102 82| 184 97| o] 193
Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below
Revised April 2016 7.1
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Standard 7: Institutional Resources
(Statement of Debt)

Most Recently Next Year
3 Years Prior 2 Years Prior | Completed Year | Current Year Forward
FISCAL YEAR ENDS month & day ( 06/30 ) (FY2015 ) (FY2016 ) (FY 2017 ) (FY 2018 ) (FY 2019 )
Debt

Beginning balance $1,170,789 $1,111,935 $1,051,291 $985,511 $0

Additions $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Reductions ($58,854) (360,644 ($65,780) ($62,488) $0
Ending balance $1,111,935 $1,051,291 $985,511 $923,023 $0

Interest paid during fiscal year $34,319 $32,529 $30,694 $28,784 $0

Current Portion $60,644 $65,780 $62,488 $0

Bond Rating

Debt Covenants: (1) Describe interest rate, schedule, and structure of payments; and (2) indicate whether the debt covenants are

being met.

Interest rate is 3%, monthly payments, debt covenants are met.

Line(s) of Credit: List the institutions line(s) of credit and their uses.

N/A

Future borrowing plans (please describe)

N/A

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Revised April 2016
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Standard 7: Institutional Resources

(Supplemental Data)
Most Recently Next Year
3 Years Prior 2 Years Prior | Completed Year Current Year Forward
FISCAL YEAR ENDS month & day ( 06/30) (FY2015 ) (FY2016 ) FY 2017 ) (FY 2018 ) (FY 2019 )

NET ASSETS
Net assets beginning of year $29,405 $30,824 $31,639 $31,139 $31,139
Total increase/decrease in net assets $1,419 $815 ($500)
Net assets end of year $30,824 $31,639 $31,139 $31,139 $31,139

FINANCIAL AID

Source of funds
Unrestricted institutional $384 $470 $554 $456 $456
Federal, state and private grants $4,178 $4,346 $4,213 $4,517 $4,517
Restricted funds $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total $4,562 $4,816 $4,767 $4,973 $4,973
% Discount of tuition and fees 92.6% 96.2% 90.3%

% Unrestricted discount 8.5% 9.7% 11.6%
FEDERAL FINANCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY COMPOSITE
8 SCORE
Please indicate your institution's endowment spending policy:
Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Revised April 2016 7.5




Standard 7: Institutional Resources
(Information Resources)

Total Expenditures
Materials
Salaries & wages (permanent staff)
Salaries & wages (student employees)
Other operating expenses

Expenditures/FTE student
Materials
Salaries & wages (permanent staff)
Salaries & wages (student employees)
Other operating expenses

Collections
Percent available physically
Percent available electronically
Number of digital repositories

Personnel (FTE)
Librarians - main campus
Librarians - branch /other locations
Other library personnel - main campus
Othert library personnel - branch/other locations

Availability/attendance
Hours of operation/week main campus
Hours of operation/week branch/other locations

Consortia/Partnerships

3 Years 2 Years Most Current Year | Next Year
Prior Prior Recently Forward
Completed (goal)
Year
(FY 2015) | (FY 2016) | (FY 2017) | (FY 2018) (FY 2019)
$34,126 $34,177 $36,964 $36,000 $36,000
$149,576 $154,453 $120,100 $121,233 $128,507
$0 $0 $0 $0 $0
$78,989 $117,631 $79,955 $73,212 $73,212
12431 1233.5 1275.7 1305 1270
$27 $28 $29 $28 $28
$120 $125 $94 $93 $101
$0 $0 $0 $0 $0
$64 $95 $63 $56 $58
8% 8% 7% 2% 1%
92% 92% 93% 98% 99%
NA NA NA NA NA
2 2 2 1 1
1 1 1 1 1
0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0
40 40 40 40 40
40 40 40 40 40

MINERVA/MILS - Maine libraries

HSLIC - Maine health science libraries

OCLC - National libraries

URL of most recent library annual report:

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

[https://www.dropbox.com/s/hhefld1avp19g0z/2015.pdf?dI=]

See Form 4.5 for data about Information Literacy

Revised April 2016
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STANDARD EIGHT
EDUCATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS

The institution demonstrates its effectiveness by ensuring satisfactory levels of student achievement
on mission appropriate student outcomes. Based on verifiable information, the institution
understands what it students have gained as a result of their education and has useful evidence about
the success of its recent graduates. This information is used for planning and improvement, resource
allocation, and to inform the public about the institution. Student achievement is at a level
appropriate for the degree awarded.

DESCRIPTION

In 2016, the Educational Effectiveness Committee (EEC) was formed as part of the College’s redesigned
governance structure. The committee is chaired by a faculty member, a student service member, and
the Academic Dean. Membership includes additional faculty, the Director of Institutional Research (IR),
and appropriate staff to fulfill the committee’s purpose of monitoring the institution’s educational
effectiveness and communicating this information to the college community to inform planning,
improvement, and resource allocation, and to the public.

Until 2016, the College utilized the Institutional Assessment Committee (IAC) to support and enhance
the mission of the institution by developing and coordinating an assessment process that included all
functions of KVCC. The IAC struggled with consistent planning, evaluation, and dissemination of
institutional data. Findings were not distributed to the campus community or formally reviewed on a
consistent basis.

The establishment of the new committee structure outlined in KVCC’s 2017 Governance Document
should resolve this issue by dividing the responsibilities among six committees. The committee structure
is conducive to widespread communication of institutional data among the college community and
provides the framework necessary to assure that the College devotes appropriate attention to its
methods of understanding student learning and student success. Committee membership represents a
cross-section of faculty, staff, students, and administration. This ensures that the data is vetted by a
broad representation of the college community. Each committee charter has specific deliverables
related to the analysis of institutional data. For example, the Educational Effectiveness Committee
charter provides a scope of how the standards are incorporated into the committee work.

The newly formed committees convened in spring 2017 with the primary focus on the NEASC self-study
process and specific standards. With the self-study complete, each committee will now focus on the
developing a committee charter and deliverables for the 2017-2018 academic year. Beginning in fall
2017, the College’s new committee structure will establish a consistent cycle of quality improvement, by
assigning the various measures of student success to the appropriate committee(s) for review and
recommendations. It may take 2-3 years for the committees to refine their charters to reflect the needs
of the College.
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The College employs a fulltime Director of IR. The role of the Director of IR is to maintain a central
clearinghouse for institutional data and to develop and provide reports to inform the College about the
student bodies enrolled at the institution. The Director of IR develops and uses data and evidence for
each of the student bodies identified. The student bodies included in reports may be identified by
degree or certificate program, modality, and other variables. Prior to the introduction of the Director of
IR position, the college community experienced difficulty obtaining accurate and timely data to support
evidence-based decisions. In 2015, the College began publishing an annual fact book containing
important information about the College’s various student bodies. The factbook contains information on
fall student profile, trends for degree-seeking students, high school students enrolled in concurrent
and/or dual enrollment, and student success data such as retention, completion, placement, and wage
data for graduates.

Since hiring the Director of IR in 2012, there has been a marked change in the campus culture to
embrace data-driven decision-making. To support the data-driven decision-making, the Director of IR
created a request form to facilitate staff, faculty, and administration access to specific data. The
turnaround time for each request varies depending on the priority of the request. The availability of, and
access to, consistent and accurate reports allows the college community to make evidence-based, data-
driven decisions and recommendations as various policy, procedure, program, and course changes are
considered.

For example, the Faculty Senate questioned the requirement to report midterm grades. Members had
expressed concern that the eight-week grade was not an accurate prediction of student success since
much of the coursework was not evaluated until later in the semester. Unofficially, the purpose of the
midterm grade was to provide a wake-up call to underperforming student so that the student could seek
additional help or make an informed decision to withdraw from the course. Anecdotally, faculty
reported that students performing poorly at midterm seldom improved to achieve a successful course
outcome. The Faculty Senate President submitted a request to the Director of IR to analyze the data
surrounding the midterm grades. The resulting report indicated that the midterm grade did not have a
significant impact on course outcome. The Faculty Senate recommended that students receive a four-
week indication of performance to provide an opportunity for earlier intervention. This will not be a
letter grade but rather a satisfactory or unsatisfactory evaluation. This four-week evaluation will be
implemented in the fall of 2017. The College will assess the effectiveness of a four-week evaluation
versus the current eight-week evaluation at the end of the 2017-18 academic year.

KVCC’s mission states that the College “prepares students to achieve their educational, professional, and
personal goals in a supportive environment through shared values of responsibility integrity and
respect.” Graduation expectations are clearly stated in the College Catalog and on its website in the
form of the definition of the educated person. This definition not only includes academic experience but
also other aspects of the educational experience. In line with its mission and its beliefs, the College
expects that graduates will have the following characteristics of the “educated person”:

e Function competently and responsibly as entry level members of their respective professions
and trades;
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e Communicate clearly, effectively, and persuasively in both the written and spoken word;

e Utilize resources and technology as lifelong learners in pursuit of both their personal and
professional goals;

e Recognize opportunities for career advancement through transfer programs with other colleges
and universities;

e Solve problems and make decisions based upon logical thinking and analytical skills;

e Respect cultural, ethnic, and intellectual diversity as involved members of their communities.

Program missions and educational learning outcomes for each academic program are included in the
course catalog and on the website.

The effectiveness of student learning is assessed at multiple levels including course, program, and
institution. Each course has a standard syllabus that states student learning objectives. The course
syllabus also includes a description of how student learning will be assessed in the course. Faculty are
encouraged to use a variety of assessment methods to evaluate learning. These methods may include,
but are not limited to, quizzes and exams, assignments, projects, papers, presentations, and other
demonstration of competencies.

Academic programs assess their students at both the course-level and at the programmatic level.
Course-level assessment of individual students takes on a variety of forms including quizzes and exams,
papers, presentations, and projects. The Office of Institutional Research conducts periodic analysis for
success rates in all courses and provides a report to the Academic Dean. The Academic Dean will discuss
any course success rates of concern with the appropriate department. For example, the current pass
rate for Accounting | is 62%. The Business Department is tasked with developing a plan of action to
improve student success in this gateway course.

Top 25 Enrolled AY1112-Fall 1617: Percent UNSUCCESSFUL Completion

Unsuccessful
Enrollment Completion Course
Ranking Ranking Code AY1112 AY1213 AY1314 AY1415 AY1516 AY1617 Total
16 1| ACC111 41% 43% 53% 45% 42% 42% 44%
2 2 | ENG 101 38% 44% 37% 33% 34% 33% 37%
7 3| CPT117 36% 32% 34% 31% 28% 48% 34%
1 4 | PSY101 34% 38% 32% 29% 27% 34% 32%
5 5| BIO213 39% 29% 29% 25% 28% 31% 30%
ACC111
>C <C-

Faculty Seated = (96) 55% 45%

Online (N=160) 48% | 53%

Hybrid (N=0) 0% 0%

Total Faculty N= 256 50% 50%

Ad Junct Seated (N=270) 67% 33%

Online (N=166) 48% | 52%

Hybrid (N=0) 0% 0%
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Total Ad Junct N= 436 60% 40%
Total Seated (N=366) 64% 36%
Online (N=326) 48% 52%
Hybrid (N=0) 0% 0%
Total N=692 56% 44%

Fall 2016 Success Rates by Ethnicity

(A+B+C grades/A+B+C+D+F+W grades

Course Course Title Success | Asian Black | Hispanic | Native | Unknown | White

Number Rate American

ACC111 Principles of 62% 0% 50% 64%
Accounting |

Program-level outcomes are measured in a variety of ways including: national board or licensure exams,
competency-based testing, and employment. In addition, program faculty may solicit feedback from
area employers and alumni advisory boards. Program Advisory Committees (PAC) periodically review
program-level student and graduate information and when appropriate, make recommendations for
program improvement. The process is reflected in the PAC agendas and minutes. Individual PAC
members and area employers may provide qualitative feedback to inform program faculty about
student and graduate performance in the workplace. This PAC member feedback may include
identifying additional technical skills required for a specific profession or it may address the need for
improving employee “soft skills” such as interpersonal communication.

Programs that have national accreditation participate in periodic self-studies, providing an opportunity
for a comprehensive assessment of the program’s effectiveness:

Program Graduate Percent
KVCC Percent Licensure Employed in Median
Program Accrediting Body Completion Passage Field (2014- Annual
(2014 Cohort) (AY2016- 2016 Salary
2017) graduates)*
Occupational Accreditation Council for 94%
Therapy Occupational Therapy Education 93% 82% $51,097
Assistant (ACOTE)
Medical Commi.ssion on Accredit?tion of 63%
Assisting Allied Health Education 100% 88% $28,155
Programs (CAAHEP)
Nursing Accreditati(?n C.ommis'sion for 83% 94% 82% $51,097
Education in Nursing
Commission on Accreditation 52%
Health for Health Information and
Information . 100% 50% $33,369
Management Informathn Management
Education (CAHIM)
Radiological Joint Rev'iew.Comn?ittee. on 80%
Technology Education in Radiologic 83% 83% $41,190
Technology (JRCERT)

77



Physical Commission on Accreditation in 90%
Therapist Physical Therapy Education 100% 88% $51,097
Assistant (CAPTE)
Commission on Accreditation of 72%
Paramedic Allied Health Programs Not Available 100% $38,583
(CAAHEP)

*Data collected from the KVCC Graduate Survey. Percent working in the field is based on the percent of responses working in
field of study.

The MCCS educational policy board program review includes cohort data for five years including
graduation, retention, and transfer rates. Program strengths and challenges are also discussed as well as
plans for continuous improvement. The table below is an example of the General Science 2014 cohort
reporting (November 2017) that was submitted to the MCCS educational policy board.

Cohort of Fall 2014/Spring 2015: Number of students accepted and enrolled as of October 15, 2014 396
Cohort Graduated Transferred Matrlculated/ enrolled Matrlfulated/ enrolled Not attending this
status in the same program | in a different program term
as of:

Number | Percentage | Number | Percentage| Number | Percentage| Number | Percentage| Number | Percentage

10/15/15 12 3 44 11 110 28 120 30 110 28

10/15/16 33 8 59 15 34 9 130 33 140 35

The MCCS review is not a complete picture of what is happening within a program. To fill this gap, the
Institutional Assessment Committee (IAC) developed and approved an internal program review process
in 2007. The purpose of the self-study was to inform program faculty, advisory board members,
administration, and the college community about individual program educational effectiveness. The
Academic Dean requested that the IAC hold off on the implementation of the program review because
of upcoming changes to the MCCS program review process. The College has not implemented the
internal program review process proposed in 2008.

The College offers a variety of concurrent and dual enrollment courses to high school students attending
26 local high schools. The number of students has increased from 946 in 2011-2012 academic year to
1,450 in the 2015-2016 academic year, representing a 53% increase. This number represents high school
students attending class at their high school, online, or on the College campus.

In April 2016, the MCCS adopted Policy 311, Dual and Concurrent Enrollment Programs, to establish
rules for dual and concurrent enrollment programs. Included in the policy are the requirements for
evaluating dual and concurrent enrollment programs. In spring 2017, KVCC’s department chairs piloted
the new evaluation tool and procedure. The concurrent enrollment evaluation tool and procedure
differed from the current adjunct evaluation tool and procedure. The concurrent enrollment process
was more detailed and presented a challenge for the chairs to complete. To comply with MCCS Policy
311, which states that concurrent enrollment faculty are to be viewed as adjunct faculty, the College will
be using the adjunct evaluation tool and procedure beginning in fall 2018.
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The College defines student success in terms of course-level success, retention, transfer, completion
(graduation), licensure passage rates, default and loan repayment rates, graduate satisfaction, and
employment rates (KVCC 2020, Fact Book) for traditional and non-traditional students attending courses
on campus and online. Assessment of student success and quantitative measures of success are
embedded in a comprehensive institutional assessment plan. Student success data is analyzed and
reported annually in the College Fact Book and on the College’s website. Below is an example of First-
Time Graduation and Transfer Rates at 150% used to examine student success (KVCC Factbook 2016-

First-Time. Full-Time Cohort First-Time. Part-Time Cohort
100%
100% 80%

80% 60%
60% 40%
40% 20%
20% I I I I 0%

0% Fall | Fall = Fall | Fall = Fall | Fall

Fall Fall Fall Fall Fall Fall 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Completed | 14% 4% 6% 5% 5% 5%
C | t d 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, .

omplete 28% | 27% | 14% | 25% | 15% | 27% still Enrolled  18% | 37%  31% 30%  32%  35%

1 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0,
Still Enrolled 23%  24% | 32%  27% 25% 32% = Transferred | 10% | 12% | 4% | 8% | 5% | 7%

MW Transferred 13% | 11%  15% 4% 9% 6%
WNolonger | oo/ 4790 59% 57% 57% 52%
m No Longer Enrolled  36%  37%  39% 44% 51% 35% Enrolled ° ° ° ° ° °

In the College’s Strategic Plan, KVCC seeks to maintain a 65% retention rate by fall 2020 (p 9). The
College also established goals for transfer rates to four-year institutions: 14% for students who have not
fully completed the program and 16% for KVCC graduates. Although more than half the undergraduates
in the nation are enrolled in community colleges, the three-year graduation rate is only 19.5%. In Maine,
that figure is 21.8%. When persistence, transfer, and graduation are factored in, the MCCS student
success rate increases to 55% for full- and part-time matriculated students. The 2015-2020 MCCS
Strategic Plan seeks to increase that rate to 65% for the entering fall 2019 cohort of matriculated
students and includes objectives and measures designed to make that goal a reality.

KVCC defines co-curricular activities as learning experiences that complement the academic curriculum.
The various student clubs or societies on campus provide co-curricular activities that are professionally
or interest focused. For example, the leadership society sponsored a series of webinars presented by
industry and national leaders in 2015-16. In spring 2017, the honors program students hosted a
reception to display their capstone projects and discuss their experience with the college community.
Although co-curricular activities occur, the College does not have stated goals for co-curricular learning.
The lack of goals will be addressed by the Student Committee in collaboration with the Academic

Committee in spring 2018.

KVCC uses a variety of methods and measures to understand the experiences and learning outcomes of
students. To measure the course-level experience, the College employs a course feedback form that
students complete each semester prior to the end of the course. This provides faculty with the student’s
perspective on their learning experience and accomplishment of the course outcomes. The feedback
form not only provides a scale to score each aspect of the student’s learning experience, but also the
opportunity to comment and provide qualitative feedback to the instructor.
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As part of the College’s Title 3 grant deliverables, KVCC participated in the Foundations of Excellence®
(FoE) with a focus on first year student and transfer student experience. KVCC was selected as one of 10
two-year colleges to provide leadership in the inaugural use of the foundational dimensions in 2005.
Course-level success data was analyzed through a variety of lenses such as full-time versus part-time
instruction, concurrent enrollment student performance, online and hybrid versus live seated class
performance, etc. Based on the work conducted, the workgroups identified the need to have ongoing
reports on successful completions at a course level. The workgroup identified courses in both the gen
eds and core areas that had a 40-50% failure rate (C or below). The workgroup summarized that
programs needed an increased understanding on modality of courses in conjunction with the sequence
of coursing within a degree area.

The College administers several national surveys to the student body, including the Community College
Survey for Student Engagement (CCSSE) and the Noel-Levitz Student Satisfaction Inventory (SSl). The
CCSSE survey serves as a:

e Benchmarking tool - establishing national norms on educational practice and performance by
community and technical colleges.

e Diagnostic tool - identifying areas in which a college can enhance students’ educational
experiences.

e Monitoring device - documenting and improving institutional effectiveness over time.

The SSI survey measures student satisfaction with a variety of services that impact student retention and
success. Students are asked to rate the priority as well as the importance of each service, for example
academic advising. The survey assesses how successful the College is in meeting student expectations.

The CCSSE is administered on average every two years, alternating with the Noel-Levitz SSI survey. Both
tools provide an opportunity for the College to compare results with other colleges within the MCCS and
with similar colleges nationwide.

To gather information from KVCC graduates, the College administers a graduate survey six months post
completion. The survey is administered both electronically and in hard copy by postal mail. The survey
link is sent to both the student’s home and KVCC email address on file. Return rates on graduate surveys
range institutionally from 25% to 30% each year. Standard 2 addresses a projection to revisit the
graduate survey and the use of wage data to improve the College’s assessment of student outcomes
post-completion.

APPRAISAL

Transfer, retention, and completion are critical outcomes to demonstrate student success. On average,
KVCC has the highest retention rate in the MCCS for first-time full-time students; however, retention
rates drop for part-time students. On average, 60% of the KVCC students are part-time, highlighting the
need to identify and deliver practices that will increase the retention of these students. The table below
shows KVCC retention rates compared to other community colleges in Maine and the National Average
for Two-Year public institutions for both First Time, Full-Time and First Time, Part-Time (*Source:
National Student Clearinghouse Research Center).
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Fall-to-Fall Retention: First Time, Full-Time Students

2015 | 2014 | 2013 | 2012 | 2011 | Average
Kennebec Valley Community College 67% | 57% | 68% | 57% | 67% 63%
Central Maine Community College 57% | 59% | 64% | 53% | 60% 59%
Eastern Maine Community College 69% | 62% | 60% | 59% | 55% 61%
Northern Maine Community College 59% | 54% | 56% | 66% | 59% 59%
York County Community College 60% | 61% | 63% | 52% | 54% 58%
Southern Maine Community College 55% | 56% | 55% | 56% | 54% 55%
Washington Community College 61% | 56% | 48% | 53% | 43% 52%
National Benchmark* 61% | 60% | 60% | 58% | 59% 60%

Fall-to-Fall Retention: First Time, Part-Time Students

2015 | 2014 | 2013 | 2012 | 2011 | Average
Kennebec Valley Community College 45% | 52% | 47% | 43% | 48% 47%
Central Maine Community College 41% | 47% | 48% | 51% | 69% 51%
Eastern Maine Community College 51% | 36% | 41% | 38% | 37% 41%
Northern Maine Community College 45% | 31% | 45% | 36% | 34% 38%
York County Community College 47% | 43% | 50% | 66% | 43% 50%
Southern Maine Community College 54% | 41% | 50% | 49% | 48% 48%
Washington Community College 62% 0% 0% 23% | 29% 23%
National Benchmark* 41% | 40% | 40% | 47% | 39% 41%

In 2016, the College completed its second round of FoE (first round completed in 2010). The work
completed included a recommendation to develop a Retention Mission to define retention, create a
retention mission statement, and describe the roles of faculty and staff in the retention initiative.
Although FoE evaluated first year and transfer students, the work completed by the institution in FOE
has fundamentals embedded to help all students succeed.

In 2017, the College became a member of Achieving the Dream (ATD). The purpose for the work is to
bring the institution together as one voice aligning the College’s academic and student affairs services
and building a culture of evidence to support student success initiatives that are scalable through the
use of the College’s data. Although this work is new to KVCC, the College will use the FoE action plan
from 2016 to inform the ATD work.

Graduation expectations reflect KVCC’s mission and are appropriate for the level and range of degrees
and certificates offered at the College. The mission and the graduate expectations are further supported
by the values and ideals expressed by the college community. Graduate expectations are measured at
both the institutional and programmatic level. A variety of methods are used to measure expectations
including essential learning outcome assessment, board and licensure success, graduate surveys,
transfer rate, and employment rate.
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Online learning has expanded since academic year 2012. In 2012, the College had 3,931 registrations for
online courses. In academic year 2016, this increased to 4,364, an increase of 11%. Online course
offerings increased from 228 in 2012 to 256 in 2016, an increase of 12%. The College knows little about
the student population enrolled exclusively in an online program or the performance of online
compared to seated courses. There is no formal assessment in place to measure the online program
student experience. Additionally, the College lacks course feedback questions to allow online students
to reflect on the online learning experience. In 2013 the Instructional Technology Committee introduced
minimum on-line standards which included required content and expectations regarding faculty
response time. The College has not established comprehensive standards in the online environment to
reflect best practices.

Analysis of concurrent and dual enrollment student data has improved. The students are coded
appropriately, so the population data is readily available for analysis and reporting. Course-level
feedback is available for concurrent enrollment courses beginning with the 2016-2017 academic year.
Access to this information will allow department chairs and faculty to monitor the courses offered at
high schools and the career and technical centers. Dual enrollment and concurrent enrollment student
success is measured by the percent of successful course completion. The success rate among dual and
concurrent enrolled high school students for all courses has ranged between 72-79% over the past five
years. In academic year 2016-2017, high school students had a completion rate of 83% in College English
compared to 66% for the College’s degree-seeking students. Off campus concurrent students had an
82% completion rate compared to those high school students on campus at 86%. Another example is
College Math. In 2016-2017, high school students had a completion rate of 82% compared to 84% for
the College’s degree-seeking students. Off campus concurrent students had an 81% completion rate
compared to those high school students on campus at 89%. Further high school student success analysis
should be performed to break out this cohort into concurrent, dual seated, and dual online cohorts.

The College is particularly interested in understanding the percentage of students attending KVCC upon
graduation from the high school. No information on projected high school graduation data is collected
from high school students. The College will begin collection projected high school graduation data upon
application to better understand the actual conversion rate of students enrolled in concurrent or dual
enrollment courses into KVCC degree-seeking programs.

An area of concern identified in the 2008 self-study was the lack of a plan to assess the general
education learning outcomes at the institutional-level. In response, the general education faculty in
some of the departments began to work on common assessments, focused on the high-enrolled general
education courses. Mentioned in the fifth-year interim report, the common assessment strategy
provided course-level data for the individual departments, but the College still lacked a systemic plan to
evaluate general education outcomes. The lack of a comprehensive plan prevented the College from
measuring the development of students with reference to the Essential Learning Outcomes (ELOs) as
they progressed through the program.

In 2012, a team of general education faculty and department chairs formed the General Education
Council (GEC) to assist the Academic Dean with the development and implementation of an assessment
plan for general education. In 2013, the Academic Dean appointed a steering committee composed of
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several of the GEC members and faculty representing all other academic departments. The steering
committee proposed a set of ELOs to measure characteristics of an educated person. The outcomes
include written communication, oral communication, teamwork, quantitative literacy, problem solving,
and critical thinking. The Faculty Senate voted to approve the ELOs in 2014.

Following the establishment of the ELOs, the GEC members mapped each ELO to the appropriate 100-
level general education courses that would assess student proficiency early in their college career. In
2015, the program coordinators were asked to map the ELOs to program courses. To date, seven
programs have completed the map. Mapping is still in progress for the remaining programs. In academic
year 2015-16, general education faculty collaborated with program faculty to develop AACU’s VALUE-
based rubrics for the assessment of the ELOs. The assessment team for each ELO participated in a
norming session to establish inter-rater reliability and to evaluate the rubrics in Spring 2017 for the
writing domain.

A linear regression analysis was conducted to describe the linear prediction between the Accuplacer
scores and outcomes (student grade) to determine a predicted Accuplacer score that would resultina C
or better grade with 95% confidence interval. Results indicated a strong correlation between the math
and/or reading scores and course success. In 2013, a minimum Accuplacer reading score requirement
was added as a prerequisite to enrollment in Anatomy and Physiology. Students who perform below the
minimum reading score may enroll in the course once they have successfully completed one of the
following options: retake Accuplacer and score above the minimum, successfully complete a 100-level
laboratory science, or participate in a one-day workshop called Learning Excellence in Anatomy and
Physiology (LEAP). Of the 123 who completed LEAP, 97 completed Anatomy and Physiology successfully.

With the addition of a science faculty member in fall 2012, the department was also able to introduce
recitation to each section of Anatomy and Physiology I. Recitation sections provide an opportunity for
reinforcement of lecture and lab concepts and one-on-one instruction. Over the five-year period, the
College observed a significant increase in student success in Anatomy and Physiology |, increasing from
60% in 2011 to 75% in 2016.

For programs that require licensure and credentialing, exam results are reported annually. The pass
rates are compared to the pass rate of comparable programs located in Maine, in the New England
region, and nationwide. As part of Strategic Plan, the College is committed to maintaining a minimum
success rate of 93% on certifications or licensure exams that are required for employment.

In AY2015-16, four programs met the 93% credential exam pass-rate benchmark established in the KVCC
2020 strategic plan: Electrical Technology, Health Information Technology, Medical Assisting, and
Respiratory Therapy. Several programs with credentialing exams reported a decrease in pass rates in the
AY2015-16 academic year, falling short of the 93% benchmark (Fact Book 2015-2016 p 49). To address
this, the program faculty monitor the pass rate for each cohort, identify possible areas of weakness, and
create an action plan to improve performance. For example, the Radiologic Technology (RAD) graduates
pass rate decreased significantly from 100% to 63% on the 2015-16 exam. The Radiologic Technology
faculty analyzed student performance in the different sections of the board exam and noticed that the
RAD graduates were not scoring well on the imaging production section of the exam. They responded by
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assigning responsibility for this portion of the curriculum to a full-time faculty member and changing the
semester in which the course is offered. They will continue to monitor student performance on the
credentialing exam and adjust the curriculum as necessary to support student success.

In some instances, the College has not been able to access the credentialing exam results. For example,
there has been no data collected for the Emergency Medical Technology program’s Advanced
Emergency Care or Paramedic Certificates licensure pass rates for the past two or three academic years.
The program has lacked a full-time program faculty member. However, the College anticipates better
reporting in the upcoming 2017 — 2018 academic year as a result of hiring a full-time EMS director/chair.

The College has not implemented an internal program review process since the 2008 site visit. Several
factors that contributed to the failure to implement the review process include the MCCS program
review changes, the change in institutional oversight, and appointment of four Academic Deans in a five-
year span.

For programs which do not have a national accreditation, MCCS policy requires that a program review
be conducted every five years by MCCS. Data such as enrollment, retention, transfer, and completion
and employment outcomes are provided by the Office of IR to the Academic Affairs Office for review by
MCCS. As an institution, the College’s retention and completion data are above the national average. For
three consecutive years, the College was nominated to Aspen’s Top 150 Community Colleges in the
nation. KVCC was the only community college in Maine recognized. The College is proud of these
achievements but also recognizes that further evaluation of data and activities at the program level is
needed to be able to speak to quality. Graduation percentages by program at the 150% completion time
are highest for the College’s capped programs (allied health, nursing, and trades and technology)
ranging from 50% to 75%. Completion rates for uncapped programs tend to be lower. This data will be
part of the internal review process and further analysis of successful course completion will be included
to assist in better understanding the courses that may be factors in not retaining students or completion
over 150%. It is also important to note that nearly two-thirds of KVCC students are part-time. Analysis
on completion for part-time, in addition to full-time, which includes a course level analysis will provide
information on sequencing of courses that may pose challenges to part-time students.

The results of the 2014 Noel Levitz SSI show that KVCC scored significantly higher than the national
community college cohort used for comparison. (Fact Book p 41). The SSI survey assesses how the
College is meeting student expectations of services and factors that impact student retention and
success. Performance gaps are determined by comparing the students rating of the importance of the
service versus their satisfaction. Performance gaps ranged from 0.31 to 0.75 for each of the indicators
included in the summary. The highest performance gap, 0.75, pertained to safety and security. The
College has responded to this gap by adding a full-time safety and security officer and additional part-
time staff, providing a greater security presence on both the Fairfield and Alfond campuses. The Officer
has also provided additional safety training to College faculty, staff, and students. The other notable gap
in performance was in academic advising, with a gap of 0.74. Reduction in full-time faculty and staff may
be contributing to this performance gap.
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The CCSSE survey identifies areas in which a college can enhance students’ educational experiences and
provides a benchmark for comparison. The 2016 CCSSE Benchmark scores were calculated in the
following areas: support for learners, active and collaborative learning, student effort, student faculty
interaction, and academic challenge. KVCC benchmark scores in each of the five areas of focus were
slightly lower than the benchmark scores of the comparison groups which included similar sized
community colleges and the 2016 CCSSE cohort, (Fact book 2015-2016 p 36-40). A committee will be
assigned responsibility for each of the five focus areas for discussion and planning to improve
institutional performance.

The 2015 Foundations of Excellence (FoE) self-study process allowed the College to revisit the nine
dimensions of FoE and evaluate performance. To gather data, two surveys were administered: a
faculty/staff survey and a student survey. Nine teams were established to gather evidence, evaluate
results, and make recommendations. The recommendations were published in the final dimension
report in spring 2016. The FoE participation provides an opportunity for KVCC to compare performance
with other colleges in the Carnegie Class and with all institutions. The study also provided much-needed
insight into our transfer bound students, which is particularly important with the increasing emphasis on
preparing the College’s graduates to transfer to four-year institutions.

In the 2016 FoE final report, the FOE committee concluded that although the College reports retention
rates, the institution lacks a clear and consistent definition of student retention. College administrators
have identified retention as an urgent priority. While the faculty and staff understand the importance of
enrollment numbers, the FOE committee identified the need for a unified institutional vision and
definition of retention. Without clear definition of retention along with the defined roles and
responsibilities of staff and faculty, the retention effort will not be as effective due to potential
confusion and duplication of efforts. There is a desire for the conversation to reflect an understanding of
evidence-based / educationally relevant strategies and philosophies, including benchmarks. Faculty
recognize academic advising and its important role in retention, however discussions uncovered a desire
for the process to be refined resulting in increased advisor/advisee contact.

The FoE committee identified high priority needs to improve service to first-year and transfer-bound
students. The overall evaluation of service to transfer-bound students was comparable to other
institutions. However, KVCC lags behind the other institutions in individual benchmark comparisons.
Two areas of concern for transfer-bound students include connections and active
encouragement/support which will require institutional attention.

The KVCC2020 Strategic Plan includes an enrollment objective to improve student retention, transfer,
and completion (p 9). The 2015 FoE survey indicated that 22.3% of the respondents had not discussed
future enrollment plans with a faculty or staff advisor. This gap in advising services may be contributing
to the students who do not persist and complete the degree and warrants attention. It also reinforces
the need to update the current academic advising model to better serve all students including the
transfer-bound student.
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Q017. Academic Advising - To what degree have faculty/staff advisors: Discussed your future

enrollment plans (e.g., stay, drop-out, transfer)?
Key Text N (%N)
(1) Not atall 13 (10%)

20% 57 7% (2) Slightly 16 (12.3%)
_ : (3) Moderately 26 (20%)

(4) High 38 (29.2%)
W % Responding Lor 2 % Responding 3 % Responding 4or 5 (5) Very high 37 (28.5%)
[I % Resp = 76.5 %
N = 130
Mean = 3.54
Std Dev = 1.29

In 2017, as part of an MCCS system-wide initiative to promote student retention and success, the
College joined the Achieving the Dream (ATD) network for community colleges. ATD institutions strive to
improve student success by “engaging in bold, holistic, sustainable institutional change”.
http://achievingthedream.org/about-us/our-approach .

To improve success results for all students, institutions must embrace a comprehensive approach and be
strong in the seven capacities identified in the ATD framework:

e leadership & Vision - The commitment and collaboration of the institution's leadership with respect
to student success and the clarity of the vision for desired change.

e Data & Technology - The institution's capacity to collect, access, analyze and use data to inform
decision, and to use powerful technology to support student success.

e FEquity - The commitment, capabilities, and experiences of an institution to equitably serve low-
income students, students of color and other at-risk student populations with respect to access,
success, and campus climate.

e Teaching & Learning - The commitment to engaging full-time and adjunct faculty in examinations of
pedagogy, meaningful professional development, and a central role for them as change agents
within the institution. Also, the college's commitment to advising, tutoring, and out-of-classroom
supports as well as restructuring developmental education to facilitate student learning and success.

e Engagement & Communication - The creation of strategic partnerships with key external
stakeholders, such as K-12, universities, employers and community-based organizations and internal
stakeholders across the institution to participate in the student success agenda and improvement of
student outcomes.

e Strategy & Planning - The alignment of the institution with the umbrella goal of student success and
the institution's process for translating the desired future into defined goals and objectives and
executing the actions to achieve them.
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e Policies & Practices - The institutional policies and practices that impact student success and the
processes for examining and aligning policies and practices to remove barriers and foster student
completion.

In October 2017, the college kicked off its Achieve the Dream activity. The inaugural activity provided
an opportunity for the college community to discuss current data surrounding retention, graduation
rates, and course success rates. Two ATD coaches, including a data coach, are assigned to guide the
college’s effort and will visit the campus again in February 2018. As KVCC participates in the ATD
initiative, the College will examine best practices and models for academic advising to determine how to
better serve students.

PROJECTIONS

e Establish a plan for collection, analysis, and publication for each Essential Learning Outcome.

o To support the ELO assessment plan, all full-time faculty will participate in a two-day
faculty development workshop focused on assessment, with particular emphasis on
assignment design. The College will employ the Charrette Model to evaluate
assignments, promoting interdisciplinary collaboration among the faculty. Faculty will
have the opportunity to consult with ELO assessment team members to ensure that the
student artifacts that the program selects for the institutional ELO assessment are
designed appropriately.

e Enhance the existing Internal Program Review to include a program profile developed in fall
2017.
o Internal Program Review will include successful completion at the course level,
retention, transfer, completion and rate of successful completion of credentialing
exams.

e Break out the High School cohort into concurrent, dual seated and dual online cohorts and
conduct further high school student success analysis in order to assure the integrity of the
offerings and collection of projected high school completion rates to determine conversion of
high school to KVCC degree program rate.

e Evaluate the number of students impacted by each student success initiative and determine the
potential scalability of each activity.

e Conduct ongoing analysis and reporting of online courses and online programs
o Track exclusive online students to understand the retention, completion and transfer
rates of these students compared to students completing program by mixed or seated
only modality
o Analyze differences in successful completion of courses by modality
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Develop an enrollment and retention strategy plan which includes:

o Use of automated reports, type of utilization, and findings.

o Use of the Institutional committee structure to embed admission and enrollment
findings into formal document to establish a model of informed recruitment.
Use of CCSSE and Noel-Levitz SSI data to align student needs with service delivery.
A consistent definition of “retention.”
The Achieving the Dream framework to align and integrate institutional student service
initiatives alongside academic programs.
Establish annual targets to meet strategic plan measures in Goal 1 [reference or define]
Amending KVCC2020 Strategic Plan as needed based on revised projections for the
enrollment strategy plan.

Address the role of advisors, how to use the early alert system effectively and the ways of

reaching students throughout the semester to keep them connected and engaged. This will be a
collaborative effort between Student Affairs and Academic Affairs.
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Standard 8: Educational Effectiveness
(Student Success and Progress Rates and Other Measures of Student Success)

Bachelor Cohort Entering

Associate Cohort Entering

Category of Student/Outcome Measutre

6 years ago

4 years ago

6 years ago |

4 years ago

First-time, Full-time Students 2010 cohort 2013 cohort
Degtee from original institution 30% 22%
Not graduated, still enrolled at original institution 0% 13%
Degtee from a different institution
Transferred to a different institution 18% 18%
Not graduated, never transferred, no longer enrolled 52% 47%
First-time, Part-time Students
Degtee from original institution 28% 16%
Not graduated, still enrolled at original institution 5% 17%
Degtee from a different institution
Transferred to a different institution 24% 11%
Not graduated, never transferred, no longer enrolled 43% 57%
Non-first-time, Full-time Students
Degree from original institution 46% 47%
Not graduated, still enrolled at original institution 3% 5%
Degtee from a different institution
Transferred to a different institution 24% 18%
Not graduated, never transferred, no longer enrolled 27% 30%
Non-first-time, Part-time Students
Degree from original institution 44% 30%
Not graduated, still enrolled at original institution 2% 13%
Degtee from a different institution
Transferred to a different institution 24% 16%
Not graduated, never transferred, no longer enrolled 29% 42%
Measures of Student Achievement and Success/Institutional Performance and Goals
3 Years 2 Years 1Year Next Year
Prior Prior Prior Current Year | Forward (goal)
2014 2015 2016 2017 FY2018 )

2

Success of students pursuing higher degrees (add more

rows as needed; add definitions/methodology in #1 below)

Transfer Rate Pre-Completion (%)

14

18

16

not avaialble

18

Other measures of student success and achievement, including success of graduates in pursuing mission-related paths (e.g.,

Peace Corps, public service, global citizenship, leadership, spiritual formation) and success of graduates in fields for which they
were not explicitly prepared (add more rows as needed; add definitions/methodology in #2 below)

Mission Related 2 2 No Collection 2 2
Transfer to 4 year school 41 23 No Collection 24 32
Obtain license/ certirication 49 41 No Collection 50 55

Definition and Methodology Explanations

Tranfer rate is for first-time full-time at 150%

Other measures of student success: Data collection through college's Senior Survey, administered to students in spring prior to graduation.

Survey was not administered in 2015. Question asked: My goal upon graduation

Revised April 2016
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2014-2016 Graduate Employment Data («vcc measure 1.2, pata

First Form: Standard 8 - Educational Effectiveness and Maine Community College System Goal 1,
Objective 2, Measure 1)

Number of Median
Valid i Annual
Surveys in Fi Earning
Mailed Lo Range
___--__
Advance Emergency Care 12 25% 100% 31631 33369 28155 33369
Advanced Emergency Care
(Certificate) 42 5% 100% 21898 21898 21898 21898
Paramedic (Certificate) 25 20% 100% 37540 38583 33369 38583
Health Information Technology 40 35% 50% 34263 33369 21898 51097
Medical Assisting 52 31% 88% 28453 28155 21898 51097
Phlebotomy (Certificate) 41 20% 63% 25652 28155 21898 28155
Nursing 111 53% 100% 51786 51097 43797 56311+
Occupational Therapy Assistant 43 40% 82% 46479 51097 33369 56311+
Physical Therapy Assistant 47 36% 88% 46995 51097 38583 56311+
Radiological Technology 35 34% 83% 43380 41190 38583 51097
Resplratory Therapy 43% 93% 48862 51097 38583 56311+
___--__
Cullnary Arts 8 38% 100% 31284 33369 21898 38583
Sustainable Agriculture 18% 50% 21898 21898 21898 21898
___--__
Applied Electronics & Computer
Technology 21 5% 100% b * % i
Electrical Lineworker Techology 75 20% 67% 46613 51097 33369 56311+
Electrical Technology 36 31% 91% 35663 35976 28155 51097
Electrical Technology (Certificate) 9 0% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Energy Services and Technology 36 25% 100% 33948 33369 33369 38583
Precision Machine Technology 27 26% 100% 38583 38583 28155 43797
Pulp & Paper Technology 24 50% 67% 50575 51097 38583 51097
Pulp & Paper Technology
(certificate) 5 0% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Welding (certificate) 20% 100% 47447 47447 43797 51097
Business - Accounting 24 46% 36% 33360 30762 21898 51097
Busmess Marketlng 37% 78% 33717 30762 21898 56311+
___--__
leeral Studles 24% 5% 33369 33369 33369 33369
___--__
General Smences 14% 25% 21898 21898 21898 21898
___--__
Autlsm Spectrum Disorder Studies 8 38% 100% 33022 38583 21898 38583
Early Childhood Education 50 26% 62% 26461 28155 21898 33369
Mental Health 46 22% 90% 23790 33369 28155 33369
Total 1046 30% 7%

***Response numbers too small to publicly reported
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Standard 8: Educational Effectiveness
(Graduate Programs, Distance Education, Off-Campus Locations)

Student Success Measures/
Prior Performance and Goals

3 Years
Prior

2 Years
Prior

1 Year
Prior

Current Year

Next Year
Forward

(goal)

| (AY1415)

(AY1516)

(AY 1617 )

(Fall 2017 )

(AY1819 )

Master's Programs (Add definitions/methodology in #1 below)

Retention rates first-to-second year
Graduation rates @ 150% time
Average time to degtee

Other measures, specify:

Doctoral Programs (Add definitions/methodology in #2 below)

Retention rates first-to-second year
Graduation rates @ 150% time
Average time to degtree

Other measures, specify:

First Professional Programs (Add definitions/methodology in #3 below)

Retention rates first-to-second year
Graduation rates @ 150% time
Average time to degree

Other measures, specify:

Distance Education (Add definitions/methodology in #4 below)

Course completion rates
Retention rates
Graduation rates

Other measures, specify:

74%

69%

7%

71%

73%

Branch Campus and Instructional Locations (Add definitions/methodology in #5 below)

Course completion rates
Retention rates
Graduation rates

Other measures, specify:

Definition and Methodology Explanations

online courses, seated courses on campus or by enrolling in a mix of online and seated.

* KVCC offers Business Marketing, Business Accounting, Computer Systems Integration, Eatly Childhood Education, Mental Health
(Certificate and Associate), Liberal Studies and General Science as an option for online enrollment. Each program of study offers 50%
or greater of its courses online, however, seated courses are also offered. Students have the option of completing the program by taking

while enrolled in a distance education program.

Course completion data is based on the programs offering 50% or more online options for program completion as listed in Data First
Form 3.2 Successful course completion is the percentage of students completing an online and/or hybrid course with a C or better

3

4

Revised April 2016
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STANDARD NINE
INTEGRITY, TRANSPARENCY, AND PUBLIC DISCLOSURE

The institution subscribes to and advocates high ethical standards in the management of its affairs
and in its dealings with students, prospective students, faculty, staff, its governing board, external
agencies and organizations, and the general public. Through its policies and practices, the institution
endeavors to exemplify the values it articulates in its mission and related statements. In presenting
the institution to students, prospective students, and other members of the public, the institutional
website provides information that is complete, accurate, timely, readily accessible, clear, and
sufficient for intended audiences to make informed decisions about the institution.

INTEGRITY - DESCRIPTION

Kennebec Valley Community College (KVCC) promotes high ethical standards in its day to day
operations, and in its interactions with all members of the campus community, as well as community
agencies, organizations, and the general public. Through the College’s policies, procedures, and
practices, KVCC strives to model the values that are delineated in the College’s mission, vision, values,
and ideals.

KVCC expects that members of its community act responsibly and with integrity. The College’s
administration promotes an atmosphere where issues of integrity can be openly considered. Members
of the campus community understand and assume responsibility in their pursuit of integrity. Integrity is
one of the values that is incorporated into the College’s expanded Mission Statement. The Mission
Statement was developed by the campus community to ensure that all College affairs are implemented
with integrity. A Code of Conduct for Employees has been in place since the last Commission on
Institutions of Higher Education (CIHE) visit. It is expected that the College community will commit to the
principles reflected in the Code of Conduct in all interactions. The College’s Governance Document
provides for the development and implementation of policies through a process that allows for the free
expression of views and treats all members with respect.

Truthfulness, clarity, and fairness characterize the institution’s relations with all of its constituencies.
The College’s Governance Document provides for a participatory process which includes all members of
the college community. This system assists in formulating college policies and provides input to the
President for informed decision making. There are policies in place to ensure academic honesty
including the awarding of credit and grading. Issues regarding conflict of interest and privacy rights are
addressed in the Code of Conduct for Employees. New employees are asked to sign the Code of
Conduct. The Maine Community College System (MCCS) Policy regarding conflict of interest is posted
throughout the campus. Educational and operational policies are published and readily available to all
employees, students, and the public. Policies and procedures are reviewed as needed by the relevant
staff and faculty. The College applies these policies equitably to all employees and students. Procedures
for dealing with concerns regarding academic honesty, privacy rights, and fairness among students,
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faculty, and staff are specified in the current Catalog, Student Handbook, institutional and system Policy
Manuals, and collective bargaining agreements.

The College is committed to full freedom in the presentation of knowledge and discussion in the
classroom. Political, religious, and other potentially controversial topics may be introduced as they
relate to course objectives.

KVCC abides by all legal requirements. The College receives its authority to grant the degrees it awards
from the Maine State Legislature. The College consistently and conscientiously operates within the
boundaries of its authority.

The College adheres to non-discriminatory policies and practices in recruitment, admissions,
employment, evaluation, disciplinary action, and advancement. The policies of KVCC address affirmative
action and equal employment opportunity in employment, sexual harassment, occupational safety and
health, and freedom of information. As a public institution of higher education, the College complies
with all applicable state and federal regulations. The College promotes an atmosphere which embraces
diversity, and consistently attempts to recruit faculty and staff from diverse applicant pools.
Employment opportunities are advertised within the campus community, throughout the MCCS and in
local and national publications.

The College manages its programs, operations, and responsibilities for students and interactions with
prospective students with honesty and integrity. Information provided is complete, accurate, accessible,
clear, and sufficient for students and the public to make informed decisions regarding the institution and
its educational programs and services. Faculty and staff are available to provide information and answer
guestions. The College publishes information on its website, in its catalog, and in various brochures and
handbooks.

The institution is responsible for all instructional and enrichment activities that it sponsors or which
carry its name. This includes all conferences, workshops, or other instructional activities that are
sponsored by the College. These activities are compatible with the College’s mission and the same
ethical standards apply to their management.

To ensure institutional integrity, KVCC has established and publicized clear policies and procedures for
the fair resolution of grievances brought by faculty, staff, or students. Students are encouraged to
discuss grades and other academic issues with faculty members and department chairpersons. The
Student Handbook and College Catalog outline an appeal process. The Student Code of Conduct guides
faculty and staff regarding the handling of student misconduct situations and related disciplinary
procedures. Faculty and staff are expected to maintain confidentiality in all issues related to student
privacy.

The College honors all collective bargaining agreements with the Maine Education Association (MEA)
and the Maine State Employees Association (MSEA) with the MCCS Board of Trustees. These agreements
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delineate grievance policies and procedures, evaluations, due process, and other rights of employees
and the College.

KVCC has consistently demonstrated honesty and integrity in its dealings with all accreditation bodies
including the CIHE. The campus community has worked diligently and collaboratively in striving for
compliance with the Commission’s standards, policies, and requests.

INTEGRITY - APPRAISAL

KVCC subscribes to and advocates for high ethical standards in the management of its affairs. Written
policies and procedures ensure fair and equitable dealings with all College constituents. The College
adheres to the ideals expressed in its mission, to principles of academic freedom, and to equitable and
non-discriminatory doctrines in its dealings with faculty, staff, and students. Appropriate procedures are
available for the resolution of grievances brought by faculty and staff.

The College does not currently have a formal, written process for a non-academic grievance process.
Currently students may contact Student Affairs and/or Academic Affairs for a case by case resolution.
However, the College recognizes the need to have a formal process for filing, and guidelines for
resolving, matters related to non-academic grievances.

The College continues to use a variety of methods in curriculum development and co-curricular activities
to foster an atmosphere within the campus that respects and supports people of diverse characteristics
and backgrounds.

The adoption of the Employee Code of Conduct exemplifies the commitment of the College that its
members of the community must act responsibly and with integrity.

To assure that the College’s policies are updated and maintained, KVCC is currently working to create an
ongoing process for the review of college policies, to include the review and proposal of edits to
Leadership for approval.

TRANSPARENCY - DESCRIPTION

Information is published and accessible on the College’s website to allow students and prospective
students to make decisions about their education. The Office of Admissions provides prospective
students a step-by-step process for application complete with financial aid information and program-
specific admissions requirements. The College Catalog, available in print and on the website, provides
information about college grading, academic appeals, and student code-of-conduct.

KVCC’s website has a public disclosure link that informs the public of how inquiries can be addressed. It
also includes the following information: recent audited financial statements, student outcomes, financial
aid and scholarship, health and safety, and right to privacy. Documentation to validate placement rates,
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graduation rates, and student learning is available to the public on the public disclosure page of the
website. The annual factbook that summarizes the College’s enrollment profile, trends in credit learning,
student engagement, and financial aid is available as well.

The College publishes a print catalog every two years and the website is updated to reflect any changes
that occur in between printing cycles such as academic program changes or course offerings. Course
catalogs are available back to 2009 on the website. Earlier print editions are maintained by the Office of
Student Records and by the Learning Commons library staff.

TRANSPARENCY - APPRAISAL

The College is transitioning to a new format for the website. As part of this transition, the College will
need to review both the digital and print versions of catalogues, brochures, and documents to assure
consistency. In addition, the College will need to assess the website to assure ADA compliance.

The public disclosure page of the KVCC website needs to be updated to include the most recent audited
financial statement.

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE - DESCRIPTION

KVCC provides information that is complete, accurate, accessible, clear, and sufficient for intended
audiences to make informed decisions about the institution. The information on the website is sufficient
to allow students and prospective students to make informed decisions about their education. The
institution publishes its mission, objectives, and educational outcomes; requirements and procedures
and policies related to admissions and the transfer of credit; student fees, charges and refund policies;
rules and regulations for student conduct; other items related to attending or withdrawing from the
institution; academic programs, courses currently offered, and other available educational
opportunities; and academic policies and procedures and the requirements for degrees or other forms
of academic recognition on its website. This information can also be found in the catalog, department
brochures, the Student Handbook, and the College profile published each semester.

The institution is responsive to requests for information. The procedure for requesting information is
published on the website. As requests are received, appropriate faculty and staff provide materials. The
President responds to media representatives as requested.

The College’s catalog and website present information regarding admissions. Attendance requirements
are found on individual course syllabi and other program materials.

A list of current faculty can be found in the Course Catalog and on the website. Departmental or
program affiliation are indicated as well as full or part-time status and degrees held and institutions
granting them. Administrators, their names and titles, as well as names of members of the governing
board and their affiliations are also published there.
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The College publishes information regarding its program offerings at off-campus sites. Descriptions of
programs, courses, and services available are provided. Also, published yearly, are descriptions of the
size and characteristics of the student body in Profile Sheets. Student academic and support services are
published in the catalog and in the Student Handbook.

Academic and other learning and support services, as well as non-academic opportunities are described
in the College Catalog, Student Handbook, and on the website. A description of the campus setting and
physical resources appears limited to the College map found on the website.

Goals for students’ education are published by program in the catalog and on the website. Placement
rates for graduates, retention, and graduation rates for are found on the public disclosure page of the
website.

The general tuition and fee structures are available in the catalog and on the website. Specific program
cost sheets are available to students from the Business Office. Financial aid information is found in the
catalog, on the website, and in the Student Handbook.

The College’s statements regarding its current accredited status are accurate and explicitly worded. The
accredited status of individual programs is also published. These statements are found in the catalog
and on the website.

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE - APPRAISAL

The College provides in-depth, clear and accurate information to students and the public for them to
make informed decisions about the institution. This information is found in a variety of sources. A
process for requesting information is available.

While there is information published regarding withdrawal from courses, there is no information
provided regarding withdrawal from the institution.

The College does not publish a listing of programs, courses, services, and personnel not available during
a given academic year. Courses not taught for two consecutive years are not included in College
publications.

PROJECTIONS

Integrity
e Create a formal, written process for filing and resolving non-academic grievances.
e (Create an ongoing process for the review of college policies to include the review and proposal
of edits to the Leadership Team for approval.
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Transparency
e Assess the College’s website to assure ADA compliance.
e Update the public disclosure page of the College’s website to include the most recent audited
financial statements.

Review the digital and print version of the College’s catalogues, brochures, and documents to
assure consistency.

Public Disclosure

e Provide and publish information regarding withdrawal from the institution.
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APPENDIX



INF COMMISSION ON INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER EDUCATION
— \ NEW ENGLAND ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOLS AND COLLEGES

S C 3 Burlington Woods, Suite 100, Burlington, MA 01803-4514

-/ Voice: (781) 425 7785 Fax: (781) 425 1001 Web: https://cihe.neasc.org

AFFIRMATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL REGULATIONS RELATING TO TITLE IV

Periodically, member institutions are asked to affirm their compliance with federal requirements relating to Title IV
program participation, including relevant requirements of the Higher Education Opportunity Act.

1. Credit Hour: Federal regulation defines a credit hour as an amount of work represented in intended leamning outcomes and
verified by evidence of student achievement that is an institutional established equivalence that reasonably approximates not less
than: (1) One hour of classroom or direct faculty instruction and a minimum of two hours of out of class student work each week for
approximately fifleen weeks for one semester or trimester hour of credit, or ten to twelve weeks for ane quarter hour of credit, or the
equivalent amount of work over a different amount of time; or (2} At least an equivalent amount of work as required in paragraph (1)
of this definition for other academic activities as established by the institution including laboratory work, internships, practica, studio
work. and other academic work leading to the award of credit hours. (CIHE Policy 111. See also Standards for Accreditation 4.34.)

| http:/mymces.me.edu/ICS/icsfs/policy _301.pdf?target=7f170972-
URL 6ac1-4321-973f-8d52159cdb2e

Print Publications
Self-study/Interim Pg. 32
Report Page
Reference

2. Credit Transfer Policies. The institution’s policy on transfer of credit is publicly disclosed through its website and other
relevant publications. The institution includes a statement of its eriteria for transfer of credit earned at another institution of higher
education along with a list of institutions with which it has articulation agreements. (CIHE Policy 95. See also Standards for
Accreditation 4.38, 439 and 9.19,)

http:/'www.kvee.me.edu/CMSContent/Policies/Policy2.05.pdf
http:/'www kvee.me.edu/pages/eeneral/academic-info-
articulation-agreements

URL

http://www.kvee.me.edu/CMSContent/Documents/Catalogs/20 1 4-
Print Publications | 2016%20Catalog.pdf

Self-study/Interim Pg 31,33
Repon Page
Reference

3. Student Complaints. “Policies on student rights and responsibilities, including grievance procedures, are clearly stated, well
publicized and readily available, and fairly and consistently administered.” (Standards for Accreditation 5.18, 9.8, and 9.19.)

hitp://www.kvee.me.edu'CMSContent/Policies/Policy2.03.pdf
URL hitp://www.kvee.me.edu/ CMSContent/Policies/Policy2.16.pdf

http://www . kvee.me.edu/CMSContent/Documents/Catalogs/2014-
Print Publications | 2016%20Catalog.pdf

Self-study Interim Pg. 31
Report Page
Reference

March, 2016



4. Distance and Correspondence Education: Verification of Student Identity: I the institution offers distance
education or correspondence education, it has processes in place to establish that the student who registers in a distance education or
correspondence education course or program is the same student who participates in and completes the program and receives the
academic credit. . . .The institution protects student privacy and notifies students at the time of registration or enrollment of any
projected additional student charges associated with the verification of student identity, ({CIHE Policy 95. See also Standards for

Accreditation 448

Method(s) used for verification

Log-in information provided to student is unique to
student

Self-study/[nterim Report Page Reference

Pg. 82

5. FOR COMPREHENSIVE EVALUATIONS ONLY: Public Notification of an Evaluation Visit and

Opportunity for Public Comment: The institution has made an appropriate and timely effort to notify the public of an
upcoming comprehensive evaluation and to selicit comments. (CIHE Policy 77.)

URL

Print Publications

Self-study Page Reference

The undersigned affirms that Kennebec Valley Community College meets the above federal requirements relating

to Title IV program participation, including those enumerated above.

Chief Executive Officer; TN e W Rt Date: 2/1/18

March, 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Board of Trustees
Maine Community College System

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely-
presented component units, and the fiduciary fund of the Maine Community College System (the System), a
component unit of the State of Maine, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2018, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Systern's basic financial statements, as listed in
the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with L.S. generally accepted accounting principles, this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error,

Auditor's Responsibifity

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based onh our audits. We did not audit the
financial statements of certain foundations within the aggregate discretely-presented component units, which
statements reflect total assets constituting 55%, and revenue constituting 54%, of the related totals. Those
statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion on the
aggregate discretely-presented component units, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for these certain
foundations, is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. We conducted our audits in accordance with
U.8. generally accepted auditing standards and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. The financial statements of the aggregate discretely-presented component units
noted above were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions

Opinicn

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present farrly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely-presented component units, and the fiduciary fund of the System as of June 30, 2017 and
2018, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicatle, cash flows thereof for the years
then ended in accordanca with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Bangor ME # Portland ME & Manchester NH & Charleston WV & Phoemx AZ
berrydunn com



Board of Trustees
Maine Community College System

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

LS. generally accepted accounting principles require that Management's Discussion and Analysis and the
information listed under Required Supplementary Information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements,
is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) who considers it to be an essential part of
financial reperting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, and/or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards, which consisted of inquiries of management about
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of
the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance,

Supplementary Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the System's basic financial statements. The Schedule of Activities, as listed in the table of contents, is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. The
Schedule of Activities is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing the reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. In our opinion,
the Schedule of Activities is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a
whole.

Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited the System's June 30, 2016 financial statements, and we expressed
unmodified opinions on those audited financial statements in our report dated October 14, 2016. In our
opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein for the year ended June 30, 2016 is
consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been
derived.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Audifing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 16, 2017 on
our consideration of the System's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the System’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

8.’/%8 Dicnn McHecl § Fourder,, Lo

Portland, Maine
October 16, 2017



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

Introduction

The following report is Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the financial results for the
year ended June 30, 2017, with comparative information for the prior two years. The MD&A should be
read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes that are presented with this report.
The MD&A is unaudited supplemental information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board {GASB). The purpose of the MD&A is to enhance the understandability and usefulness of the
financial statements by providing an objective analysis of the financial activities based on currently known
facts, decisions, and conditions. The financial statements, footnotes, and MD&A are management’s
responsibility.

General Information about the Maine Community College System

The history of Maine's community colleges dates to 1946 and the creation of the Maine Vocational
Technical Institute within the Maine Department of Education. During the 1960s, five more vocational
technical institutes were created, and in 1886 the Maine Vocational Technical Institute System was
established as a quasi-governmental erganization and autonomous public instrumentality. In 1989 the
name was changed to the Maine Technical College System. A seventh college was added in 1994, and
on July 1, 2003, the Legislature expanded the System’s mission and changed its name to the Maine
Community College System (MCCS or the System).

MCCS offers nearly 300 one- and two-year program options in health care, computers, automotive
technology, construction, early childhood education, electrical & electronics, engineering technology,
public safety, hospitality, business, metals manufacturing, liberal studies, and many others.

The seven-college system consists of Central Maine Community College in Auburn (CMCC), Eastern
Maine Community College in Bangor (EMCC), Kennebec Valley Community College in Fairfield and
Hinckley (KVCC), Northern Maine Community College in Presque Isle (NMCC), Southern Maine
Community College in South Portland and Brunswick (SMCC), Washington County Community College
in Calais (WCCC), and York County Community College in Wells (YCCC). Off-campus centers are
iocated in East Millinocket, Ellsworth, South Paris, Damariscotta, Sanford and Houlton. The System's
central office, located in Augusta, Maine, was established by legislation to provide statewide coordination
and leadership to the seven colleges.

The System also operates two state-wide programs; Early College for ME (ECforME) and the Maine
Quality Centers (MQC). ECforME is a comprehensive high school-to-college transition program coffered
in partnership with secondary schools throughout the state. ECforME provides selected students with
scholarships to community colleges, access to college courses to seniors in high school, and advising
and support throughout a student's high school and community college experience. The MQC program
is an economic development program established by the Legislature in 1994. The program provides
customized workforce training grants for Maine employers seeking to locate or expand their operations
in Maine or who are interested in providing training to their incumbent workers. The training is coordinated
and delivered by the seven community colleges.



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Compaonent Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

Using the Financial Statements

In addition to this MD&A, the System’s financial report includes a Statement of Net Position; Statement
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and a Statement of Cash Flows, together with
related footnotes. These financial statements are presented in accordance with GASB principles, which
establish the standard for external financial reporting for public colleges and universities. The GASB
standards require that the financial statements focus on the System as a whole.

In order to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the resources supporting the mission of the
MCCS, the GASB also requires that the MCCS report on the assets, liabilities, and activities of
organizations that are not owned or managed by the MCCS but that exist for the sole purpose of
benefiting the System or its colleges. Accordingly, these financial statements include a Balance Sheet
and Statement of Activity for the Maine Community College Educational Foundations (MCCEF) and a
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and a Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Pasition for the Maine
Community College System Other Post-Employment Benefit Trust (MCCS OPEB Trust ar Trust). The
MCCEF includes six foundations established to support individual colleges and their students. 1t also
includes The Foundation for Maine’s Community Colleges which was established in November of 2009
to provide broad based support to all seven of the state’s community colleges. The MCCS OPEB Trust
was established under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code as an irrevocable trust to manage the
assets contributed by the System to fund its long-term obligation to pay the health care and life insurance
benefit costs for certain employees after their retirement.

The Statement of Net Position depicts the financial position of the Maine Communify College System as
of June 30, 2017, with comparative data from June 30, 2016, and includes all of the assets and liabilities,
deferred inflows and deferred outflows of the System. Assets represent what the System owns plus what
is owed to MCCS. Liabilities constitute obligations to make payment to others plus what the System has
collected in advance of providing the related services. Net position represents the residual interest in the
MCCS assets after liabilities are deducted, net of deferred inflows and outflows, and the positive or
negative change in net position over time is an indicator of the relative financial health of the System.
The net position is divided into three primary categories:

Net investment in capital assets, represent the land, buildings and equipment that the System has
acquired over its life and still uses. Net capital assets are presented after deductions for accumulated
depreciation and the outstanding debt incurred to acquire or construct them. This category includes
deposits held with bond trustee to service outstanding debt.

Restricted net position has inherent limitations and can only be expended for the purposes stipulated
by the individual, institution, or governmental unit that directed the resources to the Systemn. Restricted
expendable net position is available to be used for the intended purpose while nonexpendable assets
are invested in perpetuity, and the investrment income is used for the intended purpose.

Unrestricted net position is available for general operations of the System and for dedicated purposes
such as capital projects for renewal and replacement, Maine Quality Center training initiatives, and
working capital maintained for departmental and auxiliary enterprise activities. While there are no
external constraints on unrestricted net position, MCCS has set aside certain unrestricted net position
for future use.



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents the operating, non-
operating and other activities of the System for the full fiscal year which runs from July 1%t to June 30%
Two years of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position are presented for comparative purposes
This statement matches the amounts received from tuition, State appropriations, residential life fees,
grants, and services and other items of income against all the costs and outlays incurred in order to
operate the System. The costs incurred consist of salaries and benefits, supplies and overhead
expenses, insurances, utilities, and depreciation. The expenses are categorized according to the activity
that generated the cost.

The Statement of Cash Flows examines the changes in cash position resulting from a year of operations.
Cash flows are separated by the nature of the activity and include operating activities, noncapital
financing, capital and related financing activities, and investing activities.

Operating activities involve activities relating to the delivery of education and related services. Comman
examples of cash flows provided by operating activities include tuition, fees, grants, and bookstore and
food service sales. Cash flows used in operating activities include payments to employees, vendors, and
suppliers.

Noncapital financing activities include appropriations from state government, noncapital grants, and gifts

Capital and related financing activities include those activities relating to the generation and repayment
of funds provided by and paid to lenders as well as grants for acquisition of capital assets.

Investing activities include funds used to purchase marketable securities and funds provided from the
sale of marketable securities.

Highlights and Trends Impacting Financial Results

As a publicly funded institution of higher education, MCCS receives appropriations from the State of
Maine partially subsidizing the cost of attendance at one of the seven community colleges. In 2017 State
appropriations increased $3.8 million, or 6.1 percent. The rate of increase Is parbally in recognition of a
historic imbalance in public funding and partially in response to employer's needs to increase the skills
of the current workforce. MCCS educates 36 percent of students attending public higher education
institutions in Maine, but receives 23 percent of the public expenditure for higher education

Enroliment was 17,311 in the fall 2016 (fiscal 2017) Student Headzount
compared to 17,464 in the fall of 2015, a decrease of 0.9 2w ) :
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

improved employment opportunities. Since its peak in 2007-08, the number of students graduating from
Maine high schools has declined approximately 2,100 students, approximately 14 percent. After peaking in
2010, the unemployment rate in Maine has decreased from 8.3 percent to 3.7 percent. Recent high school
graduates and unemployed workers are important pools of potential students for community colieges.

MCCS was also a recipient of a significant Federal grant. The Trade Adjustment Assistance Community
College and Career Training (TAACCCT) Grants provided funding for Maine's seven community colleges to
address the critical and growing need for skilled information technology workers across many industries
Awarded over four years and totaling $13 million, CMCC served as the lead institution for MCCS's seven-
college consortium.

MCCS implemented GASB Statement No. 68 (GASB 68) in 2015. GASB 68 requires MCCS to report the
System’s proportionate share of the State’s net pension liability. MCCS's proportionate share of the State's
net pension liability as of June 30, 2017 was $66.7 million and the System incurred expenses related to
retirement benefits of $1.7 million — down significantly from the 2016 impact of $9.0 million. The impact of
GASB 68 results from a change in accounting for pension benefits administered by the Maine Public
Employees Retirement System (MainePERS), not a change resulting from operations. MCCS is not directly
responsible for the payment of retirement pensions earned by employees who are members of MainePERS

College Results and Combined Operating Results

Maine's seven community colleges serve very different
regions of the state. The different locations face very different
demographic conditions in their local communities and, as a
result, it is difficult to compare the results of operations

between the colleges NCC)

In addition, MCCS 1s quasi-centralized. The System Office
provides certain services to all the colleges and administers
a pool of expenses that cannot be effectively allocated to the
colleges.

Central services. for which the colleges are not charged or
allocated fees include legal, certain human resource weee

Calals

functions, and some information technology services. The
colleges manage their own budgets based on guidance from
the System Office. but cash and investments are managed
centrally. Tuition is set by the Board of Trustees as a rate per
credit hour

The colleges are responsible for responding to their
community's business and enroliment needs. They also
respond to grant opportunities based on the needs of the
individual college

The 2017 and 2016 statements of revenues, expenses, and
changes in net position for the individual colleges are as
follows:




MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Compenent Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

Year ended June 30, 2017 All
(in miftions) CMCC EMCC KVCC NMCC SMCC WCCC YCCC Colleges
Student tuition and fees $67 $65 $53 $22 $156 $ 13 $ 33 §$ 409
Residential life 2.4 1.7 0.1 0.9 4.5 06 - 10.2
Less: scholarships (7.0) (6.0 _(4.8) 2.1y (10.7) (1.3) (2.7) (34.6)
Tuition and residential iife 2.1 2.2 0.6 1.0 9.4 0.6 0.6 16.5
Federal grants and contracts 8.3 5.6 56 2.3 10.8 1.4 2.9 36.9
Grants and other revenue 4.2 2.3 1.5 1.4 7.3 0.7 1.3 18.7
Total operating revenues 14.6 10.1 7.7 4.7 27.5 2.7 4.8 72.1
Instruction 8.5 8.1 6.1 4.2 16.7 2.5 4.2 50.3
Public service - 0.1 - 0.1 0.5 0.2 - 0.9
Academic support 1.2 1.1 2.1 05 3.7 0.8 15 10.9
Student services 22 2.4 1.5 1.5 4.1 1.0 1.5 14.2
Institutional support 1.9 1.8 1.9 1.9 4.1 1.0 1.6 14.2
Operations & maintenance 1.6 2.2 1.5 1.7 5.0 1.1 v 13.8
Student aid 0.1 0.1 - 0.2 0.2 - - 0.6
Auxiliary enterprises 29 1.1 0.3 1.5 37 0.8 - 10.3
Depreciation 1.6 1.7 1.7 1.2 39 0.7 0.6 11.4
Total operating expenses 20.0 18.6 151 12.8 41.9 8.1 10.1 126.1
Operating loss (54) (85 (74 (8.1 (14.4) (5.4) (5.3) (54.5)
State appropriations 8.1 8.5 6.8 8.0 14.2 52 5.2 56.0
Gifts - 0.3 0.3 - - 086
Net investment income (loss) (0.1) - - - (0.2) 0.1 - {0.2)
Net nonoperating revenues 8.0 8.5 6.8 8.3 14.3 53 5.2 56.4
Income {loss) before other 2.6 - (0.8) 0.2 (0.1) 0.1y (0.1) 1.9
Capital grants and gifts - - - - - - 2.7 2.7
Appropriation for capital

assets - - (0.1) - - - 2.4 2.3
Inter-campus transfers 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.4 - 0.1 1.2
Total other revenue & gains 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 - 5.2 6.2
Change in net position 2.8 0.2 0.5) 0.3 0.3 (0.1) 5.1 9.1

Net position-beginning / year ~ 27.4 237 316 199 658 141 104 1929

Net position-end / year $30.2 $239 $311 %202 $66.1 $140 $155 $201.0



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Year ended June 30, 2017
(in miflions)

Student tuition and fees
Residential life

Less: scholarships

Net tuition and residential life

Federal grants and contracts
Grants and other revenue
Total operating revenues

Instruction

Public service

Academic support

Student services

Institutional support
Cperations & maintenance
Student aid

Auxiliary enterprises
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

State appropriations

Gifts

Net investment income (loss)
Net nonoperating revenues

Income (loss) before other
Capital grants and gifts
Appropriation for capital assets
Inter-campus transfers

Total other revenue, gains or (losses)

Change in net position
Net position-beginning / year

Net position-end / year

June 30, 2017

Al System- System
Colleges  wide Office
$ 40.9 $ - 3 -
10.2 - -
(34.6) (3.4) -
16.5 (3.4) -
36.9 - 0.1
18.7 2.2 0.5
72.1 (1.2) 0.6
50.3 - -
0.9 - -
10.9 - 1.2
14.2 - -
14.2 0.3 42
13.8 - -
0.8 - -
10.3 - -
11.4 - -
126.6 03 54
(54.5) (1.5) (4.8)
56.0 - 6.0
0.6 - -
(0.2) 4.0 -
56.4 4.0 6.0
1.9 25 1.2
27 - -
23 - -
1.2 (1.2) _ -
6.2 (1.2) -
8.1 1.3 13
192.9 27.7 86
$201.0 $29.0 $99

State's
UAAL




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Year ended June 30, 2016
(in millions)

Student tuition and fees
Residential life

Less: scholarships
Tuition and residential life

Federal grants and contracts
Grants and other revenue

Total operating revenues

Instruction

Public service

Academic support
Student services
Institutional support
Operations & maintenance
Student aid

Auxiliary enterprises
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

State appropriations

Gifts

Net investment loss

Net nonoperating revenues

Income {loss) before other

Capital grants and gifts

Appropriation for capital
assets
Inter-campus transfers

Total other revenue & gains

Change in net position
Net position-beginning / year

Net position-end / year

MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

June 30, 2017

All
CMCC EMCC KVCC NMCC SMCC WCCC YCCC Colleges
$§67 $ 64 $50 $22 $156 $ 1.3 § 34 $ 406
2.2 1.8 - 0.8 4.1 0.6 - 9.5
{(7.4) (5.9) {4.8) 2.3y (2.1 {1.4) {3.1) (37.0)
1.5 2.3 0.2 0.7 7.6 0.5 0.3 131
8.3 55 6.9 2.5 12.1 1.6 35 40.4
3.8 2.2 1.8 1.3 6.9 (.4 1.2 17.6
13.8 10.0 89 4.5 26.6 2.5 5.0 71.1
8.8 8.4 6.7 4.8 16.7 2.7 4.3 52.4
- 0.1 - - 04 0.1 - 0.6
1.2 1.0 2.1 05 3.4 0.8 1.6 10.6
2.0 2.0 1.3 14 4.0 0.9 1.3 12.9
2.3 1.9 1.9 1.8 4.2 0.9 1.5 145
1.7 24 1.3 16 50 1.0 0.6 136
0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 - - 0.6
2.6 1.0 0.2 14 3.4 0.6 - 9.2
1.5 1.7 1.7 1.1 3.8 0.8 0.7 11.3
20.2 18.6 15.3 12.7 41.1 7.8 10.0 125.7
66) (86) (64) (82) (145) (5.3) (5.0)  (54.6)
7.6 7.8 6.5 7.7 13.9 48 4.8 53.1
- - - 0.1 0.2 0.1 04
{0.3) {0.3) (0.1} - (.6) - (0.1 (1.4
7.3 7.5 6.4 7.8 13.5 48 4.8 52.1
0.7 (1.1) - (0.4) (1.0) (0.5) (0.2) (2.5)
- - 0.1 - 0.4 - - 0.5
2.0 0.7 0.5 0.4 1.0 08 54
01 - - - 0.1 - 0.1 _ 0.3
0.1 2.0 0.8 0.5 0.9 1.0 0.9 6.2
0.8 0.9 0.8 (0.1) 0.3 0.5 0.7 3.7
26.6 22.8 30.8 19.8 65.9 13.6 9.7 189.2
$27.4 $23.7 $31.6 $189 $658 $141 $104 $192.9



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Year ended June 30, 2016
(in miflions)

Student tuition and fees
Residential life

Less: scholarships

Net tuition and residential life

Federal grants and contracts
Grants and other revenue
Total operating revenues

Instruction

Public service

Academic support

Student services

Institutional support
Operations & maintenance
Student aid

Auxiliary enterprises
Depraciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Operating loss

State appropriations

Gifts

Net investment income

Net nonoperating revenues

Income (loss) before other
Capital grants and gifts
Appropriation for capital assets
Inter-campus transfers

Total other revenue, gains or (losses)

Change in net position
Net position-beginning / year

Net position-end / year

June 30, 2017

All System- System State's
Colleges wide Office UAAL MCCS
$ 406 $ - $ - $ - § 406

9.5 - - - 95

(37.0) (2.9) - - (39.9)

13.1 (2.9) - - 10.2

40.4 - 0.1 - 40.5

17.6 2.5 - - 20.1

71.1 {0.4) 0.1 - 70.8

52.4 - - 0.1 52.5

0.6 - - - 0.6

10.6 - 0.8 - 11.4

12.9 - - - 12.9

14.5 0.3 4.3 - 19.1

13.6 - 0.1 - 13.7

0.6 - - - 08
9.2 - . - 9.2

11.3 - 0.1 - 11.3

125.7 0.3 53 0.1 1314

(54.8) (0.7} (5.2) (0.1) (60.6)

53.1 - 53 - 58.4

0.4 - - - 0.4

(1.4) 0.2 - - {1.2)

52.1 0.2 0.1 - 57.6

(2.5) (0.5) 0.1 {0.1) (3.0}

0.5 - - - 0.5
54 - - - 5.4
0.3 {0.8) 0.5 - -
6.2 0.8) 0.5 - 5.9
37 1.3 0.6 (0.1 2.9

189.2 29.0 8.0 (61.7) 1645

$192.9 $27.7 $86 $(61.8) §$167.4



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

The colleges are not required to budget for depreciation expenses, but do budget for capital expenditures
funded through operations. As a result, each of the seven colleges ended 2017 with a surplus. With
approval from the System Office, the colleges can reserve a portion of the earned surplus for future
capital investrents (discussed below, in the section on Net Position), but the unobligated net position is
not available to the colieges for discretionary spending.

Colleges in more rural areas of Maine have lower enroliments and, therefore, earn less in student tuition
and fees, but the proportion of state appropriation tends to be higher.

YCCC completed construction on a new academic building in Wells and completed renovations on an
academic center in Sanford. Those projects were financed with a blend of state-issued bonds,
philanthropic support, and reserves held for investment in property, plant and equipment.

Economic Factors Affecting Maine’s Community Colleges

Driven by three factors — changes in societal norms, technology (especially in the workplace) and an
economy in demand of skilled labor, MCCS s directing its energy on the changing paradigms in
educational delivery.

The state is experiencing a decline in working age adults at a time when Maine employers are expressing
an unprecedented need for a well-trained, skilled workforce to expand their businesses. Without a more
highly skilled workforce, Maine’s economy will be unable to compete for jobs that will sustain its families
and communities.

Faced with these troubling realities. Maine's community colleges are focused on two fundamental
priorities: student success and workforce development

In response, the Maine Legislature appropriated increases of $2.2 million in each year of the biennium to
support ongoing operations plus $1.1 million in FY18 and an additional $1.2 million in FY19 to support
strategic initiatives related to occupational programming and statewide workforce development

(in millions) 2018 2019 b
2017 appropriation $620 §$ 62.0 I8 Bose Appropriatan
New fu nding for New funds for strategic inltiatives
Ongf)ing Operations 2 2 4 4 % New Funds for angolng operations
New funding for
strategic initiatives 1.1 23
New appropriation $ 653 $._686 0

2017 2018 2019
To have a meaningful impact on the state's workforce challenges, increased educational access must be
supported by an organizational culture and structure focused on student success. In joining the national
Achieving the Dream network, Maine's community colleges are pioneering a statewide, evidence-based,
student-centered approach that is designed to achieve meaningful improvement in the success of our
students

At the same time, MCCS i1s working to redesign the training it delivers to incumbent workers and those
who are unemployed or underemployed.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

These strategic activities provide a strong foundation on which to build a more highly skilled workforce.

For colleges to implement new programs, rescurces will have to be allocated based on the evidence of
demand. To be sustainable, changes in programming and delivery must increase access, improve
outcomes and reduce costs.

These investments are necessary to keep the colleges relevant and competitive in the current
environment. They also represent new capital funding models. Historically, most of the capital investment
has been funded through state-funded bonds which the System has no obligation to repay. Recent
construction and renovation buildings have been financed with a blend of state-issued bonds,
philanthropic support, and reserves held for investment in property, plant and equipment.

The new, blended financing of capital investment has limits. In 2017, the System’s cash balances
declined $1.3 million (2 percent) after declining $6.1 million (28.8 percent) in 2016 and $3.8 million (15.2
percent} in 2015.

Nevertheless, with cash-on-hand totaling $13.7 million and expendable investments of $4 million cn June
30, 2017, the System’s balance sheet and liquidity remain strong. The System remains positioned to
react to changes in the economy and academic delivery and continues to seek new and expanded
sources of funding.

Those efforts include leveraging recent success in philanthropic giving and working closely with
legislative leaders, the executive branch of government and community leaders to secure greater
financial support for Maine’s community colleges. Also, the System intends to work with specific
industries to modularize the delivery of academic programs and training initiatives into smaller units
aimed at adult learners. These modules will utilize technology as effectively and efficiently as possible to
best meet the needs of the incumbent workforce.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

MCCS increased its net position by $12.3 million in 2017, $3.4 million more than in 2016. The strong
performance resulted from increased net tuition and residential life fees of $2.9 miliion, reduced
instruction expenses of $2.9 million, increased State appropriation of $3.6 million and stronger earnings
from investments of $4.6 million, offset by increases in non-instruction expenses of $2.2 million and
decline in non-student aid related Federal grants and contracts of $1.7 miliion.

The net investment in capital assets increased $6.1 million, restricted net position increased $.7 million
and unrestricted net deficit declined $5.4 million. The deficit in unrestricted net position, analyzed in
greater detail below, is a result of pension expenses associated with MCCS employee members of the
Maine Public Employees’ Retirement System’s defined benefit plan. MCCS's proportionate share of the
State's Unfunded Actuarially Accrued Liability for pension benefits was $66.7 million as of June 30, 2017.

in contrast, 2016 operating revenue decreased $6.2 million from 2015 or 8.1 percent offset by an increase

in nonoperating revenue of $1.6 million or 2.9 percent. In 2015, operating revenue increased $3.3 million
or 4.3 percent and nonoperating revenue decreased $5.0 million or 8.2 percent,
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

(in milfions) Changes in Revenue
2017 2016 2015 tanmd
140000 - T

Operating revenues $715 $708 $77.0 1$
Operating expenses 130.7 1314 1321 45000
Operating loss (89.2) (B0.6) (55.1) 60000
Nonoperating revenues 664 576 56.1 op
Income (loss) before other ) (BRI BRI R RIEI R BRI

revenue 7.2 (3.0) 1.0 FYO3 FYO4 FYGS FYO6 FY07 FY08 FYO Fri0 FY11 Y12 FY2D FYid FY1S FYI6 Fray
Other revenue, net 5.0 5.9 10.5

increase in net position $ 122 $.28 %115

Operating Revenue

The increase in operating revenues was driven by improved net tuition. Student tuition and fees increased
0.6 percent as credit delivery dechined 3.5 percent, offset by a {uition increase of 2.2 percent and stronger
receipts from the State for high school students enrolled in college courses. The allowances for
scholarships decreased 4.7 percent as more students attended part-time so they qualified for less aid
Residential life fees increased 8.1 percent on stronger occupancy. As a result, net tuition and residential
life fees increased $2.9 million

Federal grants and contracts decline $3.6 million. Pell receipts, the targest share of Federal financial aid,
declined $2.6 million and other grant activity declined $1.0 million. Federal financial aid declined because
of smaller enroliments and lower awards. More students are working while in college and attending part-
time. Part-time students do not qualify for as much aid and the added income from working may decrease
their need. Federal grant activity declined as the colleges wind down activities on a series of large Federal
grants, most notably the TAACCCT Grants.

Changes in the sources of grants fluctuate between Federal, state and nongovernment entities based on
the opportunities the colleges pursue, but in the current environment do not reflect any meaningful pattern
or strategic change.

Auxiliary enterprise revenues increased $0.3 million. Auxiliary enterprise revenues result mostly from the
sales of textbooks and dining services through stores operated by MCCS. Increased competition from
internet-based sellers resulted in a five-year decline in profitability in bookstore operations. In 2018 MCCS
entered a contract with a third party national retailer to manage bookstore operations on all seven
campuses.

in 2016, a decrease in enroliment translated to a reduction in student tuition and fee revenue as well as
lower residential life fees which, taken together, declined $2.3 million or 4.4 percent. Scholarship
allowances are funded by student financial aid resources. mostly Federal Pell Grants, and, tracking with
tuition, declined 3.4 percent in 2016. Enroliment and the related revenues declined $0.3 million or 0.6
percent in 2015.

Revenues from Federal, state and [ocal, and non-government grants declined $4.5 million or 7.8 percent

in aggregate. The 2016 decline comes at the end of a long period of growth in grant production that
included increases in 2015 of $3.8 million or 7.0 percent
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

Auxiliary revenues declined $1.0 million or 17.2 percent in 2016 compared to 2015 when auxiliary
revenues declined $0.2 million or 3.6 percent.

Nonoperating Revenue

Non-operating revenues are primarily comprised of the appropriations from the State of Maine, gifts, and
investment gains and osses. Appropriation and other state revenue increased $3.6 million, or 6.1 percent
in 2017 and $1.9 million or 3.4 percent in 2016. In 2015, the appropriation did not change significantly.

Investment income increased $4.6 million because of favorable investment markets. In 2016, MCCS
investment returns were insignificant after experiencing losses of $0.6 million in 2015.

Operating Expenses

Like most colleges and universities, MCCS invests most of its income in its people. Wages, benefits, and
wage-related taxes accounted for approximately two-thirds of expenditures in each of the last three years

Wages decreased 0.1 percent in 2017, increased 1.1 percent in 2016 and 1.6 percent in 2015. Wage
rates increased approximately 3 percent in each of those years, but productivity largely offset the rate
increases,

Taxes and benefits increased 1.3 percent in 2017, compared to a decrease of 4.2 percent in 2016 and
an increase of 6.9 percent in 2015. The largest benefit expense is the cost of retirement. Approximately
two-thirds of the System’s employees participate in the State Employee and Teacher Retirement Plan, a
multiple-employer, cost-sharing plan administered by the Maine Public Employees Retirement System
(MainePERS). The System was required to contribute 22.69 percent of payroll in 2017 and 22 .37 percent
in 2016. Healthcare benefits for current members and retirees purchased from the Maine Bureau of
Employee Health contribute to the cost of benefits which added 38 percent to the cost of compensation
Expenses by natural class are as follows:

(in millions} 2017 2016 2015
Wages $630 %631 $624
Taxes and benefits 24.0 23.7 24.7
Wages & benefits 87.0 86.8 87.1
Supplies & N7 32.6 336
services
Student aid 0.6 0.6 0.6
Depreciation 11.4 11.4 10.8

Total expenses $130.7 $1314 $132.1

After a long period of consistency, the distribution of expenses by functional area has shifted over the two-
year period ending June 30, 2017. The colleges are increasing their use of success coaches, or navigators
to support students who face challenges in completing their education. As a result, expenditures for student
services increased to 11 percent in 2017 from 10 percent in 2016 and 9 percent in 2015, while expenditures
in instruction decreased to 38 percent in 2017 from 40 percent in 2016 and 41 percent in 2015
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

Expenditures in other areas have remained relatively constant over time with between 8 and 9 percent
spent on academic support, approximately 14 percent spent on institutional support, between 10 and
11 percent on operations and maintenance, approximately 8 percent on auxiltary enterprises and
between 8 and 9 percent charged to depreciation in 2017, 2016, and 2015. Expenses by function are as
follows:

{in millions) 2017 2016 2015
Instruction $495 $525 $542 Nl
Public service 0.9 0.6 0.8 B
Academic support 12.0 11.4 11.0
Student services 14.0 13.0 12.5 Cperations instusion
Institutional support 18.4 19.1 18.3 3 .
Operations 13.6 13.7 13.9 T '
Student aid 0.6 08 0.6
Auxiliary enterprises 10.3 9.2 10.0 gy m'
Depreciation 114 _114 _108 ﬂ oo
Total $130.7 $1314 $132.1

Other Revenues, Expenses, Gains, and Losses

Other revenues, expenses, gains, and losses are primarily the net result of capital activity paid through
state-funded bonds which the System has no obligation to repay and capital gifts and grants including
the transfer of land and buildings from other public entities

2017 2018 2015

Other revenues, net $5.0 $ 59 $10.5

Other revenues. expenses, gains, and losses decreased $0.9 million in 2017 and $4.6 million in 2016
after an increase of $3.5 million in 2015.

Proceeds from State for grants and capital asset acquisition decreased $3.3 million while capital grants
and gifts increased $2.2 million. Almost all the 2017 expenditures from capital grants and proceeds from
State for grants and capital asset acquisition were related to the construction of a new academic building
at YCCC.

Proceeds from State for grants and capital asset acquisition decreased $2.9 million in 2016 after an
increase of $7.0 million in 2015 as most projects except for the new building at YCCC that were funded
with state-funded bonds neared completion

Capital gifts increased $2.2 million in 2017 after a decrease of $1.2 million in 2016 and $3.5 million in
20186.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

Statement of Net Position

MCCS increased assets and deferred outflows $14.4 million in 2017, $1.9 million in 2016 and $17.6
million in 2015, while liabilities and deferred inflows increased $2.1 million in 2017, decreased $1.0 million
in 2016 and increased $6.1 million in 2015.

(in miflions) 2017 2016 2015
Current assets $624 $ 585 $ 664
Noncurrent assets 2132 2079 2038 Net Position
Deferred outflows-pension 251 _19.8 14.1

Total assets and outflows $300.7 $286.2 $284.3

Current liabilities $150 % 154 § 196
Noncurrent liabilities 870 89,2 84.1
Deferred inflows 1.0 14.2 16.1

Total liakilities and inflows $121.0 $118.8 $1198

Investment in capital assets $164.2 $158.1 $152.0

Net restricted position 221 214 227
Net unrestricted position (6.6) (12.1) (10.2)
Total net position $179.7 $167.4 %1645

Current Assets and Current Liabilities

Current assets increased $3.8 million, and current liabilities decreased $0.4 million in 2017, generally
improving liquidity. Cash decreased $1.3 million in 2017, but short-term investments increased $3.5 million
Cash was used to finance operating and capital activities, while the increase in investments is related to
favorable returns.

Accounts receivable increased $3.2 million because of two capital projects financed in part through
philanthropic support. YCCC constructed a new academic building and CMCC renovated a precision
manufacturing academic laboratory. Both projects are supported by donations that are scheduled to be
received over the next four years.

The $1.1 miltion decline in inventory is a result of MCCS's self-operated bookstores selling their inventory to
a third-party vendor who will operate bookstores for all seven colleges beginning in 2018.

Current liabilities decreased $0.4 million. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities collectively increased $0.9
million based on normal business activities. MCCS makes payments to vendors and employees according to
a routine schedule, and there was one more day in the payment cycle in 2017 compared to 2016. The current
portion of lang-term debt decreased $1.5 million because YCCC made a planned final payment on the capital
lease obligation associated with the original academic building on the Wells campus.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

In 2016, current assets decreased $7.9 million, and current liabilities decreased $4.2 million. Cash decreased
$6.2 million because the System collected $4.4 million less from grants and contracts and used $1.8 million
more to pay employees and vendors. Accounts receivable and pledges receivable combined decreased $1.9
million with the payment of pledge payments and the reduction of amounts receivable from students. Accounts
payable and accrued liabilities combined, decreased $5.7 million. The changes in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities are a result of timing. The System paid its biweekly payroll obligation on June 28, 2016, and
made routine payments to vendors on June 30, 2016, In 2015 payroll was delivered to employees on July 1,
2015 and routine payments to vendors were mailed on July 2, 2015. The current portion of long-term debt
increased in 2015 because the balance of the capital lease obligation associated with the original academic
building on the Wells campus was due to be paid the following fiscal year.

Current assets also decreased $2.2 million and current liabilities $1.9 million in 2015. Cash decreased $3.8
million in 2015 because of using $3.0 million more on operating activities than in 2014. MCCS collected $0.7
million less from tuition and residential life fees in 2015 and used $6.8 million more to pay employees and
vendors, but collected $3.9 million more from grants and contracts.

Noncurrent Assets and Noncurrent Liabilities

Noncurrent assets increased $5.3 million in 2017. Investments in facilities and equipment, most notably the
construction projects at YCCC in Wells and Sanford were completed in the summer of 2017 just after the end
of the fiscal year. The prepaid post-employment benefitincreased $.3 million, and the deposit with bond trustee
increased $0.4 million. Endowment investments increased $1.4 million because of strong returns on the
related investments. Investments are discussed in greater detail below.

In 2016, noncurrent assets increased $4.1 million with investments in facilities and equipment, most notably
the construction project at CMCC and two projects at YCCC. The prepaid post-employment benefit increased
$0.5 million, offset by decreases in the deposit with bond trustee and endowment investments.

Also in 2017, long-term liabilities decreased $2.2 million. MCC$S made its final payment on the Certificates of
Participation issued to finance construction of YCCC's primary academic and administrative building in Wells,
Maine. The net pension liability decreased $1.3 million based mostly on actuarial assumptions. The costs and
obligations of retirement plans are assessed below.

In 2018, long-term debt decreased $3.2 million. The System refinanced debt on residence halls built in 2006,
The reduction in long-term debt was offset by an increase in net pension liability of $8.3 million.

Costs and Obligations of Retirement Plans

Regular employees of the System have two retirement plan options: participation in TIAA/CREF, a defined
contribution plan, and MainePERS, a defined benefit plan. MainePERS is an independent public agency of
the State of Maine that administers retirement programs for State employees and other public entities including
MCCS. MainePERS is responsible for the payment of retirement benefits to participants in that plan.

Participants in both the defined benefit and the defined contribution plan are eligible for retiree health insurance
after vesting.

In 2015, the System implemented GASB 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions. As a result,

MCCS'’s proportionate share of the State’s Unfunded Actuarially Accrued Liability (UAAL} for pension benefits
was $68.0 million as of June 30, 2016 and $59.7 millien in 2015.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

The plan is administered by MainePERS. The Systern does not manage the defined benefit plan assets or
directly control the benefits, but the Systemn is required to fund its share of the plan so that it remains viable
and able to honor the commitments made to retired employees. Therefore, the presentation of MCCC's
propartionate share of the Maine PERS UAAL, 6.6 percent as of the last reporting date, chronicles an
important understanding of the System’s fully formed financial condition and the totality of its obligations.

The UAAL is determined by actuaries, not staff or the System’s auditors. Certain estimates used by actuaries
including investment returns, salary increases, mortality rates and cost of living benefits will impact the
valuation of the liability. Note 7 of the financial statements includes a required disclosure that demonstrates
the impact of changing one assumption (the discount rate) by an increase or decrease of 1 percent.

The System recognizes the actuarially determined cost of retiree health and life insurance benefits in
accordance with the GASB Statement No. 45 {GASB 45). In 2009, the System created the MCCS OPEB Trust,
The Trust Agreement allows the Trust to accept contributions from MCCS to fund future retiree benefits and
limits the trustees to prudent investment of trust assets and payment of retiree health and life insurance benefit
costs. MCCS's total expenses for other post-employment benefits were $1.7 million in 2017, $1.7 million in
2018, and $1.6 million in 2015. The actuarially accrued obligation for retiree health and life insurance is $38.6
million, up $1.4 million from the $37.2 million obligation in 2018. In 2018, the actuarially determined obligation
was $37.7 million.

Trust assets were valued at $36.7 million on June 30, 2017, and at $31.5 million on June 30, 2016 and 2015.
Accordingly, the UAAL was $1.9 million in 2017, $5.7 million in 2016 and $6.2 million in 2015. GASB 45
requires that MCCS gradually accrete the UAAL and, as a result, MCCS had a prepaid post-employment
benefit of $13.4 million in 2017, $13.1 million in 2016 and $12.6 million in 2015,

In 2018, the System will adopt GASB 75 which will require recognition of the total OPEB liability and retroactive
restatement of net position. Using GASB 75 methods and assumptions, the total OPEB liability for 2017 was
$43.0 million, the net OPEB liability would have been $12.3 million, and unrestricted net pasition a deficit of
$32.3 millign,

Endowments

Nencurrent assets alse include $14.5 million in endowment investments; $1.4 million or 10.5 percent more
than in 2016. In 2016, endowment investments were $13.2 million; $0.8 million or 6.3 percent less than in
2015 and $0.8 million less than in 2014. Endowment investments earned 14.6 percent in 2017 and -
1.5 percent in 20186,

The largest shares of the endowment are comprised of gifts from the Bernard Osher Foundation. The Osher
Endowments are comprised of four donations that total $7.0 million. The State and the System have added
$3.0 million in matching funds. The gifts support scholarships and emergency financial assistance for full-time
matriculated associate degree students.

The Board of Trustees adopted an investment policy using a long-term investment strategy, and investment
results are compared to a blended benchmark index that is a composite made up of 60 percent of the Morgan
Stanley Capital International - All Country World 1Index (MSCI-ACWI); and 15 percent of
the Bloormberg Barclays Capital US Aggregate Bond Index (BC Agg); 15 percent Bloomberg Barclays
Intermediate US Government/Credit Band Index; and 10 percent MSCI All Country World Smali Cap Index.
Endowment investments are pooled with the System’s long-term investments and are allocated based upon
a percentage of the total investment pool.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2017

Net Position

MCCS's net position represents the value of its assets and deferred outflows of resources after subtracting its
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets is the value of nonexpendable,
capital assets after subtracting the related debt on facilities and equipment. Restricted net assets are assets
owned by MCCS, but, by agreement with grantors or donors, the assets can only be used for purposes
specified in grant or donor agreements. As such those assets are not available to meet the general obligations
of operations. Unrestricted net assets are those assets, net of liabilities, which have accumulated over time,
are free of restrictions and are expendable at the Trustees direction.

MCCS has designated unrestricted net position as follows (in millions):
2017 2016 2015

Funds committed to Other Post-Employment Benefits $134 $131 $128
Funds carried from prior years for programs 6.5 B.5 2.9
Funds committed to property, plant and equipment renewal 206 19.5 245
Funds set aside for debt service - 2.2 1.7
Funds on deposit with bond trustee 1.1 B 1.6
Unobligated net position 12.0 7.8 8.2
Proportionate share of the State’s net pension liability {(60.2) (B1.8) (61.7)
Total net position $_(66) $(121) $102)

The narrative on costs and obligations of retirement plans notes that MCCS has appropriately combined its
proportionate share of the UAAL administered by MainePERS, but that the System does not manage any
aspect of the plan. The results of operations and impact of GASB 68 are as follows:

2017 2016
Before State’s Before State’s
(in millions) UAAL UAAL MCCS UAAL UAAL  MCCS
Current assets $ 624 5 - 3 624 $585 $ - $ 585
Noncurrent assets 213.2 - 213.2 207.9 - 207.9
Deferred outflows-pension - 25.1 25.1 - 19.8 19.8

Total assets and outflows 32766 $251 $3007 32664 @ $.19.8 $286.2

Current liabilities $ 150 $ - % 150 $15.4 $ - $ 154
Noncurrent liabilities 20.2 B66.8 87.0 21.2 68.0 8§92
Deferred inflows .5 18.5 18.0 B 1386 14.2

Total liabilities and inflows  $_357 $858 51210 $.372 $816 $1188

Investment in capital assets $1642 $ - %1642 $1581 § - $158.1
Net restricted position 221 - 221 21.4 - 21.4
Net unrestricted position 536 {60.2) (6.6) 49.7 {61.8} (12.1
Total net position $239.9 $(602) $179.7 $2298 $(61.8) $167.4
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Net Position

June 30, 2017 and 2016

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash eqguivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net
Pledges receivable
inventories
Due from State of Maine
Other assets

Total current assets
Noncurrent assets
Prepaid post-employment benefit
Deposit with bond trustee
Endowment investments
Capital assets, net
Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Defined benefit pension plan

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources

201

2016

$ 13,707,418 $ 15,057,068

213,154,893

275,559,426

39,951,938 36,499,633
6,943,547 3,730,273

- 200,000

15,121 1,082,547
698,930 1,041,230
1,087,579 952,750
62,404,533 _ 58563501
13,402,607 13,096,447
1,090,935 658,711
14,528,353 13,153,452
184,132,998 180,948,572

———

207,857,182

266,420,683

25,066,681

19,815,816

$.300,626,107 $286,236.499

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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LIABILITIES

2017 20186
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2602376 $ 2,343,123
Accrued liabilities 9,198,150 8,513,485
Unearned revenue 2,370,333 2,264,431
Current portion of long-term debt 841,563 2.340.488
Total current liabilities 15,012,422 15,461,527
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt 20,214,157 21,179,847
Net pension liability 66,740,128 68,006,887
Total long-term liabilities 86,954,285 89,186,734
Total liabilities 101,966,707 104,648 261
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Defined benefit pension plan 18,475,672 13,634,005
Deferred gain on bond refunding 530,666 558,596
Total deferred inflows of resources 19.006.338 14,192 691
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 164,168,213 158,086,048
Restricted for;
Nonexpendable:
Scholarships and fellowships 11,846,901 11,846,341
Expendable;
Scholarships and fellowships 8,502,244 7.650,277
Instructional department uses 1,679,370 1,813,251
Other 86,837 60,501
Unrestricted (6,630,503) _(12,061.771)
Total net position 179,663,062 167,395 547

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position $.300,626 107 $286,236,499




MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

Revenues
Operating revenues
Student tuttion and fees
Residential life fees
Less scholarship allowances

Net tuition and residential life fees

Federal grants and contracts - other

State and local grants and contracts
Nongovernmental grants and contracts

Sales and services of educational departments
Auxiliary enterprises

Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues

Expenses

Operating expenses
Instruction
Public service
Academic support
Student services
Institutional support
Operations and maintenance
Student aid
Auxiliary enterprises and residential life
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses
Operating loss

Nonoperating revenues {expenses)
State appropriations
Gifts
Investment income, net of investment expenses
of $135,707 in 2017 and $94,177 in 2016
Interest on capital asset-reiated debt

Net nonoperating revenues

Income (loss) before other revenues, expenses, gains or losses

{Continued next page)

017

-

2018

$ 40,886,582 § 40,624,414

10,225,206 9,457,154
(38,012.422) _(39,880,413)
13,089,366 10,201,155
36,977,820 40,531,366
8,853,698 8,593,683
4,834,616 4,142,155
771,390 728,141
5,331,673 4,987,798
1.637.891 1,639,456
71,506,564 _ 70,823,754
49,548,583 52,499,144
850,663 579,123
11,953,790 11,352,164
13,981,816 12,983,185
18,416,298 19,091,781
13,643,085 13,697,456
620,653 618,197
10,275,717 9,194,395
11.415.250 _ 11,432,506
130,705,855 131,447,951

(59,199,301)

(60,624,197)

61,958,536 58,369,518
611,862 443,322
4,654,160 49,483
(762,418) _ (1.212.471)
66,462,143 _ 57,649,852
7,262,842 (2,974,345)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (Concluded)

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

017 2016

Other revenues, (expenses), gains or (losses)
Capital grants and gifts $ 2,683,123 $ 499,399
Appropriation from State for grants and capital asset acquisition 2,613,047 5875418
Loss on disposals of capital assets - other (16,870) (72,709)
Additions to permanent endowments 5§60 8,040
Asset impairment loss (285.187) (421,750)
Total other revenues, {(expenses), gains or (losses) 4994673 5,888,398
Increase in net position 12,287,518 2,914,053
Net position, beginning of year 167,395,547 164,481,494
Net position, end of year $179.653,062 $ 167,395 547

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial staterments.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from tuition and residential life fees
Receipts from grants and contracts
Receipts from bookstore
Payments to suppliers and vendors
Payments for employees' salaries and benefits
Payments for funding of Other Post-Employment Benefit Trust
Other sales and services
Other receipts

Net cash used by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
State appropriations and other state revenue
Gifts and grants received for other than capital purposes
Nenoperating private gifts

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Payments on long-term liabilities
Proceeds from state grants for capital asset acquisition
Capital grants and gifts received
Purchase of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
(Increase) decrease in deposit with bond trustee
Interest paid on capital debt and lease

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities
Cash flows from investment activities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Investments purchased
Interest and dividends
Net cash (used) provided by investing activities

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eqguivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash eguivalents, end of year

{Continued next page)

2017

201

=

$ 13071818 § 9772734

47,641,534 53,237,386
5,240,438 4,972,942
(26,137,889)  (27,383,182)
(91,161,648)  (94,090,704)
(2,090,345)  (2,187,091)
760,241 862,592
1,424,703 1,755,800
(61,261,146) _(53,059,523)
61,958,536 58,369,518
522,965 338,348
62,481,501 _ 58,707.866
(2,337,194)  (1,052.817)
2,956,844 6,480,177
2,772,436 1,765,999
(14,856,135)  (18,751,648)
18,286 489,008
(432,224) 986,515
(528,972} _ (1.758.216)
(12,406,959) _(11.840.782)
126,759,316 13473210
(128,212,759) (14,763 974)
1,280,397 1,332,583
(173,046) 41,819
(1,349,650} (6,150,620
15057068 _ 21.207,688

$_13.707.418 $_15057,068

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Cash Flows (Concluded)

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

017 201

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used by operating activities
QOperating loss $ (59,199,301) $ (60,624,197)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used
by operating activities

Bad debts provision 258,951 679,056
Depreciation and amortization 11,415,250 11,432,506
Noncash pension (credit) expenses (1,676,047) 45,439
Noncash donations of supplies 89,457 113,013
Decrease (increase) in
Accounts receivable, net (3,472,225} (105,475)
Inventories 1,087,426 237,977
Due from State - other (1,497) (96,163)
Other assets {134,829) {(5,386)
Prepaid post-employment benefits {308,160) (483,641)
Increase (decrease) in
Accounts payable 306,056 {1,665,487)
Accrued liabilities, net of accrued interest on capital debt 295,871 (2,566,504)
Unearned revenue 105,902 {20.661)
Net cash used by operating activities $_(561,251,146) $_(53,059,523)
Supplemental disclosure of noncash capital and related financing activities
Donated capital assets $ 110,687 $ 33,400
Capital asset purchases recorded in accounts payable $ 670967 $___ 717,760
Capital assets acquired under a note payable and capital leases $ - $_3.207.796

Summary of noncash investing activities
Net losses related to investments $._8.373.764 $__1.283.100

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATIONS

{Component Units)
BALANCE SHEETS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

ASSETS
Cash
Investments
Pledges receivable
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Accounts payable and accruals
Net assets
Unrestricted
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted
Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2017 2016
$ 5924481 $ 6,501,886
13,146,839 9,574,790
2,307,456 1,945,355
1,025 482 954 501

$22404258 $ 18,976,532

$ 919473 § 752,404

1,299,141 1,428,673
12,326,712 10,164,425
7,858,932 6.631,030

21,484,785 18,224,128

$22404258 $_18,976,532

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATIONS
{Component Units)

Statements of Activities

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

Revenues
Gifts and contributions
Net investment gain
Other

Net assets released from restrictions

Total revenues, gains, and
other support

Expenses
Procgram expenses

Scholarships

Support
Fundraising
Management and general
Investment expenses

Total expenses

Changes in net assets before
changes in donor intent

Changes in donor intent

(Decrease) increase in net
assets

Net assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

2017 2016
Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Total
$ 710462 § 4939402 $ 1,238131 $ 6,887,995 4,917,034
158,511 948,606 4137 1,111,254 105,869
430,866 84,603 5148 520617 522,094
1,299,839 5,972,611 1,247,416 8,519,866 5,545,097
3,829,838 {3,829.124) {714) - -
5,129,677 2,143,487 1,248,702 8,519,866 5,545,097
819,422 - - 819,122 750,985
3,463,701 - - 3,463,701 1,844,499
362,347 - - 362,347 436,588
614,039 - - 614,039 664,733
- - - - 21,627
5,259,209 - - 5,259,209 3,718,432
{129,532) 2,143,487 1,246,702 3,260,657 1,826,665
- 18,800 {18.800) - -
(129,532} 2,162,287 1,227,902 3,260,657 1,826,665
1428673 10,164,425 6,631,030 18224128 16,397 463
$_1.299141 $12,326,712 $_7.,858932 $21484.785 $18224.128

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT TRUST
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position

June 30, 2017 and 2016

017 016
Assets
Cash $ 120,367 § 101,429
Investments 36,552,442 31,414 615
Total assets 36,672,809 31.516.044
Net position held in trust for benefits $_36672809 $_31516,044

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine}

MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT TRUST

Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

Additions
Interest income
Employer contributions
Investment income (loss), net of investment expense of
$102,893 in 2017 and $59,344 in 2016
Total additions
Deductions
Benefits
Administrative expenses
Total deductions
Net increase
Net position held in trust for benefits, beginning of year

Net position held in trust for benefits, end of year

2017 2016

$ 24 15
2,090,345 2,187,091
4,769,419 (401.850)
6,859,788 1,785,256
1,647,873 1,657,921
55,160 50.175
1,703,023 1,708.096
5,156,765 77,160
31,616,044 31.438.884

$36,672,.809 $31.516044

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine}

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies followed by the Maine Community College System (the System)
are set forth below:

Basis of Presentation

The System is Maine's comprehensive two-year college system and offers certificate, diploma, and
associate degree programs. The financial statements of the System include the activity of its seven
colleges, the central administrative office and its Center for Career Development (the CCD}, which
directed system-wide programs and supports other strategic projects and initiatives for the System
through June 30, 2016. At that time, the System merged CCD's activities and programs into the
System's central office.

The System is included in the combined financial statements of the State of Maine (the State) as a
discretely-presented component unit. This financial reporting is based primarily on the State's
appointment of the System Board of Trustees, the level of revenues derived from state
appropriations and the ability of the State to influence the operational decisions of the System.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB} using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting
Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, the System
follows all applicable GASB pronouncements,

The foliowing elements are included with these general purpose financial statements:
+ Management's Discussion and Analysis (as required supplementary information);

+ Basic financial statements, which include the Statements of Net Position, Statements of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and Statements of Cash Flows; and

+  Notes to the Financial Statements.,

The System follows the “business-type activities” (BTA) requirements of GASB Statement No. 35,
Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for Public Colleges and
Universities. BTAs are defined as those that are financed in whole ar in part by fees charged to
external parties for goods or services,

The financial statements are reported on a consolidated basis and the System classified resources
into the following net position categories:

» Net investment in capital assets - Capital assets, at historical cost or fair market value on the date of
gift and deposit with bond trustee, net of accumulated depreciation; reduced by outstanding principal
balances of debt; increased by deferred outflows of resources and decreased by deferred inflows of
resources attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets,
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

* Restricted nonexpendable - Net position subject to externally-imposed stipulations that is
invested permanently by the System. The amount is affected by new nonexpendable gifts.

¢ Restricted expendable - Net position whose use by the System is subject to externally-
imposed stipulations. Such assets include the accumulated net gains/losses on true
endowment funds as well as the fair market value of restricted funds functioning as
endowments, restricted funds loaned to students, restricted gifts and endowment income, and
other similar restricted funds.

» Unrestricted - Net position that is not subject to externally-imposed stipulations.

The System determines on a case-by-case basis whether to first apply restricted resources when
an expense is incurred for purposes for which both resiricted and unrestricted net position are
available. However, the System generally encourages the use of restricted resources first.

Reporting Entity

The financial reporting entity consists of the primary government (the System), its camponent units,
which consist of the seven Foundations of the System's Colleges (the Foundations), and the Maine
Community College System Post-Employment Benefit Trust (the Trust).

The Trust is a separate legal entity established in 2009 to accumulate funds to pay, at least in part,
the System's obligations under the post-employment healthcare plan. See Note 12 for more
information.

The Foundations are legally separate, tax-exempt component units of the System. The
Foundations act primarily as fundraising organizations to supplement the rescurces that are
available to the System by raising money for endowed scholarships, technology, and teaching
resources. The Foundations are self-perpetuating and their donors consist of graduates and
friends of the Colleges. Although the System does not control the timing or amount of receipts from
the Foundations, the majority of resources, or income thereon, that the Foundations hold and
invest are restricted to the activities of the System by the donors. Because these resources held by
the Foundations can only be used by, or for the benefit of, the System, the Foundations are
considered component units of the System. The Foundations are reported in separate financial
statements,

The Foundations are private not-for-profit organizations that report their financial results in
accordance with private, non-governmental accounting standards. As such, certain revenue
recognition criteria and presentation features are different from GASB revenue recognition criteria
and presentation features. No modifications have been made to the Foundation's financial
information in the College’'s financial reporting entity for these differences. Significant note
disclosures to the Foundations' financial statements have been incorporated into the System's
notes to the financial statements in Note 11.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 20186

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value, and consist principally of
money market funds and other pooled funds with maturities of three months or less at the date of
purchase.

Investments

Investments are reported at fair value based on quoted market prices. Realized gains and losses
are calculated on a specific identification basis.

The System invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to various
risks, such as interest rate, market and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain
investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment
securities will occur in the near term and that such change could materially affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements.

Pledges Receivable

Pledges receivable represent irrevocable donations promised by other entities or individuals that
meet certain eligibility requirements, net of an estimate of uncollectible amounts. Pledges
receivable are shown at their face amount and are not discounted. The allowance for uncollectible
amounts is an estimate subject to change. An allowance is established based on the current status

of pledges and past experience. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, management has determined that
an allowance is net warranted.

Endowment Investments

Endowment funds consist of funds received from donors with the stipulation that the original
principal remain invested in perpetuity to produce income which is to be expended for the purposes
specified by the donor. All endowments have been established for the purpose of granting
scholarships to students.

Individual endowment funds are invested on a pooled basis. Total endowment investment yield
received for the year is distributed to fund accounts, in accordance with the terms or resfrictions of
the individual fund.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist principally of tuition receivable from students and third-party payors
and various state and federal grants.

Student accounts receivable are carried at the unpaid balance of the original amount billed to
students. Student accounts receivable are net of an estimate made for doubtful accounts based on
a review of all outstanding amounts. Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 3@, 2017 and 2016

by identifying troubled accounts and by using historical experience applied to an aging of accounts.
Student accounts are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of student accounts
previously written off are recorded when received.

A student account receivable is generally considered to be past-due if any portion of the receivable
balance is outstanding at the beginning of a semester, at which point late charges may be
assessed and are recagnized when charged. Interest is not charged on past-due accounts.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market and consist primarily of
bookstore and food inventories.

Prepaid Post-Employment Benefit

Prepaid post-employment benefits consist of contributions made to the Maine Community College
System Post-Employment Benefit Trust in excess of the actuarially-determined annual cost.

Capital Assets

Capital assets funds, derived from appropriations and the System funds so designated by the
Board of Trustees, may be used to meet expenditures for construction of additional facilities, major
renovations and retirement of indebtedness arising therefrom. Designated funds are unrestricted
funds for which the Board of Trustees or administration stipulates a specific use, thereby
designating them for that purpose. However, the Board of Trustees may at any time redesignate
the funds for other use. Total designated capital asset funds included in unrestricted net assets
amounted to $20,641,756 and $19,490,007 at June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Land, buildings, equipment and fixtures are stated at cost at the date of acquisition, or fair market
value at the date of donation in the case of gifts. Expenditures for maintenance, repairs and assets
with a cost of under $1,500 are expensed as incurred. Upon sale or retirement of an asset, the cost
and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or
loss is included in the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. Assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis according to the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 40 years
Improvements 10 years
Furniture and equipment 3-10 years
Library books and periodicals 5 years

Assets under capital leases are depreciated using the shorter of the above useful lives or the term
of the lease.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Defined Benefit Plan

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the State Employee and Teacher Retirement Plan ({the SET Plan) and additions
to/deductions from the SET Plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis
as they are reported by the SET Plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Compensated Absences

The System accrues amounts for compensated absences as earned. As of June 30, 2017 and
2016, the System had accrued $2,420,400 and $2,252,550, respectively. These accrued balances
represent vacation and earned time amounts payable to employees upon termination of
employment.

Revenue Recognition

Tuition and fees revenues are recognized when the services are performed. Unrestricted gifts of
securities and other noncash assets are recognized as revenue based on the fair value at the date
of donation; restricted grants and gifts are recognized as revenue based on the fair value when
eligibility requirements have been met; state appropriations are recognized in the year the state
appropriates the funds.

Unearned revenue consists primarily of unrestricted tuition and student fees related to future fiscal
years.

Investment income consists of interest and dividend income recognized on the accrual method, as
well as realized and unrealized gains or losses on investments.

Auxiliary enterprises furnish goods or services to students, faculty or staff, and charge a fee
directly related to the cost of the goods or services. Revenues from auxiliary enterprises are
primarily earned from college stores and are recognized as the services are performed or the
goods are delivered.

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues consist of tuition and fees; federal, state and other grants and confracts; sales
and services of education activities; and auxiliary enterprises revenues. Operating expenses
include instruction, public service, academic support, student services, institutional support,
operations and maintenance, student aid, auxiliary enterprises and residential life and depreciation
and amortization. All other revenues and expenses of the System are reported as other or
nongoperating revenues and expenses, including state general appropriations, noncapital gifts,
short-term investment income, interest expense and capital additions and deductions. Capital
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

items represent all other changes in long-term plant and endowment net assets. Revenues are
recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. Restricted grant revenue is
recognized only to the extent expended for expenditure driven grants or, in the case of fixed-price
contracts, when the contract terms are met or completed.

Tax Status

The System is exempt from income taxes because it is an instrumentality of the State of Maine.
The Foundations are exempt from income taxes because they are each 501(c)(3) organizations.
The Trust is exempt from income taxes by virtue of the exempt status of the System.

If an exempt organization regularly carries on a trade or business not substantially related to its
exempt purpose, except that it provides funds to carry out that purpose, the organization is subject
to tax on its income from that unrelated trade or business. The System has evaluated the positions
taken on its business activities and has concluded no unrelated business income tax exists at June
30, 2017 and 2016.

Agency Funds

Agency funds are cash held by an institution acting as custodian or fiscal agent, but not assets or
liabilities of the institution. The cash is deposited with the institution for safekeeping, to be used or
withdrawn by the depositor at will. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the System held assets totaling
$1,477,443 and $1,290,375, respectively, consisting primarily of Student Union Activity Funds,
which are not reflected on the accompanying statements of net position.

Risk Management

The System is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries and ilinesses; natural
disasters; and employee health, dental and accident benefits. Commercial insurance coverage is
purchased for claims arising from such matters. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial
coverage in any of the three preceding years.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, as well as the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses. These estimates include, but are not limited to, the
valuation of accounts and pledges receivable and the actuarial assumptions used in determining
the post-employment benefit expense and related asset balance. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
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New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Effective

In June 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Reporting for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions. This statement establishes new accounting and financial reporting
requirements for governmental entities whose employees are provided with other post-employment
benefits (OPEB). In general, the provisions relating to reporting OPEB liabilities are effective for
years beginning after June 15, 2017. Management has evaluated the impact this Statement will
have on the System’s financial statements and estimates it will reduce beginning net position upon
adoption by approximately $25.7 million.

In June 2017, GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. This statement is effective for financial
periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and earlier application is encouraged. Management is
currently evaluating the impact this Statement will have on the System's financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The carrying amounts, which represent both cost and fair value, of cash and cash equivalents for
the System at June 30, 2017 and 2016 are presented below:

2017 2016
Cash in bank $16,235187 % 8,128,506
Qutstanding checks (3,710,293) (1,654,645)
State Treasurer's Cash Pool 1,182,524 8,583,207

$13,707,418 $15.057,068

The bank account balances are covered by depository insurance up to $250,000 at June 30, 2017
and 2016. The cash in bank in excess of depository insurance is collateralized by a stand-by letter
of credit with the Federal Home Loan Bank, The System has established internal procedures to
monitor credit risk relating to deposits in financial institutions.

The State Treasurer's Cash Pool (the Pool), established by the Maine State Treasurer, is not rated
by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. However, the Pool is limited by State law
to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and its agencies and instrumentalities that mature
within 36 months; repurchase agreements that are secured by obligations of the U.S. Government
and its agencies and instrumentalities and mature within 12 months; prime commercial paper; tax-
exempt municipal obligations rated no less than AA; corporate bonds rated AAA; money market
funds; bankers' acceptances not exceeding 180 days; and time certificates of deposit not
exceeding two years.

The System's management considers this investment to be a money market instrument and carries
the amounts at cost, which approximates fair value.
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Investments

The fair value of investments for the System at June 30, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

2017 20186
Management account investments
Mutual funds
Fixed-income 3 - §$22,859,153
Equity - 25,119,515
Currency hedge - 1,389,559
Investments at net asset value
Fixed-income 28,165,605 -
Equity 26,310,549 -
Maoney market funds “ 281.110
Total management account investments 54,476,154 49,649,337
Other investments 4,137 3,748
Total investment balance $.54,480.291 $49.653.085

The System's investments are reported in the financial statements at June 30, 2017 and 2016 as
follows, based on the portfolios underlying the mutual fund investments:

2017 2016
Short-term investments $ 39,951,938 $36,499,633
Endowment investments 14,528 363 13,153,452

$54,480,291 $49.653.085

Interest Rate Risk

The System manages interest rate risk according to its investment policy by maintaining
investments that are both liquid, as determined by a readily available market, and highly
diversified, using institutional class mutual funds or exchange-traded funds.

Credit Risk

The System limits its exposure to credit risk in its investment policy by investing in highly diversified
fixed-income funds. Collectively taken, the majority of the underlying holdings in these funds in
which the System may invest are investment grade as rated by a nationally recognized statistical
rating organization (NRSRQO). The System further reduces potential credit risk by not investing
direcfly in individual fixed-income securities. Management periodically reviews the exposure to
securities that are unrated or below investment grade in its portfolios to ensure the System limits its
credit risk.
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A summary of fixed-income investments and their related interest rate and credit risks as of June
30, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

2017 2016
Rating Amount Maturity Amount Maturity
AAA $ 3,625,457 S6years $ 2,929,386 8.8 years
AA 10,923,865 1.2 years 9,658,168 8.0 years
A 13,616,283 7.2 years 2,996,954 6.4 years
BBRB - 315,044 7.4 years
BB - 6,959,601 4.9 years
$ 28,165,605 $22859.153

The ratings and maturities are the weighted averages of the debt securities in which the funds
invest.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The System has not defined a limit in its investment policies regarding the amount that can be
placed in one issuer, However, the investment policy defines that the portfolio should be well
diversified as to limit exposure to one issuer or security. Also, within the individual funds, the net
credit exposure to any single issuer will not represent more than 5% of the fund with the exception
of U.S. Treasuries and Agencies and investment grade OECD member countries and their
instrumentalities. As of June 30, 2017 and 2018, individual investments representing more than 5%
of the System's investments were as follows:

Percentage
of Investments
2017 2016
Wellington Trust Co. (WTC)-Common Trust Funds (CTF) Treasury
Inflation Protected 7 - %

WTC-CTF Ultra Short Duration 20 -
WTC-CTF Intermediate Bond 21 -
Doubleline Total Return - 6
Harbor High Yield - 6
Vanguard Total Bond Markets Fund - 19
Vanguard Inflation Protected Fund - 6
Vanguard Intermediate Term Investment Grade Fund - 8

* Fund was less than 5%.
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Custodial Credit Risk

All of the System's investments are held with a third-party custodian in the System's name.

Eair Value Measurement

GASB Statement No. 72 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an
asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement
date. GASB No. 72 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.
The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value;

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the
entity has the ability to access as of the measurement date.

Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, and other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect an entity's own assumptions about the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

At June 30, 2017 certain investments were measured at Net Asset Value (NAV), which is fair value
estimated by management using values provided by the investment managers. Management does

not anticipate that these funds will be liquidated, although relative positions are rebalanced
periodically.

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2017, Using:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments
Cash and short-term investments  § 4137 $ 4137 $ - $
Investments at net asset value
Equity mutual funds 26,310,549
Fixed-income mutual funds 28,165,605
$.54.480,291
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Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2018, Using:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments
Cash and short-term investments $ 1,674,417 § 1674417 § - %
Equity mutual funds 25,119,515 25,119,515 -
Fixed-income mutual funds 22 859.153 22 859 153 -
$49653085 $ 49653085 $ - %

Assets measured at net asset value are as follows:

June 30, 2017

Redemption Redemption
Fair Value Frequency Notice Period
Equity mutual funds:

22nd calendar day of
CTF Enduring Assets (a) $ 5,731,234 Monthly previous month
CTF Global Quality Growth (b) 1,755,084 Daily On redemption date

22nd calendar day of
CTF Global Opportunities (c) 16,267,311 Monthly previous month

22nd calendar day of
CTF Global Perspective (d) 1,702,656 Monthly previous month

22nd calendar day of
CTF Opportunistic Equity (e} 854,264 Monthly previous month

Fixed-income mutual funds:
22nd calendar day of

CTF Core Bond Plus (f) 2,306,889 Monthly previous month
22nd calendar day of
CTF Intermediate Bond (g} 11,309,393 Monthly previous month
CTF Treasury Inflation Protected (h) 3,625,457 Daily On redemption date
CTF Ultra Short Duration (i) 10,923,866 Daily On redemption date

(a) This fund invests in companies with long-lived physical assets that exhibit low levels of earnings
volatility and is managed on a total return basis.

(b) This fund invests in high quality growth companies to provide long-term total returns above the
Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI) Index and is managed on a total return basis.

(c) This fund invests primarily in common stock to provide long-term total return in excess of the
MSCI All Country World Index and is managed on a total return basis.
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(d}This fund invests primarily in common stock to provide long-term total return in excess of the
MSCI World Small Cap Index over full market cycles and it managed on a total return basis.

(e)This fund invests in securities with both long and short positions, uses an unconstrained, non-
benchmark oriented approach, and is managed on a total return basis.

(f) This fund invests in U.S. Government and Agency securities, mortgage securities, municipal
securities, and other similar assets to provide long-term total return in excess of the U.S. bond
market represented by the Barclays Aggregate Bond Index. The fund also purchases debt
obligations meeting similar risk and is managed on a total return basis.

(g)This fund invests in investment-grade, U.S. dollar-denominated debt obligations of U.S. and
non-U.S. issuers to provide long-term return in excess of the Barclays Capital Intermediate
Government/Credit Bond Index and is managed on a total return basis.

(M This fund invests primarily in U.S. Treasury inflation protected securities, including inflation-
indexed bonds issued by U.S. agencies, U.S. government instrumentalities, and government
agency nominal securities to provide inflation and leng-term total return in excess of the
Barclays Capital U.S. 1-10 Year TIPS Index. It is managed on a total return basis.

(i) This fund invests in investment grade, U.S. dollar-denominated debt obligations of U.S. and
non-U.8. issuers to provide long-term total return in excess of the Barclays Capital 9-12 Month
Treasury Index while maintaining liquidity and preserving capital. It is managed on a total return
basis.

Receivables

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable at June 30, 2017 and 2016 consisted of the following:

2017 2016
Grants and contracts $ 5,061,077 $ 2,037,874
Student and general 3,027,171 2,798,780
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,144,701) (1,106,381)
Total accounts receivable, net $ 6,943,547 $ 3,730,273

Pledges Receivable

The System had no pledge receivable at June 30, 2017. The System had a $200,000 pledge
receivable at June 30, 2016 which was collected in fiscal year 2017.
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Capital Assets
Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2017 is summarized as follows:
Retirements/

Balance Reductions/
July 1, 2016 Additions Adjustments

Balance
June 30, 2017

Land $ 3,682,337 $ - 8 - $ 3,682,337
Buildings 141,310,498 7,298,101 352,000 148,256,599
Improvements 103,852,818 3,663,587 33,842 107,472,563
Furniture and equipment 64,671,251 3,840,462 659,418 67,852,295
Library books and periodicals 4,777,598 91,904 882,888 3,986,614
Construction in process 10,542,708 9.018.,473 8,985,647 10,575,534
328,837,210 23,902,527 10,913,795 341,825,942
Less accumulated
depreciation (147.888.638) _(11.415.250) _(1.610.944) (157.692,944)
Capital assets, net $__ 180948572 $_12487.277 $ 9,302,851 $ 184,132,998
Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 is summarized as follows:
Balance Retirements/ Balance

July 1, 2015 Additions Reductions

June 30, 2016

Land $ 3,682,337 % - % - % 3,682,337
Buildings 141,660,190 150,308 500,000 141,310,498
Improvements 88,034,216 16,185,792 367,190 103,852,818
Furniture and equipment 63,941,721 4,129,915 3,400,385 64,671,251
Library books and periodicals 4,673,875 102,402 (1,321) 4,777 598
Construction in process 12,710,075 4.707.900 6,875,267 10,542 708
314,702,414 25,276,317 11,141,521 328,837,210

Less accumulated

depreciation (139,177,392) (11.432508) (2,721.260) (147.888.638)
Capital assets, net $_175625022 §_13.843.811 §$_.8420261 $_ 180,948,572
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Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2017 is summarized as follows:

2017
Beginning Premium Ending Current
Balance Additions  Payments Amortization Balance Portion
Notes payable $21,284,118 § - § 128,184 $ 127,421 $21,028513 § 828,138
Capital leases 2,236,217 - 2,209,010 - 27.207 13,425
$23,620,335 $ - $2,337.194 $_ 127,421 $21.055.720 $_ 841,563
Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 is summarized as follows:
2016
Beginning Premium Ending Current
Balance Additions  Payments Accretion Balance Portion
Notes payable $22,886,145 § - $1.574777 § 27,250 $21,284,118 $ 131,476
Capital leases 2,272,653 - 36,436 - 2,236,217 2209012
$25158,798 §$ - $1.611,213 $_ 27250 $23520.335 $.2.340488
Notes payable consist of the following at June 30, 2017 and 2016:
2017 2016
Notes payable to Maine Health and Higher Educational Facilities
Authority (MHHEFA) in conjunction with revenue bonds:
Series 2016A (including original issue premium of
$2,548,412) which bears interest at rates ranging from
3.0% to 5.0%; annual principal payments due in amounts
ranging from $695,000 in fiscal 2018 to $1,470,000 in fiscal
2035 when note is repaid in full. $ 19,903,291 $ 20,030,712
Note payable to Town of Fairfield:
Bearing interest at 3%; monthly principal and interest
payments of $7,764 to 2030 and a final payment of
$3,914 when the note is repaid in full. The note is
collateralized by a building. 988,803 1,051,291
Note payable to Aramark:
Bearing interest at 2.5%; monthly principal and interest
payments of $5,833 until maturity in fiscal 2019. 136,419 202,115

$_21,028,513 $ 21,284,118
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In September of 2006, the System issued notes with a par value of $24,340,000 through MHHEFA
with an average annual interest rate of 4.7 percent and a final maturity in July 2036. The purpose
of the proceeds was to fund a major expansion project at three of the college campuses. MHHEFA
required $1,717,827 of the proceeds to be transferred to a debt reserve fund that is retained by
MHHEFA in an interest-bearing account and will be used by MHHEFA to make the final payment of
principal and interest in 2036. Accordingly, funds transferred to MHHEFA are not included as
assets and are deducted from the amounts owed in the System's balance sheet. The bonds were
issued at a premium of $817,470 and $27,250 of the premium was amortized in fiscal 2016 as a
reduction to capitalized interest. These revenue bonds were paid off with a refunding in June 2016
with MHHEFA.

In June of 2016, the System issued revenue bonds with a par value of $19,010,000 through
MHHEFA with an average annual interest rate of 4.1 percent and a final maturity in July 2035.
MHHEFA requires that $1,527,700 of the bond proceeds be transferred to a debt reserve fund. The
amount transferred to the debt reserve fund is retained by MHHEFA in an interest bearing account
and will be used by MHHEFA to make the final payment of principal and interest in 2035.
Accordingly, funds transferred to MHHEFA are not included as assets and are deducted from the
amounts owed in the System's balance sheet. The bonds were issued at a premium of $2,548,412.
This Revenue Bond was used to refund the MHHEFA Bond 2006F originally issued in September
2007.

The notes are collateralized by the gross receipts of the System. The System is required to make
monthly deposits of principal and interest of amounts sufficient to make the semi-annual interest
payments and annual principal payments and to maintain a ratio of income available for debt
service to annual debt service of at least 1.20 for each fiscal year. At June 30, 2017, the System
met the debt service ratio.

At June 30, 2017, future payments in conjunction with the notes payable to MHHEFA related to the
Series 2016A revenue bonds, Town of Fairfield and Aramark are as follows for the years ending
June 30:

Principal Interest Total

2018 $ 826,747 $ 835101 $ 1,661,848
2019 870,409 796,239 1,666,648
2020 833,365 757,007 1,690,372
2021 880,445 716,953 1,697,398
2022 022 587 674,285 1,596,872
2023 - 2027 5,217,428 2,700,484 7,917,912
2028 - 2032 6,109,242 1,447.723 7,556,965
2033 - 2035 2.947 300 226 675 3,173,975
Total payments 18,607,623 $_8.154 467 $.26.761.990
Unamortized premium 2,420,990

Total $.21.028.5613
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On January 1, 1997, the System exacuted and delivered Certificates of Participation in the amount
of $5,280,000 to finance the construction of buildings and infrastructure and the acquisition of
equipment at one of the colleges, York County Community College, This transaction was
accounted for as a capital lease. The final certificate matured on January 1, 2017. The interest
component was payable semi-annually through fiscal 2017. The certificates required an amount of
$450,000 to be held on deposit with the bond trustee to cover a portion of the final principal
payment. The total held, including income earned, was $519,340, which is classified as deposit
with bond trustee at June 30, 2016, There is no outstanding balance as of June 30, 2017. The
balance of this capital lease at June 30, 2016 was $2,180,000.

The assets acquired under this lease have a net book value of approximately $2.7 million and $2.9
million at June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The assets are included in buildings as part of
capital assets and depreciation is included in depreciation expense.

The System has other capital leases totaling $27,207 and $56,217 at June 30, 2017 and 20186,
respectively.

At June 30, 2017, future minimum payments under noncancelable capital lease obligations are as
follows for the years ending June 30:

2018 $ 13,425
2019 13,782

Total minimum lease payments 27,207
Less amounts representing interest 1,091

Present value of net minimum lease payments under capital leases $___26.116
Retirement Plans
Defined Benefit Plan

The System participates in the SET Plan, a multiple-employer cost sharing plan administered by
the Maine Public Employees Retirement System (the MainePERS). The MainePERS provides
pension benefits to its members, which include employees of the State, certain public school
employees and employees of local municipalities and other public entities in Maine. There are 240
employers in the SET Plan. All state employees and teachers become members of the SET Plan
as a condition of their employment,

The MainePERS is established and administered under the Maine State Retirement System Laws,
Title 5 M.R.S.A., C.421, 423, and 425, The MainePERS issues a publicly available financial report
that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the SET Plan. That
report is available online at www.mainepers.org or may be obtained by writing to the Maine Public
Employees Retirement System, 46 State House Station, Augusta, Maine 04333-0046.
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The SET Plan provides defined retirement benefits based on members’ average final
compensation and creditable service. Vesting occurs upon the earning of five years of service
credit or the earning of one year of service credit immediately preceding retirement at or after
normal retirement age (prior to October 1, 1999, the service credit requirement is ten years);
normal retirement age for the SET Plan is age 80, 62, or 65. The normal retirement age is
determined by whether a member had met certain creditable service requirements on specific
dates, as established by Maine statute.

Upon termination of membership, members’ accumulated employee contributions are refundable
with interest, credited in accordance with statute. Withdrawal of accumulated contributions results
in forfeiture of all benefits. The annual rate of interest credited to members’ accounts is set by the
MainePERS Board of Trustees and is currently 5.0%.

Contributions

Retirement benefits are funded by contributions from members and employers and by earnings on
investments. Disability and death benefits are funded by employer normal cost and by earnings on
investments. in accordance with Maine statute, members are required to contribute 7.65% of their
earnable compensation to the Plan. The System is required to contribute at an actuarially-
determined rate (22.69% of annual payroll for fiscal year 2017 and 22.37% for fiscal year 2016)
that, when combined with the contributions of other reporting entities, will be adequate to fund the
Plan.

The contribution rate is determined using an entry-age normal actuarial funding method for
retirement benefits and a term-cost method for ancillary benefits. The System may be required to
make contributions to fund the Plan's pooled unfunded actuarial liability, if any. The contribution
requirements of the SET Plan members and the System are established by and may be amended
by the Gtate legislature.

Total System and employee contributions (which equal the actuarially-required contributions) to the
SET Plan are as follows:

201 20186 2015
System $ 6,862,506 § 7,367,698 § 8,328,072
Employee 2,271,176 2,189,833 2074818
Total $9.133,682 $_9,557.531 $10.402,890
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Qutflows and Inflows of Resources
Related to the Pension Plan

At June 30, 2017 and 2016, the System reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net
pension lkability of the SET Plan. At June 30, 2017 and 2016, the net pension liabilty was
measured as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and the total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of those dates. The
System's proportionate share of the net position liability was based on a projection of the System's
long-term share of contributions to the SET Plan relative to the projected contributions of all
participating employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2016, the System's proportion was
4.97%, which was an decrease of 1.67% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2015.

For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the System recognized pension expense of
$5,185,834 and $7,411,909, respectively. At June 30, 2017, the System reported deferred outflows
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the pension plan from the following
sources:
2017 2016
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Qutflows of Inflows of  Qutflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources  Respources  Resources

Difference between expected and

actual experience $ 1,002423 $ 667,829 $ - $ 1,829,830
Changes in assumptions 3,263,237 1,240,702 -
Net difference between projected

and actual earnings on pension

plan investments 13,855,424 5,771,217 9415268 11,567,957
Changes in proportion and

differences between System

contributions and propartionate

share of contributions 83,091 12,136,626 1,792,148 236,308
System contributions subsequent
to the measurement date 6.862.506 - 7,367,698 -

$265.066,681 $18.475.672 $19,815.816 $13.634.095

The deferred outflows of resources resulting from the System’s contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending
June 30, 2018. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to the pension plan will be recognized as a reduction of pension expense as
follows for the years ending June 30:

2018 $ (3,444,747
2019 (2,873,729)
2020 3,904,224
2021 2,142,755
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Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following methods and assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial Cost Method - The Entry Age Normal actuarial funding methad is used to determine
costs. Under this funding methad, the total employer contribution rate consists of two elements, the
normal cost rate and the unfunded actuarial liability rate.

The individual entry age normal method is used to determine liabilities. Under the individual entry
age normal method, a normal cost rate is calculated for each member. This rate is determined by
taking the value, as of age at entry into the plan, of the member's projected future benefits, and
dividing it by the value, also as of the member's entry age, of his/her expected future salary.

The normal cost for each member is the product of his/her pay and his/her normal cost rate. The
normal cost for the group is the sum of the normal costs for all members. Experience gains and
losses (i.e., decreases or increases in liabilities and/or in assets when actual experience differs
from the actuarial assumptions} affect the unfunded actuarial-accrued liability.

Asset Valuation Method - The actuarial valuation employs a technigue for determining the actuarial
value of assets which dampens the swing in the market value. The specific technique adopted in
this valuation recognizes in a given year one-third of the investment return that is different from the
actuarial assumption for investment return.

Amortization - The net pension liability is amortized on a level percentage of payroll over the
amartization period then in effect under Maine statutory and constitutional requirements.

Significant actuarial assumptions employed by the actuary for funding purposes as of June 30,
2016 and 2015 are as foliows:

investment Rate of Return - 6.875% and 7.125% per annum for the year ended June 30, 2016
and 2015, respectively, compounded annually.

Salary Increases, Merit and Inflation - 2.75% to 8.75% per year.

Mortality Rates - For active members and non-disabled retirees, the RP-2000 Tables projected
forward to 2016 using Scale AA are used, set back two years for 2016 and the RP2014 Total
Dataset Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table is used for 2017.

Cost of Living Benefit Increases - 2.20% per annum.
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major class
of assets. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class included in the pension plan's target asset allocation as of June 30, 2016 are summarized in
the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected

Asgset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
U.S. equities 20 % 57 %
Non-U.S. equities 20 55
Private equity 10 7.6
Real assets
Real estate 10 5.2
Infrastructure 10 53
Hard assets 5 50
Fixed-income 25 2.9

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the collective total pension liability was 6.875%
and 7.125% for 2016 and 2015, respectively. The projection of cash flows used to determine the
discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate
and that employer and non-employer entity contributions will be made at contractually required
rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments to current ptan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

The following table shows how the System's proportionate share of the net pension liability as of
June 30, 2016 and 2015 would change if the discount rate used was one percentage point lower or
one percentage point higher than the current rate. The current rate is 6.875%.

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
2016
The System's proportionate share
of the net pension liability $ 93,700,732 $ 66,740,128 $ 44,069,945
2015
The System's proportionate share
of the net pension liability $100,896,672 $ 68,006,887 § 40,242,422
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Changes in net pension liability are recognized in pension expense with the following exceptions:

Differences between Expected and Actual Experience - The differences between expected and
actual experience with regard to economic or demographic factors were recognized in pension
expense using a straight-line amortization method over a closed period equal to the average
expected remaining service lives of active and inactive members. For the 2016 and 2015 actuarial
valuations, this was three years,

Differences between Projected and Actual Investment Eamings - Differences between projected
and actual investment earnings were recognized in pension expense using a straight-line
amortization method over a closed five-year period.

Changes in Assumptions - Differences due to changes in assumptions about future economic or
demaographic factors or other inputs were recognized in pension expense using a straight-line
amortization method over a closed period equal to the average expected remaining service lives of
active and inactive members in each plan. For the SET Plan, there were no changes in
assumptions in the 2016 valuation. The change in discount rate from 7.125% to 6.875% was the
only change in assumptions in the 2015 valuation.

Changes in Proportion and Differences between Employer Contributions and Proportionate Share
of Contributions - Differences resulting from a change in proportionate share of contributions and
differences between total employer contributions and the employer's proportionate share of
contributions were recognized in pension expense using a straight-line amortization method over a
closed period equal to the average expected remaining service lives of active and inactive
members. Differences between total employer contributions and the employer's proportionate
share of contributions may arise when an employer has a confribution requirement for an
employer-specific liability.

Rationale for Assumptions - The assumptions were adopted by the plan trustees as a result of the
latest experience study review performed in 2012 and covering the period July 1, 2006 through
June 30, 2011.

Defined Contribution Plan

Certain employees participate in an optional program with Teachers Insurance and Annuity
Association - College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF), a defined contribution plan. In
defined contribution plans, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed plus investment
earnings. Only confidential employees and, as of July 1999, Maine Education Association (MEA)
Administrators and faculty are eligible to participate in the TIAA-CREF defined contribution plan.
The System contributes 12.88% and 6.04% of total salaries for eligible confidential and MEA
employees, respectively. The System contribution is funded as it accrues and, along with the
contributions of the employees, is immediately vested. Employees make contributions at an
average of 6.64% of total salaries (6.30% in 2016). Total employer contributions to the TIAA-CREF
program in fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively, amounfed to $1,514,649 and $1,560,0286,
which consisted of $450,593 and $466,247 for confidential employees and $1,064,055 and
$1,093,779 for MEA employees. MEA employee contributions amounted to $1,213,927 and
$1,367,848 in 2017 and 20186, respectively.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2017 and 2016

Total salaries and wages for covered employees participating in TIAA-CREF were $21,115,206
and $21,728,861 for fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Post-Employment Health Insurance

The System established a defined benefit post-employment healthcare plan - a single employer
defined benefit plan that is used to provide postemployment benefits other than pensions. This
plan covers all employees who retire and participate in MainePERS or TIAA-CREF. See Note 12
for more information.

Commitments and Contingencies

The System is covered by a commercial insurance policy for workers' compensation. The State of
Maine has the primary obligation for self-insured claims and reimburses the System for payments
made. In 2017 and 2016, the System made payments of $40,500 and $43,600, respectively, which
were reimbursed by the State of Maine. The contingent liability for estimated unpaid workers'
compensation claims at June 30, 2017 and 2016 is $995,500 and $1,100,000, respectively.

The System owns property with a book value of approximately $14.9 million in Brunswick, Maine
for the use of the Southern Maine Community College. This property must be used solely and
continuously for educational programs until November 2041 under the terms by which the property
was donated.

From time-to-time, the System is named as a defendant in legal actions and other claims incident
to the normal conduct of its operations. Management does not expect to suffer any material liability
by reason of such actions, nor does it expect that such actions will have a material effect on the
financial position of the System.

The System has entered into various construction and renovation contracts. The System has
outstanding commitments under these contracts of approximately $2.1 million at June 30, 2017.

The System entered into a ten-year operating lease, which ended June 30, 2006, for the current
building in which the central administrative office of the System is located. The System is currently
renting this space month-to-month. Annual rent was $167 460 for the years ended June 30, 2017
and 2018. Each year the annual rent may be adjusted by an inflation factor. There was no
adjustment in 2317 and management estimates rent for fiscal 2018 to be $167,460.

The System participates in various federally-funded programs. These programs are subject to
financial and compliance audits and resolution of identified questioned costs. The amount, if any,
of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agency cannot be determined at this
time.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Proceeds from State for Grants and Capital Asset Acquisition

In November 2007, a State of Maine general-purpose bond issue was authorized; the System's
portion of the bond is $15,500,000 and is to be used for interior and exterior building renovations,
improvements and additions at all campuses. In 2010, a State of Maine general-purpose bond was
authorized; the System's portion of this bond is $9,750,000 and is to be used for development of an
engineering and economic development center at the former Brunswick Naval Air Station site and
for energy and infrastructure upgrades at all campuses. In 2013, another State of Maine general-
purpose bond was authorized; the System's portion of this bond is $15,500,000 and is to be used
for energy and infrastructure at all campuses. The System will not be required by the State of
Maine to assume the bond liability when activities are complete. Through June 30, 2017, the
System has spent $40,750,000 on these projects. Revenues recognized from the State in fiscal
years 2017 and 2016 amounted to $2,613,047 and $5,875,418, respectively, and are included as
other revenues in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.

State Appropriations

During the years ended 2017 and 2016, the System's state appropriations revenue was
unrestricted. These appropriations include general appropriations as well as special appropriations.

Maine Community College Educational Foundations

The significant accounting policies followed by the Maine Community College Educational
Foundations, as set forth below, are governed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, As
such, certain revenue and expense recognition criteria and presentation requirements differ from
GASB. No modifications have been made to the Foundation's financial information included here
for these differences.

Basis of Accounting

The Foundations follow the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and
expenses are recorded when incurred.

Cash

The Foundations maintain cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed amounts
guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Foundations have not experienced
any losses in such accounts and believe they are not exposed to any significant risk of loss on
cash.

Pledges

Fledges receivable are recorded at their net present value and net of allowance for uncollectible
amounts. Pledges receivable at June 30, 2017 and 2016 are substantially all due within five years.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Appreciation on Permanently Restricted Net Assets

The Boards of Directors have interpreted State of Maine law as requiring the preservation of the
fair value of the original gift of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor
stipulations to the contrary. The expendable portion of income on such assets is reported in the
statement of activities as temporarily restricted investment income and reclassified to unrestricted
net assets when the stipulated donor restriction is accomplished.

investments

Investments held by the Foundations at June 30, 2017 and 2016, which are carried at fair value,
consisted of the following:

2017 2016

Real assets $ 12,318 $ 10,552
.S, Government bonds 327,457 184,727
Corporate bonds 2,468,862 1,684,604
Common stock 4,734,584 3,964,061
Mutual funds 2,028,049 2,832,311
Investments measured at net asset value

Fixed-income 247,564 -

Equity 646,745 -
Money market funds and certificates of deposit 2,681,260 878,535

$13,146.839 $_9,574,790

The fair value of investments is primarily based on quoted price in active markets; certificates of
deposit are carried at cost which approximates fair value.

The Foundations each have their own investment policies that allow for a range of investment
options.

Fair Value Measurement

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist of investments which are generally
valued using Level 1 inputs as described in Note 3, with the exception of corporate bonds which
are valued using Level 2 inputs and investments measured at Net Asset Value (NAV). Investments
measured at NAV represent the Foundation for Maine's Community College’s allocable portion of
the System's portfolio (generally 5.1%). See Note 3 for additional disclosures.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Net Assets
The net assets of the Foundation are reported as follows:
Unrestricted Net Assets - Unrestricted net assets represent unrestricted resources over

which the Foundations' Board of Directors retains full control to accomplish any of the
Foundations' stated purposes.

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets - Temporarily restricted net assets represent contributions
and earnings on permanently restricted net assets which may only be utilized in accordance
with the purpose established by the donors of the related contributions or contributions with
time restrictions, Temporarily restricted net assets generally consists of gifts restricted for
scholarship or programs and appreciation on permanently restricted net assets.

Permanently Restricted Net Assets - Permanently restricted net assets represent endowment
funds that are subject to the restrictions of the gift instruments requiring that the principal be
invested in perpetuity and that income only be utilized, as stated in the gift instruments,
Permanently restricted net assets generally consists of gifts to be held in perpetuity with the
income available to be used for programs or scholarships.

Gifts and Contributions

Gifts and contributions are recorded when an unconditional promise to give is received, or when
assets are received in a contribution, whichever comes first. Contributed assets are recorded at fair
value,

Related Party Transactions

Support consists of amounts paid to the System in support of the System's various programs. At
June 30, 2017 and 2016, substantially all accounts payable and accruals are payable to the
System for such support.

The System also provides funding and in-kind support to the Foundations. This support totaled
approximately $309,000 in 2017 and $300,000 in 2016, which is included in other revenues on the
Statement of Activities.

Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan and Trust

Post-employment Healthcare Plan

The System established a defined benefit post-employment healthcare plan, a single employer
defined benefit plan, used to provide post-employment benefits other than pensions (OPEB). This
plan covers all employees who retire and participate in MainePERS or TIAA-CREF and provides
healthcare benefits for retirees. Benefits are provided through a third-party insurer and the full cost
of the benefits is covered by the plan.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

The System records an expense for the post-employment healthcare plan as costs are incurred for
current employees while the employees are performing services for the System. The amount in
future years will be based on a calculation related solely to the System's employees and retirees.
The System's contributions cover retirees only; additional family members are paid for by the
retirees.

Plan membership consisted of the following at June 30, 2017:

Inactive pian members currently receiving benefit payments 357
Active plan members 881
1,23

Calculations are based on the types of benefits and on the sharing of costs between the System
and its employees as of the most recent valuation dated June 30, 2017. Valuations are required to
be completed every two years.

The components of the net OPEB liability of the System at June 30, 2017, were as follows:

Total OPEB liability $ 48,981,102
Fiduciary net position (36,672.809)
Net OPEB liability $_12.308.293
Actuarial value of assets as a percentage of the OPERB liability 74.9 %

The OPEB liability, funded status, annual cost and annual required contribution were computed
using a 7.0% investment rate in 2017, 2016 and 2015; inflation rate of 3.0%:; healthcare cost
inflation rate ranging from 7.0% in 2018 to 5.0% in 2022 and later years; projected unit credit
actuarial cost method; and amortizing the actuarial-accrued liability at a leve! percentage of pay
over 30 years based on an open group. Effective with the June 30, 2014 actuarial valuation, the
vesting period increased to 10 years for System employees hired on or after January 1, 2013
(5 years prior to January 1, 2013). Actuarial valuations reflect long-term perspective and involve
estimates of reported amounts and assumptions about the prabability of events far into the future.
Actuarially-determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to
past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

The following table shows how the System's total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2017 would change
if the healthcare trend rate used was one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher
than the current rate. The current rate starts at an initial rate of 7.0% decreasing annually by 0.5%
to an ultimate rate of 5.0%. The 1% decrease in health care trend rates would assume an initial
rate of 6.0% decreasing by 0.5% annually to an ultimate rate of 4.0%. The 1% increase in health
care trend rates would assume an initial rate of 8.0% decreasing by 0.5% annually to an ultimate
rate of 6.0%.

Current
Health Care
1% Decrease  Trend Rate 1% Increase
{6.0%) {7.0%) (8.0%)
Net OPEB liability $ 5966601 $ 12,308,203 § 20,288,152

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 7.0 percent. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that System contributions will be made at rates
equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates. Based on those assumptions, the OPEB
plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on QOPEB plan
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total OPEB
liability.

The following table shows how the System's total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2017 would change
if the discount rate used was one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the
current rate. The current rate is 7.0%.

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.0%) {7.0%) (8.0%)
Net OPER liability $ 19944270 $ 12,308,293 $ 6,111,921

The following assumption changes were made for the year ended June 30, 2017:

The per capita costs were increased using current enrollment and agency factors. The
mortality table was changed from RPH-2014 Total Dataset Mortality Table fully generational
using Scale MP-2014 to RPH-2015 Total Dataset Mortality Table fully generational using
Scale MP-2015.

Post-Employment Benefit Trust

The System established the Post-Employment Benefit Trust as an irrevocable trust for the sole
purpose of accumulating assets to provide funding for certain of the System's post-employment
benefits. The System was named Trustee of the Trust. The effective date of the establishment of
the Trust was June 30, 2009.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2017 and 2016

Plan assets include amounts in the Post-Employment Benefit Trust relating to current year annual
required contributions.
The significant accounting policies followed by the Trust are set forth below:
Basis of Accounting
The Trust follows the accrual basis of accounting as set forth by GASB.
Cash
Cash held by the trust in a financial institution at June 30, 2017 was fully covered by federal
depository insurance. Bank balances were $120,367 and $101,429 at June 30, 2017 and 20186,
respectively.

Investments

The fair value of investments in the Trust at June 30, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

2017 2016

Money market funds $ - $ 26544
Investments measured at net asset value

Fixed-income 10,154,329 -

Equity 26,398,113 -
Mutual funds

Fixed-income - 68,729,504

Equity - 23,161,536

Currency hedge - 1,497,031

$36,552.442 $31,414.615

Revenue Recognition

Contributions are recognized as additions in the period when they become due, pursuant to formal
commitments or statutory or contractual requirements; supplemental contributions are recognized
when received. Investment and interest income and loss are recognized on the accrual basis when
earned or incurred.

Net Position

Net position at June 30, 2017 and 2016 was for funding certain post-employment benefits.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Administrative Expenses
Substantially all administrative expenses of the Trust are paid by the System.
Interest Rate Risk

The Trust manages interest rate risk according to its investment policy by maintaining investments
that are both liquid, as determined by a readily available market, and highly diversified, using
institutional class mutual funds for exchange-traded funds.

Credit Risk

The Trust limits its exposure to credit risk in ifs investment policy by investing in highly diversified
fixed-income funds. Collectively taken, the majority of the underlying holdings in these funds in
which the Trust may invest are investment grade as rated by a NRSRO. The Trust further reduces
potential credit risk by not investing directly in individual fixed-income securities. Management
periodically reviews the exposure to securities that are unrated or below investment grade in its
portfolio to ensure the Trust limits its credit risk.

At June 30, 2017, the ratings by Moody's for investments in debt securities are summarized as
follows based on the porifolios underlying the investments:

A summary of fixed-income investments and their related interest rate and credit risks follows:

2017 2016
Rating Amount Maturity Amount Maturity
AAA - 3 996,412 8.8 years
AA - 1,547,677 8.0 years
A $ 10,154,329 7.2 years 1,029,878 6.4 years
BBB - 645,671 7.4 years
BB - 2,509,866 5.3 years
$_10,154.329 $_ 6729504

The ratings and maturities are the weighted averages of the debt securities in which the funds
invest.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Trust has not defined a limit in its investment policies regarding the amount that can be placed
in one issuer. However, the investment policy defines that the portfolio should be well-diversified as
to limit exposure o one issuer or security. As of June 30, 2017, individual investments representing
more than 5% of the OPEB Trust's investments were as follows:

Percentage
of Investments
2017 2016
WTC-CTF Core Bond Plus 14 % - %
WTC-CTF Intermediate Bond 14 5
Harbor High Yield . 5

Custodial Credit Risk
All of the Trust's investments are held with a third-party custodian in the Trust's name.
Fair Value Measurement

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below according to the level of
input described in Note 3.

At June 30, 2017 all investments were measured at Net Asset Value (NAV), which is fair value
estimated by management using values provided by the investment managers. Management does
not anticipate that these funds will be liquidated, although relative positions are rebalanced
pericdically.

Assets measured at NAV are as follows at June 30, 2017:

Fixed-income:

CTF Core Bond Flus $ 5,105,949
CTF Intermediate Bond 5,048,380
Equity:

CTF Enduring Assets 3,717,480
CTF Glabal Quality Growth 3,879,413
CTF Global Opportunities 13,158,177
CTF Global Perspective 3,757,667
CTF Opportunistic Equity 1,885,376

$.36.552,442

See Note 3 for additional disclosures.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2016

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments
Money market funds $ 26544 $__ 26544 $ - $ -
Mutual funds
Fixed-income 6,729,504 6,729,504 - -
Equity 23,161,536 23,161,536 - -
Currency hedge 1,497,031 1,497,031 - -
$31.414615 $31.414615 $ - 5 -

Rate of Return

All of the Trust's investments are held with a third-party custodian in the Trust's name. For the year
ended June 30, 2017, the annual money-weighted rate of return on investments, net of investment
expense, was 15.186 percent. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of the System's Proportionate
Share of the Net Pension Liability

State Employee and Teacher Plan - State Employee Portion
Last 4 Fiscal Years*

June 30, 2017

(UNAUDITED)
2017 2016 2015 2014
The System’s proportion of the net
pension liability 4,87 % 6.64 % 6.62 % 6.19 %

The System’s proportionate share of the
net pension liability $66,740,128 $68,006,887 $59,711,184 $71,196,328

The System’s covered-employee payroll 30,244,628 32,008,027 30,256,649 30,004,534

The System's proportionate share of the
net pension liability as a
percentage of its covered-
employee payroll 220.7 % 2125 % 1973 % 237.3 %

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension
liability 76.2 % 81.2 % 83.9 % 76.8 %

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the beginning of the fiscal
year. Data has been provided for fiscal years in which the data is available.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

-60 -



Iwml

‘Hodal s Joypne Juapuadapu Buliuedwoone aag

% EL'8T % ¢5'6C % 0C'eC % 91’62 % 049 % 80'ic % 89'CE % BE'PE % 88'6C % L10E lesied
aahojdwe-palancd

j0 abejusniad
B SB SuonquiuoD

llc)Aed ssioidwe

Qi8'1PS'IZ8 P2R'L2L'6ZS SEF'SEL'0ES LSP'098'6CE I65196'8Z% G/1'800'67% PESPOO'OES 6¥S'GSC0E ¢ /C0'800'CE$ 8ZOvyZocd
-pRISADT BWSISAS Ay

s {ssaoxa)}
Aouerayep UoHNQIILOD

(igii19a; (ZEgE159) {16£8028) (IE0Ecll] (leTsse’l) (ggcvoes) (0eBzov DLl (TE6ZGG6) (GBOPCL 67 cﬂ_gntu:g palinbal
-A)|enjoesuos ay) o)

uGHelal Ul SUCINAUILOT

SET'EL6'L $ 1811198 ¢ TERELS'E $ 16E'80L'8 ¢ LE0'EEs’L $ 162'S58°L § 09T'veR's $ 068'ZTOF'OL $ 1ES/SS'6 § SBOVILS § LIORNGLALOD
painbai-Ajenjoeiuod

{GEZELE 1)

800C 6002 g10z %4 Zi0e €102 [Kvr4 S10¢ 910¢ I1oe
{gaiianvNn)
2102 ‘ot sunr
Siea) [BOSl4 Ol IseT
ue|d siaysea] pue asfojduig ajels
SUOIINQLIIUOY) UOISUad S,WalsAS ay) Jo a|npalag
uopeuwucju] Arejuswajddng paiinbay

W3L1SAS F323TT00 ALINONIWOD 3NIVI



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Employer's Contributions
Post-Employment Health Insurance Plan

June 30, 2017
(UNAUDITED)

Dollars in thousands

Annual
Required Annual Percentage
Year Ended Contribution Contripution Contributerd
2017 $ 1951 §% 2,090 107 %
20186 1.814 2,187 121
2015 1,882 2,055 109
2014 1,908 2,894 152
2013 1.663 3.063 184
2012 3,787 4272 113

* See notes to required supplementary information,

See accompanying independent auditor's repor.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Post-Employment Health Insurance Plan

Last Fiscal Year*

June 30, 2017

{UNAUDITED)
2017

Total OPEB liability

Service cost $ 1,538,577

Interest 3,208,147

Differences between expected and actual experience {3,617,568)

Changes of assumptions 5,916,472

Benefit payments {1.647.873)

Net change in total OPEB liability 5,396,755

Total OPERB liability, beginning of year 43,584,347
Total OPEB liability, end of year $48.981,102
Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - System $ 2,090,345

Net investment income 4,769,293

Benefit payments {1,647,873)

Administrative expense (55,000)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 5,156,765

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning of year 31,516,044
Plan fiduciary net position, end of year $36,672,809
Net OPEB liability - end of year $12,308,293
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 74.9 %
Covered-employee payroll $46,240,000
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 26.6 %

* Schedule is intended to show 10 years. Data has been provided for fiscal years in which the data is
available.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Contributions
Post-Employment Health Insurance Plan

June 30, 2017

2016 2015

$ 1,814,116 $ 1,882,102

2,187 091 2,056 275

$__(372975) $__(173.173)

(UNAUDITED)
2017

Actuarially determined contribution $ 2,289,969
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution 2,090,345
Contribution deficiency (excess) $_ 199,624
Covered-employee payroll $46,240,000
Contributions as a percentage of covered

employee payroll 4.5%

$46,887,000 $45,522,000

4.6% 4.5%

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Returns
Post-Employment Health Insurance Plan

June 30, 2017

{UNAUDITED)
2017
Annual money-weighted rate of
return, net of investment expense 15.15 %

Schedule is intended to show 10 years. Data has been provided for fiscal years in which the data is
available.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
Notes to Required Supplementary information

June 30, 2017
{(UNAUDITED)

Factors that significantly affect the identification of trends in the amounts reported in the schadules are:

Schedule of System's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and Schedule of the System's
Pension Contributions

The discount rate increased to 7.50%, up from 7.125% in both 2016 and 2015.

Schedules of Funding Progress and Employer's Contributions Post-Employment Heaith Insurance Plan
The Plan was established in 2009.

In 2017, the per capita costs were increased using current enroflment and aging factors and the
mortality table was changed from RPH-2014 Total Dataset Mortality Table Fully Generational using
Scale MP-2014 to RPH-2015 Total Dataset Mortality Table Fully Generational using Scale MP-2015.

In 2015, the per capita costs were increased using current enrollment and aging factors and the
mortality table was changed from RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Fully Generational using Scale
AA to RPH-2014 Total Dataset Mortality Table Fully Generational using Scale MP-2014. There were no
changes in 2016.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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INDEPENDENT AURITOR'S REPORT

Board of Trustees
Maine Community College System

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities, the aggregate
discretely-presented component units, and the fiduciary fund of the Maine Community College Systemn
(the System), a component unit of the State of Maine, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the System's basic financial
statements, as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not
audit the financial statements of certain foundations within the aggregate discretely-presented
component units, which statements reflect tofal assets constituting 49%, and revenue constituting 39%.
of the related totals, Those statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been
furnished to us, and our opinion on the aggregate discretely-presented component units, insofar as it
relates to the amounts included for these certain foundations, is based solely on the reports of the other
auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The financial statements of the foundations noted above were not audited in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal contro! relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Bangor, ME = Portland, ME * Manchester, NH = Charleston, Wy
wvew. berrydunn.com



Board of Trustees
Maine Community College System

Opinion

In our opinicn, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the 2016 financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely-presented component units, and the fiduciary fund of
the System as of June 30, 2016, and the respective changes in financial position and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

Other Matters
Audit of the Basic Financial Statements as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2015

The basic financial statements of the System as of and for the year ended June 30, 2015 were audited
by other auditors whose opinion, dated October 15, 2015, expressed an unmodified opinion on those
financial statements. Their report noted that the System had retroactively adopted the provisions of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pensions, amended by Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made
Subsequent to the Measurement Date, as of July 1, 2014. Their opinion was not modified with respect
to that matter. Their report also noted that they did not audit the financial statements of certain
foundations within the aggregate discretely presented component units, which statements reflect total
assets constituting 31%, and revenue constituting 19%, of the related totals, that those statements
were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to them, and that their opinion on
the aggregate discretely presented component units, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for
these certain foundations, is based solely on the reponts of the other auditors.

Required Supplementary Information

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that Management's Discussion and Analysis and
the information listed under Required Supplementary information, in the table of contents, be presented
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the GASB who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, and/or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 2016 required supplementary
information in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards, which consisted of inquiries
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

The report of the auditors referred to in the first paragraph of the Other Matters section of this report
indicated that they applied certain limited procedures to the 2007-2015 required supplementary
information presented herein in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing
the information for consistency with management's response to their inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge they obtained during their audit of the basic financial statements, and
that they did not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures did not provide them with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.



Board of Trustees
Maine Community College System

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the System's basic financial statements. The Schedule of Activities is presented
for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. The
Schedule of Activities is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing the reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. In our opinion, the Schedule of Activities is fairly stated, in
all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 14,
2016 on our consideration of the Systemn's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the resuits of that testing and not to provide an opinion on
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the System's internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

Bersyy Divrn MVel | Puidur,, L1

Portland, Maine
Qctober 14, 2016



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

Introduction

The following report is Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the financial results for the
year ended June 30, 2016, with comparative information for the prior two years, The MD&A should be
read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes that are presented with this report.
The MD&A is unaudited supplemental infarmation required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB). The purpose of the MD&A is to enhance the understandability and usefulness of the
financial statements by providing an objective analysis of the financial activities based on currently known
facts, decisions, and conditions. The financial statements, footnotes, and MD&A are management's
responsibility.

General Information about the Maine Community College System

The history of Maine's community colleges dates to 1946 and the creation of the Maine Vocational
Technical Institute within the Maine Department of Education. During the 1860s, five more vocaticnal
technical institutes were created, and in 1986 the Maine Vocational Technical Institute System was
established as a quasi-governmental organization and autonomous publi¢c instrumentality. In 1989 the
name was changed to the Maine Technical College System. A seventh college was added in 1994, and
on July 1, 2003, the Legislature expanded the System’s mission and changed its name to the Maine
Community College System (MCCS or the System).

MCCS offers nearly 300 certificate, diploma, and associate degree program opticns designed to prepare
students for careers and/or transfer to four-year colleges and universities. Credentials are awarded in the
following program areas; arts and sciences; health care; automotive and mechanical; business;
computers, graphics, and multimedia; construction; education and early childhood; electrical and
electronics; engineering technology; HVAC and energy; hospitality and tourism; natural resources;
machining/manufacturing; public safety; and others.

The seven-college system consists of Central Maine Community Cellege in Auburn (CMCC), Eastern
Maine Community College in Bangor (EMCC), Kennebec Valley Community College in Fairfield and
Hinckley (KVCC), Northern Maine Community College in Presque Isle (NMCC), Southern Maine
Community College in South Portland and Brunswick (SMCC), Washington County Community College
in Calais (WCCC), and York County Community College in Wells (YCCC). Off-campus centers are
located in East Millinocket, Ellsworth, South Paris, Damariscotta, Houlton, and Dover-Foxcroft. The
System’s central office, located in Augusta, Maine, was established by legislation to provide statewide
coordination and leadership to the seven colleges.

The System also operated the Center for Career Development (CCD) which managed the Early Coliege
for ME (ECforME) program and the Maine Quality Centers. On June 30, 2016 the System merged CCD's
activities and programs into the System’s central office.

ECforME is a comprehensive high school-to-college transition program offered in partnership with
secondary schools throughout the state. ECforME provides selected students with scholarships to
community colleges, access to college courses to seniors in high school, and advising and support
throughout a student’s high school and community college experience. The Maine Quality Centers
program is an economic development program established by the Legislature in 1994. The program
provides customized workforce training grants for Maine employers seeking to locate or expand their
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2018

operations in Maine or who are interested in providing training to their incumbent workers. The training
is coordinated and delivered by the seven community colleges.

Using the Financial Statements

In addition to this MD&A, the System’s financial report includes a Statement of Net Position; Statement
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and a Statement of Cash Flows, together with
related footnotes. These financial statements are presented in accordance with GASB principles, which
establish the standard for external financial reporting for public colleges and universities. The GASB
standards require that the financial statements focus on the System as a whole.

In order to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the resources supporting the mission of the
MCCS, the GASB also requires that the MCCS report on the assets, liabilities, and activities of
organizations that are not owned or managed by the MCCS but that exist for the sole purpose of
benefiting the System or its colleges. Accordingly, these financial statements include a Balance Sheet
and Statement of Activities for the Maine Community College Educational Foundations (MCCEF) and the
Maine Community College System Post-Employment Benefit Trust (MCCS OPEB Trust or Trust). The
MCCEF includes six foundations established to support individual colleges and their students. It also
includes The Foundation for Maine's Community Colleges which was established in November of 2009
to provide broad based support to all seven of the state’s community colleges. The MCCS OPEB Trust
was established under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code as an irrevocable trust to manage the
assets contributed by the System to fund its long-term obligation to pay the health care and life insurance
benefit costs for certain employees after their retirement.

The Statement of Net Position depicts the financial position of the Maine Community Coliege System as
of June 30, 2016, with comparative data from June 30, 2015, and includes all of the assets and liabilities
of the System. Assets represent what the System owns plus what is owed to MCCS. Liabilities constitute
obligations to make payment to others plus what the System has collected in advance of providing the
related services. Net position represents the residual interest in the MCCS assets after liabilities are
deducted, net of deferred inflows and outflows, and the positive or negative change in net position over
time is an indicator of the relative financial health of the System. The net position is divided into three
primary categories:

Net investment in capital assets, represent the land, buildings and equipment that the System has
acquired over its life and still uses. Net capital assets are presented after deductions for
accumulated depreciation and the outstanding debt incurred to acquire or construct them.

Restricted net position has inherent limitations and can only be expended for the purposes
stipulated by the individual, institution, or governmental unit that directed the resources to the
System. Restricted expendable net position is available to be used for the intended purpose while
nonexpendable assets are invested in perpetuity, and the investment income is used for the
intended purpose.

Unrestricted net position is available for general operations of the System and for dedicated
purposes such as capital projects for renewal and replacement, Maine Quality Center training
initiatives, and working capital maintained for departmental and auxiliary enterprise activities.



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maing)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

While there are no external constraints on unrestricted net position, MCCS has set aside certain
unrestricted net position for future use.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents the operating activities of
the System for the full fiscal year which runs from July 1% to June 30™. Two years of revenues, expenses,
and changes in net position are presented for comparative purposes. This statement matches the
amounts received from tuition, residential life fees, grants, and services and other items of income against
all the costs and outlays incurred in order to operate the System. The costs incurred consist of salaries
and benefits, supplies and overhead expenses, insurances, utilities, and depreciation. The expenses are
categorized according to the activity that generated the cost.

The Statement of Cash Flows examines the changes in cash position resulting from a year of operations
Cash flows are separated by the nature of the activity and include operating activities, noncapital
financing, capital and related financing activities, and investing activities.

Operating activities involve activities relating to the delivery of education and related services. Common
examples of cash flows provided by operating activities include tuition, fees, grants, and bookstore and

food service sales. Cash flows used in operating activities include payments to employees, vendors, and
suppliers.

Noncapital financing activities include appropriations from state government, noncapital grants, and gifts

Capital and related financing activities include those activities relating to the generation and repayment
of funds provided by and paid to lenders as well as grants for acquisition of capital assets.

Investing activities include funds used to purchase marketable securities and funds provided from the
sale of marketable securities.

Highlights and Trends Impacting Financial Results

Trends in enroliment impacted operating results as Maine's community colleges experienced a third year
of modest enrollment decline after 20 years of growth. Enroliment was 17,464 in fall 2015 compared to
17,8662 in 2014, a decrease of 1.1 percent. Since making the transition from technical to community
colleges in 2003, enroliment system-wide has grown 72.5
percent. The long trend of enroliment growth is partially
attributable to the expanded mission of the institutions
with more students enrolling in liberal studies programs
and taking advantage of transfer agreements to four-year
institutions. The recent decline in enrollments is a result
of a reduction in the number of students graduating from
Maine high schools and improved employment
opportunities. Since its peak in 2007-08, the number of
students graduating from Maine high schools has
declined 14.3 percent, or by approximately 2,100
students. After peaking in 2010, the unemployment rate in Maine has decreased from 8.3 percent to 3.7
percent. Recent high school graduates and unemployed workers are important pools of potential students
for community colleges.

Student Headcount
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

MCCS implemented GASB Statement No. 68 (GASB 68} in 2015, GASB 68 requires MCCS to report the
System's proportionate share of the State’s net pension liability. MCCS'’s proportionate share of the
State's net pension liability as of June 30, 2016 was $68.0 million and the System incurred expenses
related to retirement benefits of $9.0 million on covered payroll of $54.9 million. GASB 68 is a change in
accounting for pension benefits, not a change resulting from operations.

Economic Factors Affecting Maine’s Community Colleges

The financial statements detail the results of operations and the financial condition of the System. That
information is more useful when understood in the context of the economic and demographic conditions
under which the institution is operating; and when understanding the plans for dealing with the challenges
with which it is confronted.

Birth rates are declining across the country and, as a result,
the populous is getting older and there are fewer potential %
students in the traditional college ages of 18 to 24, While true ~~United States
across the country, that factor is especially pronounced in ==Maine
Maine.

Y
(=]

In addition, the economy is strong and unemployment is low,
There may be a large pool of underemployed workers, but
they are hard to identify and need to work around existing
work schedules. Finally, the strong economy has drawn
sharper focus on the need for a skilled workforce.

Median Age
w
[F

L<1]
o

The strong economy results in surplus revenues for state
government, but there is competition for the funding that is
available, Advocates for tax reform, expansion of healthcare 25 |
and other causes all have an interest in how the surplus is 1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1390 2000 2010 2015
managed.

The result is a smaller pool of potential students and limited funding for higher education, but a strong
need to expand a skilled workforce. To address that need, MCCS continues to make strategic
investments in educational equipment and facilities. Over the past decade, both CMCC and YCCC have
experienced dramatic growth in enrollment. To accommodate that growth, CMCC opened “The Learning
Tower” in 2016, a four-story, 25,000 square foot building with “Harvard-style” case study rooms and a
chemistry lab for Organic Chemistry, a required course in the new Life Sciences Associate Degree
Program. Also in 2016, YCCC broke ground on a new 18,000-square-foot academic building that will
include classrooms, a developmental math and English laboratory, an auditorium style lecture hall and a
multi-purpose student common area as well as offices. YCCC also relocated and expanded its academic
space in Sanford, Maine. The new site is almost triple the size of the previous space and hosts YCCC's
corporate training programs as well as the college's Precision Machining Technology Programs.



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

These investments are necessary to keep the colleges relevant and competitive in the current
environment. They also represent new capital funding models. Historically, the majority of the capital
investment has been funded through state funded bonds which the System has no obligation to repay.
These buildings were financed with a blend of state-issued bonds, philanthropic support and college
reserves that were set aside for these projects.

The new, blended financing of capital investment has limits. In 2016 the System’s cash balances declined
$6.1 million or 28.8 percent following a 2015 decline in cash of $3.8 million or 15.2 percent, due in part
to cash paid for capital investments of $18.8 million and $23.0 million in those years, respectively.
Nevertheless, with cash-on-hand totaling $15.1 million and expendable investments of $36.5 million on
June 30, 2018, the System's balance sheet and liquidity remain strong. The System remains positioned
to react to changes in the economy and academic delivery and continues to seek new and expanded
sources of funding.

Those efforts include leveraging recent success in philanthropic giving and working closely with
legislative leaders, the executive branch of government and community leaders to secure greater
financial support for Maine’s community colleges. In addition, the System intends to work with specific
industries to modularize the delivery of academic programs and training initiatives into smaller units
aimed at adult learners. These modules will utilize technology as effectively and efficiently as possible to
best meet the needs of the incumbent workforce.

Management is also working to better coordinate the delivery of certain programs and services among
the colleges and to expand the use of success coaches or navigators to provide the targeted support
students often need to remain in school and complete a college credential. To that end. The Foundation
for Maine’'s Community Colleges was recently awarded an $810,000 grant from a nongovernment
organization to suppaort its ongoing efforts to improve student retention

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Operating revenue decreased $6.2 million or 8.1 percent offset by an increase in nonoperating revenue
of $1.6 million or 2.9 percent. In contrast, in 2015 operating revenue increased $3.3 million or 4.3 percent
and nonoperating revenue decreased $5.0 million or 8.2 percent while in 2014 both operating revenue
and nonoperating revenue increased by a total of $6.3 million or 4.9 percent

Changes in Revenue
2016 2015 2014

Operating revenues $708 $770 §$738 Mo

10000001

Operating expenses 1314 1321 127.2 o =B i I

Operating loss (60.6) (55.1) (53.4) . M H N

Nonoperating revenues 576 561  61.0 ” i HAHN

(Loss) income before other - E E E E E
revenue (3.0) 1.0 76 - 1 THHH

Other revenue, net 59 105 7.0 o P . 13- = -
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

Operating Revenue

The decrease in enrollment translates to a reduction in student tuition and fee revenue as well as lower
residential life fees which, taken together, declined $2.3 million or 4.4 percent. Enrollment and the related
revenues declined $0.3 million or 0.6 percent in 2015. Scholarship allowances are funded by student
financial aid resources, mostly Federal Pell Grants, and, tracking with tuition, declined 3.4 percent in
2018.

Revenues from Federal, state and local, and non-government grants in the aggregate declined $4.5
million or 7.8 percent. The colleges are winding down activities on a series of large Federal grants, most
notably the Trade Adjustment Assistance Community College and Career Training (TAACCCT) Grants.
The 2016 decline comes at the end of a long period of growth in grant production that included increases
in 2015 of $3.9 million or 7.2 percent.

Changes in the sources of grants fluctuate between Federal, state and nongovernment entities based on
the opportunities the colleges pursue, but in the current environment do not reflect any meaningful pattern
or strategic change.

Auxiliary revenues from the sale of books and dining services on the college campuses have been in
decline for 5 years. In 2016 auxiliary revenues declined $1.0 million or 17.2 percent compared to 2015
when auxiliary revenues declined $0.2 million or 3.3 percent. While declining enroliment has contributed
to lower revenues, so have changes in technology and buying habits, especially in the college book
stores. The colleges are working with consultants to better coordinate the management and sales
methodologies used by our bookstores.

Nonoperating Revenue

Non-operating revenues are primarily comprised of the appropriations from the State of Maine, gifts, and
investment gains and losses. Appropriation and other state revenue increased $1.9 million or 3.4 percent
in 20186. Gifts and investmentincome, both historically volatile sources of revenue, had offsetting changes
that netted to a decrease of $0.3 million. In 2015 the appropriation did not change significantly and it
increased $2.7 million or 4.8 percent in 2014.

Operating Expenses
Like most colleges and universities, MCCS invests the majority of its resources in its people.

Wages, benefits and wage related taxes accounted for 66.0 percent of expenses in 2016 and 2015
compared to 66.4 percent in 2014, Wages increased 1.1 percent in 2016 compared to 1.6 percent in
2015 and 6.1 percent in 2014. Fiscal 2014 was the first year in a four-year period that the System
authorized wage increases.

Taxes and benefits decreased 4.2 percent in 2016 compared to an increase of 6.9 percent in 2015 and
an increase of 4.5 percent in 2014. The largest benefit expense is the cost of retirement. Approximately
two-thirds of the System’s employees participate in the State Employee and Teacher Retirement Plan, a
multiple-employer cost sharing plan administered by the Maine Public Employees Retirement System
{(MainePERS). The System was required to contribute 22.37 percent of payroll in 2016 and 18.43 percent



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

in 2015. Healthcare benefits for current members and retirees purchased from the Maine Bureau of
Employee Health also contribute to the cost of benefits which add 40 percent to the cost of compensation

2016 2015 2014
Wages $631 $624 $61.4 yr
Taxes and benefits 23.7 24.7 23.1

Wages & benefits 86.8 87.1 84.5

Supplies & 326 336 323 s
service_s I'-. i

Student aid 06 0.6 0.6

Depreciation 11.4 10.8 9.9

Total expenses $131.4 $1321 §$127.3

After a long period of consistency, the distribution of expenses by functional area has shifted over the
three-year period ending June 30, 2016. The System invested between 49 and 50 percent of its
expenditures on instruction plus academic support and between 9 and 10 percent on student services
The colleges are increasing their use of success coaches or navigators to support students who face
challenges in completing their education. As a result, the allocation of resources has been shifting toward
student services.

Expenditures in other areas have remained constant over time with between 14 and 15 percent spent on
institutional support, between 10 and 11 percent on operations and maintenance, approximately 8
percent on auxiliary enterprises and between 8 and 9 percent charged to depreciation in 2016, 2015, and
2014.

2016 2015 2014

Instruction $525 $542 $529 o

Public service 0.6 0.8 0.7 e
Academic support 11.4 10.9 10.6 Siphat

Student services 13.0 12.5 11.8

Institutional support 19.1 18.2 17.5 |
Operations 13.7 13.9 12.8 -

Student aid 0.6 0.6 0.6 e

Auxiliary enterprises 9.2 9.9 10.5 Y

Depreciation 114 108 9.9 ‘*‘m
Total $131.4 $132.14 $127.3 oy

Other Revenues, Expenses, Gains, and Losses
Other revenues, expenses, gains, and losses are primarily the net result of capital activity paid for through

state funded bonds which the System has no obligation to repay and capital gifts and grants including
the transfer of land and buildings from other public entities.

L0i6 020 2015 20 2014
Other revenues, net $5.9 $105 §$7.0
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

Other revenues, expenses, gains, and losses decreased $4.6 million in 2016.

Proceeds from State for grants and capital asset acquisition decreased $2.9 million as projects funded
with state funded bonds neared completion. Proceeds from the State for grants and capital asset
acquisition increased $7.0 million in 2015 and $1.5 million in 2014 as the colleges increased construction
activities primarily at the Alfond campus of KVCC and the Midcoast campus of SMCC.,

Capital gifts decreased $1.2 million in 2016 after decreasing $3.5 million in 2015 and increasing $4.8
million in 2014. In 2014 NMCC received a $4.6 million gift to create a wellness center on its campus

Statement of Net Position

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources increased $1.9 million while total liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources decreased $1.0 million increasing net position by $2.9 million in 2016. MCCS8's net
position has increased every year since transitioning to community colleges.

2016 2015 2014
Current assets $585 $664 $686
Noncurrent assets 207.9 2038 190.3 Net Assets
Deferred outflow-pension 19.8 141 7.8

Total assets and outflows $286.2 $284.3 $266.7

Current liabilities $154 $196  $17.7
Noncurrent liabilities 89.2 84.1 96.0
Deferred inflow 14.2 16.1 -

Total liabilities and inflows $118.8 $119.8 $J_’L3_—.Z

Investment in capital

assets $158.1 $152.0 $1376
Net restricted position 214 227 26.1
Net unrestricted position (12.1) (10.2) (10.7)

Total net position $167.4 $1645 $153.0
Current Assets and Current Liabilities

Current assets decreased $7.9 million and current liabilities decreased $4.2 million in 2016. Cash
decreased $6.2 million in 2016 because the System used $6.9 million more on operating activities than
in 2015 as a result of having collected $4.4 million less from grants and contracts and used $1.8 million
more to pay employees and vendors. Decreases in accounts receivable and pledges receivable of $1.9
million and decreases in inventories and the amount due for the state of $.7 million supperted reductions
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $5.7 million. The ¢changes in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities are a result of timing. The System paid its biweekly payroll obligation on June 29, 2016 and
made routine payments to vendors on June 30, 2018. In 2015 payroll was delivered to employees on
July 1, 2015 and routine payments to vendors were mailed on July 2, 2015,
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

Current assets also decreased $2.2 million and current liabilities increased $1.9 million in 2015. Cash
decreased $3.8 million in 2015 as a result of using $3.0 million more on operating activities than in 2014.
MCCS collected $.7 million less from tuition and residential life fees in 2015 and used $6.8 million more
to pay employees and vendors, but collected $3.9 million more from grants and contracts.

Noncurrent Assets and Noncurrent Liabilities

Noncurrent assets increased $4.1 million. Investments in facilities and equipment, most notably the
construction project at CMCC and two projects at YCCC, increased capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation $5.4 million. The prepaid post-employment benefit increased $.5 million, offset by decreases
in the deposit with bond trustee and endowment investments.

Noncurrent liabilities increased $5.1 million. The System refinanced debt on residence halls built in 2006
and, as a result, reduced long-term indebtedness $3.2 million. Subsequent to the end of the year, MCCS
also prepaid the Certificates of Deposit issued to finance construction of YCCC's primary academic and
administrative building in Wells, Maine. The restructuring of the System’s debt will result in savings of
approximately $0.3 million per year and $2.0 million in each of the final two years (see Note 6). The
present value of the future savings is estimated at $4.2 million.

The reduction in long-term debt was offset by an increase in net pension liability of $8.3 million. The costs
and obligations of retirement plans are assessed below.

Costs and Obligations of Retirement Plans

The regular employees of the System have two retirement plan options: participation in TIAA/CREF, a
defined contribution plan, and MainePERS, a defined benefit plan. MainePERS is an independent public
agency of the State of Maine that administers retirement programs for State employees and other public
entities including MCCS. MainePERS is responsible for the payment of retirement benefits to participants
in that plan.

Participants in both the defined benefit and the defined contribution plan are eligible for retiree health
insurance after vesting.

[n 2015 the System implemented GASB 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions. The
accounting pronouncement changed the method MCCS uses for reporting the pension expenses
associated with employees in the defined benefit plan and required retroactive restatement of the
Statement of Net Position. MCCS's proportionate share of the State’s Unfunded Actuarially Accrued
Liability (UAAL) for pension benefits was $68.0 million as of June 30, 2016 and $59.7 million in 2015.

The plan is administered by MainePERS. The System does not manage the defined benefit plan assets
or directly control the benefits, but the System is required to fund its share of the plan so that it remains
viable and able to honor the commitments made to retired employees. Therefore, the presentation of
MCCC's proportionate share of the Maine PERS UAAL, 6.6 percent as of the last reporting date,
chronicles an important understanding of the System's fully formed financial condition and the totality of
its abligations.,
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

The UAAL is determined by actuaries, not staff or the System’s auditors. Certain estimates used by
actuaries including investment returns, salary increases, mortality rates and cost of living benefits will
impact the valuation of the liability. Note 7 to the financial statements includes a required disclosure that
demonstrates the impact of changing one assumption {the discount rate) by an increase or decrease of
1 percent.

The System recognizes the actuarially determined cost of retiree health and life insurance benefits in
accordance with the GASB Statement No. 45 (GASB 45). In 2009 the System created the MCCS OPEB
Trust. The Trust Agreement allows the Trust to accept contributions from MCCS to fund future retiree
benefits and limits the trustees to prudent investment of trust assets and payment of retiree health and
life insurance benefit costs. MCCS's total expenses for other post-employment benefits were $1.7 million
in 2016, $1.6 million in 2015, and $1.8 million in 2014. The actuarially accrued obligation for retiree health
and life insurance is $37.2 million in 20186, down from $37.7 million in 2015, Trust assets were valued at
$31.4 million on June 30, 2016 and 2015. Accordingly, the UAAL was $5.8 million in 2016 and $6.2 million
in 2015. GASB 45 requires that MCCS gradually accrete the UAAL and, as a result, MCCS had a prepaid
post-employment benefit of $13.1 mitlion in 2016 and $12.6 million in 2015.

In June 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans
Other than Pension Plans, and Statement No. 75, Accounting and Reporting for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions which establish new accounting and financial reporting requirements for
governmental entities whose employees are provided with other postemployment benefits (OPEB) and
for entities with their own OPEB trusts. Similar to GASB 68, the Statements establish standards for
recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and
expense/expenditures. The System is currently evaluating the impact these Statements will have on the
financial statements.

Net Position

MCCS’s net position represents the value of its assets and deferred outflows of resources after
subtracting its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. There are three components of net position.
Net investment in capital assets is the value of nonexpendable, capital assets after subtracting the related
debt on facilities and equipment. Restricted net assets are assets owned by MCCS, but, by agreement
with grantors or donors, the assets can only be used for purposes specified in grant or donor agreements.
As such those assets are not available to meet the general obligations of operations. Unrestricted net
assets are those assets, net of liabilities, which have accumulated over time, are free of restrictions and
are expendable at the Trustees’ direction.

The System determines on a case-by-case basis whether to first apply restricted resources when an

expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available.
However, the System generally encourages the use of restricted resources first.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

MCCS has designated unrestricted net position as follows:

2016 2015 2014
Funds committed to Other Post-employment Benefits $131 %126 $123
Funds carried from prior years for programs and

scholarships 3.4 29 3.4

Funds committed to property, plant and equipment renewal 19.5 24.5 24.5

Funds set aside for debt service 2.2 1.7 17

Unobligated net position 8.6 9.9 10.8

Deferred outflows, net of deferred inflows 58 2.1 7.8

MCCS8's proportionate share of the State’s net pension

liability (68.0y (89.7) (71.2)
Total net position $(12.1) $(10.2) $(10.7)

The narrative on costs and obligations of retirement plans notes that MCCS has appropriately recorded
its proportionate share of the UAAL administered by MainePERS, but that the System does not manage
any aspect of the plan. The resuits of operations and the impact of GASB 68 on the financial presentation
are as follows:

2016 2015
Before GASB Before (GASB
UAAL 68 MCCS UAAL 68 MCCS
Current assets $ 58.5 $ - $585 $ 664 § - $ 66.4
203.8

Nancurrent assets 207.9 - 2079 2038 -
Deferred outflow-pension - 19.8 _19.8 - 14.1 14.1

Total assets and outflows $2664  $.19.8 $286.2 $270.2 $.14.1 $284.3

Current liabilities $ 154 $ - $154 $196 $ - $ 19.6
Noncurrent liabilities 21.2 68.0 89.2 24.4 597 84.1
Deferred inflow-pension 0.6 1386 _14.2 - 16.1 16.1

Total liabilities and inflows $.372 $816 $1188 $_440 $758 $119.8

Investment in capital

assets $1581 & - $1581 $1520 $ -  $152.0
Net restricted position 21.4 - 21.3 22.7 - 22,7
Net unrestricted position 49.7 (61.8) (12.1) 51.5 (61.7) (10.2)

Total net position $229.2 $(61.8) %1674 $226.2 $(61.7) 31645
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2016

Endowments

Noncurrent assets also include $13.2 million in endowment investments; $0.9 million or 6.3 percent less
than in 2015 and $0.8 million less than in 2014, The largest shares of the endowment are comprised of
gifts from the Bernard Osher Foundation. The Osher Endowments are comprised of four donations: a
1999 gift of $2 million that is targeted towards scholarships and emergency financial assistance for full-
time matriculated associate degree students; a 2000 gift of $1 million plus a $1 million match from the
State of Maine that is targeted towards scholarships to cover the tuition for two courses for students
matriculated in an associate of arts program; a 2005 gift of $475,000 plus a State match of $475,000 that
is targeted towards scholarships and emergency financial assistance for full-time matriculated associate
degree students; and a 2008 gift of $3 million that required the System fo dedicate $1.5 million in
matching funds. The 2008 Osher gift included an additional $500,000 “incentive” to be earned if the
System was able to secure the match within one year. The System met the matching requirement of this
gift in 2009 and earned the incentive payment.

The Board of Trustees has adopted an investment policy that uses a long-term investment strategy, and
investment results are compared to a benchmark index that is a composite made up of 80 percent of the
Morgan Stanley Capital International - All Country World Index (MSCI-ACWI) and 40 percent of the
Barclays Capital Aggregate Bond Index (BC Agg). Endowment investments are pooled with the System's
long-term investments and are allocated based upon a percentage of the total investment pool.

Endowment investments, including the Osher funds, earned -1.5 percent in 2015 and -1.3 percent in
2016.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Net Position

June 30, 2016 and 2015

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net
Pledges receivable
Inventories
Due from State of Maine
Other assets

Total current assets
Noncurrent assets
Prepaid post-employment benefit
Depaosit with bond trustee
Endowment investments
Capital assets, net
Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

207,857,182

266,420,683

DEFERRED QOUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Defined benefit pension plan

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources

19,815,816

2016 2015
$ 15,057,068 $ 21,207,688
36,499,633 35,608,453
3,730,273 4,303,854
200,000 1,500,000
1,082,647 1,320,524
1,041,230 1,549,826
952,750 947,364
68,563,501 66,437,709
13,096,447 12,612,806
658,711 1,645,226
13,153,452 14,036,968
180,948,572 175,525,022

203,820,022

270,257,731

14.052 988

$.286,236.499 $284.310.719

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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LIABILITIES

2016 2015
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2343123 § 4,954,134
Accrued liabilities 8,513,485 11,598,486
Unearned revenue 2,264,431 2,285,092
Current portion of long-term debt 2,340,488 771,155
Total current liabilifies 15,461,527 19,608,867
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt 21,179,847 24,387,643
Net pension liability 68,006,887 59711,184
Total long-term liabilities 89,186,734 84,098,827
Total liabilities 104,648,261 103,707,694
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Defined benefit pension plan 13,634,095 16,121,531
Deferred gain on bond refunding 558,596 -
Total deferred inflows of resources 14,192,691 16,121,531
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 158,086,948 152,011,450
Restricted for:
Nonexpendable:
Scholarships and fellowships 11,846,341 11,838,301
Expendable:
Scholarships and fellowships 7,650,277 8,760,302
Instructional department uses 1,813,251 1,719,891
Other 60,501 373,668
Unrestricted (12.061,771) (10,222 118)

Total net position 167,395,547 164,481,494

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position $ 286,236,499 $284.310,719




MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

Revenues
Operating revenues
Student tuition and fees
Residential life fees
Less scholarship allowances

MNet tuition and residential life fees

Federal grants and contracts - other

State and local grants and contracts
Nongovernmental grants and contracts

Sales and services of educational departments
Auxiliary enterprises

Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues

Expenses

Operating expenses
Instruction
Public service
Academic support
Student services
Institutional support
Operations and maintenance
Student aid
Auxiliary enterprises and residential life
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses
Operating loss
MNonoperating revenues (expenses)
State appropriations
Other state revenue
Gifts
Investment income {loss), net of investment expenses
of $94,177 in 2016 and $95,104 in 2015
Interest on capital asset-related debt
Net nonoperating revenues
(Loss) income before other revenues, expenses, gains or losses

(Continued next page)

016

018

=

$ 40,624,414 $ 42,790,300

9,457,154 9,617,280
(39.880.413) _(41.286688)
10,201,155 11,120,892
40,531,366 45,756,217

8,593,683 7,611,019
4,142,155 4,507,461

728,141 676,369
4,987,798 6,024,057
1,639,456 1,445,435
70,823,754 77,041,450
52,499,144 54,234,721
578,123 837,934
11,362,164 10,944 636
12,983,185 12,540,420
19,081,784 18,248,231
13,697,456 13,894,423
618,197 614,974
9,194,395 9,965,279
11,432,506 10.811.641
131,447 951 132,092,259
(60,624,197)  (55,050,809)
58,369,518 56,468,536
- 1,004,114
443,322 1,358,939
49,483 (565,526)
1.212,471) (1,208,225)
57,649,852 56,048,838
(2,974,348) 096,029

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (Concluded)

Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

016 015
Other revenues, (expenses), gains or (losses)
Capital grants and gifts $ 499,399 $ 1,734,957
Proceeds from State for grants and capital asset acquisition 5,875,418 8,746,970
{Loss) gain on disposals of capital assets - other (72,709) 20,348
Additions te permanent endowments 8,040 8,533
Asset impairment loss {421,750) -
Total other revenues, {expenses), gains or (losses) 5,888,398 10,510,808
Increase in net position 2,914,053 11,508,837
Net pasition, beginning of year 164,481,494 152,972 657
Net position, end of year $167.395.547 % 164481494

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

-18 -



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from tuition and residential life fees
Receipts from grants and contracts
Receipts from bookstore
Payments to suppliers and vendors
Payments for employees' salaries and benefits
Payments for funding of Other Post-Employment Benefit Trust
Other sales and services
Other receipts

Net cash used by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
State appropriations and other state revenue
Gifts and grants received for other than capital purposes
Nonoperating private gifts

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Payments on long-term liabilities
Proceeds from state grants for capital asset acquisition
Capital grants and gifts received
Purchase of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Decrease (increase) in deposit with bond trustee
Interest paid on capital debt and lease

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities
Cash flows from investment activities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Investments purchased
Interest and dividends
Net cash provided by investing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

(Continued next page)

2016

015

$ 9,772,734 § 9,941,854

53,237,386 57,677,858
4,972,942 6,025,594
(27,383,182)  (35,387,801)
{94,090,704)  (84,320,898)
(2187,091)  (2.055,275)
862,592 607,101
1,755,800 1,393,028
{53,069,523) _(46.118,539)
58,369,518 56,952,097
338,348 1,247 256
58,707,866 _ 58199353
(1,052,617) (745,419)
6,480,177 8,325,005
1,765,999 678,225
(18,761,648)  (22,989,490)
489,008 34,809
986,515 (8,201)
(1.758,216) _ (1,233,465)

{11,840,782)

(15,938,448)

13,473,210 11,005,893
(14,763,974)  (12,319,741)
1,332,583 1,355,896
41,819 42,048
{6,150,620)  (3,815,584)
21,207,688 _ 25023272

$ 15,057,068 $_ 21207688

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Statements of Cash Flows {(Concluded)

Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

2016 201
Recoenciliation of operating loss to net cash used by operating activities
Operating loss $ (60,624,197) $ (55.050,809)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used
by operating activities

Bad debts provision 679,056 758,424
Depreciation and amortization 11,432,508 10,811,641
Noncash pension expenses (credit) 45,439 (1,611,580)
Noncash donations of supplies 113,013 121,216
Decrease (increase) in
Accounts receivable, net {105,475} (1,086,856)
Inventories 237,977 73,302
Due from State - other (96,163) (112,829)
Other assets (5,386) (137,508)
Prepaid post-employment benefits (483,641) (280,267)
Increase (decrease) in
Accounts payable {1,665,487) (212,117)
Accrued liabilities, net of accrued interest on capital debt {2,566,504) 737,492
Unearned revenue {20,661) {128.758)
Net cash used by operating activities $.(53,059.523) $_(46.118.539)
Supplemental disclosure of noncash capital and related financing activities
Donated capital assets S 33400 3 96,732
Capital asset purchases recorded in accounts payable $__717.760 3__1.663.283
Capital assets acquired under a note payable and capital ieases $_3.207.796 $_426.744

Summary of noncash investing activities
Net losses related to investments $_1.283,400 $__1,912.821

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATIONS
{Component Units)

BALANCE SHEETS

June 30, 2016 and 2015

ASSETS
2016 2015
Cash $ 6501886 $ 6,052,224
Investments 9,574,790 9,239,353
Fledges receivable 1,945,355 2,538,348
Other assefs 954,501 956,345
Total assets $18.976532 $.18.786.270
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Accounts payable and accruals $ 752404 $ 2,388,807

Net assets
Unrestricted 1,428,673 2,114,754
Temporarily restricted 10,164,425 8,637,211
Permanently restricted 6.631.030 5,645,498
Total net assets 18,224,128 16,397 463
Total liabilities and net assets $ 18,976 532 $_ 18,786,270

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine}

MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATIONS
(Component Units)

Statements of Activities

Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

2016 2015
Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Total
Revenues
Gifts and contributions $ 511,398 § 3,398,156 $ 1,007,480 $ 4,917,034 $ 3,899,612
Net investment gain - 105,607 362 105,969 240,999
Other 456,125 61,400 4,569 522,094 601,189

967,523 3,565,163 1,012,411 5,545,097 4,741,800
Net assets released from restrictions 2,047,415 {2,047.415) - - -

Total revenues, gains, and

other support 3,014,938 1,517,748 1,012,411 5,545,097 4,741,800
Expenses
Program expenses
Scholarships 750,985 - - 750,985 647,768
Support 1,844,499 - - 1,844,499 3,625,039
Fundraising 436,588 - - 436,588 563,380
Management and general 664,733 - “ 664,733 623,176
Investment expenses 21,627 - “ 21,627 -
Total expenses _3,718.432 - - 3,718,432 5,359,363
Changes in net assets before
changes in donor intent {703,494) 1,517,748 1,012,411 1,826,665 (617,563)
Changes in donor intent 17.413 9,466 (26,879) - -
(Decrease) increase in net {686,081) 1,527,214 985,532 1,826,665 (617 ,563)
assets
Net assets, beginning of year 2,114,754 8,637.211 5645498 16,387463 17.015.026
Net assets, end of year $_1428673 $10164,425 $ 6.631.030 $18,224128 $16,387.463

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT TRUST
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position

June 30, 2016 and 2015

2016 2015
Assets
Cash $ 101,429 $ 919
Investments 31,414,615 31,437 965
Total assets 31,516,044 31,438,884
Net position held in trust for benefits $_31.516,044 §_ 31438884

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT TRUST
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

2016 2015
Additions
Interest income $ 15 § 19
Employer contributions 2,187,091 2,055,275
Investment loss, net of investment expense of
$59,344 in 2016 and $59,558 in 2015 (401,850) {454 080)
Total additions 1,785,256 1,601,214
Deductions
Benefits 1,657,921 1,637,334
Administrative expenses 50,175 53,063
Total deductions 1,708,096 1,890,397
Net increase 77,160 10,817
Net position held in trust for benefits, beginning of year 31.438.884 31,428,087
Net position held in trust for benefits, end of year $31,516,044 $31.438.8684

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statemants,
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2016 and 2018

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies followed by the Maine Community College System (the System)
are set forth below:

Basis of Presentation

The System is Maine's comprehensive two-year college system and offers certificate, diploma, and
associate degree programs. The financial statements of the System include the activity of its seven
colleges, the central administrative office and its Center for Career Development (the CCD), which
directed system-wide programs and supports other strategic projects and initiatives for the System
through June 30, 2016, At that time, the System merged CCD's activities and programs into the
System's central office.

The System is included in the combined financial statements of the State of Maine (the State) as a
discretely-presented component unit. This financial reporting is based primarily on the State's
appointment of the System Board of Trustees, the level of revenues derived from state
appropriations and the ability of the State to influence the operational decisions of the System.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting
Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, the System
follows all applicable GASB pronouncements.

The following elements are included with these general purpose financial statements:
+ Management's Discussion and Analysis (as required supplementary information);

+« Basic financial statements, which include the Statements of Net Position, Statements of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and Statements of Cash Flows; and

¢ Notes to the Financial Statements.

The System follows the "business-type activities" (BTA) requirements of GASB Statement No. 35,
Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for Public Colleges and
Universities. BTAs are defined as those that are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to
external parties for goods or services.

The financial statements are reported on a consolidated basis and the System classified resources
into the following net position categories:

» Net investment in capital assets - Capital assets, at historical cost or fair market value on
the date of gift and deposit with bond trustee, net of accumulated depreciation, outstanding
principal balances of debt, and any deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2016 and 2015

* Restricted nonexpendable - Net position subject to externally-imposed stipulations that is
invested permanently by the System. The amount is affected by new gifts.

* Restricted expendable - Net position whose use by the System is subject to externally-
imposed stipulations. Such assets include the accumulated net gainsflosses on frue
endowment funds as well as the fair market value of restricted funds functioning as
endowments, restricted funds loaned to students, restricted gifts and endowment income, and
other similar restricted funds.

* Unrestricted - Net position that is not subject to externally-imposed stipulations.

The System determines on a case-by-case basis whether to first apply restricted resources when
an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are
available. However, the System generally encourages the use of restricted resources first.

Reporting Entity

The financial reporting entity consists of the primary government (the System), its component units,
which consist of the seven Foundations of the System’s Colleges (the Foundations), and the Maine
Community College System Post-Employment Benefit Trust (the Trust).

The Trust is a separate legal entity established in 2009 to accumulate funds to pay, at least in part,
the System's obligations under the post-employment healthcare plan. See Note 12 for more
information.

The Foundations are legally separate, tax-exempt component units of the System. The
Foundations act primarily as fundraising organizations to supplement the resources that are
available to the System by raising money for endowed scholarships, technology, and teaching
resources. The Foundations are self-perpetuating and their donors consist of graduates and
friends of the Colleges. Although the System does not control the timing or amount of receipts from
the Foundations, the majority of resources, or income thereon, that the Foundations hold and
invest are restricted to the activities of the System by the donors. Because these resources held by
the Foundations can only be used by, or for the benefit of, the System, the Foundations are
considered component units of the System. The Foundations are reported in separate financial
statements,

The Foundations are private not-for-profit organizations that report their financial results in
accordance with private, non-governmental accounting standards. As such, certain revenue
recognition criteria and presentation features are different from GASB revenue recognition criteria
and presentation features. No modifications have been made to the Foundation's financial
information in the College's financial reporting entity for these differences. Significant note
disclosures to the Foundations' financial statements have been incorporated into the System's
notes to the financial statements in Note 11.
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Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value, and consist principally of
money market funds and other pooled funds with maturities of three months or less at the date of
purchase.

Investments

Investments are reported at fair value based on quoted market prices. Realized gains and losses
are calculated on a specific identification basis.

The System invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to various
risks, such as interest rate, market and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain
investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment
securities will occur in the near term and that such change could materially affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements.

Pledges Receivable

Pledges receivable represent irrevocable donations promised by other entities or individuals that
meet certain eligibility requirements, net of an estimate of uncollectible amounts. Pledges
receivable are shown at their face amount and are not discounted. The allowance for uncollectible
amounts is an estimate subject to change. An allowance is established based on current status of
pledges and past experience. As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, management has determined that an
allowance is not warranted.

Endowment Investments

Endowment funds consist of funds received from donors with the stipulation that the original
principal remain invested in perpetuity to produce income which is to be expended far the purposes
specified by the donor. All endowments have been established for the purpose of granting
scholarships to students.

Individual endowment funds are invested on a pooled basis. Total endowment investment yield
received for the year is distributed to fund accounts, in accordance with the terms or restrictions of
the individual fund.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist principally of tuition receivable from students and third-party payors
and various state and federal grants.

Student accounts receivable are carried at the unpaid balance of the original amount billed to
students. Student accounts receivable are net of an estimate made for doubtful accounts based on
a review of all outstanding amounts. Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts

w97 -



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
by identifying troubled accounts and by using historical experience applied to an aging of accounts.
Student accounts are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of student accounts
previously written off are recorded when received.
A student account receivable is generally considered to be past-due if any portion of the receivable
balance is outstanding at the beginning of a semester, at which point late charges may be

assessed and are recognized when charged. Interest is not charged on past-due accounts.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market and consist primarily of
bookstore and food inventories.

Prepaid Post-Employment Benefit

Prepaid post-employment benefits consist of contributions made to the Maine Community College
System Post-Employment Benefit Trust in excess of the actuarially-determined annual cost.

Capital Assets

Capital assets funds, derived from appropriations and the System funds so designated by the
Board of Trustees, may be used to meet expenditures for construction of additional facilities, major
renovations and retirement of indebtedness arising therefrom. Designated funds are unrestricted
funds for which the Board of Trustees or administration stipulates a specific use, thereby
designating them for that purpose. However, the Board of Trustees may at any time redesignate
the funds for other use. Total designated capital asset funds included in unrestricted net assets
amounted to $19,490,007 and $24,336,158 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Land, buildings, equipment and fixtures are stated at cost at the date of acquisition, or fair market
value at the date of donation in the case of gifts. Expenditures for maintenance, repairs and assets
with a cost of under $1,500 are expensed as incurred. Upon sale or retirement of an asset, the cost
and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or
loss is included in the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. Assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis according fo the following estimated useful lives;

Buildings 40 years
Improvements 10 years
Furniture and equipment 3-10 years
Library books and periodicals 5 years

Assets under capital leases are depreciated using the shorter of the above useful lives or the term
of the lease.
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Defined Benefit Plan

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the State Employee and Teacher Retirement Plan (the SET Plan) and additions
to/deductions from the SET Plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis
as they are reported by the SET Plan, For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Compensated Ahsences

The System accrues amounts for compensated absences as earned. As of June 30, 2016 and
2018, the System had accrued $2,252,550 and $2,258,729, respectively. These accrued balances
represent vacation and earned time amounts payable to employees upon termination of
employment.

Revenue Recognition

Tuition and fees revenues are recognized when the services are performed. Unrestricted gifts of
securities and other noncash assets are recognized as revenue based on the fair value at the date
of donation; restricted grants and gifts are recognized as revenue based on the fair value when
eligibility requirements have been met; state appropriations are recognized in the year the state
appropriates the funds.

Unearned revenue consists primarily of unrestricted tuition and student fees related to future fiscal
years.

Investment income consists of interest and dividend income recognized on the accrual method, as
well as realized and unrealized gains or losses on investments.

Auxiliary enterprises furnish goods or services to students, faculty or staff, and charge a fee
directly related to the cost of the goods or services. Revenues from auxiliary enterprises are
primarily earned from college stores and are recognized as the services are performed or the
goods are delivered.

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues consist of tuition and fees; federal, state and other grants and contracts; sales
and services of education activities; and auxiliary enterprises revenues. Operating expenses
include instruction, public service, academic support, student services, institutional support,
operations and maintenance, student aid, auxiliary enterprises and residential life and depreciation
and amortization. All other revenues and expenses of the System are reported as other or
nonoperating revenues and expenses, including state general appropriations, noncapital gifts,
short-term investment income, interest expense and capital additions and deductions. Capital
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items represent all other changes in long-term plant and endowment net assets. Revenues are
recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. Restricted grant revenue is
recognized only to the extent expended for expenditure driven grants or, in the case of fixed-price
cantracts, when the contract terms are met or completed.

Tax Status

The System is exempt from income taxes because it is an instrumentality of the State of Maine.
The Foundations are exempt from income taxes because they are each 501(c)(3) organizations.
The Trust is exempt from income taxes by virtue of the exempt status of the System.

If an exempt organization regularly carries on a trade or business not substantially related to its
exempt purpose, except that it provides funds to carry out that purpose, the organization is subject
to tax on its income from that unrelated trade or business. The System has evaluated the positions
taken on its business activities and has concluded no unrelated business income tax exists at June
30, 2016 and 2015.

Agency Funds

Agency funds are cash held by an institution acting as custodian or fiscal agent, but not assets or
liabilities of the institution, The cash is deposited with the institution for safekeeping, to be used or
withdrawn by the depositor at will. As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, the System held assets totaling
$1,290,375 and $1,221,806, respectively, consisting primarily of Student Union Activity Funds,
which are not reflected on the accompanying statements of net position.

Risk Management

The System is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; business interruption; errors and omissions;, employee injuries and ilinesses; natural
disasters; and employee health, dental and accident benefits. Commercial insurance coverage is
purchased for claims arising from such matters. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial
coverage in any of the three preceding years.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, as well as the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses. These estimates include, but are not limited to, the
valuation of accounts and pledges receivable and the actuarial assumptions used in determining
the post-employment benefit expense and related asset balance. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
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New Accounting Pronouncement

In 2016, the System adopted GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application.
This statement addresses accounting and financial reporting issues related to fair value
measurements. The definition of fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. This statement provides guidance for determining a fair value measurement for financial
reporting purposes. This statement also provides guidance for applying fair value to certain
investments and disclosures related to all fair value measurements.

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Effective

In June 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit
Plans Other than Pension Plans, and Statement No. 75, Accounting and Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. These two statements establish new accounting
and financial reporting requirements for governmental entities whose employees are provided with
other post-employment benefits (OPEB) and for entities with their own OPEB trusts. In general, the
provisions relating to reporting of the trusts are effective for years beginning after June 15, 2016,
and the provisions relating to reporting OPEB liabilities are effective for years beginning after June
15, 2017. Management is currently evaluating the impact these Statements will have on the
System's financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The carrying amounts, which represent both cost and fair value, of cash and cash equivalents for
the System at June 30, 2016 and 2015 are presented below:

2016 2015
Cash in bank $ 8,128,508 $13,665,867
Outstanding checks (1,654,645) (671,946)
State Treasurer's Cash Pool 8,583,207 8.213.767

$15,057,068 $21.207,688

The bank account balances are covered by depository insurance up to $250,000 at June 30, 2016
and 2015. The cash in bank in excess of depository insurance is collateralized by a stand-by letter
of credit with the Federal Home Loan Bank. The System has established internal procedures to
monitor credit risk relating to deposits in financial institutions.

The State Treasurer's Cash Pool (the Pool), established by the Maine State Treasurer, is not rated
by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. However, the Pool is limited by State law
to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and its agencies and instrumentalities that mature
within 36 months; repurchase agreements that are secured by obligations of the U.S. Government
and its agencies and instrumentalities and mature within 12 months; prime commercial paper; tax-
exempt municipal obligations rated no less than AA; corporate bonds rated AAA; money market
funds; bankers acceptances not exceeding 180 days; and time certificates of deposit not
exceeding 2 years.
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The System's management considers this investment to be a money market instrument and carries
the amounts at cost, which approximates fair value.
Investments

The fair value of investments for the System at June 30, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

016 2015
Management account investments
Mutual funds

Fixed-income $ 22,859,153 324,178,044
Equity 25,119,515 23,410,447
Currency hedge 1,389,559 2,043,500
Money market funds 281,110 9,714
Total management account investments 49,649,337 49,641,705
Other investments 3.748 3,716
Total investment balance $49.653.085 $49.645421

The System's investments are reported in the financial statements at June 30, 2016 and 2015 as
follows, based on the portfolios underlying the mutual fund investments:

2016 2015
Short-term investments $ 36,499,633 $35,608,453
Endowrment investments 13,153,452 14.036,968

$.49,653,085 $49.645.421

Interest Rate Risk

The System manages interest rate risk according to its investment policy by maintaining
investments that are both liquid, as determined by a readily available market, and highly
diversified, using institutional class mutual funds or exchange-traded funds.

Credit Risk

The System limits its exposure to credit risk in its investment policy by investing in highly diversified
fixed-income funds. Collectively taken, the majority of the underlying holdings in these funds in
which the System may invest are investment grade as rated by a nationally recognized statistical
rating organization (NRSRO). The System further reduces potential credit risk by not investing
directly in individual fixed-income securities. Management periodically reviews the exposure to
securities that are unrated or below investment grade in its portfolios to ensure the System limits its
credit risk.
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A summary of bond mutual fund investments and their related interest rate and credit risks as of
June 30, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

2016 2015
Rating Amount Maturity Amount Maturity
AAA $ 2,929,386 8.8years § 2,859,787 8.6 years
AA 9,658,168 8.0 years 7,785,157 7.9 years
A 2,996,954 6.4 years 2.844 864 6.4 years
BBB 315,044 7.4 years 4,345,044 6.4 years
BB 6,959,601 4.9 years 4,358,429 5.4 years
B/BB - . 1,984,763 6.6 vears
$.22.859,153 $24.178.044

The ratings and maturities are the weighted averages of the debt securities in which the funds
invest,

Concentration of Credit Risk

The System has not defined a limit in its investment policies regarding the amount that can be
placed in one issuer. However, the investment policy defines that the portfolio should be well
diversified as to limit exposure to one issuer or security. As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, individual
investments representing more than 5% of the System's investments were as follows:

Percentage
of Investments
2016 2015
Doubleline Total Return 6 % *
Harbor High Yield 6 *
JP Morgan Core Bond Fund * 9%
Vanguard Total Bond Markets Fund 19 16
Vanguard Dividend Appreciation index Fund M 6
Vanguard 500 Index Fund * 9
Vanguard Inflation Protected Fund 6 6
Vanguard Intermediate Term investment Grade Fund 6 6

* Fund was less than 5%.

Custodial Credit Risk

All of the System's investments are held with a third-party custodian in the System's name.
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Eair Value Measurement

GASB Statement No. 72 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an
asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement
date. GASB No, 72 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.
The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the
entity has the ability to access as of the measurement date.

Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, and other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect an entity's own assumptions about the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2016, Using:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments
Cash and short-term investments $ 1,674,417 $ 1,674,417 $ - %
Equity mutual funds 25,119,815  25119,515 -
Fixed-income mutual funds 22,859,153 22,859,153 -
$49.653,085 $49653.085 $ - $
Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2015, Using:
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments
Cash and short-term investments $ 2,056,930 $ 2,056,930 % - 3% .
Equity mutual funds 23410447 23,410,447 - -
Fixed-income mutual funds 24178044 24,178,044 - .
$49.645421 $49645421 § - % -
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4, Receivables

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable at June 30, 2016 and 2015 consisted of the following:

2016 2015
Grants and contracts $ 2,037,874 $ 2,104,221
Student and general 2,798,780 3,260,838
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1.106.381) (1.061.205)
Total accounts receivable, net $_ 3,730,273 $ 4.303.854

Pledges Receivable

The System has a $200,000 pledge receivable from a foundation that is a component unit at June
30, 2016. It is expected that the pledge will be fully collected in fiscal 2017. The System had a
$1,500,000 pledge receivable from a foundation that is a component unit at June 30, 2015
$1,300,000 was collected in 2016.

5. Capital Assets
Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 is summarized as follows:
Retirements/

Balance Reductions/ Balance
July 1, 2015 Additions Adjustments  June 30, 2016

Land $ 3,682,337 $ - § - $ 3,682,337
Buildings 141,660,190 150,308 500,000 141,310,498
Improvements 88,034,216 16,185,792 367,190 103,852,818
Furniture and equipment 63,941,721 4,129,915 3,400,385 64,671,251
Library books and periodicals 4673875 102,402 {1,321) 4,777,598
Construction in process 12,710,075 4,707,900 6,875,267 10,542,708

314,702,414 25,276,317 11,141,521 328,837,210
Less accumulated

depreciation (139,177,392) _(11.432.506) _{2,721,260} {147.868,638)
Capital assets, net $__ 175,525,022 $_13,843,811 $_8.420.261 $_ 180,948,572
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Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2015 is summarized as follows:

Balance Retirements/ Balance

July 1, 2014 Additions Reductions  June 30, 2015
Land $ 3043762 § 638,575 % - % 3,682,337
Buildings 135,595,513 6,064,677 - 141,660,190
Improvements 77,298,839 10,735,377 - 88,034,216
Furniture and equipment 60,015,414 9,433,726 5,507 419 63,941,721
Library books and periodicals 4,572,129 103,574 1,828 4673875
Construction in process 14,830,090 11,109.003 13229018 12,710,075

e e

295,355,747 38,084,932 18,738,265 314,702,414
Less accumulated

depreciation (133,893.843) (10,811,641} (5528092} (139.177.392)
Capital assets, net $_161.461904 $_ 27273291 $13210173 $__ 175525022

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 is summarized as follows:

2016
Beginning Premium Ending Current
Balance Additions Payments Accretion Balance Portion

Notes payable $22,886,145 $ $1,674777 $ 27,250 $21,284,118 $ 131,476
Capital leases 2,272,653 - 36,436 - 2,236,217 2,209.012

$25.1568,798 $

$1.611.213 $___ 27,250 $23.520.335 $2.340,488

The total payments of $1,611,213 includes $558,596 in gain deferred through refunding of the
2006F bonds.

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2015 is summarized as follows:

2015
Beginning Premium Ending Current
Balance Additions Pavments Accretion Balance Portion

Notes payable $23,296,059 $ 328687 $ 711351 § 27,250 $22,886,145 § 734,720
Capital leases _2,208.664 98.057 34.068 - 2,272,653 36.435

$25.504,.723 $_426744 $_745419 $__ 27250 $256.168.798 §_ 771,155
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Notes payable consist of the following at June 30, 2016 and 2015:

Notes payable to Maine Health and Higher Educational Facilities
Authority (MHHEFA) in conjunction with revenue bonds:
Series 2006F (including original issue premium) which
bears interest at rates ranging from 4.0% to 5.0%. This
bond was refunded on June 28, 2016 with an effective
date of July 1, 2016. $ - % 21,508,020

Series 2016A (including original issue premium of

$2,548,412) which bears interest at rates ranging from

3.0% to 5.0%; annual principal payments due in amounts

ranging from $695,000 in fiscal 2017 to $1,470,000 in fiscal

20356 when note is repaid in full. 20,030,712 -

Note payable to Town of Fairfield:
Bearing interest at 3%; monthly principal and interest
payments of $7,764 to 2030 and a final payment of
$3,914 when the note is repaid in full. The note is
collateralized by a building. 1,051,291 1,111,935

Note payable to Aramark:
Bearing interest at 2.5%; monthly principal and interest
payments of $5,833 until maturity in fiscal 2019. 202,115 266.190

$_21,284,118 $_22,886,145

In September of 2006, the System issued notes with a par value of $24,340,000 through MHHEFA
with an average annual interest rate of 4.7 percent and a final maturity in July 2036. The purpose
of the proceeds was to fund a major expansion project at three of the college campuses. MHHEFA
required $1,717,827 of the proceeds to be transferred to a debt reserve fund that is retained by
MHHEFA in an interest-bearing account and will be used by MHHEFA to make the final payment of
principal and interest in 2036. Accordingly, funds transferred to MHHEFA are not included as
assets and are deducted from the amounts owed in the System’s balance sheet. The bonds were
issued at a premium of $817,470 and $27,250 of the premium was amortized in fiscal 2016 as a
reduction to capitalized interest. These revenue bonds were paid off with a refunding in June 2016
with MHHEFA.

In June of 2018, the System issued revenue bonds with a par value of $19,010,000 through
MHHEFA with an average annual interest rate of 4.0 percent and a final maturity in July 2035.
MHHEFA requires that $1,527,700 of the bond proceeds be transferred to a debt reserve fund. The
amount transferred to the debt reserve fund is retained by MHHEFA in an interest bearing account
and will be used by MHHEFA to make the final payment of principal and interest in 2035.
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Accordingly, funds transferred to MHHEFA are not included as assets and are deducted from the
amounts owed in the System’s balance sheet. The bonds were issued at a premium of $2,548,412.
This Revenue Bond was used to refund the MHHEFA Bond 2006F originally issued in September
2006.

The notes are collateralized by the gross receipts of the System. The System is required to make
monthly deposits of principal and interest of amounts sufficient to make the semi-annual interest
payments and annual principal payments and to maintain a ratio of income available for debt
service to annual debt service of at least 1.20 for each fiscal year. At June 30, 2016, the System
met the debt service ratio.

At June 30, 2016, future payments in conjunction with the notes payable to MHHEFA related to the
Series 2016A revenue bonds, Town of Fairfield and Aramark are as follows for the years ending
June 30:

Principal interest Total

2017 $ 131,476 $ 449,064 $ 580,540
2018 826,747 835,101 1,661,848
2019 870,409 796,239 1,666,648
2020 833,365 757,007 1,590,372
2021 880,445 716,953 1,597,398
2022 - 2026 5,005,697 2,924,015 7,928,712
2027 - 2031 5,868,561 1,718,851 7,687,512
2032 - 2035 4 219 006 409,491 4.628 497
Total payments 18,735,706 $_8.606,821 $.27.342.527
Unamortized premium 2548 412

Total $21284118

On January 1, 2007, the System executed and delivered Certificates of Participation in the amount
of $5,280,000 to finance the construction of buildings and infrastructure and the acquisition of
equipment at one of the colleges, York County Community College. This transaction was
accounted for as a capital lease. The final cerificate is scheduled to mature in fiscal 2017. The
interest component is payable semi-annually through fiscal 2017. The certificates require an
amount of $450,000 to be held on deposit with the bond trustee to cover a portion of the final
principal payment. The total held, including income earned, is $519,340, which is classified as
deposit with bond trustee at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The balance of this capital
lease at June 30, 2016 and 2015 is $2,180,000.

The assets acquired under this lease have a net book value of approximately $2.9 million and $3.1
million at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The assets are included in buildings as part of
capital assets and depreciation is included in depreciation expense.
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The System has other capital leases totaling $56,217 and $92,653 at June 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.

At June 30, 2016, future minimum payments under noncancelable capital lease obligations are as
follows for the years ending June 30;

2017 $ 2,214,214
2018 14,139
2019 13,781
Total minimum lease payments 2,242 134
Less amounts representing interest (5.917)

Present value of net minimum lease payments under capital leases $._2.236.217
Retirement Plans

Defined Benefit Plan

The System participates in the SET Plan, a multiple-employer cost sharing plan administered by
the Maine Public Employees Retirement System (the MainePERS). The MainePERS provides
pension benefits to its members, which include employees of the State, certain public school
employees and employees of local municipalities and other public entities in Maine. There are 240
employers in the SET Plan. All state employees and teachers become members of the SET Plan
as a condition of their employment.

The MainePERS is established and administered under the Maine State Retirement System Laws,
Title 5 M.R.S.A., C.421, 423, and 425. The MainePERS issues a publicly available financial report
that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the SET Plan. That
report is available online at www.mainepers.org or may be obtained by writing to the Maine Public
Employees Retirement System, 46 State House Station, Augusta, Maine 04333-0046.

The SET Plan provides defined retirement benefits based on members’ average final
compensation and creditable service. Vesting occurs upon the earning of five years of service
credit or the earning of one year of service credit immediately preceding retirement at or after
normal retirement age (prior to October 1, 1998, the service credit requirement is ten years);
normal retirement age for the SET Plan is age 60, 62, or 85. The normal retirement age is
determined by whether a member had met certain creditable service requirements on specific
dates, as established by Maine statute.

Upon termination of membership, members' accumulated employee contributions are refundable
with interest, credited in accordance with statute. Withdrawal of accumulated contributions results
in forfeiture of all benefits. The annual rate of interest credited to members' accounts is set by the
MainePERS Board of Trustees and is currently 5.0%.
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Contributions

Retirement benefits are funded by contributions from members and employers and by earnings on
investments. Disability and death benefits are funded by employer normal cost and by earnings on
investments. In accordance with Maine statute, members are required to contribute 7.65% of their
earnable compensation to the Plan. The System is required to contribute at an actuarially-
determined rate (22.37% for fiscal year 2016 and 18.43% for fiscal year 2015) that, when
combined with the contributions of other reporting entities, will be adequate to fund the Plan.

The contribution rate is determined using an entry-age normal actuarial funding method for
retirement benefits and a term-cost method for ancillary benefits. The System may be required to
make contributions to fund the Plan's pooled unfunded actuarial liability, if any. The contribution
requirements of the SET Plan members and the System are established by and may be amended
by the State legislature.

Total System and employee contributions (which equal the actuarially-required contributions) to the
SET Plan are as follows:

2016 2015 2014
System $ 7,367,698 § 8,328,072 $ 7,805,503
Employee 2,188,833 2,074,818 2,058,783
Total $ 9,557,631 $10.402.890 $_9.864.286

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Qutflows and Inflows of Resources
Related to the Pension Plan

At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the System reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability of the SET Plan. At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the net pension liability was
measured as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and the total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of those dates. The
System’s proportionate share of the net position liability was based on a projection of the System's
long-term share of contributions to the SET Plan relative to the projected contributions of all
participating employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2015, the System's proportion was
6.64%, which was an increase of 0.02% from its propartion measured as of June 30, 2014,

For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the System recognized pension expense of
$7,411,908 and $6,716,512, respectively. At June 30, 2016, the System reported deferred outflows
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the pension plan from the following
sources:
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June 30, 2016 and 2015

2016 2015
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Qufflows of inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources

Difference between expected and

actual experience $ - $1,829,830 3%
Changes in assumptions 1,240,702
Net difference between projected

and actual earnings on pension

plan investments 9,415,268 11,567,957
Changes in proportion and

differences between System

contributions and proportionate

share of contributions 1,792,148 236,308 3,251,930 127,490
System contributions subsequent

to the measurement date 7,367,698 - 8,328,072 -

$ 622420

2,472,986

15,371,621

$19,815.816 $13.634.095 $14,052,988 $16.121,531

The deferred outflows of resources resulting from the System's contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending
June 30, 2017. Other amounts reported as deferred outfiows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to the pension plan will be recognized as a reduction of pension expense as
follows for the years ending June 30;

2017 $ 226514
2018 (2,264,139)
2019 (1,502,169)
2020 2,353,817

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2015 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following methods and assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial Cost Method - The Entry Age Normal actuarial funding method is used to determine

costs. Under this funding method, the total employer contribution rate consists of two elements, the
normal cost rate and the unfunded actuarial liability rate.

The individual entry age normal method is used to determine liabilities. Under the individual entry
age normal method, a normal cost rate is calculated for each member. This rate is determined by
taking the value, as of age at entry into the plan, of the member's projected future benefits, and
dividing it by the value, also as of the member's entry age, of his/her expected future salary.
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June 30, 2016 and 2015

The normal cost for each member is the product of his/her pay and his/her normal cost rate. The
normal cost for the group is the sum of the normal costs for all members. Experience gains and
losses (i.e., decreases or increases in liabilities and/or in assets when actual experience differs
from the actuarial assumptions) affect the unfunded actuarial-accrued liability.

Asset Valuation Method - The actuarial valuation employs a technique for determining the actuarial
value of assets which dampens the swing in the market value. The specific technique adopted in
this valuation recognizes in a given year one-third of the investment return that is different from the
actuarial assumption for investment return.

Amortization - The net pension liability is amortized on a level percentage of payroll over the
amortization period then in effect under Maine statutory and constitutional requirements.

Significant actuarial assumptions employed by the actuary for funding purposes as of June 30,
2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Investment Rate of Retumn - 7.125% per annum for the year ended June 30, 2015 and 2014,
compounded annually.

Salary Increases, Merit and inflation - 3.5% to 10.5% per year.

Mortality Rates - For active members and non-disabled retirees, the RP-2000 Tables projected
forward to 2015 using Scale AA are used, set back two years,

Cost of Living Benefit Increases - 2.55% per annum,

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major class
of assets. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class included in the pension plan's target asset allocation as of June 30, 2015 are summarized in
the following table:

Target  Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
U.S. equities 20 % 5.2 %
Non-U.S. equities 20 55
Private equity 10 7.6
Real assets
Real estate 10 3.7
Infrastructure 10 4.0
Hard assets 5 4.8
Fixed-income 25 0.7
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June 30, 2018 and 2015

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the collective total pension liability was 7.125%
for 2015 and 2014. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that
plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer and non-
employer entity contributions will be made at contractually required rates, actuarially determined.
Based on these assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments to current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

The following table shows how the System's proportionate share of the net pension liability as of
June 30, 2015 and 2014 would change if the discount rate used was one percentage point lower or
ane percentage point higher than the current rate. The current rate is 7.125%.

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
2015
The System's proportionate share
of the net pension liability $100,896,672 $ 68,006,887 $§ 40,242422
2014

The System's proportionate share
of the net pension liability $ 02,259,066 $ 59,711,184 $ 32,158,848

Changes in net pension liability are recognized in pension expense with the following exceptions:

Differences between Expected and Actual Experience - The differences between expected and
actual experience with regard to economic or demographic factors were recognized in pension
expense using a straight-line amortization method over a closed period equal to the average
expected remaining service lives of active and inactive members, For the 2015 and 2014 actuarial
valuations, this was three years.

Differences between Projected and Actual Investment Earnings - Differences between projected
and actual investment earnings were recognized in pension expense using a straight-line
amortization method over a closed five-year period.

Changes in Assumptions - Differences due to changes in assumptions about future economic or
demographic factors or other inputs were recognized in pension expense using a straight-line
amortization method over a closed period equal to the average expected remaining service lives of
active and inactive members in each plan. For the SET Plan, there were no changes in
assumptions in the 2015 valuation. The change in discount rate from 7.25% to 7.125% was the
only change in assumptions in the 2014 valuation.
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Changes in Proportion and Differences between Employer Contributions and Proportionate Share
of Contributions - Differences resulting from a change in proportionate share of contributions and
differences between total employer contributions and the employer's proportionate share of
contributions were recognized in pension expense using a straight-line amortization method over a
closed period equal to the average expected remaining service lives of active and inactive
members. Differences between total employer contributions and the employer's proportionate
share of contributions may arise when an employer has a contribution requirement for an
employer-specific liability.

Rationale for Assumptions - The assumptions were adopted by the plan trustees as a result of the
lastest experience study review performed in 2011 and covering the period July 1, 2005 through
June 30, 2010.

Defined Contribution Plan

Certain employees participate in an optional program with Teachers Insurance and Annuity
Association - College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF), a defined contribution plan. In
defined contribution plans, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed plus investment
earnings. Only confidential employees and, as of July 1999, Maine Education Association (MEA)
Administrators and faculty are eligible to participate in the TIAA-CREF defined contribution plan.
The System contributes 12.88% and 6.04% of total salaries for eligible confidential and MEA
employees, respectively. The System contribution is funded as it accrues and, along with the
contributions of the employees, is immediately vested. Employees make contributions at an
average of 6.30% of total salaries (6.04% in 2015). Total employer contributions to the TIAA-CREF
program in fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively, amounted to $1,560,026 and $1,444,623,
which consisted of $466,247 and $418,104 for confidential employees and $1,093,779 and
$1,026,519 for MEA employees. MEA employee contributions amounted to $1,367,848 and
$1,222,696 in 2016 and 20185, respectively.

Total salaries and wages for covered employees participating in TIAA-CREF were $21,728,861
and $20,241,503 for fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively, including salaries and wages for
MEA employees participating in TIAA-CREF for whom SET Plan contributions were made in fiscal
year 2015 of $16,995,351. No such contributions were made in fiscal year 20186.

Post-Employment Health Insurance

The System also sponsors in a defined benefit post-employment healthcare plan established by
the State of Maine. This plan covers all employees who retire and participate in MainePERS or
TIAA-CREF.

The System records an expense for the post-employment healthcare plan as costs are incurred for
current employees while the employees are performing services for the System. The amount in
future years will be based on a calculation related solely to the System's employees and retirees.
The System's coniributions cover retirees only; additional family members are paid for by the
retirees.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Calculations are based on the types of benefits and on the sharing of costs between the System

and its employees as of the most recent valuation. Valuations are required to be completed every
two years,

During 2009, the System established a trust to accumulate funds to pay, at least in part, the
System's obligations under the post-employment healthcare plan.

The following table presents information about the Post-employment Benefit Trust as of and for the
years ended June 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014:

2016 2015 2014
Actuarially-required contribution $_1.814116 $__ 1882102 $_1.908.383
Annual cost to the System $_1.653,451 $ 1725000 $_1.765.000
Contributions paid by the System $__2187.091 $_ 2055275 $ 2893777
Percentage of annual cost contributed 132 % 119 % 164 %

Prepaid post-employment benefit of the System  $_13.096.447 $_12.612.806 $12,332.539

Assets of the Trust $ 31,616,044 $_31.438.884 $31,428.067

Information about the funded status of the Plan at June 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014 based on
actuarially-determined beginning of year amounts follows:

2016 2015 014

Actuarial value (market value) of Plan assets $ 31,439,000 $ 31,428,000 $26,111,000
Actuarial-accrued liability 37,220,000 37,653,000 34,396.000
Unfunded actuarial-accrued liability $_5.781.000 $_ 6225000 $_8.285.00
Ratio of actuarial value of assets to actuarial-

accrued liability 84 % 83 % 76 %
Annua| covered payro” s 46,887,000 $ 45,522|000 $43,034.000
Ratio of unfunded liability to covered payroll 12 % 14 % 19 %

Actuarially required contribution as a percent .
of covered payroll 4% 4 % 4 %

- 45 .



MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2016 and 2015

The actuarial-accrued liability, funded status, annual cost and annual required contribution were
computed using a 7.5% investment rate in 2016, 2015 and 2014, discount rate of 3.0%; healthcare
cost inflation rate ranging from 6.5% in 2017 to 5.0% in 2020 and later years; projected unit credit
actuarial cost method; and amortizing the actuarial-accrued liability at a level percentage of pay
over 30 years based on an open group. Effective with the June 30, 2014 actuarial valuation, the
vesting period increased to 10 years for System employees hired on or after January 1, 2013
(5 years prior to January 1, 2013). Actuarial valuations reflect long-term perspective and involve
estimates of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events far into the future.
Actuarially-determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to
past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding
progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial
statements, presents multi-year trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan
assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial liabilities for benefits.

The following assumption changes were made for the year ended June 30, 2015:

The per capita costs were increased using current enroliment and agency factors. The mortality
table was changed from RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Fully Generational using Scale AA to
RPH-2014 Total Dataset Mortality Table Fully Generational using Scale MP-2014. There were no
changes to assumptions in 20186.

Plan assets include amounts in the Post-Employment Benefit Trust relating to current year annual
required contributions.

Commitments and Contingencies

After 1989, the System is covered by a commercial insurance policy for workers' compensation.
Prior to 1990, the System was self-insured. The State of Maine has the primary obligation for self-
insured claims and reimburses the System for payments made. In 2016 and 2015, the System
made payments of $43,600 and $42,000, respectively, which were reimbursed by the State of
Maine. The contingent liability for estimated unpaid workers' compensation claims at June 30, 2016
and 2015 is $1,100,000 and $1,066,000, respectively.

The System owns property with a book value of appreximately $14.9 million in Brunswick, Maine
for the use of the Southern Maine Community College. This property must be used solely and
continuously for educational pragrams until November 2041 under the terms by which the property
was donated.

From time-to-time, the System is named as a defendant in legal actions and other claims incident
to the normal canduct of its operations. Management does not expect to suffer any material liability
by reason of such actions, nor does it expect that such actions will have a material effect on the
financial position of the System.

The System has entered into various construction and renovation contracts. The System has
outstanding commitments under these contracts of approximately $7.1 million at June 30, 2016.
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The System entered into a ten-year operating lease, which ended June 30, 2006, for the current
building in which the central administrative office of the System is located. The System is currently
renting this space month-to-month. Annual rent was $167,460 for the years ended June 30, 2016
and 2015. Each year the annual rent may be adjusted by an inflation factor. There was no
adjustment in 2016 and management estimates rent for fiscal 2017 to be $167,460.

The System participates in various federally-funded programs. These programs are subject to
financial and compliance audits and resolution of identified questioned costs. The amount, if any,
of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agency cannot be determined at this
time.

Proceeds from State for Grants and Capital Asset Acquisition

In November 2007, a State of Maine general-purpose bond issue was authorized; the System's
portion of the bond is $15,500,000 and is to be used for interior and exterior building renovations,
improvements and additions at all campuses. In 2010, a State of Maine general-purpose bond was
authorized, the System's portion of this bond is $9,750,000 and is to be used for development of an
engineering and economic development center at the former Brunswick Naval Air Station site and
for energy and infrastructure upgrades at all campuses. In 2013, another State of Maine general-
purpose bond was authorized; the System’s portion of this bond is $15,500,000 and is to be used
for energy and infrastructure at all campuses. The System will not be required by the State of
Maine to assume the bond liability when activities are complete. Through June 30, 2018, the
System has spent $38,141,699 on these projects. Revenues recognized from the State in fiscal
years 2016 and 2015 amounted to $5,875,418 and $8,746,970, respectively, and are included as
other revenues in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.

State Appropriations

During the years ended 2016 and 2015, the System's state appropriations revenue was
unrestricted. These appropriations include general appropriations as well as special appropriations.

Maine Community College Educational Foundations

The significant accounting policies followed by the Maine Community College Educational
Foundations, as set forth below, are governed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board. As
such, certain revenue and expense recognition criteria and presentation requirements differ from
GASB. No modifications have been made to the Foundation's financial information included here
for these differences.

Basis of Accounting

The Foundations follow the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and
expenses are recorded when incurred.
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Cash

The Foundations maintain cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed amounts
guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Foundations have not experienced

any losses in such accounts and believe they are not exposed to any significant risk of loss on
cash.

Pledges

Pledges receivable are recorded at their net present value and net of allowance for uncollectible
amounts. Pledges receivable at June 30, 2016 and 2015 are substantially all due within five years.

Appreciation on Permanently Restricted Net Assets

The Boards of Directors have interpreted State of Maine law as requiring the preservation of the
fair value of the original gift of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor
stipulations to the contrary. The expendable portion of income on such assets is reported in the
statement of activities as temporarily restricted investment income and reclassified to unrestricted
net assets when the stipulated donor restriction is accomplished.

Investments

Investments held by the Foundations at June 30, 2016 and 2015, which are carried at fair value,
consisted of the following:

2016 2015
Real assets $ 10,552 $ -
U.S. Government bonds 194,727 124,241
Corporate bonds 1,694,604 1,620,121
Common stock 3,964,061 4,145,421
Mutual funds 2,832,311 1,928,995
Money market funds and certificates of deposit 878,535 1.420.575

$_9.674.790 $_9.239.353

The fair value of investments is primarily based on quoted price in active markets; cerificates of
depaosit are carried at cost which approximates fair value.

The Foundations each have their own investment policies that allow for a range of investment
options.
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Fair Value Measurement

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist of investments which are generally
valued using Level 1 inputs as described in Note 3, with the exception of corporate bonds which
are valued using Level 2 inputs.

Net Assets
The net assets of the Foundation are reported as follows:
Unrestricted Net Assets - Unrestricted net assets represent unrestricted resources over

which the Foundations' Board of Directors retains full control to accomplish any of the
Foundations’ stated purposes.

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets - Temporarily restricted net assets represent contributions
and earnings on permanently restricted net assets which may only be utilized in accordance
with the purpose established by the donors of the related contributions or contributions with
time restrictions. Temporarily restricted net assets generally consists of gift restricted for
scholarship or programs and appreciation on permanently restricted net assets.

Permanently Restricted Net Assets - Permanently restricted net assets represent endowment
funds that are subject to the restrictions of the gift instruments requiring that the principal be
invested in perpetuity and that income only be utilized, as stated in the gift instruments.
Permanently restricted net assets generally consists of gifts to be held in perpetuity with the
income available to be used for programs or scholarships.

Gifts and Contributions

Gifts and contributions are recorded when an unconditional promise to give is received, or when
assets are received in a contribution, whichever comes first. Contributed assets are recorded at fair
value.,

Related Party Transactions

Support consists of amounts paid to the System in support of the System's various programs. At
June 30, 20168 and 2015, substantially all accounts payable and accruals are payable to the
System for such support.

The System also provides funding and in-kind support to the Foundations. This support totaled
approximately $300,000 in 2016 and $200,000 in 2015, which is included in other revenues on the
Statement of Activities.
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12. Post-Employment Benefit Trust

The System established the Post-employment Benefit Trust as an irrevocable trust for the sole
purpose of accumulating assets to provide funding for certain of the System's post-employment
benefits. The System was named Trustee of the Trust. The effective date of the establishment of
the Trust was June 30, 20089.

The significant accounting policies followed by the Trust are set forth below:

Basis of Accounting

The Trust follows the accrual basis of accounting as set forth by GASB.

Cash

Cash held by the trust in a financial institution at June 30, 2016 was fully covered by federal
depository insurance. Bank balances were $101,429 and $919 at June 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.

Investments

The fair value of investments in the Trust at June 30, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

2016 2015
Money market funds $ 26,544 3 27,045
Mutual funds
Fixed-income 6,729,504 8,777,575
Equity 23,161,536 20,704,167
Currency hedge 1,497,031 1.929.178

$31.414.615 $31.437965

Revenue Recognition

Contributions are recognized as additions in the period when they become due, pursuant to formal
commitments or statutory or contractual requirements; supplemental contributions are recognized
when received. Investment and interest income and loss are recognized on the accrual basis when
earned or incurred.

Net Position

Net position at June 30, 2016 and 2015 was for funding certain post-employment benefits.
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Administrative Expenses

Substantially all administrative expenses of the Trust are paid by the System.

Interest Rate Risk

The Trust manages interest rate risk according to its investment policy by maintaining investments
that are both liquid, as determined by a readily available market, and highly diversified, using
institutional class mutual funds for exchange-traded funds.

Credit Risk

The Trust limits its exposure to credit risk in its investment policy by investing in highly diversified
fixed-income funds. Collectively taken, the majority of the underlying holdings in these funds in
which the Trust may invest are investment grade as rated by a NRSRO. The Trust further reduces
potential credit risk by not investing directly in individual fixed-income securities. Management
periodically reviews the exposure to securities that are unrated or below investment trade in its
portfolio to ensure the Trust limits its credit risk.

At June 30, 2016, the ratings by Moody's for investments in debt securities are summarized as
follows based on the portfolios underlying the mutual fund investments:

A summary of fixed-income mutual fund investments and their related interest rate and credit risks
follows:

2016 2015
Rating Amount Maturity Amount Maturity
AAA $ 996412 88years $ 959,269 8.6 years
AA 1,647,677 8.0 years 1,913,661 7.9 years
A 1,029,878 6.4 years 961,556 6.4 years
BBB 645,671 7.4 years 1,899,546 6.4 years
BB 2.509.866 5.3 years 3.043 543 5.7 years
$6,729.604 $8.777.575

The ratings and maturities are the weighted averages of the debt securities in which the funds
invest.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

The Trust has not defined a limit in its investment policies regarding the amount that can be placed
in one issuer. However, the investment policy defines that the portfolio should be well-diversified as
to limit exposure to one issuer or security. As of June 30, 2016, individual investments representing
more than 5% of the OPEB Trust's investments were as follows:

Percentage
of Investments
2018 2015

Vanguard Total Bond Marketis Fund 5% 6 %
Harbor High Yield *
Vanguard Developed Markets Fund
Vanguard 500 Index Fund

Vanguard Dividend Appreciation index Fund
Jensen Quality Growth Fund

JP Morgan Core Bond Fund

MFS International Value Fund

IShares Currency Hedged MSCI EAFE

= % % * * # » O

oMLt

* Fund was less than 5%.

Custodial Credit Risk

All of the Trust's investments are held with a third-party custodian in the Trust's name.
Fair Value Measurement

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below according to the level of
input described in Note 3:

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2016

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments:

Money market funds $ 26,544 % 26,544 3 - % -

Mutual funds
Fixed-income 6,729,504 6,729,504 - -
Equity 23,161,536 23,161,536 - -
Currency hadge 1,497,031 1.497.031 - -
$31.414615 $31.414,615 $ - % -
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Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2015

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments
Money market funds $ 27.045 $_ 27045 $ - $
Mutual funds
Fixed-income 8,777,575 8,777,575 “
Equity 20,704,167 20,704,167 -
Currency hedge 1,929,178 1,928,178 -

$31.437.965 $31.437,965 $ - $
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM

Schedule of the System's Proportionate
Share of the Net Pension Liability

State Employee and Teacher Plan - State Employee Portion
Last 3 Fiscal Years*

June 30, 20186

2016 2015 2014

The System’s proportion of the net pension liability 6.64 % 6.62 % 6.19 %
The System's proportionate share of the net pension

liability $68,006,887 $59,711,184 $71,196,328
The System's covered-employee payroll 32,008,027 30,256,649 30,004,534
The System's proportionate share of the net pension

liability as a percentage of its covered-

employee payroll 212.5 % 197.3 % 2373 %
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total

pension liability 81.2 % 83.9% 76.8 %

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the beginning of the fiscal
year. Data has been provided for fiscal years in which the data is available.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
(A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Required Supplementary information

Schedules of Funding Progress and Employer's Contributions
Post-Employment Health Insurance Plan

June 30, 2016
{(UNAUDITED)

Schedule of Funding Progress

(b)

(a) Actuarial-

Actuarial Actuarial Accrued
Valuation Value of Liability {AAL)

Date Assets Entry Age
June 30, 2016 § 31,439 § 37,220
June 30, 2015 31,428 37,653
June 30, 2014 26,111 34,396
June 30, 2013 22,769 29,945
June 30, 2012 19,990 48,628
June 30, 2011 17,063 45,880

Dollars in thousands

{b-a)
Unfunded {a/h)
AAL Funded
(UAALY Ratio
$ 5781 84% $
6,225 83
8,285 76
7,176 76
28,638 41
28,817 37

Schedule of Employers’ Contributions

Year Ended

2016
2013
2014
2013
2012
2011

Dollars in thousands

Annual
Required

Annual

Contribution Contribution

$ 1,814 §
1,882
1,908
1,663
3,787
3672

2,187
2,055
2,894
3,063
4,272
4,280

((b-a)/c]
(c) UAAL as
Annual a Percentage
Covered of Covered
Payroll Payroll
46 887 12 %
45 522 14
43,034 19
41,780 17
42,205 68
40,976 70
Percentage
Contributed
121 %
109
152
184
113
117

* See notes to schedules of funding progress and employers' contributions.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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MAINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM
{A Component Unit of the State of Maine)

Notes to Required Supplementary Information
June 30, 2016
(UNALUDITED)
Notes to Required Supplementary Information
Factors that significantly affect the identification of trends in the amounts reported in the schedules are:

Schedule of System's Propottionafe Share of the Net Pension Liabilify and Schedule of the System’s
Pension Contributions

»  The discount rate remained at 7.125%.

Schedules of Funding Progress and Emplover's Contributions Post-Employment Health Insurance Plan

« The Plan was established in 2009.

¢ In 2015, the per capita costs were increased using current enroliment and aging factors and the
mortality table was changed from RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Fully Generational using
Scale AA to RPH-2014 Total Dataset Mortality Table Fully Generational using Scale MP-2014.
There were no changes in 2016.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Work Documents

Academic Schedute (included on data stick)

Adjunct Evaluation

Adjunct Pay Scale

Adjunct Survey {included on data stick)

Applicant Report with Caps & Targets (included on data stick)
Articulation Agreements List

BIO 213 Accuplacer Analysis {included on data stick)
Block Transfer Rubric

Clinical Affiliation Agreement

Collective Bargaining Agreements (included on data stick)
Community College Survey of Student Engagement
Concurrent Enroliment Adjunct Faculty Evaluation
Course Catalog back to 2009

Curriculum Committee Minutes

Data Collection Matrix {included on data stick)
Economic Impact Study

ELO Map

ELO Rubrics Oral Communication Written Communication Problem Solving
Emergency Response Team

Employee Code of Conduct

Employee Curriculum Vitae or Resume

Employee Handbook

Essential Learning Qutcomes

Faculty Evaluation

Faculty Handbook {included on data stick)

Faculty Meeting Minutes

Faculty Salary Data

Faculty Senate By-Laws

Faculty Senate Meeting Minutes

Faculty Senate Membership

Feasibility Study

Foundations of Excellence Report

Graduation Rates by Program (included on data stick)
Helpdesk Ticket Activity

Information Literacy Data

Ipeds Annual Reports (included on data stick)

KVCC College Catalog

KVCC Committee Charters and membership

KVCC Enrollment Reports (included on data stick)
KVCC FactBook (included on data stick)

KVCC Foundation Board of Trustees

KVCC Governance Document



KVCC Graduate Survey (included on data stick)

KVCC Master Plan

KVCC Mission Statement Survey (included on data stick}

KVCC Organizational Chart

KVCC Policy and Procedures Manual (log-in information provided on cover letter)
KVCC President Dialogue Minutes

KVCC Strategic Plan {included on data stick)

KVCC Student Handbook

Leadership Team Meeting Minutes

Library Annual Report

List of Accredited Programs and their Accrediting Bodies

List of Professional Development Trainings at KVCC

MCCS Board of Trustees By-Laws

MCCS Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes

MCCS Board of Trustees Membership

MCCS Board of Trustees Minutes {most recent year included on data stick)
MCCS Mission Statement

MCCS Organizational Chart

MCCS Policy and Procedures Manual

MCCS Program Review (included on data stick)

MCCS Strategic Plan {(included on data stick)

Mid-term analysis

Minimum Online Students

Mission Statement

Network/Computer Access Policy

Noel Levitz Student Satisfaction Survey & Report

Professional Development Application and Reimbursement Process {Priority
Criteria)

Program Advisory Committee Membership

Program Advisory Committee Minutes/Agenda

Program Advisory Committee Survey and Report

Program Brochures

Program Handbooks

Programs of Study

Request to Hire Form (included on data stick)

Scrub Report

Senior Survey

Strengths, Weakness, Opportunity and Threats Report {included on data stick)
Student Service Team Minutes

Syllabi

Tables Related to Faculty Credentials (Overall and by Department)
Vision Statement

Volunteer Framework of Accountability
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Kennebec Valley Community College
92 Western Avenue
Fairfield, Maine 04937
Admissions: (207) 453-5822
General Information: (207) 453-5000

Kennebec Valley Community College is an
equal opportunity/affirmative action institution and employer.
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